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Chapter 1 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  

þ distinguish between different business models and theorists; 
þ distinguish between different legal entities and the legal requirements; 
þ explain how to incorporate a company; and 
þ describe the constitution of a company.   
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1.1 Business Models  

1. Introduction 

The term “business model” can mean different things to different people. Generally, it refers 
to how the business operates and makes its money. You may consider this in two ways:  

þ the business structure, how it is organised in order to be successful and make a 
profit; and 

þ the legal entity, the various options in terms of a legal constitution.  

A business model is not just a way to describe a business, it can also act as an aid to 
designing and understanding a structure. This should be considered when looking at 
internal factors, planning, management and leadership which is beyond the remit of this 
handout.  

Ultimately, the business model will also have a bearing on the legal model adopted and 
vica versa. If you are a sole trader there will be a very different business model in operation 
compared to a partnership or being part of a large multi-national corporation.  

Al-Debei and Avison (2010) define a business model as: 

“…an abstract representation of an organization, be it conceptual, textual, and/or 
graphical, of all core interrelated architectural, co-operational, and financial 

arrangements designed and developed by an organization presently and in the future, as 
well all core products and/or services the organization offers, or will offer, based on these 

arrangements that are needed to achieve its strategic goals and objectives.” 

Al-Debei, M.M. & Avison, D., 2010. Developing a Unified Framework of the Business Model Concept. European 
Journal of Information Systems, 19, pp.359-376. 

This definition indicates that value proposition, value architecture, value finance, and value 
network articulate the primary constructs or dimensions of business models. Therefore, it can 
be said that a business model describes the rationale of how an organisation creates, 
delivers and captures value in economic, social, cultural or other contexts. The process of 
business model construction is part of business strategy. 

This handout will look at some potential high-level models and structures. It will consider two 
models, one by Henry Mintzberg and the other by Charles Handy. These will provide you 
with an insight not just as to how you can analyse and describe a business structure, but 
also as to the type of management that might best fit. These could also be used as models 
to support designing a business. 

Since the Bait and Hook model was first introduced in the early 20th century, business 
models have become much more sophisticated over time. In the 1950s, new business 
models came from McDonald's Restaurants and Toyota. In the 1960s, the innovators 
were Wal-Mart and Hypermarkets. The 1970s saw new business models from FedEx and Toys 
R Us; the 1980s from Blockbuster, Home Depot, Intel, and Dell Computer and the 1990s 
from Southwest Airlines, Netflix, eBay, Amazon.com and Starbucks. 
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Today, the type of business model may depend on how technology is used. For example, 
entrepreneurs on the internet have also created entirely new models that depend entirely 
on existing or emergent technology. Using technology, businesses can reach a large 
number of customers with minimal costs. In addition, the rise of outsourcing and 
globalization has meant that business models must also account for strategic sourcing, 
complex supply chains and moves to collaborative, relational contracting structures. 

2. The Bait and Hook Model 

The Bait and Hook business model is one of the most well-known business models and is 
often described as the Razor Blade model because of one of its leading examples. In more 
generic terms, it is also quoted as the Tied Products/Service business model. In essence, the 
model consists of offering a basic product or service at a very low price (the bait) and then 
taking profit on recurrent sales of refills or associated products or services (the hook). 
Examples include:  

þ razor (bait) and blades (hook);  
þ cell phones (bait) and air time (hook);  
þ computer printers (bait) and ink cartridge refills (hook); and  
þ cameras (bait) and prints (hook).  

The video gaming industry demonstrates another good example. The game consoles are 
sold at a relatively low price, recouping the lost profits on the higher priced games. A 
variant of this model is Adobe, a software developer that gives away its document reader 
free of charge, but charges several hundred pounds for its document writer. 

3. Bricks and Clicks Model 

A bricks and clicks business model (or sometimes called clicks and bricks) is one where a 
company conducts business both offline and online. Offline refers to doing business in 
person, such as having store locations or buildings; so this is where the “bricks” part of the 
title comes from. The word “clicks” relates to the clicking of a computer for online 
purchases and transactions. This model may be considered to have advantages. For one, it 
allows companies to benefit from doing online commerce that can reach a vast consumer 
population. Additionally, consumers may be happy with the efficiency and flexibility 
involved with online purchases; so this business method may give companies a competitive 
advantage. 

The bricks and clicks model has typically been used by traditional retailers who have 
extensive logistics and supply chains, but are well known and often respected for their 
traditional physical presence. It is far easier for a traditional retailer to establish an online 
presence than it is for a start-up company.  

PC World is an example of a bricks and clicks model business which has both offline and 
online presence. It provides a range of electronic products, but focuses on computers. It is 
very popular and has numerous stores worldwide. It provides an online e-business system for 
its customers and clients; to purchase the products online, the customers need to create 
an account on the store’s website. This assists the store in keeping a record and allows the 
company to keep track of the purchases and payments being made. The financial 
transactions over the website being managed in this way means the company has proof of 
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the card holder’s identity which helps it to assist customers in managing any 
fraudulent transactions. The customers can also make purchases in person with cash at the 
stores and have repair services or exchanges done to products purchased online. 

4. Subscription Business Model 

A subscription business model is where a company charges a subscriber a fixed monthly or 
annual fee that gives them access to its goods and services. Magazine companies, cell 
phone carriers, internet providers and cable companies are common businesses that 
employ subscription business models. Some subscription businesses require customers to 
prepare for their monthly or annual membership fees, which can be beneficial to the 
company because it guarantees a profit upfront. 

5. The Franchising Model 

Franchising provides benefits for both seller and buyer. For franchisors, the primary benefit is 
the ability to use other people's money to expand the brand more rapidly than could be 
done alone or through investors or lenders. The initial franchise fee and ongoing royalties 
they collect allow franchisors to build their brand without sacrificing control to outsiders or 
the pressure of repaying lenders. The fees and royalties are used to fund operations at 
corporate headquarters, train and support franchisees, market and advertise the brand, 
improve the quality of goods or services and build the brand in the marketplace. 

For franchisees, benefits include:  

þ a higher chance of success than in a sole proprietorship;  
þ shorter time to opening;  
þ initial training and ongoing support;  
þ assistance in finding an optimal site;  
þ the selling power of a known brand;  
þ lower costs through group purchasing;  
þ use of an established business model;  
þ national and regional advertising campaigns;  
þ customer lead generation through websites and centralised call centres;  
þ a network of peers (fellow franchisees) to provide advice and moral support through 

a company intranet, annual conferences and franchisee associations; and, 
increasingly,  

þ assistance with securing funding. 

Potential downsides for franchisees include:  

þ lack of independence, from the goods and services they sell to the colour of the 
paint on their walls;  

þ mandatory company-wide promotions that may not work in their market (price cuts, 
new products or services), yet cost money to implement;  

þ costly required redesign of their unit(s); and 
þ after signing a 10- or 15-year contract, a change in management or ownership that 

takes the brand in a new, unwanted direction. 
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6. Mintzberg 

Mintzberg suggests that there are seven ways to ideally structure an organisation. Keep it in 
mind, when considering these methods, that Mintzberg regarded management as an art 
not a science. As such, you need to be continually observing and learning so the models 
are a tool to do this, not a fixed point. These models should help you to understand how 
organisations get things done and it is the role of the manager to be able to use this as a 
means to understand how the parts of the organisation can fit together and work.  

In each of the first five there is a core part of the organisation that exerts key influence over 
its structure. In the Missionary it is not the organisation but the ideology that shapes it, whilst 
in the Political it is the opposite in a sense in that it has no core shaping it. 

1 
The 

Entrepreneurial 
Organisation 

Shaped by a strategic apex creating centralisation. It generally has 
few staff, minimal division of labour, little hierarchy, with power 
focused strongly with the chief executive and is coordinate 
through direct supervision. Tends to be smaller and owner 
managed; a lot of organisations go through this stage at the start. 

2 The Machine 
Organisation 

This is shaped by its technostructure – planner, financial controllers, 
schedulers etc. It works on the basis of standardised routines and 
operating tasks. Again, it is highly centralised and controlled, with 
formal communications, operating units, tasks grouped under 
functions, elaborate administrative systems. It has centralised 
decision-making and a clear distinction between management 
and staff. Typically larger, older organisations in a stable 
environment carrying out repetitive work. 

3 The Diversified 
Organisation 

This is a set of semi-autonomous units under a central administrative 
structure; it is this central middle line which shapes the organisation. 
In effect, it is a multiplicity of machine organisations in the way it 
functions. Here, though, there are a number of relatively self-
sufficient units. The units are usually called divisions with a central 
administration referred to as the headquarters, which allocates 
capital and tracks performance. 

4 The Professional 
Organisation 

This is driven by its operating core and aims towards professional 
autonomy. This is built around the skills and knowledge of 
professional staff who are employed because they know how to 
do the job and are relied upon to deliver. They therefore have a 
high degree of autonomy and power sits with the expert. 
Standards are set outside of the business. This is a highly 
democratic business and can be difficult to ‘manage’. Examples 
include hospitals, universities, public agencies and accountancy 
firms.   

5 The Innovative 
Organisation 

The core to this are the support staff and teams. These are often 
research based organisations which deliver through being flexible 
in rapidly changing environments, relying on experts, training, 
letting people get on with their job as they see fit in multi-
disciplined teams. Unlike the professional organization, this 
expertise is not bound by professional standardised routines and 
skills. It is an adhocracy rejecting bureaucratic controls and 
avoiding emphasis on planning and control. Whilst this can cause 
issues and a rejection of management, it is the way to achieve the 
innovation and flexibility required. 

6 The Missionary 
Organisation 

At its core, it is the mission, its ideology, that counts above all else.  
This core is clear, focused, distinctive and inspiring. This is supported 
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through strongly held traditions and values to which staff readily 
identify and who share common values. There is a strong 
standardisation of norms and people who join such organisations 
are recruited to and sign up to these, reinforcing the whole core. 
This is often considered in the context of religious organisations, but 
can equally be seen in a range of Japanese firms and some 
American ones such as McDonalds. 

7 Political 

This doesn’t really have a core, or coordinating mechanism, and 
perhaps should not be included in a list of business models. In a real 
sense this exists to a degree in all organisations, often characterised 
by conflict. It is when this becomes more pervasive and extreme 
that it becomes a problem and the organisation is not able to 
function due to continuous conflict and a lack of shared objectives 
or even processes. 

7. Charles Handy 

Handy produced a model of business based on its organisational culture. This provides an 
insight into how an organisation can be structured and managed as well as an idea of the 
type of organisation a person might fit in to best.  People may find that there are elements 
of more than one of the cultures in an organisation and it may go to departmental level in 
larger organisations. Often a change in personnel can also create a change in culture.  

Each of the types in Handy’s model is symbolised by an ancient Greek God. 

Role Culture – Apollo – god of order and 
rules. 

Task Culture – Athena – goddess of 
knowledge. Depicted as a net as it pulls 

in resources from across the organisation. 
Represented by a temple, the pillars 
being functions and divisions. It has 
rational people who work according to 
defined roles and follow rules and 
procedures.  A bureaucracy, it has 
stability and certainty. However, it can 
find it hard to adapt and change. 
Generally large organisations, insurance 
companies and government 
administration. 

It is about solving problems through a 
network of task forces, working parties 
and various groups. It will define the 
problem and then allocate the resources 
to solving it. Its strength is in its flexibility 
and providing solutions. It struggles when 
repetition and predictability are needed. 
Found in research and development  
departments, consultancies and 
advertising agencies.  

Power or Club Culture – Zeus – the leader. Person or Existential Culture - Dionysus – 
god of wine and song. 

This is the spiders web where the leader 
has connection across the whole 
organisation. These may be formal and 
informal lines of authority. This is a leader 
centric organisation. This means is 
capable of fast decision making and 
moving forward. Its downside comes in 
being dependent on an individual and 
the quality of their decisions. It can also 
be detrimental to bringing in other staff to 
help it grow and develop. These can 
often be new organisations still 
developing and being led by the 
individual who established it.  

This differs from the others in that the 
organisation exists to help the individual 
succeed rather than the other way 
around. People come together to help 
them succeed by sharing resources or 
promote the member of the group. In 
this, the individual professionals are 
supreme and management is not highly 
regarded. This is a model that is 
becoming more common with 
outsourced services. These are typified by 
doctors, lawyers, architects etc. 
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8. Summary of Models 

This handout has considered a number of ways of looking at a business; there are more of 
these models of businesses and they can provide generalised views that can help with 
understanding the type of business being considered, or an insight in to how a business can 
be developed. Each has its pros and cons and, because they are only models, they are 
not exact representations of any specific business, as any business will not only be a 
combination of these factors and styles but will also be more dynamic with changes in 
personnel, markets and size changing them.  

There are more variations and ways of looking at businesses in most management texts and 
online.  

In a sense, it is up to the individual how he wants to describe his business structure, either 
because that’s the best way to explain it or the best way to set out the design he wishes to 
achieve. It may also be that a certain type of model works best for him because it 
encompasses aspects regarded as important to that individual. Of course, businesses can 
also define their own model.  

Businesses may also want to compare the dominant business models in their industry - they 
may wish to consider what the long-held core beliefs about how to create value are. For 
instance, in financial services, scale is regarded as crucial to profitability. 

One other way of looking at business models is from the perspective of their quality model. 
These can be a core part of the business design, such as when seeking an ISO 
accreditation of Investors in People; or another can be just part of the model, for instance 
having a Plain English Campaign Crystal Mark.  

Businesses may also need to consider some externally driven element to any business 
model developed. For instance, quality standards can be compulsory and set by an 
external regulator – the CLSB in the case of costs lawyers. You may find there is a business 
specific, but not regulatory, set of quality standards which a business might want to include 
such as Lexcel for legal services. These external factors may need to be part of the model 
of a business; in some cases, whether the business wants them to or not.   
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1.2 Franchises 

1. Introduction 

A franchise is a business structure where a firm is allowed to trade using the brand and 
business format of an existing firm. The franchise is a commercial agreement which allows 
this to happen, usually a franchise is granted for a specific geographical area. A franchisor 
is the business which owns a trading format and brand which it allows other firms to use 
under a franchise agreement. A franchisee is a business which operates a franchise under 
an agreement from a franchisor.  

Franchising is the grant of specified rights by one party to another in return for a fee. A 
franchise exists in various forms. This handout focuses on the business method franchising, 
under which a franchisor grants a franchisee a licence to distribute the franchisor's 
products or services, using the franchisor's business method and technology and under the 
franchisor's trademarks. The franchisor supervises that use and provides training and other 
assistance (e.g. publicity) to the franchisee to help the franchisee in running the franchise. 
A franchise is thus a licence to use a business method for a period, subject to a royalty. 

Many businesses use franchising; some examples of when franchises operate on the UK 
high streets include: 

þ the fast food sector (e.g. McDonald's); 
þ hotels (Holiday Inn);  
þ utility services (Dyno-Rod); and  
þ retail products (Body Shop).  

Not all businesses, however, are suitable for franchising. Franchises usually involve operating 
a service sector business rather than a manufacturing or secondary sector business 
because they are well suited to franchises, the key to franchise quality is customer service 
delivery; which is what service businesses are about. Additionally, service businesses 
generally need to be located near to their customer base which is ideal for franchises as 
different territories or sales areas can be defined.  

2. Nature of Franchising 

The franchisee is an independent contractor, and not an agent, of the franchisor. In this 
respect he is similar to a distributor, although subject to much greater control than the 
latter. He may be a: 

Unit franchisee Running a single franchised outlet. 
Multiple franchisee Running several outlets. 
Master franchisee Having the right to run franchised outlets in a country or 

region, and to grant sub- franchises to unit franchisees there. 
Developer An alternative to master franchising where the developer has 

the right to open a number of franchised outlets itself. 

Royalties paid to the franchisor are normally: 

þ an initial fee; and 
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þ ongoing service fees usually based on a percentage of turnover or mark-ups on 
supplies. 

3. Benefits of Franchising for the Parties 

From a franchisor's viewpoint, franchising allows rapid growth with lower capital 
expenditure than other means (e.g. direct sales operations). Franchising does however 
require close control and supervision of franchisees and requires the franchisor to own the 
trade name/marks and business method. 

From the franchisee's viewpoint as the concept is proven, the risk of failure is lower, and the 
initial investment less, than with a stand-alone business. The franchise brand and product 
(or service) will be well established and proven. Franchising has the additional bonus that 
the franchisor provides training, advertising and other support. The franchisee benefits from 
all marketing activities (e.g. national advertising) of the franchisor and customers more 
likely to buy from a trusted and known brand. The business will enjoy lower operating costs 
as some operating costs (e.g. marketing, management) are shared across many locations 
and it is the franchisee that meets this operational expenditure. It is also the franchisee and 
(usually) has product risk however, he does not own goodwill in the business, and the 
franchisor is not usually obliged to renew the agreement on expiry – so some cost must be 
covered, and initial and ongoing fees are payable, and the franchisor exercises close 
operational control. 

4. The Franchise Agreement 

The franchisee often has very limited scope to negotiate the terms of the agreement, 
particularly with well-known franchises. Overseas, the franchisor may be more dependent 
on the franchisee and the latter's negotiating power greater.  

4.1 Contents of the agreement 

The structure and content of a franchise agreement are similar to those of a distribution 
(reseller) agreement. A summary of the principal issues to be covered in an agreement 
may be found in the table below. 

Issue Explanation 
What rights are granted 

 

The rights to be granted to the franchisee should be clearly set 
out in the agreement; each party should be clear what it 
hopes to achieve. How far these, as the other terms of the 
agreement, can be negotiated by the franchisee depends on 
the nature and strength of the franchise and what the 
franchisee has to offer in its development in the territory 
concerned. It is relatively unusual for a domestic franchisor to 
accept material changes to its standard franchise agreement. 
The franchisee will normally be in a stronger position in 
international arrangements. 

Is the franchise to be 
exclusive or not? 

The franchisee will normally ask for exclusivity, so that there are 
no competitor suppliers of the product in the territory, and the 
franchise thus likely to be more profitable. Exclusivity can only 
be granted for arrangements in the European Union if the 
agreement is drafted to comply with the Vertical Agreements 
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Block Exemption, qualifies as de minimis under the notice on 
agreements of minor importance, and complies with the laws 
of the individual members states in which it takes effect. 

The territory The country or region in which the franchisee is to operate 
should be clearly set out. The parties must understand the 
commercial, political and (particularly overseas) cultural 
factors involved, and ensure that the franchisee has sufficient 
skills and resources to develop the business there. 
Neighbouring franchises will be a factor. A detailed business 
plan is essential. 

The term The length of the term is a question of negotiation. The 
franchisee will want a lengthy period to allow him to maximise 
the return on his investment. Provided targets are met, the 
franchisor should be able to agree to this; stability in the 
franchise benefits the business and means less management 
involvement by the franchisor. Franchise agreements often 
have an initial term of five to ten years, sometimes longer in 
international agreements. In many countries there is a limit on 
the maximum term which can be agreed. 

Domestic franchise agreements may provide for automatic 
renewal of the franchise, subject to the franchisee's 
performance and meeting certain conditions. This allows for 
continuity of business and avoids the effort of appointing a 
new franchisee. From the franchisor's point of view, automatic 
renewal may be less desirable in international agreements, as 
the term is usually longer and the balance of power between 
the parties more equal. In either case, the franchisor should 
plan for the situation where the franchisee needs to be 
replaced. 

Sales targets and 
franchise development 
schedule 

These are key to the success of the franchise. Failure to 
develop the market, particularly by a franchisee with exclusive 
status, will leave it open to exploitation by competitors. It is 
therefore essential to have a considered development plan 
with targets relating to sales volume, number and location of 
outlets opened, target customers secured, etc. These should 
be realistic as to timing and amount, taking into account the 
franchisee's capabilities and the territory. 

Trademarks and other 
IPRs are to be licensed 

Any trademarks and domain names (particularly in overseas 
markets) to be used by the franchisee should be checked for 
availability and appropriate registrations obtained. Licensing 
will be coterminous with the term of the agreement, and 
should terminate when the franchise ends except so far as 
required to allow the franchisee to dispose of existing stocks or 
to assist the franchisor or a new franchisee. 

Obligations For the franchisor: 

þ provision of training, publicity, technical and other 
support (which may include seconding key staff from 
the franchisee to the franchisor's office or vice versa) 

þ regular monitoring and assistance to the franchisee, 
and 
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þ communicating developments in the method and, 
where required, underlying IPRs, updating the manual 
as needed. 

For the franchisee: 

þ conditions precedent to trading, e.g. initial and follow-
up training, hiring staff, finding premises, business plan, 
registrations, obtaining relevant permits 

þ how much effort is to be devoted to the franchise 
þ compliance with the method and the manual, keeping 

records and making fee payments to the franchisor 
þ licensing and confidentiality obligations 
þ not competing with the franchisor. 

4.2 The manual 

The franchise (or operations) manual contains the know-how needed to run the franchise 
and sets out relevant performance standards. It is usually incorporated into the franchise 
agreement. There is no set format; matters normally covered include: 

þ staff qualification and presentation and employment matters; 
þ customer service standards, complaints procedures, etc; 
þ pricing; 
þ premises layout, opening hours, requirements etc; 
þ stock and technical requirements; 
þ advertising and marketing, and; 
þ accounting. 

The manual will (and should) change frequently as the business method develops. For 
overseas franchises it should be translated as required.  

5. Confidentiality and Non-Competition 

The business method licensed, the know-how underlying it, and much other information are 
confidential to the franchisor. The latter must therefore obtain enforceable confidentiality 
undertakings from franchisees and their employees, and disclosure of the manual and 
other confidential information should be restricted. The franchisor must also put in place 
restrictions on competing with the franchise, both during and after the term of the 
agreement. The latter are not enforceable in the UK unless limited in time and area as 
reasonably necessary to protect the franchisor's trade secrets or business and may be 
difficult to enforce abroad.  

6. Competition Law 

As with any arrangement which may affect trade within the European Economic Area, 
franchise agreements may be subject to Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the 
European Union. However, they may benefit from the Vertical Agreements Block Exemption 
(a revised version of which took effect from 1 June 2010), which exempts agreements 
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under certain circumstances where each party's share of its own market does not exceed 
30%. Additional conditions apply in certain circumstances.  
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1.3 Legal Models of Business 

1. Introduction 

For the purposes of this handout we will consider the legal models from the point of view of 
establishing a new business. It is important that the most appropriate model is chosen to 
carry on a business; the choice of model may have a bearing on the business’s success or 
failure. Not every model will suit the needs and demands of a business. Each model has its 
advantages and disadvantages. The decision as to which model to use to carry on a 
particular business will be complex and is dependent on various legal, tax and commercial 
considerations. There may not be a perfect fit. The model originally chosen to carry on a 
particular business may not continue to be the right choice for that business as it develops 
and matures and there should be periodic reviews of the selected model. If the original 
choice of model becomes unsuitable, an alternative model may take over that business, 
although a change of model may be costly, depending on the circumstances. 

Among the most common models used to carry on business are: 

þ a sole trader; 
þ a partnership; 
þ a limited partnership (LP); 
þ a limited liability partnership (LLP); 
þ a company limited by shares; 
þ a company limited by guarantee; and 
þ an unlimited company. 

There are other models available to carry on business.  The more unusual models include: 

þ Unincorporated associations; 
þ Community interest companies; 
þ European companies; 
þ Unregistered companies; and  
þ Charitable incorporated organisations. 

2. Unincorporated Legal Forms 

The simplest starting point is the split between incorporated and unincorporated businesses. 
The key difference is that unincorporated businesses have no separate legal personality 
and an incorporated business does. Most incorporated businesses are regulated by 
the Companies Act 2006. In unincorporated forms, the owner is the business. These 
generally these take three forms: 

þ Sole trader; 
þ Unincorporated Association; and 
þ Partnership. 

The types of company that can be incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 are: 

þ a public company limited by shares; 
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þ a private company limited by shares; 
þ a private company limited by guarantee; and 
þ an unlimited company. 

2.1 Sole trader 

Here the owner is completely the business and has sole unlimited personal liability for the 
business, its debts, contractual obligations and any claims against it, because a sole trader 
is acting in his or her personal capacity - he does not benefit from limited liability. He is 
personally liable for all the debts and obligations of the business. He owns all the assets of 
the business and can dispose of them as he wishes. This does, of course, make it inherently 
risky. If the sole trader should become insolvent, the owner’s personal assets may be used 
to pay business debts 

This is the simplest way to set up and run a business and regulation is minimal; there is no 
requirement for a formal constitution for the business and no need to register or file 
accounts and returns with Companies House. However, there can still be employment of 
staff and trading under a business name. The main advantages of carrying on a business as 
a sole trader are that a sole trader has: 

þ to comply with few formalities in order to carry on his business; 
þ complete control over the management of his business; and 
þ no obligation to publicly disclose any information. 

In terms of business finance, it is unlikely to be suitable if the businesses needs more than a 
small level of external investment – being unincorporated limits borrowing and prevents the 
business raising equity finance by issuing shares. This means expansion is limited because it 
can only be achieved by the owner ploughing back profits, or by borrowing from a lender 
such as a bank. 

On a personal level the owner is treated as self-employed by HMRC and must register and 
make an annual self-assessment tax return, with profits from the business treated as 
personal income subject to income tax and national insurance contributions. 

2.2 Unincorporated association 

Unincorporated associations are groups that agree, or “contract”, to come together for a 
specific purpose. They normally have a constitution setting out the purpose for which the 
association has been set up and the rules for the association and its members. They are 
typically governed by a management committee. All members of the management 
committee will, again, have unlimited personal liability, unless they are specifically 
indemnified in the constitution.  

They are similar to the sole trader, in having a limitation on raising finance, minimal 
regulation and self-employed tax status for management committee members. 

2.3 Partnership 

A partnership is a relatively simple way for two or more legal persons to set up and run a 
business together with a view to profit. There does not have to be a formal agreement - it 
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can arise when people carry on a business in common. Generally, there is a formal 
agreement; a legally binding partnership agreement which sets out such matters as the 
amount of capital contributed by each partner and the way in which they will share the 
profits (or losses) of the business.  

A partnership formed under the Partnership Act 1890 and governed by English law is 
defined as a “relation that subsists between two or more persons carrying on business in 
common with a view of profit”. A partnership may also be referred to as a “firm”. It is 
distinct from a limited partnership and a limited liability partnership. A charitable or not-for-
profit organisation cannot be a partnership. As can be seen in section 1(2) of the 
Partnership Act 1890, a partnership is not incorporated and therefore not a separate entity 
distinct from its partners. There is no public register of partnerships, although certain 
changes in a partnership's constitution must be notified in the Gazette (section 36(2) of the 
Partnership Act 1890). 

Although the Partnership Act 1890 forms the basis of partnership law, it is not the complete 
picture for partnerships as the Partnership Act 1890 preserves all equitable and common 
law principles, except so far as they are inconsistent with its express provisions (section 46 of 
the Partnership Act 1890) and many of its provisions will apply to a partnership only in the 
absence of an agreement to the contrary between the partners. 

In practice, partners in a partnership will usually enter into a written agreement that will dis-
apply the voluntary provisions of the Partnership Act 1890 that are not relevant to it. The 
partnership agreement will govern the partnership's operation in conjunction with any 
applicable statutory provisions and rules of common law and equity. 

There is still a high level of personal risk because of the lack of separate legal personality. In 
this case, unlike a sole trader, each partner also has to face the consequences of any 
other partner’s decisions.  This means that partners generally manage the business 
themselves, though they can hire employees.  

Each partner is jointly liable for the debts and obligations of the partnership incurred while 
he is a partner and such liability is potentially unlimited. In accordance with section 9 of the 
Partnership Act 1890, after his death, a partner’s estate may also have some liability for 
such debts and obligations. 

The main advantages of carrying on business through a partnership are that: 

þ the partners have the flexibility to choose the management structure of the 
partnership by agreement; 

þ the partnership agreement (if any) does not have to be publicly disclosed; and 
þ the partnership’s financial information is not required to be publicly disclosed, 

except in very limited circumstances (Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008, SI 
2008/569). 

Again, there is a limit to the amount of finance that can be raised and this may be a 
consideration. Funding is usually raised out of a partner’s own assets and loans limited by 
the unincorporated status. Not being a company means the partners cannot raise equity 
finance by issuing shares.  
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Personally, each partner is self-employed and pays tax on this basis on his share of the 
profits. This means the partnership itself and each individual partner must make annual self-
assessment returns to HMRC and the partnership must keep records showing business 
income and expenses. 

Legal persons other than individuals, such as limited companies or limited liability 
partnerships, can also be partners in a partnership. They are treated like any other partner 
except that they have additional tax and reporting obligations; for example, companies 
must pay corporation tax rather than income tax on their profits from the partnership. 

A partnership is often used as a trading model by the professions (i.e. accountants and 
lawyers) although this is now to a lesser extent since Limited Liability Partnerships were 
created as a form of business vehicle in 2001. 

2.4 Limited partnership 

Note this is not a limited liability partnership.  Limited partnerships are formed under the 
Limited Partnership Act 1907. A limited partnership is not a separate legal entity distinct from 
its partners and is therefore not incorporated, despite this a limited partnership must register 
at Companies House and does not come into existence until it has registered. Changes to 
the partnership must also be registered; a limited partnership must notify Companies House 
of certain changes in its registered information. In addition, certain transactions and 
arrangements must be notified in the Gazette (section 10 of the Limited Partnership Act 
1907).  

Section 7 of the Limited Partnership Act 1907 provides that the following apply to limited 
partnerships: 

þ the Partnership Act 1890; and 
þ the rules of equity and of common law applicable to partnerships, except so far as 

they are inconsistent with the express provisions of the Partnership Act 1890. 

In practice, partners in a limited partnership will usually enter into a written agreement that 
will disapply some of the provisions of the Limited Partnership Act 1907 and the Partnership 
Act 1890 that are not relevant to it. The limited partnership agreement will govern the 
operation of the limited partnership in conjunction with any applicable statutory provisions 
and rules of common law and equity. A number of the provisions of the Limited Partnership 
Act 1907 and the Partnership Act 1890 will apply to a limited partnership only in the 
absence of an agreement to the contrary between the partners. 

Under section 4(2) of the Limited Partnership Act 1907 a limited partnership has two sorts of 
partner:  

þ General partners; and 
þ Limited partners.  

Section 4(2) of the Limited Partnership Act 1907 also specifies that a limited partnership 
should have at least one “general partner” and at least one “limited partner”. A “general 
partner” shall be liable for all the debts and obligations of the limited partnership (although, 
in practice, the general partner is normally a limited company). A “limited partner”, shall, at 
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the time of entering into the limited partnership, contribute to it a sum or sums as capital or 
property and not be liable for the debts and obligations of the limited partnership beyond 
the amount contributed by them. 

This is similar in form to a partnership, with the main differences being that the limited 
partners may not be involved in the management of the business and their liability is limited 
to the amount that they have invested in the partnership. Under section 4(3) of the Limited 
Partnership Act 1907, if a limited partner draws out, either directly or indirectly, any part of 
his contribution to the capital of the limited partnership during its lifetime, he shall be liable 
for the debts and obligations of the limited partnership up to the amount drawn out or 
received back. In accordance with section 6(1) of the Limited Partnership Act 1907, if a 
limited partner takes part in the management of the limited partnership, he shall be liable 
for all debts and obligations of the limited partnership incurred while he so takes part in the 
management as though he were a general partner. 

2.5 Trusts  

Trusts are unincorporated and have no legal identity of their own; they are essentially legal 
devices for holding assets so as to separate legal ownership from economic interest.  

A trust holds assets on behalf of an individual or another organisation and governs how 
they are to be used. A trust is run by a small group of people called trustees who are legally 
responsible for the administration of the trust and personally liable for any debts or claims 
against it that cannot be met out of the trust’s own resources. Trusts make their own set of 
rules which in turn are enshrined in a trust deed. A trust deed sets out the trust’s objectives 
and may be used to ensure that assets and profits are used for a particular purpose.  

Trusts do not typically raise finance; they simply manage assets and do not distribute profits. 
Trusts are often used in conjunction with unincorporated associations, which cannot 
themselves own property.  

3. Incorporated Legal Forms  

As we have seen, the distinguishing feature of incorporated forms is that they have a 
separate legal personality. Incorporation is therefore the creation of a legal identity for an 
organisation that is separate from its members; a ‘corporate body’. An incorporated form 
exists in its own right and can enter into contracts and own property in its own name and 
employ people. Incorporated organisations can meet their liabilities from their own assets 
and will limit the liability of their individual members. In this way, organisations that have a 
moderate to high level of risk may decide to incorporate to protect their members in the 
future. 

3.1 A limited liability partnership (LLP) 

A limited liability partnership is a separate legal personality similar to a company (section 
1(2) of the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000), incorporated under the Limited Liability 
Partnerships Act 2000. Limited liability partnerships are incorporated by two or more 
persons, associated for carrying on a lawful business with a view to profit, making an 
application to Companies House (section 2 and 3 of the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 
2000). 
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Much of the law in relation to partnerships does not apply to limited liability partnerships. A 
limited liability partnership is subject to many of the statutory requirements that apply to 
companies and many of the statutory requirements relating to corporate insolvency and 
winding up pursuant to various statutory instruments that accompany the Limited Liability 
Partnerships Act 2000. In accordance with section 8 of the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 
2000 there must be two or more “designated members” who are designated either on 
incorporation or by and in accordance with an agreement with the other members. These 
designated members have certain administrative responsibilities; for example, they must 
deliver certain information to Companies House. If fewer than two members are expressly 
designated, then every member is deemed to be a designated member. Sections 9 and 15 
of the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000 require that a limited liability partnership make 
a number of public disclosures by filing documents with Companies House. For example, 
they must disclose: 

þ details of its members; 
þ charges and mortgages;  
þ annual accounts; and  
þ any changes in name, registered office and members. 

Unlike in a normal partnership, the members of a limited liability partnership enjoy limited 
liability. This means that any liability they face is limited to the amount of money they have 
invested in the business and to any personal guarantees they have given to raise finance. 
Each member takes an equal share of the profits, unless the members’ agreement specifies 
otherwise. 

Much like a partnership, each non-corporate member of a limited liability partnership 
needs to register as self-employed with HMRC and both the limited liability partnership itself 
and each individual member must make annual self-assessment returns with HMRC. Non-
corporate members of a limited liability partnership pay income tax and national insurance 
contributions on their share of the profits. Limited liability partnerships must register and file 
accounts and annual returns at Companies House. At least two members must be 
“designated members” who hold additional responsibilities.  

Limited liability partnerships have much more freedom than companies over arranging 
their internal affairs; for example in the way in which decisions are made and the way in 
which profits are distributed to members. 

3.2 Companies 

A company is a separate legal entity, distinct from its members (Salomon v Salomon & Co 
Ltd [1896] UKHL 1). As set out in section 112 of the Companies Act 2006 it is owned by its 
members (also known as shareholders) and it is managed by its directors. It is regulated by 
the Companies Act 2006. By way of reminder, the types of company that can be 
incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 are: 

þ a public company limited by shares; 
þ a private company limited by shares; 
þ a private company limited by guarantee; and 
þ an unlimited company. 
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3.3 A limited company 

This is the most common legal form in use for running a business. Being “incorporated” 
means it has a separate legal personality. This means that the organisation can do business 
and enter into contracts in its own name. Under section 3(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a 
company is a “limited company” if the liability of its members is limited by its constitution, it 
can be limited by shares or by guarantee. The two mechanisms for company membership 
are: 

Company limited by shares: 

Members own shares (shareholders) and their 
liability is limited to what they have already 
invested or committed to invest (amounts unpaid 
on shares). 

Company limited by guarantee: Members give a guarantee to pay a set sum if the 
company should go into liquidation. 

Under the Companies Act 2006, a company is required to have two constitutional 
documents: 

A Memorandum: 
Which records the fact that the initial members (the 
subscribers) wish to form a company and agree to 
become its members. This cannot be amended. 

Articles of Association (Articles): 

Which are essentially a contract between the 
company and its members, setting the legally 
binding rules for the company, including the 
framework for decisions, ownership and control.  

The members own the company however, they have a limited liability as the company’s 
finances are separate from the personal finances of the owners and generally creditors of 
the business may only pursue the company’s assets to settle a debt. Therefore, the personal 
assets of the owners are not at risk. 

3.4 A company limited by shares 

The liability of the members of a company limited by shares is limited to the amount unpaid, 
if any, on the shares held by them under section 3(2) of the Companies Act 2006. In other 
words, the shareholders of a company limited by shares must pay for their shares, but they 
are not otherwise obliged to contribute to the company’s assets in any way including when 
a company is wound up (section 74(2)(d) of the Insolvency Act 1986). The fact that the 
company is a separate legal entity and is responsible for its own debts and liabilities in its 
own name and the limited liability of shareholders are the main advantages of carrying on 
business through a company limited by shares. If a business chooses to operate its business 
via a company limited by shares, it must also decide whether the company will be public 
or private. When limited by shares the company can be either a: 

þ Private Limited Company (Ltd); or  
þ Public Limited Company (Plc).  
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3.5 A private company limited by shares 

The requirements of the Companies Act 2006 in relation to private companies limited by 
shares are somewhat simpler than the requirements of public companies because one of 
the intentions of the Companies Act 2006 was to make private companies suitable for use 
by smaller businesses. Some examples of the simplified requirements for a private company 
limited by shares are set out in the table below: 

A private company Authority 
Need only have one director. If it does have a sole director, 
that sole director must be a natural person, as a company 
must have at least one director who is a natural person. 

Sections 154(1) and 155 
of the Companies Act 
2006 

Does not need to have a company secretary, unless its 
articles of association require it to have one. If it does have 
a company secretary, that person is not required to have 
any particular qualifications. 

Section 270 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Is not required to hold an annual general meeting each 
year unless its articles of association require it to have one, 
or it is a traded company (but this would be very unusual). 

Sections 336 and 360C of 
the Companies Act 2006 

Can use the written resolution procedure to pass resolutions 
of its shareholders (subject to certain statutory exceptions), 
rather than needing to pass shareholder resolutions at 
general meetings of its shareholders. 

Sections 288-300 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

There is one significant limitation on a private company limited by shares and this can be 
found in section 755 of the Companies Act 2006; it cannot (except in very narrow 
circumstances): 

þ offer its shares or debentures to the public; or 
þ allot or agree to allot any shares or debentures with a view to their being offered 

to the public. 

Therefore, it cannot raise capital on equity capital markets, which may make this an 
unattractive form for some businesses. 

3.6 A public company limited by shares 

The main advantage of carrying on business through a public company limited by shares is 
that it can offer its shares and debentures to the public and allot, or agree to allot, any 
shares or debentures with a view to them being offered to the public. This means that it has 
the ability to raise capital on the equity capital markets. However, it does not have to do 
so. The main disadvantage of carrying on business through a public company limited by 
shares is that it is subject to a higher level of regulation and requires more administration 
than a private company limited by shares.  A summary is provided in the table below: 

A public company limited by shares Authority 
Must obtain a trading certificate before it can carry on 
business or exercise any borrowing powers. 

Section 761(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006 
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Must have a minimum issued share capital of £50,000 or the 
prescribed Euro equivalent (currently €57,100), of which at 
least a quarter of the nominal value of the share capital 
and the whole of any premium must be paid up. 

Sections 761(2), 763(1) 
and section 586 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Must have at least two directors; at least one of whom must 
be a natural person. 

Sections 154(2)-155 of 
the Companies Act 
2006 

Must have a company secretary who must have the 
requisite knowledge and experience to be the company 
secretary and have certain specified qualifications. 

Sections 271-273 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Must hold an annual general meeting each year. Section 336 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Is not permitted to use the written resolution procedure to 
pass resolutions of its shareholders, so must hold general 
meetings of its shareholders to pass shareholder resolutions 

Sections 288-300 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

The use of a public company limited by shares is sometimes felt to provide more kudos to a 
business than the use of a private company limited by shares. 

3.7 A company limited by guarantee 

If members’ liability is limited to such an amount as the members undertake to contribute to 
the assets of the company in the event of it being wound up, the company is “limited by 
guarantee” under section 3(3) of the Companies Act 2006. The limited liability of its 
members is the main advantage of carrying on business through a company limited by 
guarantee. Section 4(2) of the Companies Act 2006 means it is not possible for a company 
limited by guarantee to be a public company. 

A private company limited by guarantee is subject to regulation under the Companies Act 
2006 but, like a private company limited by shares, its structure is such that it can be used 
easily as a vehicle for smaller businesses.  A number of examples of how this is so can be 
found in the following table: 

A Company limited by guarantee Authority 
Need only have one director although if it does have a 
sole director that sole director must be a natural person. 
A company must have at least one director who is a 
natural person. 

Sections 154(1) and 
155 of the Companies 
Act 2006 

Does not need to have a company secretary, unless its 
articles of association require it to have one. If it does 
have a company secretary, that person is not required 
to have any particular qualifications. 

Section 270 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Is not required to hold an annual general meeting each 
year unless its articles of association require it to have 
one. 

Section 336 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Can use the written resolution procedure to pass 
resolutions of its shareholders (subject to certain statutory 
exceptions), rather than needing to pass shareholder 
resolutions at general meetings of its shareholders. 

Sections 288-300 of 
the Companies Act 
2006 
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3.8 An unlimited company 

Under section 3(4) of the Companies Act 2006, if there is no limit on the liability of its 
members, the company is an “unlimited company”. It is not possible for an unlimited 
company to be a public company. The unlimited liability of its members is the main 
disadvantage of carrying on business through an unlimited company.  

An unlimited company may or may not have a share capital. Another perceived 
disadvantage of carrying on business via an unlimited company is the level of public 
disclosure required because of filing requirements at Companies House. However, the level 
of public disclosure is not as high as the level of public disclosure that must be made by 
other forms of company. An unlimited company, under section 448 of the Companies Act 
2006 does not have to file accounts and reports if certain conditions are met and does not 
have to file returns of allotments of shares, unless the directors allot a new class of shares, 
under section 556 of the Companies Act 2006. 

An unlimited company is subject to less regulation than other types of company and its 
structure is such that it can be used easily as a vehicle for smaller businesses.  A list of 
examples are contained in the table below: 

An unlimited company Authority 
Need only have one director although if it does have a 
sole director that sole director must be a natural person. 
A company must have at least one director who is a 
natural person. 

Sections 154(1) and 
155 of the Companies 
Act 2006 

Does not need to have a company secretary unless its 
articles of association require it to have one. If it does 
have a company secretary that person is not required to 
have any particular qualifications. 

Section 270 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Is not required to hold an annual general meeting each 
year, unless its articles of association require it to have 
one. 

Section 336 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Can use the written resolution procedure to pass 
resolutions of its shareholders (subject to certain statutory 
exceptions), rather than needing to pass shareholder 
resolutions at general meetings of its shareholders. 

Sections 288-300 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

In addition, under sections 690-723 of the Companies Act 2006, an unlimited company is 
not subject to the usual maintenance of capital rules; e.g. it has the power to purchase its 
own shares and is not subject to the statutory restrictions that apply to a limited company 
wishing to purchase its own shares. 

3.9 Community interest company  

A Community Interest Company (CIC) is a form of company (limited either by shares or by 
guarantee) created for so called ‘social enterprises’ that want to use their profits and assets 
for community benefit. CICs are easy to set up and have all the flexibility and certainty of 
the company form, but with several special features which ensure they serve a community 
interest:  
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First: 

All companies applying to be registered as CICs 
must submit a community interest statement to 
provide the CIC Regulator with evidence that they 
will satisfy a community interest test defined in law. 
The company must continue to satisfy the test for 
as long as it remains a CIC and must report 
annually to the Regulator.  

Second: 

A CIC must have an “asset lock” which restricts the 
transfer of the company’s assets (including any 
profits generated by its activities) to ensure that 
they are used for the benefit of the community.  

Third: 

CICs are subject to caps on dividends and interest 
payable – to strike a balance between 
encouraging people to invest in CICs and the 
principle that the assets and profits of a CIC should 
be devoted to the benefit of the community.  

3.10 Other incorporated formats 

There are other incorporated formats you could read up on: 

þ Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO); and 
þ Industrial and Provident Society 

o Co-operative Society (Co-op) 
o Community Benefit Society (BenCom). 
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1.4 Incorporating a Company  

1. Introduction 

One of the reasons for choosing to incorporate a company (as opposed to operating as a 
sole trader, a partnership or another form of business) is that it is a separate legal entity 
which can enter contracts in its own name and is responsible for its own debts and 
liabilities. One of its key attractions is that its shareholders benefit from limited liability. The 
perceived main disadvantage of carrying on business using a company limited by shares is 
the level of public disclosure such companies are required to make through filings at 
Companies House. 

A company is a separate legal entity, distinct from its members. It is owned by its members 
and it is managed by its directors. It is regulated by the Companies Act 2006. The types of 
company that can be incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 are: 

Private company limited by 
shares 

This company has a share capital and the liability 
of each member is limited to the amount, if any, 
unpaid on their shares. A private company 
cannot offer its shares for sale to the general 
public. 

Private company limited by 
guarantee 

This company does not have a share capital and 
its members are guarantors rather than 
shareholders. The members’ liability is limited to 
the amount they agree to contribute to the 
company’s assets if it is wound up. 

Private unlimited company An unlimited company may or may not have a 
share capital but there is no limit to the members’ 
liability. 

Public limited company A public company has a share capital and limits 
the liability of each member to the amount 
unpaid on their shares. It may offer its shares for 
sale to the general public and may be quoted on 
the stock exchange. There is further information 
about public companies 

Under section 7(1) of the Companies Act 2006, a company is formed by one or more 
persons (the “subscribers”): 

þ subscribing their names to a memorandum of association (which is a simple 
statement that the initial shareholders wish to form a company and intend to 
subscribe for shares in that company); and 

þ complying with the registration requirements set out in the Companies Act 2006. 

A company is incorporated when the Registrar of Companies issues it with a certificate of 
incorporation. To set up a company there are the following options: 

þ a new company can be incorporated; or 
þ a ready-made company can be purchased from a company formation agent 

and subsequently tailored to specific requirements. 
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2. A Public or Private Company? 

A decision needs to be made as to whether the company will be a public company or a 
private company. The main reason to incorporate a public rather than a private limited 
company is that public companies can offer their shares to the public, whereas private 
companies are restricted from doing so. If the company is to be listed with shares that are 
traded on a stock exchange, the company should be incorporated as a public company. 
It is possible to re-register a company from one type to another post-incorporation, so a 
private company may become a public company, or vice versa, at a later date.  

Generally speaking, it is simpler to set up and run a private company in comparison with a 
public company because a number of requirements and procedures in the Companies 
Act 2006 are less complicated for, or do not apply to, private companies. For example, 
private companies do not need to have a company secretary and hold annual general 
meetings whereas public companies do. 

3. Tailor-made or Shelf Company? 

A shelf company is simply an ‘off-the-shelf’ company that has already been registered with 
Companies House. There are many reasons that a person may wish to acquire a shelf 
company, these include: 

þ lack of time to comply with the incorporation requirements themselves; 
þ inexperience in matters of company law and want to rely on an experienced third 

party to incorporate the company correctly; 
þ need to obtain a company more urgently than Companies House timeframes or 

opening hours would allow; or 
þ require a company with a particular incorporation date or accounting reference 

date. 

To purchase a shelf company, the purchaser will need to instruct an agent which may be a 
company formation agent, law stationers or a firm of solicitors.  For a fee, the agent will 
provide a shelf company to the purchaser, together with: 

þ its certificate of incorporation; 
þ its statutory books and registers;  
þ its memorandum and articles of association; 
þ the stock transfer form required to transfer the subscriber shares to the purchaser; 
þ resignation letters of the nominee directors and the nominee company secretary; 

and 
þ a certificate of non-trading, signed by a nominee director, certifying that the 

company has not traded or incurred any liabilities prior to it being transferred.  

The agent will usually make stipulations as conditions to releasing the shelf company to the 
purchaser to ensure that the agent is in a position to sever all existing links to the company 
upon release. The agent will usually stipulate that the purchaser must provide the agent 
with the necessary signed forms to appoint replacement directors and a new secretary.  
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3.1 Shelf companies and directors 

Section 154 of the Companies Act 2006 deals with the requirements of companies to have 
directors, section 154(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires that a private company must 
have at least one director and section 154(2) of the Companies Act 2006 requires that a 
public company must have at least two directors. In accordance with section 155(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006 a company must have at least one director who is a natural person. 
The agent will usually arrange for the purchaser's directors to be appointed and its own 
directors to resign simultaneously with the release of the shelf company to the purchaser. To 
ensure the appointment and resignation of directors, the agent will normally want to see 
that the appropriate Companies House forms have been completed and that they include 
the consent signatures of the new directors. A Companies House form AP01 must be filed 
within 14 days of the appointment of a new individual director (or a form AP02 in the case 
of the appointment of a corporate director). 

3.2 Shelf companies and company secretaries 

Under section 270(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a private company is not required to have 
a company secretary. If the purchaser does not intend to have a secretary, there will 
therefore be no need to appoint a secretary upon acquisition of the shelf company. 
Section 271 of the Companies Act 2006 requires a public company requires a secretary. If 
the company is public (or if it is private and intends to have a company secretary), the 
agent will usually arrange for the new secretary to be appointed simultaneously with the 
release of the shelf company to the purchaser. To ensure this happens, the agent will 
normally want to see that the appropriate Companies House form has been completed 
and that it includes the consent signature of the new secretary. In accordance with section 
276(1) of the Companies Act 2006 Companies House forms AP03 and AP04 must be filed 
within 14 days of the appointment of a new individual secretary and a corporate secretary 
respectively. Sections 277 and 278 of the Companies Act 2006 specify that a secretary can 
be an individual or a body corporate.  

Section 273 of the Companies Act 2006 requires that directors of public companies have a 
duty to take all reasonable steps to ensure that the secretary of the company: 

þ has the requisite knowledge and experience to discharge the functions of a 
secretary of the company; and 

þ has one or more of the qualifications listed in section 273(2) of the Companies Act 
2006. 

3.3 Shelf companies and the registered office 

The agent will also usually stipulate, again as a condition to releasing the shelf company, 
that the purchaser provides the agent with the necessary signed forms to change the 
registered office of the company.  

3.4 Shelf companies and subscribers 

A shelf company will usually be incorporated with a share capital of just one or two shares. 
These 'subscriber' shares will usually be held by a nominee on behalf of the agent. The 
agent will provide the purchaser with an executed stock transfer form to transfer the 
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subscriber shares, signed by the subscriber(s) as transferor(s). The purchaser will need to 
insert the name and address of the proposed new shareholder(s), as transferee(s), in the 
form and enter its details on the register of members in order to comply with section 112(2) 
of the Companies Act 2006. The consideration for the transfer will be the nominal value of 
the shares. As long as the consideration is less than £1,000, which will normally be the case, 
there will be no stamp duty payable to HM Revenue & Customs. The stock transfer form 
does not have to be presented to HMRC for stamping, as long as the certificate on the 
reverse of the form dealing with this exemption has been completed. There are no 
Companies House forms or other documents required to be filed upon a transfer of shares. 
Section 771(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires a company to register a transfer as soon 
as practical and in any event within two months of the date on which the transfer is lodged 
with it. In many circumstances, a company will choose to maintain a register of transfers in 
addition to its register of members in order to comply with this requirement and to note full 
details of the transfer. Section 776(1) of the Companies Act 2006 also requires a company 
to issue a new certificate for the shares transferred within two months of the date on which 
the transfer is lodged with the company. 

From 30 June 2016 companies (and LLPs) must provide information to the registrar in 
relation to their people with significant control register (the PSC register). 

4. Company Formation and Incorporation 

Under section 7 of the Companies Act 2006, a company is formed under the Act by one or 
more persons: 

þ subscribing their names to a memorandum of association (see section 8 of the 
Companies Act 2006), and 

þ complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as to registration (see 
sections 9 to 13 of the Companies Act 2006). 

Under section 7(2) of the Companies Act 2006 a company may not be so formed for an 
unlawful purpose.  

Section 123 of the Companies Act 2006 allows for single member (or subscriber) 
companies. A public or private company may be incorporated with one member. The 
term 'subscribers' means the first shareholders of the company. A company limited by 
shares must allot at least one share to each of its subscribers so that it has shareholders on 
its incorporation. Section 8 of the Companies Act 2006 deals with the memorandum of 
association required to form a company. This is a memorandum, authenticated by each 
subscriber, that states that the subscribers wish to form a company under the Companies 
Act 2006, and that they agree to become members of the company. 

In order to incorporate a company an application must be made to Companies House 
complying with the registration requirements set out in section 9 of the Companies Act 
2006.  

As previously alluded to, there are additional requirements to be met when forming a 
public company. By way of summary, a public company must have: 

þ under section 154(2) of the Companies Act 2006, at least two directors; 
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þ under section 271 of the Companies Act 2006, a company secretary; and 
þ under sections 583, 584 and 586 of the Companies Act 2006, shares held by the 

subscribers that are paid up in cash as to at least a quarter of their nominal value 
and the whole of any premium. 

In addition, in accordance with section 761(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a public 
company must apply for a trading certificate from Companies House before it is authorised 
to do business or exercise any borrowing powers. Under section 761(4) of the Companies 
Act 2006, such a certificate is effective from its date of issue and is conclusive evidence 
that the company is entitled to do business and exercise any borrowing powers. In 
accordance with section 762 of the Companies Act 2006, an application for a trading 
certificate must be made after the company has been incorporated but before it wishes to 
start trading on Companies House form SH50 and must: 

þ specify the amount or estimated amount of the company's preliminary expenses; 
þ specify any amount or benefit paid or given, or intended to be paid or given, to any 

promoter of the company, and the consideration for the payment or benefit; and 
þ include a statement of compliance with the statutory requirements for the issue of 

the certificate. 

A trading certificate will be issued if the nominal value of the company's allotted share 
capital is not less than the “authorised minimum” (currently £50,000 or the prescribed Euro 
equivalent, currently €57,100), of which at least a quarter of the nominal value of the share 
capital and the whole of any premium must be paid up.  

4.1 Effect of incorporation 

By virtue of section 16(2) of the Companies Act 2006, from the date of incorporation the 
subscribers to the memorandum, together with any other persons that become members 
of the company at a later date, are a body corporate going by the name stated in the 
certificate of incorporation. Section 16(3) of the Companies Act 2006 means that from that 
date the body corporate is capable of exercising all the functions of an incorporated 
company and section 16(4) of the Companies Act 2006 stipulates that also from that date 
that the status and registered office of the company are as stated in the application for 
registration. 

Additionally, it is from the date of incorporation that the subscribers to the memorandum 
become holders of the shares specified in the statement of capital and initial shareholdings 
(section 16(5) of the Companies Act 2006), and the directors and secretary named in the 
application for registration statement become the officers of the company (section 16(6) of 
the Companies Act 2006). 

Following incorporation, the company should hold a board meeting at which: 

þ the incorporation is reported; 
þ it is resolved to write up the company’s statutory records; and 
þ any required post-incorporation steps are approved, such as appointing a 

chairman, appointing additional directors, issuing further shares and appointing 
auditors. 
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4.2 The constitution 

All companies must have articles of association. A company's articles of association are its 
main internal governing document. As we have seen, under section 18 of the Companies 
Act 2006, articles of association prescribe regulations for the governance of the company 
or in other words, the articles set out the rules on how the company is managed, meetings 
are held and decisions are made by directors and shareholders. The articles of association 
will provide, among other matters: 

þ details of the rights attaching to shares and whether there are any different classes 
of shares; 

þ how shares are transferred; 
þ how meetings of shareholders are convened and held; 
þ how directors’ board meetings are convened and held; 
þ how directors are appointed, removed or retire by rotation; and 
þ how dividends are declared and distributed. 

Under section 20(1) of the Companies Act 2006, if a company does not file any articles of 
association when applying for incorporation, the appropriate form of model articles will 
apply by default. 

4.3 Registration requirements and the application 

The registration requirements are complied with, and the application will be made, by 
delivering the following documents to Companies House, together with the requisite filing 
fee: 

þ an application to register the company on Companies House form (form: IN01 
Application to register a company); 

þ the memorandum of association; and 
þ the company’s proposed articles of association (unless the company is adopting a 

form of model articles). 

The application for registration must be delivered to the Registrar of Companies for England 
and Wales (if the registered office of the company is to be situated in England or Wales), to 
the Registrar of Companies for Scotland (if to be situated in Scotland) or to the Registrar of 
Companies for Northern Ireland (if to be situated in Northern Ireland). 

There are a number of filing options available. The application can be posted or hand-
delivered on paper forms to Companies House, or it can be made electronically if the 
applicant has installed the necessary software. In addition, it is now possible for any person 
to use the Companies House web incorporation service, which allows anyone to set up a 
private limited company, provided they use the standard model articles, without the need 
for any specialist software. 

4.3.1 Form IN01 

The Companies House form IN01 (Application to register a company) requires the following 
information to be entered: 
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Information Authority 
The proposed company name. Section 9(2)(a) of the Companies 

Act 2006 
The proposed location and address of the 
registered office of the company and whether 
the company's registered office is to be 
situated in England and Wales (or in Wales), in 
Scotland or in Northern Ireland. 

Section 9(2)(b) of the Companies 
Act 2006 

The type of company, i.e. whether the liability 
of the members of the company is to be 
limited, and if so whether it is to be limited by 
shares or by guarantee, and whether the 
company is to be a private or a public 
company. 

Sections 9(2)(c) and (d) of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Whether the company will be adopting 
statutory model articles or its own articles. 

Section 9(5)(b) of the Companies 
Act 2006 

Details of the subscribers and a statement of 
capital and initial shareholdings. 

Sections 9(4)(a) and 10 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Details of the directors and secretary of the 
company. 

Sections 9(4)(c) and 12 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

A statement that the requirements of the CA 
2006 as to registration have been complied 
with. 

Section 13 of the Companies Act 
2006 

The form also requires the company's principal business activities based on a Standard 
Industrial Classification code (SIC code) and details in relation to initial significant control 
(PSC register). From 30 June 2016 there is also the option, for private companies only, to 
elect to keep certain statutory register information at Companies House. 

4.3.2 The Company Name 

Every company will need a name, before proceeding with the application to Companies 
House to incorporate the company, the availability and permissibility of that name should 
be checked on the public register. Under section 66(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a 
company must not be registered by a name that is the same as another name appearing 
in the registrar's index of company names. This includes a name which is deemed to be 
essentially the same but for minor differences. The availability of the name can be checked 
on the public register of companies. It is also advisable to check the proposed name to see 
if it potentially contravenes any statutory regulations in relation to permitted names 
(The Company, Limited Liability Partnership and Business (Names and Trading Disclosures) 
Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/17) and the Company, Limited Liability Partnership and Business 
(Sensitive Words and Expressions) Regulations 2014 (SI 2014/3140)). In summary, a name will 
not be permitted if it: 

þ is offensive or would constitute an offence; 
þ includes a 'sensitive' word or expression set out in the Companies House guidance, 

unless certain tests are satisfied; 
þ suggests a connection with the Government, unless consent of the Secretary of 

State is obtained; or 
þ includes prohibited signs, symbols, characters or punctuation. 
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The name of a private company limited by shares or guarantee must end with ‘limited’ or 
‘Ltd’. However, if the registered office is stated as being situated in Wales (a “Welsh” 
company), its name may instead end with ‘cyfyngedig’ or ‘cyf’. A private company limited 
by guarantee can apply to be exempt from the requirement to include ‘limited’, ‘ltd’, 
‘cyfyngedig’ or ‘cyf’ from its name so long as the articles of association: 

þ state that the objects of the company are the promotion or regulation of 
commerce, art, science, education, religion, charity or any profession incidental or 
conducive to any of those objects; 

þ require its income to be applied in promoting its objects; 
þ prohibit the payment of dividends, or any return of capital, to its members; and 
þ require all the assets that would otherwise be available to its members generally and 

transferred on its winding up – either to another body with similar objects or to 
another body with charitable objects. 

The name of a public company must end with ‘public limited company’ or ‘p.l.c.’. 
However, if the registered office is stated as being situated in Wales (a ‘Welsh’ company), 
its name may instead end with ‘Cwmni Cyfyngedig Cyhoeddus’ or ‘CCC’. 

4.3.3 Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes 

Sections 9(5A) and 9(5B) of the Companies Act 2006 require that information must be 
delivered to the registrar as to the proposed company’s type and principal business 
activities. This information may be given by reference to a prescribed system. Additionally, 
under section 853C of the Companies Act 2006, (duty to notify a change in the company’s 
principal business activities), a company is required to notify the registrar of a change in its 
principal business activities at the same time as making a confirmation statement. The 
information as to the company’s principal business activities may be given by reference to 
one or more categories of a prescribed system of classifying business activities.  

Regulation 6 and Schedule 4 to the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships (Filing 
Requirements) Regulations 2016 (SI 2016/599) prescribe the classification scheme for 
company type, while Regulation 7 and Schedule 5 prescribe the classification system for a 
company’s principal business activities for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006. The 
substance of these classifications is consistent with the previous system set out in SI 
2008/3000 for the purpose of a company’s annual return. 

4.3.4 Statement of Capital 

In accordance with section 32(1)(g) of the Companies Act 2006, a company must be able 
to provide any of its members with a statement of capital on request. These statements of 
capital are incorporated in certain Companies House forms, including the Form IN01.  

The details to be included in a statement of capital were simplified with effect on and from 
30 June 2016 by section 97 of the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015. 
Historically the statement had to specify the amount paid up and the amount (if any) 
unpaid on each share (whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of 
premium). However, this caused great difficulties for any company with a complex share 
history, so instead a company now needs only to state the aggregate amount (if any) to 
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be unpaid on those shares (whether on account of their nominal value or by way of 
premium). 

4.3.5 Initial Director and Secretary 

Details of the directors and company secretary (if any) are required on the application 
form to incorporate a company. The Companies Act 2006 allows a private company to 
have a sole director, but a public company must have at least two directors. A public 
company must also have a company secretary, but a private company need not have 
one under section 270 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Companies Act 2006 does not impose a maximum number of directors; if the persons 
incorporating the company want there to be a maximum number, they will have to insert 
such restrictions into the articles of association. 

4.3.6 Statement of initial significant control 

From 30 June 2016 companies (and LLPs) must provide information to the registrar in 
relation to their people with significant control register (PSC register, see further section 
790C(10) of the Companies Act 2006). This information must take the form of a statement of 
initial significant control and must state whether, on incorporation, there will be anyone 
who will count for the purposes of section 790M of the Companies Act 2006. Section 790M 
covers either a registrable person or a registrable relevant legal entity in relation to the 
company as defined under schedule 1A of the Companies Act 2006. 

It isn’t necessary to include the date on which someone becomes a registrable person or a 
registrable relevant legal entity in relation to the company. However if the statement 
includes required particulars of an individual, it must also contain a statement that those 
particulars are included with the knowledge of that individual. 

4.4 Certificate of incorporation 

In accordance with section 14 of the Companies Act 2006 the registrar will assess the 
documents that have been filed to incorporate the company and, if the registrar is satisfied 
that the requirements as to registration are complied with, he shall register the documents 
delivered to him. Under section 15(1) of the Companies Act 2006, on the registration of a 
company, the registrar of companies shall give a certificate that the company is 
incorporated. In accordance with section 15(2) of the Companies Act 2006, the certificate 
must state: 

þ the name and registered number of the company; 
þ the date of its incorporation; 
þ whether it is a limited or unlimited company, and if it is limited whether it is limited by 

shares or limited by guarantee; 
þ whether it is a private or a public company; and 
þ whether the company's registered office is situated in England and Wales (or in 

Wales), in Scotland or in Northern Ireland. 

The certificate must be signed by the registrar or authenticated by the registrar’s official 
seal. Section 15(4) of the Companies Act 2006 stipulates that the certificate is conclusive 
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evidence that the requirements as to registration have been complied with and that the 
company is duly registered.  

The Registrar will then publish, in accordance with section 1064(1) of the Companies Act 
2006, notice of the issue of the certificate of incorporation of a company: 

þ in the Gazette; or 
þ in accordance with section 1116 of the Companies Act 2006 (alternative means of 

giving public notice). 

The notice must state the name and registered number of the company and the date of 
issue of the certificate (section 1064(2) of the Companies Act 2006). 
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1.5 The Constitution of a Company 

1. Introduction 

This handout explores what is meant by a company constitution. Broadly speaking a 
company’s constitution is a set of documents that specifies the rules governing the 
relationship between the company and its directors and shareholders. It will also outline the 
activities of the company.  

Under section 17 of the Companies Act 2006, unless the context otherwise requires, a 
company's constitution includes: 

þ the company's articles; and 
þ any resolutions and agreements affecting a company’s constitution. 

Before 1 October 2009, the memorandum of association was an integral part of a 
company’s constitution, but its constitutional significance has been greatly reduced by the 
Companies Act 2006. Under section 18 of the Companies Act 2006 a company must have 
articles of association prescribing regulations for the company.  

The rules relating to the passing of resolutions by a company are set out in 
a company's individual articles of association and by the Companies Act 2006, which 
governs all companies registered in the UK. Resolutions are official company decisions. 
Under section 29 of the Companies Act 2006 any resolutions and agreements affecting a 
company’s constitution include: 

þ any special resolution; 
þ any resolution or agreement agreed to by all the members of a company that, if not 

so agreed to, would not have been effective for its purpose unless passed as a 
special resolution; 

þ any resolution or agreement agreed to by all the members of a class of shareholders 
that, if not so agreed to, would not have been effective for its purpose unless passed 
by some particular majority or otherwise in some particular manner; 

þ any resolution or agreement that effectively binds all members of a class of 
shareholders though not agreed to by all those members; 

þ any other resolution or agreement to which this Chapter applies by virtue of any 
enactment. 

Sections 17 and 32 of the Companies Act 2006 also refer to a number of other documents 
that may form part of a company’s constitution, such as: 

þ the certificate of incorporation (and any certificates of incorporation on change of 
name); 

þ a current statement of capital or statement of guarantee for a company limited by 
guarantee; and 

þ any court orders or enactments altering the company’s constitution or sanctioning a 
compromise, arrangement, reconstruction or amalgamation. 
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2. Articles of Association 

A company's articles of association are its main internal governing document. Under 
section 18 of the Companies Act 2006 articles of association prescribe regulations for the 
governance of the company, or in other words, the articles set out the rules on how the 
company is managed, meetings are held and decisions are made by directors and 
shareholders. The articles of association will, among other matters, provide: 

þ details of the rights attaching to shares and whether there are any different classes 
of shares; 

þ how shares are transferred; 
þ how meetings of shareholders are convened and held; 
þ how directors’ board meetings are convened and held; 
þ how directors are appointed, removed or retire by rotation; and 
þ how dividends are declared and distributed. 

In accordance with section 18(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the articles must be 
contained in a single document and section 18(4) of the Companies Act 2006 requires that 
they are divided into paragraphs numbered consecutively.  

The articles effectively form a contract between the members and the company. 
However, the articles are a special kind of contract, and are not subject to all the usual 
principles of contract law. The binding force of the articles is derived from statute as 
opposed to a usual contract, which reflects a deal struck between the parties. Section 
33(1) of the Companies Act 2006 makes it clear that the provisions of a company's 
constitution bind the company and its members to the same extent as if there were 
covenants on the part of the company. Each member must observe the constitutional 
provisions.  

To comply with section 18 of the Companies Act 2006 all companies must have articles of 
association. A company has the freedom of choice in relation to the form of articles it 
adopts, it can choose to adopt the statutory form of model articles, it could create its own 
custom articles, or it could use a combined approach. If a company does not register its 
own custom articles of association upon incorporation, by virtue of section 20 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the appropriate statutory form of model articles will apply to the 
company by default.  

2.1 Model articles 

Although the members can determine their own articles, they can also choose to adopt 
standard model articles set out in legislation. You aren’t obliged to adopt the provisions of 
model articles, but they are suitable for most standard companies, provide useful guidance 
and in some cases provide a safety net. Under section 19(1) of the Companies Act 2006 
the Secretary of State may prescribe model articles of association for companies, this will 
be prescribed by regulations. Section 19(2) of the Companies Act 2006 allows for different 
model articles to be prescribed for different descriptions of company, within the 
Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008, SI 2008/3229, these include articles for: 

þ private companies limited by shares; 
þ public companies limited by shares; and 
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þ private companies limited by guarantee. 

Section 19(3) of the Companies Act 2006 allows a company to adopt all or any of the 
provisions of model articles. The model articles apply to companies that have been 
incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 on or after 1 October 2009. For companies 
incorporated prior to 1 October 2009, their existing customised articles of association or the 
relevant statutory form of default articles (known as “Table A” for companies limited by 
shares) will continue to apply unless they pass a special resolution to adopt or incorporate 
certain provisions of the model articles. 

Whilst there aren’t any model articles provided for unlimited companies, an unlimited 
company can choose to use model articles as the basis of its own articles of association. 
The articles must not include the provision for the liability of the members to be limited and 
the members should consider including an article containing power for an unlimited 
company by special resolution to increase or consolidate share capital, subdivide or 
cancel shares or reduce share capital and any share premium account.  

2.2 Custom articles 

Sometimes the model articles will not be appropriate. Where the model articles are not 
suitable the company should draft and file with Companies House its own custom articles 
that exclude or modify the model articles. It is both common and accepted practice for 
companies to adopt their own custom articles of association that incorporate certain 
provisions in the model articles by reference to them rather than restating the entirety of 
the relevant provisions from the articles. 

2.3 Forms of articles 

Companies have flexibility in relation to the content and form of their custom articles but as 
we have seen, the articles must comply with some formalities as to presentation. There used 
to be a requirement for members to sign the articles under section 7(3) of the Companies 
Act 1985, however this requirement no longer applies.  

Whatever form a company's articles may take, they must be read in conjunction with the 
Companies Act 2006. The Companies Act 2006 usually overrules the contents of any 
provisions inconsistent with it however it does recognise that some of its provisions may not 
be appropriate and a company is therefore able to opt-in, vary or exclude some of them 
through appropriate provisions in its own articles. The Companies Act 2006 provisions that 
apply to a company unless specifically excluded include: 

Section 31(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006 

The objects of a company are unrestricted, unless 
specifically restricted by its articles of association. 

Section 281(3) of the 
Companies Act 2006 

Where the type of resolution is not specified in the 
CA 2006, an ordinary resolution will be required, 
unless the company's articles of association 
require a higher majority (or unanimity). 

Section 690 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

A company will be able to purchase its own shares 
in accordance with CA 2006 procedures, unless 
restricted by the articles. 
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The Companies Act 2006 provisions that do not apply to a company unless specifically 
stated include: 

Section 3 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

For a company to be a limited company (either 
by shares or guarantee), the liability of its members 
must be limited by its constitution. 

Section 77(2) of the 
Companies Act 2006 

A company may change its name by means 
provided in its articles of association. In the 
absence of such means, its name may only be 
changed by special resolution or in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006 procedures. 

Section 145 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

A company's articles of association may enable a 
member to nominate another person or persons to 
enjoy or exercise all, or any specified rights, of the 
member in relation to the company. 

2.4 Amending articles 

Under section 21(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a company's articles of association may, 
subject to certain limitations, be amended by a special resolution of the company's 
members. In accordance to section 283(1) of the Companies Act 2006 a special resolution 
requires 75% of the members voting are in favour of the resolution in order for it to be 
passed. Procedurally, if none of the limitations apply, a company wishing to amend its 
articles should take steps to propose the special resolution to its shareholders.  

A private company can pass a special resolution in writing following the procedure for 
circulating and passing written resolutions under section 288 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Section 288(1) of the Companies Act 2006 stipulates that the written resolution procedure 
applies only to private companies and a public company is not permitted to use the 
written resolution procedure to pass a special resolution. A public company must therefore 
hold a general meeting of its shareholders in order to pass the resolution. Where a private 
company wishes to use the written resolution procedure to amend its articles it is required, 
by section 283(3) of the Companies Act 2006, to ensure that the resolution states that it is 
proposed as a special resolution.  

A company that amends its articles must, in accordance to section 26(1) of the Companies 
Act 2006, send a copy of the resolution and a copy of the amended articles of association 
to the registrar at Companies House within 15 days of the amendment taking effect. Under 
section 26(3) of the Companies Act 2006 failure to do so will render the company and/or 
any relevant officer of the company liable of an offence. These provisions can also be 
found in section 30 of the Companies Act 2006, which specifically deals with the 
requirements for copies of resolutions or agreements to be forwarded to the registrar. 

It should be noted that amendments to the articles are restricted in the following ways: 

þ under section 25 of the Companies Act 2006 an amendment to require a member 
to subscribe for more shares or increase a member's liability will not bind that 
member unless they specifically agree to it; 

þ under section 630 of the Companies Act 2006 an amendment cannot vary or 
abrogate any class rights unless the company also complies with the procedure for 
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varying or abrogating such rights (Cumbrian Newspapers Group v Cumberland and 
Westmorland Herald Newspaper and Printing Co [1986] 2 All ER 816); and 

þ if the articles contain provisions that are entrenched, it will not be possible to amend 
such provisions until certain specified conditions are met or procedures followed. 

2.5 Entrenched provisions 

It is possible that some provisions in the articles of association can be drafted so that they 
can only be repealed or amended if certain conditions are met or certain procedures are 
followed; these provisions are known as “entrenched” provisions. 

The conditions and procedures that need to be followed in order to repeal or amend these 
entrenched provisions are known as “provisions for entrenchment” (section 22(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006). These conditions or procedures may be more restrictive than passing 
a special resolution but, by virtue of section 22(3) of the Companies Act 2006, it is not 
possible to make a provision entirely unalterable. Under section 22(2) of the Companies Act 
2006 provisions for entrenchment may only be made: 

þ in a company's articles of association on formation; or 
þ by an amendment of the company's articles of association agreed to by all the 

members of the company. 

The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills explained, in its publication BIS FAQ 
Companies Act 2006, Articles of Association (including entrenchment), Question 12, that 
this section has not been implemented due to some uncertainty as to whether the 
definition of 'provision for entrenchment' was too wide and could catch provisions 
sometimes included in articles of association in connection with rights attached to classes 
of shares, making it difficult to introduce or amend such provisions. BIS has said that it will 
consult on any action to be taken in relation to this provision and it is not clear when or if it 
will be implemented. It is important to note that the decision to delay the commencement 
of section 22(2) of the Companies Act 2006 does not affect the power to include provisions 
for entrenchment in a company's articles of association—this can still be done. It simply 
ensures that the proposed statutory restrictions on how provisions for entrenchment may be 
introduced into articles of association do not yet apply. Currently, under section 21 of the 
Companies Act 2006, provisions for entrenchment may be made: 

þ in a company's articles of association on formation; or 
þ by an amendment of the company's articles of association by special resolution (as 

opposed to all the members of the company). 

2.6 Enforcing the provisions of the articles 

The contract between a company and its members arises from section 33(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006, which states that: 

“the provisions of a company's constitution bind the company and its members to the 
same extent as if there were covenants on the part of the company and of each member 

to observe those provisions”. 
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The contract is based on articles of association of the company, covering the rights and 
obligations of the company and each member. The contract offers one form of protection 
for minority shareholders. Consequently, either party may enforce the provisions of the 
articles. For example, in Hickman v Kent or Romney Marsh Sheepbreeders’ Association 
[1915] 1 Ch 881 a member initiated legal proceedings against the company, even though 
the company's articles stated that disputes would first be referred to arbitration. 
Accordingly, the company enforced an arbitration clause in the articles against a 
member. Conversely, in the case of Pender v Lushington [1877] 6 Ch D 70, the court found 
in favour of a member whose rights under the articles had been breached.  

The contractual relationship created by section 33 of the Companies Act 2006 is unusual in 
that, for example, it is not rectifiable in the same way as a “normal” contract even if the 
articles do not express the true intention of the parties (Scott v Frank F Scott (London) Ltd 
[1940] Ch 794). The articles can only be amended by special resolution of the company 
members under section 21 of the Companies Act 2006. However, the courts have been 
seen to interpret articles using the “reasonable person” test as seen in the case Attorney 
General of Belize v Belize Telecom Ltd [2009] UKPC 10. This case demonstrated that in every 
case in which it was said that some provision ought to be implied in a contract, the 
question for the court would be whether such a provision would spell out in express words 
what the contract, read against the relevant background, would reasonably be 
understood to mean. 

The nature of the contract limits enforcement to provisions concerning membership (Eley v 
Positive Government Security Life Assurance Co [1876] 1 Ex D 88). A member cannot, for 
example, seek to enforce a provision that relates to directorship of a company and vice 
versa, as can be seen in Beattie v E & F Beattie Ltd [1938] 3 All E.R. 214. In this case the 
company was engaged in an action against a director for the return of money that they 
claimed had been paid to him in error. The articles contained a clause which referred any 
member disputes to arbitration. The director was a member and attempted to have the 
article enforced and therefore have his dispute referred to arbitration. The Court of Appeal 
held that he could not do so as the dispute related to his status as a director. 

It also appears to be accepted that, at least where there seems to be a form of 
partnership existing behind the corporate veil, an enforceable relationship is created 
between members, as demonstrated in Rayfield v Hands [1958] Ch 1, as well as between 
the company and each member. In Rayfield v Hands [1958] Ch 1 the articles provided that 
if a member wished to sell his shares the directors would purchase them. The directors 
refused to purchase the claimant member's shares. It was held that the constitution forms a 
contract between the members themselves, which can be enforced by a member, 
providing that the provision breached concerns a membership right.  

Enforcement of rights under the articles is subject to a limitation period of six years from 
breach as the covenants given under section 33 of the Companies Act 2006 are not under 
seal.  

3. Objects of a Company 

Company objects (the purposes for which a company was incorporated) are largely a 
matter of historical interest in company law as from 1 October 2009, companies have 
unrestricted objects.  
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Under the Companies Act 1985 a company had to state its objects in its memorandum of 
association. It is because of this that at common law a company is limited to acting within 
the objects set out in its memorandum of association. Anything purported to be done by a 
company which is beyond those objects would be “ultra vires” and void at common law, 
and the directors could be personally liable for such acts. This is different to the position 
under the Companies Act 2006. Section 31(1) of the Companies Act 2006 makes it clear 
that, unless a company's articles specifically restrict the objects of the company, its objects 
are unrestricted. Under section 31(2) of the Companies Act 2006, where a company 
amends its articles so as to add, remove or alter a statement of the company's objects it 
must give notice to the registrar. On receipt of the notice, the registrar shall register it, and 
the amendment will not become effective until entry of that notice on the register. 

4. Memorandum of Association 

Prior to 1 October 2009, the memorandum of association of a company formed an integral 
part of its constitution. A company's memorandum of association contained its objects 
clause as well as other key information about the company, including its name, the liability 
of its members, its registered share capital (often referred to as its authorised share capital) 
and any entrenched provisions. The position has now changed. 

Under section 8 of the Companies Act 2006, the memorandum of association of 
a company limited by shares is a legal statement signed by all initial shareholders. It 
concludes with the association clause, by which the shareholders agree to form 
a company under the Companies Act 2006, become members of that company and 
subscribe for shares.  

Section 8(1) of the Companies Act 2006 defines a memorandum of association as a 
memorandum stating that the subscribers wish to form a company under this Act, and 
agree to become members of the company and, in the case of a company that is to have 
a share capital, to take at least one share each. In accordance with section 10(5) of the 
Companies Act 2006, where a subscriber takes more than one class of shares, this 
information must be stated in respect of each class. By virtue of section 112(1) of the 
Companies Act 2006 the subscribers are entered in the register of members when 
the company is registered. Section 8(2) of the Companies Act 2006 stipulates that the 
memorandum must be in the prescribed form and must be authenticated by each 
subscriber. The Companies (Registration) Regulations 2008/3014 prescribe forms of 
memoranda for a company with and without a share capital (Sch.1 and Sch.2 to the 
Regulations). In each case, the memorandum must state the name of the subscriber(s) and 
their individual authentication, confirming that they wish to form a company under the 
2006 Act and agree to become members. If the memorandum contains extra information, 
it is likely to be rejected by the registrar. The memorandum of association is submitted to 
Companies House upon incorporation and is not relevant nor capable of alteration 
following the company's incorporation. 

5. Relevant Resolutions and Agreements 

Section 29(1) of the Companies Act 2006 sets out the resolutions and agreements affecting 
a company’s constitution, they can include: 

þ any special resolution; 
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þ any resolution or agreement agreed to by all the members of a company that, if not 
so agreed to, would not have been effective for its purpose unless passed as a 
special resolution; 

þ any resolution or agreement agreed to by all the members of a class of shareholders 
that, if not so agreed to, would not have been effective for its purpose unless passed 
by some particular majority or otherwise in some particular manner; 

þ any resolution or agreement that effectively binds all members of a class of 
shareholders though not agreed to by all those members; and 

þ any other resolution or agreement to which this Chapter applies by virtue of any 
enactment. 

It is worth considering the case In re Duomatic Limited [1969] 2 Ch 365, which provided that 
where all the shareholders who have a right to attend and vote at a general meeting of a 
company assent to a matter in a shareholders' agreement which could be carried into 
effect at a general meeting of the company, that assent is as binding as a general 
meeting ‘s resolution. This is known as the Duomatic Principle. 

The wording in sections 29 and 30 of the Companies Act 2006 implies that shareholders' 
agreements should be forwarded to Companies House, but, in practice, shareholders' 
agreements are not forwarded to Companies House and are treated as private 
contractual documents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 2 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ the concept of professionalism;  
þ the regulatory bodies in the legal service sector;  
þ outcome focused regulation; 
þ entity regulation; and 
þ compliance officers. 
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2.1 The Legal Services Market  

1. Introduction 

The Legal Services Act 2007 has reformed the way in which legal services are regulated in 
England and Wales. It created a new regulatory structure for legal services, allowing 
different types of lawyers and non-lawyers to form businesses together. It also permits non-
lawyers to be involved in the management or ownership of businesses that provide legal 
services. 

2. The History and Creation of the Act  

In 1979, Lord Benson chaired a report of the Royal Commission of Legal Services where 
three main issues were identified:  

þ the division of the legal profession;  
þ the Bar’s lead of rights of audience in higher courts; and  
þ solicitors’ statutory control over conveyancing work.  

All 15 members of the commission agreed that the division of the legal profession was 
beneficial for the public, due to each profession being specialist in their particular areas; 
but they were divided in opinion in the other two issues. 

During the 1980s, the Administration of Justice Act 1985 was implemented allowing for 
competition from licensed conveyancers. Later in the 1980s, Green Papers were issued by 
the Scottish Lord Chancellor Lord Mackay, which proposed a list of reforms; as a result of 
which the roles of barristers and solicitors would overlap or merge. For example, it was 
proposed that barristers could take instruction directly from their clients and any person 
could hold rights of audience, should they be certified. These proposals were debated for 
over 12 hours in the House of Lords on 7th April 1989. However, when the White Paper was 
published in July of that same year, and the Courts and Legal Services Act was 
implemented in 1990, many of the proposals were wiped out completely and the few that 
were implemented were diluted. The only real change that arose from this was that 
solicitors and employed barristers began to have the right to qualify as advocates in the 
higher courts. 

Over a decade later, in March 2001, the Office of Fair Trading issued “Competition in 
Professionals”; a report in which it was recommended that restrictions on competition 
should be removed. In response, the government issued a consultation paper in 2002 which 
aimed to gather evidence in order for them to undertake a Regulatory Impact Assessment 
and then conclude them in ‘governmental report in 2003’, where it was inferred that the 
framework for legal services (at the time) had “limited capacity to adapt” and was “out-
dated, inflexible [and] over-complex”. Consequently, it was decided that a thorough, 
independent investigation was needed. 
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The independent review was carried out by the appointed Sir David Clementi. It was for 
him to consider reforms in the regulatory framework for legal services in England and Wales 
which would not only promote competition within the legal sector but would also take into 
account the best representation for interests of the consumer that is flexible and consistent. 
He then published “Report of the Review of the Regulatory Framework for Legal Services in 
England and Wales” in December 2004 where he recommended the establishment of a 
Legal Services Board under statute to 
regulate bodies such as the Law Society 
and the Bar Council; the establishment of 
an Office for Legal Complaints to handle 
complaints made by consumers in 
regards to front-line bodies; and the 
establishment of alternative business 
structures that could see both lawyers 
and non-lawyers overseeing legal 
practices. 

The government accepted the report 
issued by Sir David Clementi and issued a 
‘White Paper’ in October 2005 which 
consisted of 158 pages, where his 
recommendations were proposed to be 
implemented in a draft Legal Services Bill. 
In May 2006, the draft Bill was subject to 
the scrutiny of a Joint Committee of 
Members of Parliament and Peers during 
the pre-legislative process. This was 
chaired by Lord Hunt of Wirral, who 
published a report in July 2006 offering 
improvements which could be made. The 
Government then introduced the Legal Services Bill in October 2006 and it received Royal 
Assent in October 2007. 

3. The LSB and Approved Regulators 

The Legal Services Act 2007created a new regulatory organisation called the Legal 
Services Board (LSB). The LSB’s role is to oversee the regulation of legal activities in England 
and Wales. The LSB supervises the work of the various approved regulators, which are 
permitted by law to regulate the supply of legal services. Schedule 4 of the Legal Services 
Act 2007 provides a list of approved regulators, as defined under section 20 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007. Since the Legal Services Act 2007 was passed, however, each of these 
bodies has been required to separate its representative and regulatory functions. The costs 
lawyers regulators are the Costs Lawyer Standards Board (which is independent of ACL). 
The eight approved regulators are: 

1. The Law Society 
2. The Bar Council 
3. The Master of the Faculties 
4. The Council for Licensed Conveyancers 
5. The Chartered Institute of Legal Executives 
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6. The Chartered Institute of Patent Agents 
7. The Institute of Trade Mark Attorneys 
8. The Association of Costs Lawyers 

It is independent of the government and of the various regulators for the legal profession. 
The organisation works with the approved regulators to promote the eight regulatory 
objectives as set out in section 1(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007. The objectives are: 

þ protecting and promoting the public interest;  
þ supporting the constitutional principle of the rule of law;  
þ improving access to justice;  
þ protecting and promoting the interests of consumers;  
þ promoting competition in the provision of services;  
þ encouraging an independent, strong, diverse and effective legal profession;  
þ increasing public understanding of the citizen’s legal rights and duties;  
þ promoting and maintaining adherence to the professional principles.  

4. Reserved Legal Activities 

Reserved legal activities are one of the fundamental building blocks of the Legal Services 
Act 2007. As Sir David Clementi pointed out in his final report: 

“The definition of reserved legal services is relatively straightforward since those areas are 
contained in statute.... These areas could be termed the inner circle of legal services. In 

order to provide such services, a practitioner must be certified by a regulatory body which 
has itself been authorised so to do. A ‘lawyer’ could therefore be defined as any duly 

certified member of such a body.” 

So, under the Legal Services Act 2007, reserved legal activities can only by carried out by 
authorised persons as defined, under section 18 of the Legal Services Act 2007, as those 
who are authorised by an approved regulator. It is an offence for any unauthorised person 
to carry out a reserved legal activity. Section 12 of the Legal Services Act 2007 sets out 
what the reserved legal activities are whilst Schedule 2 of the Legal Services Act 2007 gives 
a brief description of each: 

The exercise of a right of 
audience 

the right to appear before and address a court, 
including the right to call and examine witnesses. 

The conduct of litigation The issuing, commencement, prosecution and 
defence of proceedings before any court in England 
and Wales, and the performance of any ancillary 
functions in relation to such proceedings. 

Reserved instrument activities Preparing any instrument of transfer or charge for the 
purposes of the Land Registration Act 2002, or making 
an application or lodging a document for registration 
under that Act; and preparing any other instrument 
relating to real or personal estate for the purposes of 
the law of England and Wales, or other instrument 
relating to court proceedings within England and 
Wales. 

Probate activities Preparing any probate papers (that is, papers on 
which to found or oppose a grant of probate or of 
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letters of administration) for the purposes of the law, or 
in relation to any proceedings in England and Wales. 

Notarial activities Activities which, immediately before the Act comes 
into force, were customarily carried on by notaries in 
accordance with the Public Notaries Act 1801, though 
this is not taken to include reserved instrument or 
probate activities or the administration of oaths. 

The administration of oaths The exercise of the powers conferred on a 
commissioner for oaths by the Commissioners for 
Oaths Acts 1889 and 1891 and section 24 of the 
Stamp Duties Management Act 1891.  

5. Legal Activities 

Parliamentary intervention has also led to some services that would fall within the definition 
of ‘legal activity’ in section 12(3)(b) of the Legal Services Act 2007 being regulated by 
statute, but not as reserved legal activities. Examples include: 

1. immigration advice;  
2. claims management services; and  
3. insolvency work.  

This adds a degree of complexity to the regulatory terrain. Further complexity is added by 
the fact some legal activities are neither reserved under the Legal Services Act 2007 nor 
regulated by any other statute. However, where the person carrying them out is qualified 
and regulated (such as a barrister, solicitor and licensed conveyancer), the activities they 
undertake can become regulated as a consequence of the person being regulated. The 
outcome is that non-reserved legal activities carried out by unregulated persons can be 
undertaken without any regulatory oversight.  

6. Entities 

Under the Legal Services Act 2007, an entity is a business that provides legal services to the 
public and is regulated by an approved regulator to provide those legal services. An entity 
does not have to have a separate legal personality. An entity therefore includes:  

þ Lawyer-owned entities: A lawyer-owned entity is a business wholly owned and 
managed by regulated persons i.e. barristers, solicitors, CILEx etc.   

þ Alternative Business Structure (ABS): An ABS is an entity which can be wholly owned 
or managed by a non-lawyer or another company.   

þ Legal Disciplinary Practice (LDP): An LDP was a form of ABS and therefore a 
regulated entity that supplied legal services and was managed primarily by lawyers, 
but it could have a percentage of non-lawyer ownership.   

þ A Multi-Disciplinary Business: An MDP is a licensed body that combines the delivery of 
reserved legal activities with other legal and other professional services.   

6. Alternative Business Structures 

The Legal Services Act 2007 allows for the creation of Alternative Business Structures (ABS) 
for the provision of legal and advice services. The provisions in relation to alternative 
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business structures are found in Part 5 of the Legal Services Act 2007. The powers are 
permissive. ABS allows firms to set up legal partnerships or businesses with non-lawyer 
managers or those with an interest, defined as shares or control over voting rights. Where 
non-lawyers are managers of, or have an interest in, an ABS, it must become a licensed 
body. This means it must be licensed and regulated by a licensing authority under the Legal 
Services Act 2007. An ABS can therefore be defined as a firm where a non-lawyer:  

is a manager of the firm; or has an ownership-type interest in the firm. 

When the Legal Services Act 2007 was first enacted, the only licensing authority was the 
Legal Services Board (LSB). By virtue of section 83(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007, the LSB 
was obliged to make suitable licensing rules in relation to authorising other licensing bodies. 
The Legal Services Board remains a licensing authority, but of last resort.  

ABS include multi-disciplinary practices (MDPs), in which law firms can merge with providers 
of other professional services. ABSs, as well as traditional law firms, are regulated by the 
SRA. On October 6th 2011, the first alternative business structures (ABS) were open for 
business in the legal services marketplace in England and Wales. This meant that for the first 
time, non-lawyers were able to fully own and invest in law firms. During 2012, nearly 400 firms 
formally expressed an interest in converting to ABSs, and the Solicitors Regulation Authority 
(SRA) licensed 74 ABSs. 

Compared to a traditional law firm, ABS’ are more flexible, in that lawyers and non-lawyers 
can share the management and control of businesses.  ABS’ can have external investment 
and ownership and an ABS can offer multiple services to clients (including legal services) 
from within the same entity (known as a multidisciplinary practice). 

The need to be authorised as an ABS depends on the activities that the entity intends to 
conduct, who will be managing and owning the firm. Any entity wishing to provide services 
to the public (or a section of the public), which includes one or more reserved legal 
activity, must be authorised by a licensing authority such as the SRA. A firm which has a 
small amount (less than 10 per cent) of indirect non-lawyer involvement is not licensable 
(see section 72(2) of the Legal Services Act 2007). Indirect involvement in this context 
means that the non-lawyer involvement is in another body which is itself a manager or 
interest holder of the firm. Due to the application of the Administration of Justice Act 1985, 
this means the firm with the direct non-lawyer involvement (over 10 per cent) will need to 
be an ABS and must meet the eligibility criteria to be an ABS. Organisations which are 
special bodies, as defined by section 106 of the LSA, have the benefit of a grace period 
and do not need to be authorised as an ABS until the Lord Chancellor ends the grace 
period. Until then, they can apply for authorisation but cannot apply for an order for 
special treatment by the SRA. Special bodies are independent trade unions; not-for-profit 
bodies; community interest bodies or any other body prescribed by order of the Lord 
Chancellor. 

To become licensed as an ABS, applicants must meet standards and requirements set out 
in the SRA Handbook. The emphasis in considering applications for licences is on ensuring 
that investors with a material interest and managers satisfy the SRA Suitability Test and that 
all entities applying for authorisation meet the criteria for authorisation.  

The following are examples of licensed ABSs: 
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þ The Co-operative Legal Services, which offers services in respect of conveyancing, 
family and relationships, making a will, probate, personal injury and employment 
law. 

þ Saga Legal Services, which offers services in respect of wills and estate planning, 
probate and conveyancing. 

þ In January 2013, the trademark "BT Law" was registered.  BT has announced that it 
intends to offer legal services only to the corporate sector, not to individuals. 

7. The Office For Legal Complaints 

The Office for Legal Complaints forms the Board of the Legal Ombudsman (LeO), which is 
described as a "one-stop shop"  that resolves  legal complaints in a fair and  independent 
way, free of charge,  for individuals,  very small businesses, charities,  clubs  and trusts. 

A Chief Ombudsman, a Deputy Chief Ombudsman, a management team and six 
Ombudsmen staff the Legal Ombudsman. It aims to work co-operatively with existing 
regulatory and representative bodies.  Its aim is to resolve complaints quickly and 
informally, with the goal of achieving resolution by agreement. It can compel the parties to 
a dispute to co-operate, and it can award up to £30,000 in redress. 

8. Evaluation 

On 4th July 2016, the Legal Services Board published a periodic evaluation of the changes 
in the legal services market since the Legal Services Act 2007 was passed. 

The key findings of the report were as follows: 

Competition There had been positive developments but improved 
outcomes for consumers were emerging slowly. New 
forms of ownership and the opening up of practice 
rights under the act have failed to increase 
competition. Only a quarter of alternative business 
structures regulated by the SRA were set up by new 
entrants to the market and just 1.4% of chartered 
legal executives have taken advantage of 
additional practicing rights. 

Access to legal services Private litigation remains 'relatively unaffordable’ for 
the average adult living in England & Wales. Whilst 
the same proportion of people were taking legal 
action, more consumers were handling their legal 
problem alone rather than seeking advice. 

Quality of legal services There had been an improvement in most measures 
during a period of substantive reform.  

The Centre for Ethics and Law in the UCL Faculty of Laws undertook a review of the current 
regulatory framework for legal services, led by Professor Stephen Mayson. The independent 
review was intended in part to explore the longer-term and related issues raised by the 
2016 Competition and Markets Authority's (CMA) 'Legal Services market study' and its 
recommendations. The CMA had concluded that the current regulatory framework was 
“unsustainable in the long run” and recommended that the government should undertake 
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a review of it.  At the time, the government was unable to act on the recommendation. 
The Independent Review was set up voluntarily. 

The final report was published in February 2020 and concluded that the current regulatory 
structure provides an incomplete and limited framework for legal services regulation that 
will struggle in the near-term and beyond to meet the demands and expectations placed 
on it. The key recommendations in that report are as follows: 

1. 

All ‘providers’ of legal services, whether qualified or not, should be subject to 
registration and regulation. This includes those who are currently unregulated, as well 
as providers of technology-based legal services. A YouGov survey of almost 30,000 
adults published earlier this year reported that 60% of respondents had a legal issue in 
the past four years.  Two-thirds of them had received help but only half of them 
received it from a regulated lawyer.  This exposes consumers to risks that they are 
often not aware of. 

2. 

The current arrangement of ten front-line regulators plus an oversight regulator is 
cumbersome. The report recommends a single, independent regulator of legal 
services (the Legal Services Regulation Authority) to ensure a common and consistent 
approach across the legal sector.  The Authority should be established as an arm’s 
length regulatory agency.   

3. 

Regulation should be targeted and proportionate, and should take account of risk, 
burden and cost.  The current legal activities reserved only to qualified lawyers should 
be reviewed and replaced with legal services that require prior authorisation 
because of their high public importance or high risk to consumers.  

4. 

The Authority should maintain a public register of providers.  Regulatory requirements 
and enforcement would be appropriate to the importance and risk of particular legal 
services or the relative vulnerability of the clients concerned.  Defined low-risk services 
would only require registration.  Higher-risk services would carry additional regulatory 
conditions. 

5. 

The minimum protections for consumers would include standards of expected 
performance, indemnity insurance, and access to a revised and more extensive legal 
services ombudsman acting as a single point of entry for investigation and redress for 
complaints made by individual consumers or small businesses. 

6. 

The report also addresses the emergence and rapid development of law tech, which 
is capable of offering legal advice and services independently of any human or 
legally qualified involvement.  The report recommends that law tech should fall within 
a future definition of ‘legal services’ and an appropriate person should be registered 
as a ‘provider’. 

7. 
All legal professional titles should have the benefit of statutory protection. It should be 
an offence for someone who is not on the register or a title-holder to pretend or imply 
that they are, or to use any description that suggests so.  

8. 

Consequently, the Legal Services Regulation Authority should have the power to 
approve the requirements for registration, regulation and the award and removal of 
professional titles.  However, professional bodies should continue to have the ability to 
require higher standards of their members than those imposed by regulation.  
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2.2 The Regulatory Framework of the Legal Services Market  

1. Introduction 

The regulation of legal services has grown as the legal profession developed and 
expanded over hundreds of years, historically regulations were created by both the 
profession itself and by governments through legislation. It was the Solicitors Act 1974 that 
authorised the Council of the Law Society to make rules regulating the professional 
practice, conduct and discipline of solicitors, and rules relating to the keeping of accounts. 
Whilst this is still the case in some instances in others, in recent times, the law has changed 
dramatically. 

Whilst the Solicitors Act 1974 used to govern the vast majority of persons who conducted 
litigation, as a result of changes made by the Courts and Legal Services Act 1990, then the 
Access to Justice Act 1999, and finally the Legal Services Act 2007 the ambit of persons 
who are able to provide this and other types of legal service has widened considerably to 
all “authorised persons”. 

The main aim behind the Legal Services Act 2007 was to refocus regulation on consumer 
interests, as opposed to professional interests, ensuring independent regulation and 
removing unnecessary barriers to competition.  

2. The Regulators 

Concern about self-regulation by some categories of lawyers was one reason why 
the Legal Services Act 2007 was introduced. The Legal Services Act 2007 triggered the 
formation of a new organisation called the Legal Services Board (LSB). The statute 
authorised the LSB to reform and modernise the legal service market by placing the 
interests of the consumer at the heart of the system by overseeing the regulation of lawyers 
across England and Wales through authorised regulating bodies.  

The LSB has 8 regulatory objectives, namely:   

þ protecting and promoting the public interest; 
þ supporting the constitutional principles of the rule of law; 
þ improving access to justice; 
þ protecting and promoting the interest of consumers; 
þ promoting competition in the provision of services; 
þ encouraging an independent, strong, diverse and effective legal profession; 
þ increasing public understanding of the citizen’s legal rights and duties; and  
þ promoting and maintaining adherence (by authorised persons) to the professional 

principles. 

In achieving the above 8 objectives the LSB is an overarching regulator.  

2.1 The Approved Regulators 

The approved regulators of the legal service market are listed in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 
to the Legal Services Act 2007 or they have been designated as an approved regulator by 
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an order under paragraph 17 of that Schedule. ACL remains the approved regulator of 
Costs Lawyers although the function has now been delegated to the Costs Lawyer 
Standards Board. 

2.2 The Internal Governance Rules 

Section 30 of the Legal Services Act 2007 places a duty on the LSB to make internal 
governance rules (IGR), which set out requirements to be met by approved regulators for 
the purposes of ensuring that: 

þ the exercise of their regulatory functions is not prejudiced by any representative 
functions; and 

þ so far as reasonably practicable, decisions relating to the exercise of regulatory 
functions are taken independently from decisions relating to the exercise of 
representative functions. 

Putting IGR in place in 2009 was one of the LSB’s first priorities. The IGR were then amended 
in 2014 to update the rules on Board appointments and reappointments.  

The LSB published their vision for legislative reform in September 2016. This document 
explained why the current lack of full independence between approved regulators and 
their frontline regulatory bodies was unlikely to be sustainable.   

The Competition and Markets Authority undertook a legal services market study and a final 
report was published in December 2016. This report identified a number of issues arising 
from the current regulatory structure. It considered that full regulatory independence from 
providers and government is a fundamental principle for the regulatory framework and 
consequently that the government should undertake a review of the independence of 
regulators. 

The Ministry of Justice undertook Tailored Reviews of the Legal Services Board and Office for 
Legal Complaints and published its findings in July 2017. This review recommended that to 
ensure continued public and international confidence in the regulation of the legal sector, 
the LSB should use all of its powers to provide robust assurance on the separation of the 
frontline regulators from the representative functions of the Approved Regulators, including 
the use of its investigative powers where appropriate. Any changes, including those as a 
result of the review of internal governance rules, should be made within the existing 
legislative framework. 

A review of the IGR was undertaken by the LSB between November 2017 and July 2019, 
following which new rules and accompanying statutory guidance were published in July 
2019. The approved regulators are under a duty to implement arrangements for securing 
independence in line with the IGR, and to update these arrangements in accordance with 
amendments made by the LSB.  

With the publication of the new internal governance rules and accompanying statutory 
guidance, a 12 month transition period commenced. By 24 July 2020, the approved 
regulators must demonstrate their compliance with these rules. 
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3. The Practitioners 

Only an authorised person is entitled to undertake reserved legal activities because they 
are regulated by an approved regulator that has been designated to regulate that activity 
under the provisions of the Legal Services Act 2007. For completeness, you should also 
remain aware that an exempt person can carry out a reserved legal activity (section 14 of 
the Legal Services Act 2007).  

3.1 Authorised Persons 

Section 18 Legal Services Act 2007 defines and “authorised person” as: 

þ a person who is authorised to carry on the relevant activity by a relevant approved 
regulator in relation to the relevant activity (other than by virtue of a licence under 
Part 5); or 

þ a licensable body which, by virtue of such a licence, is authorised to carry on the 
relevant activity by a licensing authority in relation to the reserved legal activity (see 
sections 83-85 of the Legal Services Act 2007). 

It should be noted that an authorised person may include an entity, or in other words a 
business with a licence to undertake reserved legal activities. In light of entity regulation 
(i.e. of firms not just individuals), all staff (qualified or not) in a regulated entity have to be 
aware of the requirements of their regulator (such as the SRA) to the extent necessary to do 
their job. This can be seen if you consider Chapter 7 of the SRA Code of Conduct.  

The approved regulators are responsible for setting appropriate regulatory arrangements 
which provide the conditions on which a person is authorised and must abide by when 
carrying out the reserved activities, see for example the SRA Authorisation Rules 2007. 
Through the regulatory arrangements, it is the approved regulators that determine the 
nature of regulation for activities carried out by individuals or the entities they regulate. The 
requirements include such provisions as:  

þ qualification and entry requirements; 
þ practice rules;  
þ conduct rules;  
þ disciplinary arrangements; and 
þ indemnification arrangements and compensation arrangements.  

In some instances these are framed partly by statutory requirements of existing legislation 
that were maintained within the Legal Services Act 2007  such as the Solicitors Act 1974, the 
Administration of Justice Act 1985 and the Courts and Legal Services Act 1990. 

3.2 The Duties of Regulated Persons 

Part 8 of the Legal Services Act 2007 contains miscellaneous provisions about lawyers, 
including the duties of regulated persons. Section 176(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 
states that a person who is regulated by an approved regulator has a duty to comply with 
the regulatory arrangements of the approved regulator as they apply to that person. 
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4. Duty of the Lawyer to their Client in respect of Costs  

At the current time the only regulation by the Courts of costs is in respect of solicitors’ costs. 
Although barristers, chartered legal executives and costs lawyers are all regulated legal 
professionals, and have their own regulatory bodies to which complaints can be made 
and can be investigated by the Legal Ombudsman, there is no provision for the courts to 
assess the costs of any lawyer other than a solicitor.  

This is clearly an area which needs reform given that legal executives and direct access 
barristers can now set up alone and can conduct litigation. Costs lawyers can also 
conduct costs litigation, and a client may want to challenge the bill of any of these legal 
professionals through the courts. It is possible a court might be prepared to assess the bill of 
a legal professional other than a solicitor, there is no statutory right for the client in respect 
of the same. 

4.1 Solicitors and their clients 

Solicitors are governed by the Solicitor’s Act 1974, the Legal Services Act 2007 and the SRA 
Standards and Regulations (came into effect on 25 November 2019, replacing the SRA 
Handbook). A solicitor has a number of responsibilities which are contained within the SRA’s 
Code of Conduct for Solicitors, registered European lawyers and registered foreign lawyers. 
The paragraphs from the Code of Conduct for Solicitors, registered European lawyers and 
registered foreign lawyers which are particularly important to costs are: 

Paragraph 4.1 They must properly account to clients for any financial 
benefit they receive as a result of their instructions, except 
where they have agreed otherwise. 

Paragraph 8.3 They must ensure that clients are informed in writing at the 
time of engagement about: their right to complain to 
about the services and charges; how a complaint can be 
made and to whom; and any right they have to make a 
complaint to the Legal Ombudsman and when they can 
make any such complaint. 

Paragraph 8.7 They must ensure that clients receive the best possible 
information about how their matter will be priced and, 
both at the time of engagement and when appropriate as 
their matter progresses, about the likely overall cost of the 
matter and any costs incurred. 

An SRA regulated firm has a number of responsibilities which are contained within the SRA’s 
Code of Conduct for Firms. The paragraphs from the SRA’s Code of Conduct for Firms 
which are particularly important to costs are: 

Paragraph 5.1 That firms properly account to clients for any financial 
benefit they receive as a result of their instructions, except 
where they have agreed otherwise. 

Paragraph 7.1(c) Makes a number of paragraphs in the SRA Code of 
Conduct for Solicitors, RELs and RFLs applicable to a firm, 
this includes ensuring that clients receive the best possible 
information about how their matter will be priced and, 
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both at the time of engagement and when appropriate as 
their matter progresses, about the likely overall cost of the 
matter and any costs incurred. 

Non compliance with the SRA Standards and Regulations may result in disciplinary 
proceedings with the SRA, who may impose sanctions, including restrictions on a solicitor’s 
practicing certificate, or, if the matter is sufficiently serious, they may refer it to the Solicitors 
Disciplinary Tribunal. The SRA publish decisions and the sanctions imposed on their website; 
examples of the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal proceedings can be found on Bailii and other 
case law websites. 

4.2 Barristers and their clients 

When instructing a barrister, on behalf of a client, the instructing solicitor (except in state 
funded cases) is personally liable for counsel’s fees and the client is liable to the solicitor for 
those fees in the same way as he is for any other disbursement. The solicitor has a duty to 
his client to challenge any counsel’s fee which he considers to be unreasonable. Terms of 
work agreed by the Bar Council and the Law Society provide that any challenge by a 
solicitor to a counsel’s fee, giving rise to an issue of competence or dispute on quantum, 
must be made within three months of the receipt by the solicitor of the fee note. 

Barristers are also required to make sure the lay client is aware in advance of the basis on 
which fees will be charged. In cases where the barrister has a reasonable idea of how 
much work will be involved it will be feasible for a fixed fee to be arranged in advance. This 
should occur as often as possible in public access work and invariably when the work 
involves a brief, as opposed to paperwork. 

However, it is also recognised that in cases of complex paper work it is not feasible to 
determine in advance how much work will be involved: in such cases the agreement of an 
hourly rate will be the only sensible fee agreement. In such situations, consideration should 
be given to fixing a cost ceiling above which work will not be continued without further 
authority from the client. 

Where Counsel has been instructed by a person who was not entitled to conduct litigation, 
Counsel’s fees will not be recoverable. The prohibition in relation to costs at section 25 of 
the Solicitors Act 1974 relates not only to the unentitled person’s own fees, but to those of 
any Counsel instructed. 

4.3 Legal Executives and their Clients 

Practising Fellows of the Chartered Institute of Legal Executives are ‘authorised persons’ 
under the Legal Services Act 2007  and are now able to become a partner 
(director/shareholder in a company or member in an LLP) in an SRA-authorised firm, as 
are barristers, licensed conveyancers, notaries, patents and trade mark agents and law 
cost draftsmen. For all of these partners, and for those employed by an SRA regulated firm, 
the information above relating to solicitors and their clients is applicable to this relationship. 

If a legal executive wants to undertake any reserved legal activity (other than the 
administration of oaths) independently, and not through virtue of being employed by an 
SRA regulated firm or under supervision of another, then they must apply to CILEx 
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Regulation for Practice Rights. Additionally, legal executives have been granted powers to 
set up their own independent firms and are able to practice independently. At the time of 
writing, there are 4 entities listed as having authorisation on the CILEx Authorised Entity 
Directory.  

CILEx Regulation requires an entity to have an Approved Manager to be an Authorised 
Entity. Authorised entities may provide legal services in reserved legal practice areas. All 
managers seeking Approved Manager status must be an authorised person, as defined by 
section18 of the Legal Services Act 2007. A CILEx Fellow may be approved by CILEx 
Regulation to be a manager in an authorised entity. The Applicant Body must have at least 
one Approved Manager authorised to conduct the reserved or regulated legal activity the 
body is applying to be authorised by CILEx Regulation to carry out. 

All entities that are authorised by CILEx Regulation must comply with CILEx Regulation’s 
Authorisation Rules. If a person owns an authorised entity, all the owners, managers and 
employees in must comply with the CILEx Regulation Accounts Rules and the CILEx 
Regulation’s Professional Indemnity Insurance Rules. If someone in an authorised entity is a 
CILEx member who has qualified as a Chartered Legal Executive Advocate they must also 
comply with the advocacy code. This is called the Rights of Audience Conduct Rules.  It 
sets out the standards expected of members when exercising advocacy rights. CILEx 
Members, CILEx Practitioners, authorised persons and authorised entities may be subject to 
other codes and principles as well as the CILEx Code of Conduct 2015. 

The CILEx Code of Conduct, Core Principle 2, requires that CILEx Members must maintain 
high standards of professional and personal conduct and justify public trust in you, your 
profession and the provision of legal services. They must ensure their clients are advised of 
their professional status and they are authorised to practise and/or regulated by CILEx 
Regulation. Core Principle 5 requires that they must also act competently in the best 
interests of the client, which includes ensuring they are fully informed of the complaints 
process. 

4.4 Costs Lawyers and their Clients 

As with legal executives, costs lawyers may work in house for an SRA or CILEx Regulated 
firm. If this is the case then as an employee that individual would be required to comply 
with the requirements set out above. 

The CLSB Code of Conduct (2014) stipulates at rule 3.4 that all costs lawyers must advise 
new clients in writing when instructions are first received of an estimate of fees / details of 
charging structure and where that estimate subsequently becomes inaccurate or that 
charging structure changes provide an updated estimate / notice of revised charges. 
Clients must also be informed of their right to complain.  

5. Complaints 

Part 6 of the Legal Services Act 2007 provides for complaints procedures of authorised 
persons. You should specifically consider section 112 of the of the Legal Services Act 2007 
which states: 
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(1)The regulatory arrangements of an approved regulator must make provision requiring 
each relevant authorised person— 

(a)to establish and maintain procedures for the resolution of relevant complaints, or 

(b)to participate in, or make arrangements to be subject to, such procedures established 
and maintained by another person, and provision for the enforcement of that requirement.  

For Costs Lawyers, the CLSB provides that all costs lawyers must notify their clients of the first 
tier complaints handling procedures. 

5.1 Service Complaints 

Service complaints relate to the quality of the service that has been provided to clients. This 
may include allegations about delay, keeping clients updated on the progress of a case, 
or other costs matters. All legal practices must have an in-house complaints handling 
procedure. Details of the procedure should be given to all clients when they initially instruct 
the practice or as soon as possible thereafter. In the event a complaint is not resolved in 
within prescribed timescales, or the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the 
complainant, the complainant may refer the matter to LeO. 

5.2 Conduct Complaints 

Conduct complaints are those complaints which relate to the conduct of authorised 
persons and may cover concerns over the competence of individuals, the conduct of 
them and the misappropriation of money. Clients, employers, an opposing party, the courts 
or anyone else may make this type of complaint and should be raised with the regulatory 
body. 

6. Offences 

The SRA have prosecuted cases principally under the Solicitors Act 1974, for many years. For 
example, they could bring criminal proceedings where an unqualified person had acted 
as a solicitor (by virtue of section 20 of the Solicitors Act 1974) or where a person pretended 
to be or used the title, or a description, implying that they are a solicitor (by virtue of section 
21 of the Solicitors Act 1974). However, amendments made to the Legal Services Act 2007 
have expanded the circumstances when they and other regulators may prosecute.  

The main offences are found in sections 14 to 17 of the Legal Services Act 2007. Section 
14(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 provides that it is an offence for a person to carry on 
an activity (“the relevant activity”), which is a reserved legal activity, unless that person is 
entitled to carry on the relevant activity. Section 14(3) prescribes that a person who is guilty 
of an offence under subsection (1) is liable on summary conviction, to imprisonment for a 
term not exceeding 12 months or a fine not exceeding the statutory maximum (or both), 
and on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 2 years or a 
fine (or both). By virtue of section 17 it is an offence to pretend to be entitled to carry on 
reserved legal activities. 

Regulators can also bring proceedings in respect of certain failures to cooperate with them 
as a regulator, including where individuals or firms knowingly, or recklessly, provide false or 
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misleading information or documents to them (paragraph 14 Schedule 13 and Part II of the 
Legal Services Act 2007 in relation to non-authorised persons). 

Regulators have a common power to prosecute criminal offences as can be seen in the 
decision made in R v Rollins [2009] EWCA Crim 1941, where a prosecution by the Financial 
Services Authority was unsuccessfully challenged.  

The case of Agassi v S Robinson (H.M. Inspector of Taxes) [2005] EWCA Civ 1507 pre dates 
the Legal Services Act 2007 but stipulates that where the CPR or other legislation provides 
that a certain activity may be performed only be the litigant or a solicitor, then it would be 
illegal for someone other than a litigant or a solicitor to carry out that task.  

Providing legal services when you are not qualified and licensed to do so is a criminal 
offence in many jurisdictions.  If any offence is carried out in the purported exercise of a 
right of audience, or a right to conduct litigation, in relation to any proceedings or 
contemplated proceedings, section 4 of the Legal Services Act 2007 provides that the 
person committing the offence is also guilty of contempt of the court concerned and may 
be punished accordingly as the case of Balli, Re Contempt of Court Act 1981 (Rev. 1) 
[2011] EWHC 1736 (Ch) demonstrates. 

As we are aware, there are rules and regulations both about who can work as an 
authorised person, and what work they can do. Section 1 of the Solicitor’s Act 1974 states 
that No person shall be qualified to act as a solicitor unless he has been admitted as a 
solicitor, and his name is on the roll, and he has in force a certificate issued by the Society in 
accordance with the provisions of this Part authorising him to practise as a solicitor (in this 
Act referred to as a “practising certificate”). Section 20(1) of the Solicitors Act 1974 states 
that no unqualified person is to act as a solicitor, and section 20(2) of the Solicitors Act 1974 
makes it a criminal offence to contravene that with liability of conviction on indictment 
leading to imprisonment for not more than 2 years or to a fine, or to both. 

Additionally, it should be noted that no costs will be payable if the Client was misled about 
who was undertaking the work, as seen in the case Pilbrow v Pearless de Rougemont & Co 
[1999] All ER (D) 284. In this case, although the Court acknowledged that the case had 
been dealt with to a professional standard, Mr Pilbrow believed the fee earner throughout 
the contract to be a solicitor when they were not and therefore, the Court found that there 
had been a non-fulfilment of the contract and no fees were recoverable by the solicitors 
accordingly. 
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2.3 Entity Regulation and the ABS 

1. Introduction 

Legal services regulation has seen unparalleled reforms and modernisation since the Legal 
Services Act 2007.  There have been reforms to:  

þ remove barriers to market access;  
þ reduce regulatory burdens; and  
þ promote consumers’ interests.  

The Legal Services Act 2007 allowed regulators to take steps to open up the market, 
providing opportunities for the development of new ways of delivering legal services. There 
are currently five authorities with power to license Alternative Business Structures (ABS), 
which are business models that permit non-lawyer investment in and ownership and 
management of law firms for the first time. This is said to be stimulating growth and allowing 
both existing and new legal service providers to innovate, theoretically offering consumers 
greater choice and wider access.  This handout will explore both the new alternative 
structures and the concept of the regulated entity. 

2. The Regulatory Framework 

Regulation of legal services in England and Wales is predominantly provider based. It is also 
built around the list of reserved activities set out in the Legal Services Act 2007. Only persons 
who are authorised by an approved regulator that has been designated to regulate that 
activity under the provisions of the Legal Services Act 2007 may deliver a reserved legal 
activity.  These reserved legal activities are detailed in section 12 of the Legal Services Act 
2007. This brings the authorised person, defined in section 18 of the Legal Services Act 2007, 
within the scope of legal services specific regulation for the reserved activities that he 
undertakes. Certain professions, for example solicitors, have regulated all legal services that 
regulated individuals perform.  

There are currently only six areas of legal activity that parliament has determined must be 
reserved. These six reserved activities are listed at section 12 and schedule 2 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007. The reserved activities are:  

þ the exercise of rights of audience (i.e. appearing as an advocate before a court);  
þ the conduct of litigation (i.e. managing a case through its court processes);  
þ reserved instrument activities (i.e. dealing with the transfer of land or property under 

specific legal provisions);  
þ probate activities (i.e. handling probate matters for clients); 
þ notarial activities (i.e. work governed by the Public Notaries Act 1801); and 
þ the administration of oaths (i.e. taking oaths, swearing affidavits etc).  

The majority of legal activities are not listed as “reserved activities” and are not explicitly 
required by statute to be brought within the scope of legal services specific regulation. This 
includes the services that most people use and understand to be legal services and might 
instinctively expect to fall within the regulatory net (for example, general legal advice, 
transactional corporate advice, will-writing and employment advice). In practice, these 
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activities can be provided by anybody who wishes to do so, irrespective of qualifications or 
expertise. In doing so, the general competition and consumer protection framework 
applies but not the additional requirements, protections, constraints and costs of legal 
services specific regulation.  

Traditionally, most legal activities are regulated because those individuals that undertake 
such work also undertake a reserved activity; or, because they wish to maintain a 
protected title. For solicitors and barristers, the conditions of professional membership 
extends the regulatory rule book to all of the work that they undertake, whether or not it 
has been determined an area in need of particular protections. In other words, they still 
become subject to legal services specific regulation when undertaking legal activities that 
have not been reserved. This is not the case for costs lawyers, the CLSB only regulate the 
undertaking of reserved legal activities.  

There are also ownership and management restrictions, such as the Solicitors Regulation 
Authority’s separate business rule that provides that firms are not able to conduct certain 
non-reserved legal activities through a separate unregulated business. This stops solicitors 
from taking advantage of the limitations of the business.  

Today, in accordance with section 18 of the Legal Services Act 2007, the reservation of 
these activities may be to an individual or an entity. Although the approved regulators 
currently take reservation of an authorised person to mean reservation to individual lawyers 
such as solicitors and barristers, this is not a requirement of the Legal Services Act 2007. This 
means that there is considerable scope for applying regulatory arrangements in different 
ways and for amending existing requirements. Under section 18(1)(b) of the Legal Services 
Act 2007, an authorised person includes a licensable body which, by virtue of such a 
licence, is authorised to carry on the relevant activity by a licensing authority in relation to 
the reserved legal activity. Therefore, an entity is a business that provides legal services to 
the public and is regulated by an approved regulator to provide those legal services.  

An entity does not have to have a separate legal personality, i.e it does not have to be 
incorporated and may be, for example, a partnership. An entity therefore includes: 

Lawyer-owned entities A lawyer-owned entity is a business wholly owned and managed 
by regulated persons i.e. barristers, solicitors, CILEx etc.  

Alternative Business 
Structure (ABS) 

An ABS is an entity which can be wholly owned or managed by a 
non-lawyer or another company.  

Legal Disciplinary 
Practice (LDP) 

An LDP was a form of ABS and therefore a regulated entity that 
supplied legal services and was managed primarily by lawyers, 
but it could have a percentage of non-lawyer ownership.  

A Multi-Disciplinary 
Business 

An MDP is a licensed body that combines the delivery of reserved 
legal activities with other legal and other professional services. 

3. Lawyer Owned Entities 

3.1 Solicitor’s Regulation Authority (SRA) 

A sole practice run by a solicitor is a lawyer owned entity, as is a partnership or LLP. It is 
important to remember that a solicitor is a lawyer who has been admitted as a solicitor by 
the SRA and whose name appears on the roll of solicitors. The roll is the list of solicitors of 
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the Senior Courts kept by the Law Society (under section 6 of the Solicitors Act 1974), 
although this function is now delegated to the SRA. A solicitor’s sole practice would be 
known as a recognised body, which is a body recognised by the SRA. For clarity, a 
recognised sole practice is a solicitor or REL (a Registered European Lawyer; a lawyer from 
a European state who registers with the SRA to practise law in England and Wales) 
authorised by the SRA.  

3.2 Bar Standards Board (BSB) 

Historically, the BSB regulated individual practising barristers. It should be noted that 
traditional chambers aren’t an entity because they are not a business, nor were they 
regulated. Instead, the barristers who work/worked within chambers are/were individually 
regulated to provide legal services.  However, since April 2015, the BSB have been 
regulating authorised bodies. A BSB authorised body was previously known as an "entity" by 
the BSB. These are bodies fully owned and managed by authorised individuals, i.e. lawyers 
with current practising certificates. In combination with direct access and the ability to now 
conduct litigation, this is significantly increasing the range of services that the Bar can 
provide for clients.  

Until January 2014, authorisation to conduct litigation had been limited to employed 
barristers. The BSB introduced safeguards to manage anticipated risks from this new area of 
work, making the necessary changes to its own systems and practices to regulate this area 
effectively allowing all barristers to apply to the BSB for an extension to their practising 
certificate authorising them to conduct litigation (barristers are not automatically 
authorised to conduct litigation).  

3.3 CILEX Regulation 

Since the enactment of the Legal Services Act 2007, CILEx Regulation has been designated 
as an approved regulator for:  

þ conduct of litigation,  
þ reserved instrument; and  
þ probate activities.  

This is in addition to powers to regulate the exercise of rights of audience and the 
administration of oaths. CILEx regulation refers to these as practising rights and these are 
not acquired simply by achieving fellowship status. By virtue of qualifying as a Fellow one 
can automatically conduct the reserved activity of Administering Oaths. One can also 
complete a qualification process to gain rights of audience. For the additional rights 
Fellows must apply for these additional rights having demonstrated competence. 

CILEx Regulation now regulates what it calls authorised entities and, whilst a firm may also 
provide other non-reserved legal services which do not require authorisation, the firm will 
still be regulated by them for all legal services it provides. 

4. Alternative Business Structures (ABS) 

The Legal Services Act 2007 allows for the creation of Alternative Business Structures (ABS) 
for the provision of legal and advice services. The provisions in relation to alternative 
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business structures are found in Part 5 of the Legal Services Act 2007. The powers are 
permissive. ABS allows firms to set up legal partnerships or businesses with non-lawyer 
managers or those with an interest, defined as shares or control over voting rights. Where 
non-lawyers are managers of, or have an interest in, an ABS, it must become a licensed 
body (section 72 of the Legal Services Act 2007). This means it must be licensed and 
regulated by a licensing authority under the Legal Services Act 2007. An ABS can therefore 
be defined as a firm where a non-lawyer: 

þ is a manager of the firm; or  
þ has an ownership-type interest in the firm. 

4.1 Licensing Authorities 

When the Legal Services Act 2007 was first enacted, the only licensing authority was the 
Legal Services Board (LSB).  Section 73(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 defines a licensing 
authority to include the LSB or an approved regulator which is designated as a licensing 
authority under Part 1 of Schedule 10 of the Legal Services Act 2007 and whose licensing 
rules are approved for the purposes of the Legal Services Act 2007. By virtue of section 83(1) 
of the Legal Services Act 2007, the LSB was obliged to make suitable licensing rules in 
relation to authorising other licensing bodies. The Legal Services Board remains a licensing 
authority but of last resort.  

Section 85(3) of the Legal Services Act 2007 enables a licensing authority, other than the 
Legal Services Board, to grant licences that authorise the licensed body to carry on 
activities which are reserved legal activities only if the licensing authority has the power in 
relation to the reserved legal activities in question. The following are licensing authorities: 

Council for Licensed 
Conveyancers 

Licensing ABS for exercise of reserved instrument 
activities, probate activities and administration of oaths. 

Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales 

Licensing ABS for probate activities. 

Intellectual Property Regulation 
Board 

Licensing ABS for exercise of right of audience, conduct 
of litigation, reserved instrument activities and 
administration of oaths. 

Solicitors Regulation Authority 
Licensing ABS for exercise of right of audience, conduct 
of litigation, reserved instrument activities, probate 
activities and administration of oaths. 

Bar Standards Board 
Licensing ABS for the exercise of a right of audience, the 
conduct of litigation, reserved instrument activities, 
probate activities and the administration of oaths. 

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales was the first new approved 
regulator under the Legal Services Act 2007. It was designated as an approved regulator 
and a licensing authority for probate in 2014. This means Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales regulated individuals and firms could apply to provide this reserved 
legal activity to consumers. This development has the potential to increase choice, reduce 
costs and to enable firms to offer a more integrated service to consumers who, in non-
contentious cases, will be able to use a single adviser.  
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In accordance with section 87(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007, each licensing authority 
must keep a register containing the names and places of business of all bodies which hold 
or have held licences granted by the licensing authority. 

4.2 Licensed Bodies 

Section 71(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 provides that the provisions of part 5 of the Act 
have effect for the purpose of regulating the carrying on of reserved legal activities and 
other activities by licensed bodies. In other words, it is this part of the Act that regulates ABS 
and the undertaking of reserved legal activities by those businesses. Under section 71(2) of 
the Legal Services Act 2007 a “licensed body” is a body which holds a licence in force 
under part 5 of the Act, i.e. a license granted by a licensing authority as permitted by 
section 85 of the Legal Services Act 2007. Section 72 of the Legal Services Act 2007 sets out 
what a licensable body is;  it includes bodies where unauthorised persons are managers or 
have an interest in the body. 

Section 73(1)(b) of the Legal Services Act 2007 sets out that licensing authorities are 
approved regulators which have been designated as a licensing authority (under Part 1 of 
schedule 10 of the Legal Services Act 2007) and whose licensing rules have been 
approved.  

4.3 Becoming an ABS 

The ABS regime is facilitative. There is no obligation for a firm to become an ABS, although 
there may be some pressure from competitors who might influence whether a firm decides 
to become one. Section 84(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 requires a licensing authority 
to determine any applications for a licence which is made to it. Licensing authorities may 
not grant an application for a licence unless it is satisfied, that if the licence is granted, the 
applicant will comply with its licensing rules (section 84(3) of the Legal Services Act 2007).  

Under section 84(4) of the Legal Services Act 2007, if an application is granted, the licence 
must be issued as soon as reasonably practicable and, by virtue of section 84(5) of the 
Legal Services Act 2007, it will take effect from the date on which it is issued. Section 85 of 
the Legal Services Act 2007 requires that any license specifies: 

þ the activities which are reserved legal activities and which the licensed body is 
authorised to carry on by virtue of the licence; and 

þ any conditions subject to which the licence is granted. 

A firm: 

þ must have at least one "manager" who is authorised to provide the reserved legal 
activity delivered by the ABS; and 

þ must have at least one non-lawyer "manager" or owner. 

The Legal Services Act 2007 requires all ABS to have a Head of Legal Practice (known as 
the HOLP) and a Head of Finance and Administration (known as the HOFA). The HOLP must 
be a lawyer and, by virtue of section 91 of the Legal Services Act 2007, is responsible for 
ensuring compliance with the terms of the ABS' license and for reporting to the licensing 
authority any failure to comply with the terms of the license. The duties of the HOFA are 
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found in section 92 of the Legal Services Act 2007. The HOFA, who does not need to be a 
lawyer, is responsible for ensuring compliance with the licensing rules that relate to the 
treatment of money held by the ABS and for keeping accounts in respect of such money; 
and is also required to report any breach of those rules to the licensing authority.  

4.3.1 SRA Framework 

The SRA’s framework allows external investment. Non-lawyer owners with a 10% or more 
interest in an ABS will need to demonstrate their suitability. The ABS must appoint a 
Compliance Officer for Legal Practice (COLP) and a Compliance Officer for Financial and 
Administration (COFA). ABSs are entitled to provide all reserved legal services. A firm which 
has a small amount (less than 10%) of indirect non-lawyer involvement is not a licensable 
body and is required to apply for authorisation as a recognised body. The body is 
recognised as a low risk body. 

4.3.2 Council for Licensed Conveyancers (CLC) Framework 

Under the Council for Licensed Conveyancers’s (CLC) framework, an ABS can be partly 
owned by a non-authorised person and it can provide both legal and non-legal services. 
The ABS must appoint a Head of Legal Practice (HoLP) who is an authorised person in 
relation to reserved legal activities and a Head of Finance and Administration (HoFA). The 
CLC is able to licence and regulate ABSs providing conveyancing and probate services 
with a range of other non-legal services. 

4.4 Ownership and duties 

Section 89 and schedule 13 of the Legal Services Act 2007 contain provisions regarding the 
ownership of licensed bodies and the holding of certain interests in licensed bodies by non-
authorised persons. Under the Legal Services Act 2007, the authorised body must approve 
the holding of a "material interest" by a "non-lawyer" in an ABS, as well as authorise the firm 
as a whole as being appropriate to provide legal services. 

Paragraph 3 of schedule 13 sets out the tests for assessing at which point an interest in an 
ABS is "material" and therefore requires separate approval by the authorised body. As the 
LSA deals with a variety of potential business structures, the tests provide for a variety of 
methods for calculating at what point an interest becomes "material" in different types of 
firm and structure. By way of summary the tests look at: 

þ who has ownership shares in the ABS firm; 
þ who has the power to make important decisions about how the law firm is run – 

"voting power" or "voting rights" in the ABS firm;  
þ who can exercise significant influence over the management of the ABS firm; 
þ whether any persons are "associated" with each other and may be acting together 

to influence how the ABS firm is run; and  
þ whether there is a parent business or there are parent businesses of the ABS firm 

(such as where the ABS firm is a wholly owned subsidiary of another company) and if 
so who owns, controls and influences the parent business or businesses. 

In summary, the test for whether a non-authorised person (an individual or an entity) has a 
material interest in an ABS is whether that person:  
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þ holds at least 10 per cent of the "shares" in either the ABS or a parent undertaking of 
the ABS (as above, "shares" can include ownership rights and responsibilities in 
unincorporated bodies such as partnerships);  

þ is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of:  
o 10 per cent or more of the "voting rights" in the ABS or the parent 

undertaking of the ABS (if decisions are taken at general meetings); or  
o "voting power" in the ABS or the parent undertaking of the ABS (which 

could include the right under the constitution to direct overall policy of 
the ABS or alter its constitution if there are no general meetings);  

þ is able to exercise significant influence over the management of the ABS by virtue of 
the person's "shares" or entitlement to exercise, or control the exercise, of voting 
rights in the ABS; or 

þ is able to exercise significant influence over the management of the parent 
undertaking of the ABS by virtue of the person's "shares" or entitlement to exercise, or 
control the exercise, of voting rights in the parent undertaking of the ABS. 

Section 90 of the Legal Services Act 2007 details the duties of non-authorised persons. A 
non-authorised person who is an employee or manager of a licensed body (or a person 
who has an interest or an indirect interest or holds a material interest in a licensed body) 
must not do anything which causes or substantially contributes to a breach by: 

þ the licensed body; or 
þ an employee or manager of the licensed body who is an authorised person in 

relation to an activity which is a reserved legal activity. 

5. Legal Disciplinary Practices (LDP) 

A Legal Disciplinary Practice (LDP) was a type of structure introduced on 31 March 2009 
which allowed other “authorised persons” (e.g. Chartered legal executives, licensed 
conveyancers and barristers) and also non-lawyers, to become managers of a firm. They 
were a type of Alternative Business Structure (ABS) introduced by the Legal Services Act 
2007 prior to the full ABS regulatory regime, which was introduced in October 2011. 

LDPs were regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA) and the Council for 
Licensed Conveyancers (CLC). The composition, restrictions and services provided by an 
LDP were dependent on which of these organisations regulated the LDP. LDPs regulated by 
the SRA required at least one solicitor and up to 25% of managers could be non-lawyers 
provided the remaining 75% of managers were regulated lawyers. LDPs regulated by the 
CLC were referred to as Recognised Bodies. In a CLC Recognised Body the only restriction 
was that at least one of the managers had to be a licensed conveyancer. LDPs will all 
transfer to become ABS and can no longer be created. 

6. Multi-Disciplinary Practices (MDP) 

A multi-disciplinary practice (MDP) is a licensed body that combines the delivery of 
reserved legal activities with other legal and other professional services. “Reserved legal 
activity” and “legal activity” have the meaning prescribed by section 12 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007. 
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The SRA has changed its rules to avoid unnecessary and disproportionate regulation that 
was threatening to stifle the development of ABSs working as multi-disciplinary practices. 
The issue arose where non-reserved legal activity (such as tax advice by a chartered 
accountant or planning advice by a chartered surveyor) was provided as part of the 
exercise of a non-legal profession that is already regulated elsewhere. Now, when licensing 
an MDP, the SRA’s approach to regulation will be a flexible one, driven by the risks posed 
by the particular circumstances.  

 

 

 

  



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  67 

2.4 Compliance Officers 

1. Introduction 

The Legal Services Act 2007 requires all Alternative Business Structures (ABS) to have a Head 
of Legal Practice (known as the HOLP) and a Head of Finance and Administration (known 
as the HOFA). The HOLP must be a lawyer and, by virtue of section 91 of the Legal Services 
Act 2007, is responsible for ensuring compliance with the terms of the ABS' license and for 
reporting to the licensing authority any failure to comply with the terms of the license. The 
duties of the HOFA are found in section 92 of the Legal Services Act 2007. The HOFA, who 
does not need to be a lawyer, is responsible for ensuring compliance with the licensing 
rules that relate to the treatment of money held by the ABS and for keeping accounts in 
respect of such money; and is also required to report any breach of those rules to the 
licensing authority.  

2. The SRAs Approach 

The primary legislation and the SRA Handbook differ on the title of the Compliance Officer 
for Legal Practice (COLP) and Compliance Officer Finance and Administration (COFA) 
role, but this does not affect its substance. Paragraph 11 of Schedule 11 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007 requires all ABS to appoint a HOLP and HOFA, but there is no 
corresponding statutory requirement for solicitor’s practices. The SRA has changed the title 
from HOLP/HOFA to COLP/COFA and, under rule 8.5 of the SRA Authorisation Rules 2011, all 
SRA regulated firms were required to appoint a COLP/COFA. This requirement is now found 
in rule 8.1 of the SRA Authorisation of Firms Rules 2019. 

All firms need to decide how the COLP and COFA operate within their business structure. 
The firm must have effective governance structures, arrangements, systems and controls to 
ensure its compliance officers are able to discharge their duties. This involves making sure 
systems are in place to allow the firm to operate effectively and in compliance with the 
SRA Standards and Regulations. In larger firms, or where the COLP and COFA are 
employees, as well as the right governance, the compliance officers must have clear 
reporting lines that empower them sufficiently to fulfil their roles. This is to make sure the 
COLP and COFA are able to implement changes or introduce new procedures to ensure 
compliance and good risk-management. 

Irrespective of the size of the firm, it is up to the management of the firm to review the 
effectiveness of its COLP or COFA. If a sole practitioner is also the COLP and the COFA they 
need to review how well they are undertaking the roles. 

3. Duties of the COLP  

According to the SRA’s guidance Responsibilities of COLPs and COFAs 2019, the COLP must 
take all reasonable steps to: 

1. Ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the firm's authorisation. 

2. 
Ensure compliance by the firm and its managers, employees or interest 
holders with the SRA’s regulatory arrangements which apply to them (except 
any obligations imposed under the Accounts Rules). 
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3. 
Ensure that the firm's managers and interest holders, and those they employ 
or contract with, do not cause or substantially contribute to a breach of the 
regulatory arrangements. 

4. 
Ensure that a prompt report is made to the SRA of any serious breach of the 
terms and conditions of the firm's authorisation, or the regulatory 
arrangements which apply to the firm, managers or employees. 

COLPs should note that compliance with the conditions of the practice's licence includes 
compliance with all the SRA's regulatory arrangements including those within the 
SRA Standards and Regulations 2019. The SRA regulatory arrangements include all rules and 
regulations set by the SRA in relation to: 

þ Authorisation 
þ Practice 
þ Conduct  
þ Discipline  
þ Qualification of persons carrying on legal activities  
þ Accounts  
þ Indemnification and compensation arrangements 

With the exception of the Accounts Rules, COLPs must be in a position to be able to 
discharge these responsibilities. 

3.1 General conditions of authorisation 

General obligations are applied to all practices' upon authorisation by virtue of the SRA 
Authorisation of Firms Rules 2019. These include: 

þ compliance with regulatory arrangements 
þ suitable arrangements for compliance 
þ management and control of a practice including approval of managers and 

owners 
þ provision of information to the SRA 

The range of general obligations placed on a practice's authorisation means that a COLP's 
responsibilities relate to a broad range of requirements. COLPs should become familiar with 
the general obligations as well as any additional conditions placed on their practice's 
licence. 

3.2 Compliance Systems 

COLPs are responsible for ensuring systems are in place for compliance. COLPs may wish to 
consider systems that ensure:  

þ undertakings are given appropriately, monitored and complied with 
þ appropriate checks are conducted on new staff or contractors  
þ regulatory deadlines are not missed, for example arranging indemnity cover, 

renewal of practising certificates and registrations, renewal of all lawyers' licences to 
practise and provision of regulatory information  

þ risks are appropriately monitored, reviewed and managed  
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þ issues of conduct are given appropriate weight in decisions the practice takes, 
whether on client matters or practice-based issues such as funding  

þ file reviews are conducted as required 
þ staff are developed and trained as necessary to carry out their role.  
þ necessary approvals of managers, owners and COLP/COFA are obtained 
þ arrangements are in place to deal with planned or unplanned staff absences 
þ compliance with General Data Protection Regulations 

The existence of the COLP does not detract from the practice's and managers' 
responsibilities and their obligations to comply with the SRA's regulatory arrangements. 

4. Duties of the COFA  

According to the SRA’s guidance Responsibilities of COLPs and COFAs 2019, the COFA 
must take all reasonable steps to: 

1. Ensure that the firm and its managers and employees comply with any 
obligations imposed upon them under the SRA Accounts Rules 

2. Ensure that a prompt report is made to the SRA of any serious breach of the 
Accounts Rules which apply. 

To be in a position to discharge their role fully, the COFA's must consider whether they: 

þ have access to all accounting records 
þ carry out regular checks on the accounting systems 
þ carry out file and ledger reviews 
þ ensure that the reporting accountant has prompt access to all the information 

needed to complete the accountant's report 
þ take steps to ensure that breaches of the SRA Accounts Rules are remedied 

promptly 
þ can report all breaches which are serious, either on their own or as part of a pattern, 

to the SRA  
þ can monitor, review and manage risks to compliance with the SRA Accounts Rules 
þ monitor constantly the financial stability and viability of the practice 

5. Recording and reporting 

Paragraph 2.2 of the SRA Code of Conduct for Firms 2019 places an obligation on firms to 
keep and maintain records to demonstrate compliance with its obligations.  

The SRA therefore expect compliance officers to keep a record of all breaches that occur. 
These records are a key tool for firm’s in understanding the risks in their business and should 
help firms to identify where things have gone wrong and whether there are any systemic 
problems inherent to the firm's processes. 

The SRA do not prescribe a method of recording breaches. When implementing recording 
procedures, firms should consider how best to do this in light of the fact they should be a 
tool in the firm's risk management strategy. 
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It is mandatory to report some matters to the SRA, these are called 'notifications' and are 
set out in Schedule 1 of the SRA’s Reporting and Notification Guidance 2019. Examples 
include those found in rule 7.6 of the SRA Code of Conduct for Solicitors, RELs and RFLs 2019 
requires that the SRA are notified promptly if a lawyer is charged, convicted or cautioned 
with a criminal offence, become insolvent or become aware of any change to the 
information the SRA hold about a lawyer. For firms, there is an additional obligation, found 
in rules 3.6 and 3.8 of the SRA Code of Conduct for Firms 2019, to report any indicators of 
serious financial difficulty or an intention to stop trading. 

Other matters will involve making a judgement about whether firms are obliged to report to 
the SRA. A summary of wider reporting obligations is set out in Schedule 2 of the 
SRA’s Reporting and Notification Guidance 2019. 

6. Qualification and approval 

The individual or individuals who are designated as COLP and COFA must be a manager or 
employee of the firm (unless they are already approved as compliance officer for a related 
firm and they are a manager or employee of that related firm). They must also consent to 
the designation and not be disqualified from acting as a compliance officer under section 
99 of the Legal Services Act 2007. in the case of a COLP, they must also be an individual 
who is authorised to carry on reserved legal activities by the SRA or another approved 
regulator. 

7. Liability for compliance breaches 

The compliance officers sit at the heart of the firm’s regulatory arrangements. This does not 
mean the firm and its managers can abdicate responsibility for compliance simply by 
appointing compliance officers. 

A serious failure to meet the SRA’s standards or a serious breach of its regulatory 
requirements may lead to the SRA taking regulatory action against the firm itself as an 
entity, or its managers or compliance officers, who each have responsibilities for ensuring 
the Standards and Regulations are met. 

The SRA sees compliance officers as the formal points of contact for compliance in a 
practice. While the managers of a practice continue to bear the ultimate responsibility for 
a practice's compliance, compliance officers may also face regulatory action personally 
where they fail to meet their responsibilities. It is therfore important that compliance officers 
consider their personal liability and are satisfied that appropriate safeguards are in place. 
Individual compliance officers should reach an agreement with their practice as to the 
best way to protect against any potential liability. There are a number of potential options 
to consider, including: 

þ an indemnity agreement;  
þ an amendment to your employment contract;  
þ an endorsement on the practice's professional indemnity insurance (PII) policy; or  
þ an insurance product (for example, Directors' and Officers' (D&O) cover or a specific 

COLP/COFA product). 
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2.5 The SRA and Risk Management Policies 

1. Introduction 

Effective risk management is a cornerstone of the Solicitors Regulation Authority Standards 
and Regulations. The Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA) has emphasised that all firms must 
take a risk-based approach to compliance and managing their business. To do so, firms 
need to identify and assess the risks they face and have a plan to manage them. 

2. The SRA Code of Conduct for Firms 2019  

This Code of Conduct describes the standards and business controls that the SRA and the 
public expect of firms (including sole practices) authorised by the SRA to provide legal 
services. The standards and business controls aim to create and maintain the right culture 
and environment for the delivery of competent and ethical legal services to clients. The 
standards and business controls apply in the context of a practice: the way a business is run 
and all the professional activities (subject, if the firm is a licensed body, to any terms of a 
licence). 

A serious failure to meet the SRA standards or a serious breach of their regulatory 
requirements may lead to the SRA taking regulatory action against the firm itself as an 
entity, or its managers or compliance officers, who each have responsibilities for ensuring 
that the standards and requirements are met. The SRA may also take action against 
employees working within the firm for any breaches for which they are responsible. A failure 
or breach may be serious either in isolation or because it comprises a persistent or 
concerning pattern of behaviour. 

In accordance with rule 2.1 firms must have a clear and effective governance structure, 
arrangements, systems and controls in place to ensure: 

1. they comply with all the SRA's regulatory arrangements, as well as other regulatory 
and legislative requirements, which apply to the firm; 

2. managers and employees comply with the SRA's regulatory arrangements which 
apply to them; 

3. managers and interest holders and those employed or contracted with do not 
cause or substantially contribute to a breach of the SRA's regulatory 
arrangements by the firm or the firm’s managers or employees; and 

4. compliance officers are able to discharge their duties. 
 

By virtue of rule 2.2, firms must also keep and maintain records to demonstrate compliance 
with their obligations under the SRA's regulatory arrangements. Rule 2.3 requires that firms 
remain accountable for compliance with the SRA's regulatory arrangements where work is 
carried out through others, including their managers and those they employ or contract 
with. 
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In accordance with rule 2.4, firms must have in place systems and controls for monitoring 
the financial stability of the firm and business viability. If a firm becomes aware that they will 
cease to operate, they must effect the orderly wind-down of their activities. 

Rule 2.5 requires firms to identify, monitor and manage risks to a business which includes 
those which may arise from connected practices.  

3. Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with the SRA Code of Conduct for Firms 2019 businesses, or roles within a 
business, must be controlled effectively and in accordance with proper governance and 
sound financial and risk management principles. The SRA does not define the risk 
management principles that it expects firms and individuals to employ when running a 
business. Instead, it describes outcomes that must be achieved in order to comply with the 
SRA principles. The most relevant outcome requires firms and individuals to identify, monitor 
and manage risks to comply with the SRA Codes and take steps to address issues 
identified.  

Although there is no strict regulatory requirement to develop a risk management policy, 
devising and maintaining one will allow firms to identify, monitor and manage risks and will 
provide evidence to the SRA that they are:  

þ running the business in accordance with sound risk management principles; and 
þ managing risks to comply with the SRA Standards and Regulations. 

 

An up-to-date, comprehensive risk management policy will be a very useful tool in any 
dialogue with the SRA. Having such a document will make it much easier for the SRA to 
engage with firms with a view to resolving any compliance issues.  

4. What is a Risk Management Policy? 

A risk management policy outlines the risks posed to a business and provides a set of 
actions to be taken to both prevent the risk from occurring and reduce the impact of the 
risk should it happen. A risk management policy helps identify risks and implement a plan 
for managing them. Risks include both opportunities and threats, and both should be 
managed through the risk management process.  

4.1 The Risk Management Process 

The process follows clear steps which should be set out for all at the start of the project: 

þ Initiate: this defines the scope and objectives of risk management. A key output is 
the risk management plan. 
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þ Identify: anyone can raise risk. 
These should be documented 
on risk log. 

þ Assess: this requires some form of 
quantitative risk analysis.  

þ Plan Responses: generally, these 
fall into 1 of 4 categories - avoid, 
reduce, transfer or accept. 

þ Implement Responses: and 
recorded on the log, carry 
through any action and monitor 
the risk if it has not been 
removed. 

There are various categories of risk, the majority of which should be included in a risk 
management policy. As well as a central risk management policy, firms are likely to have 
separate plans or policies to manage business continuity risks and regulatory risks (e.g. risks 
to compliance with the SRA Handbook). 

One of the simplest and most effective ways to evaluate a risk is to consider it from two 
perspectives: 

þ how likely is it that the risk will come to pass and have an impact on the project; and  
þ if it does come to pass, how severe will the consequences be. 

These aspects can be given a score and one 
multiplied by the other in order to produce an 
overall severity rating for the risk. This then gives 
you an indicator of which risks require your most 
attention and resources.  

Having evaluated the risk to decide how much 
focus it requires, you can move on to looking at 
the type of response you can make. Generally, 
these can be divided into four categories: 

þ avoid: in this type of response you 
change some element in the project so the risk is no longer there; 

þ reducing: is taking some action to make its likelihood less likely or impact less severe; 
þ transfer: means making someone else responsible for the risk; or you could just  
þ accept it: and deal with it when it arises or see it as so severe there is no point in 

worrying.  

Risks are normally recorded and tracked using a risk log or register. The log is usually 
managed by the project manager and will often also have review and diary dates in order 
to help keep track. Some risks may be closed off, once they are no longer a risk, but a large 
number are likely to be managed on an on-going basis and may eventually be handed 
over to the relevant business once the project delivers, if still live. 
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Date Risk Impact Likelihood Response Action Owner Diary 
                
                
                
                

The risk management policy is the mechanism through which a risk register is populated. It 
sets out high-level or generic risks, e.g. regulatory risk, and your strategy for dealing with 
these risks. Records should be made of the more specific risks identified, the risk register will 
then provide a snapshot of specific risks and actions taken on a certain date. The register is 
likely to be appended to your risk management policy.  

4.2 Formulating a Risk Management Policy 

A risk management policy should contain: 

þ details of risk management responsibilities; 
þ a definition of risk; 
þ a process for identifying and/or reporting risk; 
þ a system for evaluating risk; 
þ details of the risks that have been identified; and 
þ responses to those risks, i.e. processes for managing them. 

4.2.1 Details Of Risk Management Responsibilities 

A policy should define it’s scope, i.e say who it applies to. For example: 

This policy applies to all [organisation name] activities. It forms part of [organisation name] 
governance framework and is applies to all employees, contractors and volunteers. 

A policy should provide an overview of the risk governance structure of the organisation. 
This will indicate who is involved in risk management and what their responsibilities are, for 
example: 

Partners  Provide policy, oversight and review of risk management. Drive 
culture of risk management and signs off on annual risk 
attestation.       

COLP and COFA Oversee regular review of risk management activities. 
Continuously improving risk management policy, strategy and 
supporting framework      

Heads of Department Ensure staff in their business units comply with the risk management 
policy and foster a culture where risks can be identified and 
escalated.    

Staff Comply with risk management policies and procedures.    

4.2.2 Definition Of Risk 
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An agreed statement should be included in the policy which should influence and guide 
decision making, clarify strategic intent and ensure choices align with the capacities and 
capabilities of the agency. For example it may define risk as:  

The threat that internal or external events will adversely affect ability to achieve 
strategic, policy and operational goals. 

The definition may recognise that risk is something that cannot be wholly contained but 
that the firm aims to manage the exposure to those risks to a satisfactory level. 

4.2.3 Process For Identifying And/Or Reporting Risk 

A policy should outline the steps involved in the risk management process, it should make 
reference to the risk management procedure for practical guidance on the process. For 
example, it could highlight the steps that need to be taken: the context, identify the risk, 
analyse the risk, evaluate the risk, treat the risk and monitor and review the risk. The policy 
may also describe how risk management is integrated and embedded into organisational 
processes. 

4.2.4 System For Evaluating Risk 

A policy should outline the risk reporting requirements. The purpose of risk reporting is to 
create awareness of key risks, improve accountability for the management of risk and the 
timely completion of risk treatment plans. It should also contain details as to who prepares 
reports, who reviews reports and how often reports are reviewed should be included. 

4.2.5 Details Of The Risks That Have Been Identified 

A policy should specify risk categories to be included in in the risk register and in risk 
reporting. For example, risk categories may include strategic, financial, environmental, 
safety, people and reputation.   

4.2.6 Responses To Those Risks 

The policy should refer to the risk register, it should specify the purpose of the risk register. IT 
should include details on the types of risks to be included on the risk register (e.g. 
operational or strategic), the criterion for adding and removing risks from the register, who 
will review the risk register and how often it will be reviewed. It should also outline how the 
performance of risk management will be measured.  Measuring performance is a key 
monitoring activity to assess how effective risk management is at supporting corporate 
objectives.  

Finally, it should state how often and who will review the risk management policy. Review of 
the risk management policy should take into the account progress made against the risk 
management improvement plan, which is a blueprint for how the risk management policy 
is implemented across the organisation.  
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4.3 Implementing a Risk Management Policy 

In order to implement such a policy, individuals need to be clear about responsibilities. All 
staff have responsibility for risk management, from receptionists to partners/directors. Staff 
should be trained on what is expected of them. This includes:  

þ regular training for existing staff; 
þ training at induction;  
þ training after any changes are made to the policy following review; and 
þ focused training for individual staff or teams charged with specific risk actions. 

The policy must be easily accessible to staff, e.g. by placing it on an intranet. The policy 
must be monitored and reviewed regularly and there should be a system in place to ensure 
regular monitoring and review. Any general risk management policies are likely to contain 
individual monitoring and review requirements. The specific risks identified in the risk register 
will have tailored monitoring and review schedules. These will be dependent on the nature 
of the individual risk and its rating.  

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ the regulatory and representative body of costs lawyers; 
þ the distinction between a costs lawyer and a costs draftsman;  
þ reserved legal activities; 
þ liability of costs lawyers; and 
þ first and second tier complaints.  
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3.1 Costs Lawyers 

1. Introduction 

The profession of costs lawyer has evolved from the previous area of practice as a law 
costs draftsman. The Association of Law Costs Draftsmen (ALCD) was formed in 1977 with 
objectives to promote the status and interest of the law costs draftsman and maintain 
professional standards.  The ALCD was granted authorised body status by the Association 
of Law Costs Draftsmen Order 2006 (came into force on 1 January 2007). In January 2011 
the ALCD started to trade as the Association of Costs Lawyers (ACL).   

2. The Distinction from Costs Draftsmen 

Following the Legal Services Act 2007, there is a clear distinction between an individual 
who calls himself a law costs draftsmen and one that is a costs lawyer. It should however be 
noted that costs lawyer is not a protected title. Both costs draftsmen and costs lawyers are 
specialist lawyers that deal with all aspects of legal costs but only regulated costs lawyers 
are authorised to undertake reserved legal activities (i.e. conduct litigation, appear in court 
and swear oaths) and are regulated. This means that as well as adhering to a code of 
conduct, costs lawyers have to undertake continuing professional development and carry 
professional indemnity insurance. 

Sections 13 and 19 and paragraph 1(7) of schedule 3 of the Legal Services Act 2007 
provide that, in certain circumstances, a person whose work includes assisting in the 
conduct of litigation is an exempt person for the purpose of exercising a right of audience. 
On the issue of “exempt person”, paragraph 1(7) of Schedule 3 states that the person is 
exempt if: 

þ the person is an individual whose work includes assisting in the conduct of litigation; 
þ the person is assisting in the conduct of litigation - 
þ under instructions given (either generally or in relation to the proceedings) by an 

individual to whom sub-paragraph (8) applies, and 
þ under the supervision of that individual; and 
þ the proceedings are being heard in chambers in the High Court or a county court 

and are not reserved family proceedings. 

Therefore, so long as a costs draftsman complies with all of the above, he may exercise a 
right of audience. So it would seem that the Legal Services Act 2007 was not designed to 
restrict the rights of existing costs professionals. 

Regulation of costs lawyers moved from the Association of Costs Lawyers (ACL) to the Costs 
Lawyers Standards Board (CLSB) on 1 November 2011.  There was a process of converting 
those who wished to from costs draftsmen into cost lawyers and those who didn’t convert 
were not authorised to perform the reserved legal activities (unless exempt) granted to 
costs lawyers under the Legal Services Act 2007. Further under the Legal Services Act 2007, 
costs lawyers have the same benefits and status of other legal professionals, which includes 
partnership in legal disciplinary practices. 
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Costs draftsmen remain ‘unregulated’ and sometimes ‘unqualified’ operating in the arena 
of costs and do not afford their client’s recourse to either the Legal Ombudsman or the 
Costs Lawyer Standards Board (CLSB). Solicitors who instruct costs draftsmen run the risk of 
employing the services of someone without the reassurances and protection afforded by a 
regulated professional, for example, up-to-date CPD and mandatory indemnity insurance. 
Solicitors who instruct costs draftsmen are left supervising them despite not being experts in 
the law of costs.  

A costs lawyer must also ensure that he has adequate supervision of those he 
employs/those under his control. Delegating tasks to other people, no matter how 
qualified, does not negate the costs lawyer’s responsibilities. If the costs lawyer has 
branches (or a number of officers), it should be clear which office the costs lawyer works 
from and there should be proper and adequate supervision of the branches.  

3. The CLSB 

The independent regulatory body for costs lawyers is the Costs Lawyer Standard Board 
(CLSB), this authority is delegated by the Association of Costs Lawyers who are the 
approved regulator under section 20(5) of the Legal Services Act 2007. Approved 
regulators regulate those undertaking reserved legal activities which are found in section 
12 and Sch 2 Legal Services Act 2007) i.e authorised persons (section 18 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007) which can include an entity. The CLSB do not currently regulate entities 
but have, historically, explored this as an opportunity. 

The CLSB was set up in 2011 to enable the ACL to separate its representative role from its 
regulatory role in accordance with the Legal Services Act 2007. Their work includes: 

þ regulating the education and training requirements that need to be met before a 
trainee costs lawyer can apply for a practicing certificate;  

þ the continuing professional development required of costs lawyers;  
þ regulating the professional conduct of costs lawyers when they are practising; and  
þ the disciplinary mechanisms for any costs lawyers who might fall short of the 

professional standard expected of them.  

They publish and enforce the code of conduct, practice rules, disciplinary rules and 
procedures. The CLSB also governs the training and CPD rules. The relationship between the 
ACL and the CLSB is governed by a memorandum of understanding and an operational 
protocol. In instances where differences between the two cannot be resolved they may 
seek guidance from the Legal Services Board.  

4. The Code of Conduct 

The current Costs Lawyers’ Code of Conduct was made pursuant to the Legal Services Act 
2007 and sets out the principles to be followed by costs lawyers. Furthermore, it sets out their 
authorised rights and works in conjunction with prevailing legislation in such a way as to 
regulate what costs lawyers can and cannot do under their authorisation. Under section 
176(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007, costs lawyers must comply with the Code.  Breach of 
the Code may result in disciplinary proceedings being brought against them by the CLSB. 
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The CLSB has formed the Conduct Committee which considers costs lawyer conduct 
matters, as defined in the Costs Lawyers Disciplinary Rules & Procedures. These rules will 
apply where a complaint about the conduct of a costs lawyer has been referred to the 
CLSB by a complainant or by the Legal Ombudsman. 

There are 7 principles under the Code of Conduct which have the effect of transferring the 
values and principles enshrined in section 3 of the Legal Services Act 2007 into the Code of 
Conduct that governs a costs lawyer’s behaviour. The principles are as follows: 

Principle 1 Act with integrity and professionalism. 
Principle 2 Comply with your duty to the court in the administration of justice.  
Principle 3 Act in the best interests of your client. 
Principle 4 Provide a good quality of work and service to each client. 
Principle 5 Deal with the regulators and Legal Ombudsman in an open and co-operative way. 
Principle 6 Treat everyone with dignity and respect. 
Principle 7 Keep your work on behalf of your clients confidential. 

Each principle will be discussed briefly below giving examples of conduct and applying the 
principles. It is important that you familiarise yourselves with each of the principles and 
remember that the examples cited below is not an exhaustive list of how and when these 
principles need to be borne in mind. 

4.1 Principle 1: Act with integrity and professionalism. 

A costs lawyer must not mislead anyone with whom they deal and must not provide 
misleading information when publicising their business. Costs Lawyers should not enter 
unlawful agreements or act in any way which might diminish the public trust in their 
profession.  

4.2 Principle 2: Comply with your duty to the court in the administration of justice.  

A costs lawyer should always remember that their first duty is to the court; although they 
should represent the best interests of their client to the extent of their ability, this does not 
mean that the court can be misled.  

Principle 2.1 requires that costs lawyers must at all times act within the law.  Principle 2.2 
requires that costs lawyers do not knowingly or recklessly either mislead the court or allow 
the court to be misled. Principle 2.3 requires costs lawyers to comply with any court order 
which places an obligation on you and you must not be in contempt of court. Principle 2.4 
requires costs lawyers to advise clients to comply with court orders made against them.  

4.3 Principle 3: Act in the best interests of the client  

CLSB/SRA Code of Conduct Principle 3.1 requires costs lawyers to act at all times to ensure 
the client’s interest is paramount except where this conflicts with your duties to the court or 
where otherwise permitted by law. You must decline to act if it would not be in the client’s 
best interests or if that client’s interests conflict directly with your own or with those of 
another client. 
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All costs lawyers are required by the code of conduct to have a complaints procedure in 
place and to advise all clients of this fact. If a complaint is notified to a costs lawyer he 
should, in the first instance, comply with his own complaints-handling procedure. Where 
appropriate, the complaint should also be reported to his professional indemnity insurer, 
even if in the end the complaint is not upheld.  

When taking on new instructions, there is a duty on costs lawyers to provide advice to their 
clients at the outset of an estimate of their fees, which should be updated if it becomes 
inaccurate. Additionally, costs lawyers should also be aware of the potential for conflicts of 
interest, whether because they are sent instructions on a matter they have already advised 
the opponent on (unlikely in many instances, but may happen in some firms), or possibly 
because they have been asked for a second opinion of a fellow costs lawyer with whom 
they are well-acquainted. In such circumstances, the clients should be advised of the 
conflict immediately and prior to any work being undertaken.  

Principle 3.6 of the Costs Lawyer Code of Conduct specifies costs lawyers must not accept 
client money save for disbursements and payment of your proper professional fees. There is 
no mention of the CLs handling client money in the CLSB Practising Rules. There is no 
definition of client money within any rules set by the CLSB and therefore you must look to 
either CILEx or SRA rules for the definition.   

4.4 Principle 4: Provide a good quality of work and service to each client  

Costs lawyers should not attempt to act beyond their competence. Where a costs lawyer 
considers it appropriate to do so, advice should be sought from an expert; this should be 
with the prior approval of the client. In the alternative, a costs lawyer must decline any 
work for which he does not have the skill, knowledge or experience to undertake.  

Costs lawyers must work in a timely manner with due regard for the level of service 
provided and a costs lawyer should keep the client updated as to the progress of his 
matter. He should keep accurate records of the work undertaken on any file so that clients 
can make informed decisions based on the work being undertaken and the costs of that 
work.  

4.5 Principle 5: Deal with the regulators & Legal Ombudsman in an open and co-operative 
way  

Whilst self-evident, it bears repetition that a costs lawyer should provide all documentation 
requested by a regulator or Ombudsman; this must be done within fourteen days of a 
request being made. A costs lawyer should not attempt to prevent anyone making a 
complaint against them.  

4.6 Principle 6: Treat everyone with dignity and respect  

A costs lawyer must treat his staff, opponents, clients and other persons with dignity and 
respect. You will note that this simply reflects the position under the Equality Act 2010. As 
with every other profession, costs lawyers must not discriminate against anyone on any 
grounds and must not refuse instructions or decline to instruct others on discriminatory 
grounds. Costs lawyers are required to have a written policy to this effect.  
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Treating others with respect includes not sending threatening, offensive or abusive emails to 
any party. An example provided in the guidance to the Solicitor’s Professional Codes of 
1974 of an offensive e-mail was the following:   

“You are a sinister little creature, a poisonous creature – an offensive little wretch.” 
The Law Society Gazette, 15 November 2012. 

Severe misconduct, such as accusing an opponent of illegality or impropriety may 
additionally amount to harassment as can be seen in the case of Iqbal v Dean Manson 
Solicitors (2011) EWCA Civ 123. 

4.6 Principle 7: Keep your work on behalf of your clients confidential  

Again, it should be fairly self-evident that client information should be treated as 
confidential and/or privileged. This may be particularly relevant when a costs lawyer is 
sharing secretarial services with another business. Care should also be taken in respect of 
shredding any confidential waste.  

Care should also be taken over the inputting of fax numbers or e-mail addresses in order to 
avoid any confidential information accidentally being sent to a third party. It has been 
known for a local authority to be fined a large sum for an accident breach of data 
protection when they sent confidential information using an incorrect fax number.  

Where disclosure is required by law, then this should be provided, however, in any other 
circumstances, written permission should be obtained from the client with all the 
consequences of disclosure having been explained to them before any disclosure should 
be given.  

Care should also be taken when speaking on the telephone to ensure that the other 
person is entitled to the information they seek; even if that person says that they have 
spoken to the solicitor client and obtained their consent, information should not be 
provided without checking with the solicitor client first. 

5 The Costs Lawyers Practising Rules 

Under Rule 1 of the Costs Lawyers Practising Rules, no person shall be entitled to practice as 
a costs lawyer unless they have fully qualified as a costs lawyer and they have a current 
practising certificate issued in accordance with the provisions of rule 2 of the Costs Lawyers 
Practising Rules. Rule 1 also states that in accordance to Rule 9.1, a costs lawyer must 
complete a minimum of 12 CPD points in each CPD year. The rules on CPD are contained 
within the CLSB CPD Rules 2017. Finally, under Rule 1, in accordance to Rule 10.1(a), costs 
lawyers shall ensure that they practice with the benefit of professional indemnity insurance 
of a minimum £100,000 (any one claim) to include loss of documents. 

The importance of complying with CPD requirements is well established, consider for 
example the decision in the case of Hudgell, Yeates and Co v Watson (1978) QB 451 where 
one of the partners in a firm of solicitors forgot to renew his certificate rendering him 
unqualified and meant that it was illegal for him to practice. A partnership between a 
solicitor and an unqualified person at that time was prohibited by statute. It was held that 
the failure to renew his certificate brought the partnership to an end, the partnership 
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became illegal and was automatically dissolved but the court held that the remaining 
partners could lawfully carry on the business of the partnership. The outcome of this case 
today would be different due to the Legal Services Act 2007. However, the principle behind 
the decision continues in that it is illegal for persons to conduct work that they are not 
authorised to perform.    

The rights conferred on a practicing costs lawyer include rights of audience by virtue of 
section 12 of the Legal Services Act 2007, this right is limited by the CLSB Code of Conduct 
to being all proceedings being conducted under CPR Parts 43-48 (now CPR 44-47). The 
CLSB re-issued a Statement of Rights in October 2011, which was amended on the 26 
March 2014. 

By way of a reminder, as a costs lawyer you are a regulated person under the Legal 
Services Act 2007 and are authorised to carry on the following reserved legal activities: 

þ the exercise of a right of audience; 
þ the conduct of litigation; and 
þ the administration of oaths. 

As a costs lawyer, provided that you are instructed to deal only with matters that relate to 
costs, you may conduct proceedings and represent clients in any court or tribunal, 
including any criminal court or courts martial, the Supreme Court or the Privy Council 
where: 

þ the proceedings are at first instance; or  
þ the proceedings include an appeal below the level of the Court of Appeal or Upper 

Tribunal, are on a first appeal (other than in the Court of Appeal) and the appeal 
itself relates to costs; or 

þ the proceedings do not fall within either of the categories above, but your 
instructions are limited to dealing with the costs of the proceedings; or 

þ the court or tribunal grants permission for you to conduct proceedings or to 
represent a client (or both). 

Where proceedings relate to other matters, in addition to costs, the rights referred to above 
apply only to those parts of the proceedings (if any) that: 

þ relate solely to costs; or  
þ when they relate to other issues, solely those issues that are not in dispute. 

A matter ‘relates to costs’ if it relates to payments for legal representation, including 
payments in respect of pro bono representation under section 194 of the Legal Services Act 
2007 and/or to payments made for bringing or defending any proceedings, but only if and 
to the extent that those monies are not damages. For the avoidance of doubt, this 
includes: 

þ costs between opposing parties including costs management and budgeting; 
þ solicitor and client costs but not if and to the extent that issues of negligence arise 

when a Lawyer competent to deal with allegations of negligence ought to be 
instructed instead; and  

þ legal aid, criminal costs, wasted costs or costs against third parties. 
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Furthermore, you may administer any oath. 

Under Rule 4.5 of the Costs Lawyers Practising Rules, the CLSB may refuse an application for 
a practising certificate. An applicant applying for a practising certificate must disclose to 
the CLSB, in accordance to rule 4.5(c) of the Costs Lawyers Practising Rules, if they have 
entered into an individual Voluntary Arrangement under the Insolvency Act 1986 (as 
amended).  Additionally, an applicant applying for a practising certificate must also 
disclose to the CLSB if they are or have been the subject of a money judgment which has 
been outstanding for more than 28 days in accordance with rule 4.5(j) of the Costs Lawyers 
Practising Rules. The practising rules govern the behaviour of costs lawyers whilst in practice 
and even account for the fact other legal professionals may choose to qualify with Rule 
8.1(c); requiring an individual to notify the CLSB within 14 calendar days of their being 
made the subject of disciplinary proceedings as a lawyer of England and Wales, other than 
as a costs lawyer. 

6 Complaints 

Pursuant to Section 112(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007, it is a requirement that a costs 
lawyer (whether sole practitioner or part of a firm) has effective procedures in place for the 
resolution of complaints. Complaints can be made about the service provided by 
members or about their conduct.  

Service complaints relate to the quality of the service that has been provided to clients. This 
may include allegations about delay, keeping clients updated on the progress of a case or 
other costs matters. All legal practices must have an in-house complaints handling 
procedure. Details of the procedure should be given to all clients when they initially instruct 
the practice or as soon as possible thereafter.  

Conduct complaints are those complaints which relate to the conduct of authorised 
persons and may cover concerns over the competence of members and the 
misappropriation of money. Clients, employers, an opposing party, the courts or anyone 
else may make this type of complaint and it should be raised with the regulatory body, in 
this case the CLSB. 

Should a complaint subsequently be referred to the Legal Ombudsman (LeO), they will look 
not just at the nature of the complaint, but also the way in which the complaint was initially 
dealt with by the costs lawyer. A costs lawyer should make a decision based on the 
evidence, impartially and without any discrimination or prejudice. A complaint must be 
resolved within 8 weeks of that complaint being made to the costs lawyer. In the event a 
complaint is not resolved in that time period or the complaint is not resolved to the 
satisfaction of the complainant, the complainant may refer the matter to the LeO.  
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3.2 Authorised Rights 

1. Introduction 

An authorised Costs Lawyer has rights to carry out reserved legal activities. These rights are 
sometimes referred to as “authorised rights” or “reserved legal activity rights”. By way of a 
reminder, as a Costs Lawyer, by virtue of being an authorised/regulated person under the 
Legal Services Act 2007 and are able to carry on the following reserved legal activities: 

þ the exercise of a right of audience; 
þ the conduct of litigation; and 
þ the administration of oaths. 

2. Clarification of Rights 

These reserved legal activities are found in section 12 of the Legal Services Act 2007. A 
statement clarifying these rights in relation to Costs Lawyers was adopted by the Lord 
Chancellor in July 2007 and a revised version was approved by the Legal Services Board in 
March 2014. The statement is referred to in the Costs Lawyer Code of Conduct and reads 
as follows.  

Provided that you are instructed to deal only with matters that relate to costs, you may 
conduct proceedings and represent clients in any court or tribunal, including any criminal 
court or courts martial, the Supreme Court or the Privy Council where: 

þ the proceedings are at first instance; or  
þ the proceedings include an appeal below the level of the Court of Appeal or 

Upper Tribunal, are on a first appeal (other than in the Court of Appeal) and the 
appeal itself relates to costs; or 

þ the proceedings do not fall within either of the categories above, but your 
instructions are limited to dealing with the costs of the proceedings; or 

þ the court or tribunal grants permission for you to conduct proceedings or to 
represent a client (or both). 

Where proceedings relate to other matters, in addition to costs, the rights referred to 
above apply only to those parts of the proceedings (if any) that: 

þ relate solely to costs; or  
þ when they relate to other issues, solely those issues that are not in dispute. 

A matter ‘relates to costs’ if it relates to payments for legal representation, including 
payments in respect of pro bono representation under section 194 of the Legal Services 
Act 2007 and/or to payments made for bringing or defending any proceedings, but only 
if and to the extent that those monies are not damages. For the avoidance of doubt, this 
includes: 

þ costs between opposing parties including costs management and budgeting 
þ solicitor and client costs but not if and to the extent that issues of negligence arise 

when a Lawyer competent to deal with allegations of negligence ought to be 
instructed instead; and 

þ legal aid, criminal costs, wasted costs or costs against third parties. 
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Furthermore, you may administer any oath. 

3. Entitlement to carry on a reserved legal activity 

By virtue of section 13(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007, the question whether a person is 
entitled to carry on an activity which is a reserved legal activity is to be determined solely in 
accordance with the provisions of the Legal Services Act 2007. So, an individual Costs 
Lawyer’s right to carry out reserved legal activities derives from the Legal Services Act 2007. 

Section 13(2)(a) of the Legal Services Act 2007 stipulates that a person is entitled to carry 
on a reserved legal activity where that person is authorised in relation to the activity in 
question. However, section 13(2)(b) of the Legal Services Act 2007 states that a person is 
entitled to carry on a reserved legal activity where the person is an exempt person in 
relation to that activity.  

3.1 Authorised Persons 

An authorised person is a person authorised by an approved regulator (section 18(1) of the 
Legal Services Act 2007). The independent regulatory body for costs lawyers is the Costs 
Lawyer Standard Board (CLSB), this authority is delegated by the Association of Costs 
Lawyers who are the approved regulator under section 20(5) of the Legal Services Act 
2007.  

An authorised person may be an individual or a non-natural person. The definition of a 
person includes a body of persons (corporate or incorporate), commonly referred to as an 
entity in the context of legal services regulation (section 207 of the Legal Services Act 2007). 
The CLSB does not authorise or regulate entities, only individuals. Certain other approved 
regulators, such as the Solicitors Regulation Authority, authorise and regulate entities.  

3.2 Exempt Persons 

If a person is not authorised, they may still be entitled to carry out a reserved legal activity if 
they are an “exempt person” in relation to the activity in question (section 13(2)(b) of the 
Legal Services Act 2007). A list of exempt persons can be found in Schedule 3 to the Legal 
Services Act 2007. Each reserved legal activity has its own distinct list of exemptions.  

4. Duties of a regulated person  

Part 8 of the Legal Services Act 2007 contains miscellaneous provisions about lawyers, 
including the duties of regulated persons. If a person is authorised by an approved 
regulator under the Legal Services Act 2007, then they are subject to that approved 
regulator’s rules because section 176 of the Legal Services Act 2007 places a duty on a 
regulated person to comply with all “regulatory arrangements” made by their approved 
regulator. Authorised Costs Lawyers are regulated by the CLSB and are “regulated persons” 
for the purposes of the Legal Services Act 2007. Costs Lawyers must therefore comply with 
the provisions of the Costs Lawyer Handbook, which includes the CLSB Code of Conduct, 
and any other rules or procedures implemented by the CLSB that make up its regulatory 
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arrangements. Regulated persons who are authorised to exercise a right of audience or 
conduct litigation have additional duties under the Legal Services Act 2007. By virtue of 
section 188 of the Legal Services Act 2007 these include a duty to the court to act with 
independence in the interests of justice.  

By virtue of section 176(2)(b) of the Legal Services Act 2007, an individual who is not 
authorised by the CLSB but who is a manager or employee of an authorised person, is also 
considered a regulated person under the LSA and must comply with all relevant regulatory 
arrangements.  

5. Offences under the Legal Services Act 2007 

There are a number of offences under the Legal Services Act 2007 found in sections 14-17 
of the Act.  

Section Number Offence 
14 Carrying on of a reserved legal activity: employers and employees etc 
15 Offence to carry on a reserved legal activity if not entitled 
16 Offence to carry on reserved legal activity through person not entitled 
17 Offence to pretend to be entitled 

Section 14(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 makes it is an offence for a person to carry on 
a reserved legal activity unless they are entitled to do so under the LSA. That means a 
person may be liable unless they are either authorised or exempt to undertake the activity. 
Section 14(2) of the Legal Services Act 2007 does provide a defence if the accused can 
show that they did not know, and could not reasonably have been expected to know, that 
the offence was being committed. The offence is punishable by imprisonment and/or a 
fine (section 14(3) of the Legal Services Act 2007) and if a person who is guilty of an offence 
because they have conducted litigation or undertaken advocacy they will also be guilty of 
contempt of court and punished accordingly (section 14(4) of the Legal Services Act 2007).  

Section 17(1)(a) of the Legal Services Act 2007 makes it an offence for a person to wilfully 
pretend to be entitled to carry on a reserved legal activity and section 17(1)(b) of the 
Legal Services Act 2007 makes it an offence to use a name, title or description with the 
intention of implying falsely that the person is entitled to carry on a reserved legal activity. 
The offences are also punishable by imprisonment and/or a fine (section 17(2) of the Legal 
Services Act 2007). 
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3.3 Undertaking Reserved Legal Activities 

1. Introduction 

When taking instructions and dealing with a client’s matter you must have regard to your 
regulatory obligations.  It is a requirement under principle 3 that you must inform clients, in 
writing at the outset of their matter, of their right to make a complaint and details of how to 
do this. You must also inform them, in writing at the outset and on the conclusion of your 
complaints procedure, of their right to complain to the Legal Ombudsman, the time frame 
for doing so and full details of how to contact the Legal Ombudsman.   

Under principles 1 and 2 you must not do anything which is illegal or dishonest, even at the 
instructions of a client. You must at all times act within the law and act honestly, 
professionally and with integrity, honour your duty to the court. Consider your duty to your 
client of confidentiality and also a duty to the court to disclose information if required.  If 
you do receive instructions from a client which you feel may not be the best way forward, 
discuss this with your client and if required, do your best for the client under the 
circumstances. You must however give serious consideration to issues such as your duty to 
the court.  For example, could you justify your position to the court if asked to by the judge? 

Under principle 3 it is a requirement to advise clients appropriately at the beginning and 
during a retainer about costs. Clients must be given the best possible information about the 
cost implications in their matter.  

At the first meeting with a client, funding of the case should be discussed. At this stage you 
should explain any fee sharing arrangement and explain any arrangements that are 
relevant to your client's instructions so that clients are able to make informed choices. The 
information you provide during the meeting should be clear and followed up in writing. You 
should also agree, at this stage, how often you will inform the client about costs accrual 
and payment of interim bills.     

It is considered best practice to agree a service level with your client. This could include for 
example, the type and frequency of communications. It may also include both the client 
and your responsibilities. Some examples of this are: we will review your matter weekly and 
inform you of any changes in the law; the client will provide clear and timely instructions: 
We will bill you every month and bills should be paid within 14 days.   

2. Rights of Audience 

Rights of audience were previously governed by Section 27 of the Courts and Legal 
Services Act 1990 which, so far as relevant, read: 

“27. Rights of Audience 
(1) The question whether a person has a right of audience before a court or in relation to 

any proceedings, shall be determined solely in accordance with the provisions of this part. 
(2) A person shall have a right of audience before a court in relation to any proceedings 

only in the following cases: 
… 

(e) where – 
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(i) he is employed (whether wholly or in part) or is otherwise engaged to assist in the 
conduct of litigation and is doing so under instructions given (either generally or in relation 

to the proceedings) by a qualified litigator; and 
(ii) the proceedings are being heard in Chambers in the High Court or a County Court and 

are not reserved family proceedings.” 

The Courts and Legal Services Act 1990 historically regulated advocacy in detailed 
assessments by costs lawyers. This was replaced by the Legal Services Act 2007 on 1 
January 2010. Under schedule 2 of the Legal Services Act 2007 a “right of audience” means 
the right to appear before and address a court, including the right to call and examine 
witnesses. 

Advocacy, as you know, is now a “reserved legal activity” and costs lawyers are authorised 
persons permitted to undertake this reserved activity. The Legal Services Act 2007 also 
allows “an exempt person” to perform certain reserved activities including advocacy. An 
exempt person is defined in paragraph 1 of schedule 3 to the Legal Services Act 2007. This 
provision in the Legal Services Act 2007 recognises, as did the Courts and Legal Services 
Act 1990, that in certain circumstances, a person not authorised by statute to exercise 
rights of audience may nevertheless do so. 

Despite the Legal Services Act 2007, costs lawyers are often challenged on their rights of 
audience and to conduct costs litigation along with their position when working with 
unregulated costs professionals.  The ACL has thus obtained counsel’s advice on this issue.  
The advice given by 4 New Square’s specialist cost counsel Roger Mallalieu is unambiguous 
and confirms that costs lawyers have an absolute right granted to them by the Legal 
Services Act 2007 to conduct all costs proceedings within the scope of the statute whether 
they are retained or employed. The advice further states that costs lawyers are able to use 
unregulated persons to assist with tasks such as secretarial services, drafting and general 
assistance as long as such person do not engage in reserved activities. 

As we know, the Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct sets out the principles that costs lawyers 
must follow. The principles within a code of conduct embody the key ethical requirements 
on individuals. Costs lawyers and trainees should always have regard to the principles and 
use them as your starting point when faced with an ethical dilemma.  

The Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct is silent as to the general stance where two or more 
principles come in to conflict. However, the SRA Handbook stated that the principle that 
should take precedence is the one that best serves the public interest in the particular 
circumstances, especially the public interest in the proper administration of justice. The 
Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct within principle 3 gives some guidance when costs lawyers 
are required to act at all times to ensure the client’s interest is paramount, except where 
this conflicts with their duties to the court or where otherwise permitted by law. So, in a case 
of conflict at court, a costs lawyer’s overriding duty is to the court. This is also the position at 
common law. Moreover, in accordance with Arthur Hall v Simons (2000) 3 WLR 543, the 
advocate's proper discharge of his duty to his client should not cause him to be accused of 
being in breach of his duty to the court. 

The advocate doesn’t however owe a duty to his client's opponent. Inevitably, the proper 
discharge by the advocate of his duty to his own client will more often than not be 
disadvantageous to the interests of his client's opponent as illustrated in Orchard v S E 
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Electricity Board (1987) QB 565, 571.  The advocate is under a duty to draw the judge's 
attention to authorities that are in point, even if they are adverse to that advocate's case 
as in Copeland v Smith (2002) 1 WLR 1371 so the costs lawyer may try to negotiate before 
entering the court room where he is aware there is adverse authority undermining his 
client’s case. Buxton v Mills-Owens (2010) 1 WLR confirms that costs lawyers, as with 
solicitors, have a duty not to plead matters that are meritless.  

Finally, as a duly authorised representative of a solicitor, as confirmed in Waterson Hicks v 
Eliopoulos (1997) Costs L.R, a costs draftsman has the same authority as the solicitor would 
have to consent to orders.  

3. The conduct of litigation  

Under schedule 2 of the Legal Services Act 2007 “conduct of litigation” means: 

þ the issuing of proceedings before any court in England and Wales; 
þ the commencement, prosecution and defence of such proceedings; and 
þ the performance of any ancillary functions in relation to such proceedings (such as 

entering appearances to actions). 

The Courts and legal Services Act 1990 narrowly defined ‘litigation services’: 

“as any services which it would be reasonable to expect a person who is exercising, or 
contemplating exercising, a right to conduct litigation in relation to any proceedings, or 

contemplated proceedings, to provide.“ 

In Agassi v Robinson (2005) EWCA Civ 1507 the definition of ‘ancillary functions related to 
proceedings’ was construed narrowly and is limited to the formal steps required in the 
conduct of litigation. Further in O'Connor v Bar Standards Board (2012) All ER (D) 108, the 
scope of the meaning of conduct of litigation was explored and established that signing a 
declaration of truth did not amount to conducting litigation.  This decision further 
underlined that litigation is narrowly defined. 

Proceedings are usually issued in the solicitor client’s name, and it is the solicitor client that is 
responsible for the contents of the bill drafted by a costs lawyer as can be seen in Bailey v 
IBC Vehicles Ltd (1998) 3 All ER 570. To date, it would be unusual for a costs lawyer to have 
ever filed a Notice of Acting or been on court record but the current changes to the legal 
services market have resulted in a different market. Part 42 of the CPR has recently been 
amended to allow any person who is an authorised person, in relation to an activity which 
constitutes the conduct of litigation (within the meaning of the Legal Services Act 2007), to 
be entered on the court record. It is predicted that costs lawyers will see an influx of work 
from lay clients and in time, the situation may arise when this becomes more common and 
they need to be on record as acting.  

The time will come when the costs lawyers name may be required on statements of case, 
after all documents drafted by a legal representative have to be signed and, if they are 
drafted by a legal representative as a member or employee of a firm, they should be 
signed in the name of the firm in accordance with CPR PD 5A, 2.1. If a costs lawyer 
exercises his right to conduct litigation, he must remain alert to the fact that every 
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document prepared by a party for filing, unless impracticable, should be on A4 paper of 
durable quality having a margin, not less than 3.5 centimetres wide (CPR PD 5A, 2.2).  

Costs lawyers must comply with orders and in doing so they must ensure that their clients 
understand their obligations in this regard. Moreover, it is not beyond the scope of the 
future role of a costs lawyer that they will need to file bills signed by them in time.  Under 
CPR 47, 5.7, a bill of costs may consist of some of the following sections as may be 
appropriate: 

þ title page; 
þ background information; 
þ items of costs claimed under headings ; 
þ a summary showing the total costs claimed on each page of the bill; 
þ schedules of time spent on non-routine attendances; and 
þ the certificates contained in precedent F including a certificate as to accuracy. 

Under CPR 47, 5.8 where it is necessary or convenient to do so, a bill of costs may be 
divided into two or more parts. Bills of costs must be accurate, they must contain no costs 
that are knowingly claimed in breach of the indemnity principle and they must be 
reasonable.  In short, the indemnity principle prescribes that costs orders between the 
parties are given by the law as an indemnity to the person entitled to them and not to 
impose a punishment on the party who pays them which is illustrated in Harold v. Smith 
(1860) 5 H&N 381. A bill of costs must exclude costs which are not recoverable under the 
terms of the order in question. 

Costs lawyers, like solicitors, have a duty not to plead matters that are meritless, although 
there is no objection to pleading matters where the issue is arguable, even if the lawyer 
subsequently loses the argument or believes that he is likely to lose it. This point of law can 
be seen in Buxton v Mills-Owens (2010) 1 WLR 1997. 

Bailey v IBC Vehicles Ltd (1998) 3 All ER 570 stipulated that the signature to a bill of costs is 
that of an officer of the court, and the mis-certification of a bill is a serious disciplinary 
offence.  The penalties for a carelessly drawn bill may include:   

þ the striking out of a claim; and  
þ an adverse costs order against the lawyer.    

For a dishonestly drawn bill, the consequences are more serious and may include:  

þ the striking out of the proceedings with an adverse costs order; 
þ disciplinary action by the CLSB; and 
þ in the worst case, criminal proceedings.   

Other documents which are signed in costs proceedings and to which these provisions 
apply include points of dispute, replies, Part 18 responses, any witness statements and 
applications.  Disciplinary proceedings will be brought against a costs lawyer if he signs a 
document that he knew was false. 
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3.1 Legal Professional Privilege 

Legal professional privilege is a rule of litigation that protects, in general terms, confidential 
communications between lawyers and their clients. It may also cover some 
communications between a lawyer and third parties for the purpose of preparing litigation. 
Under the litigation rule, if material is subject to legal professional privilege, a party 
generally does not have to disclose it during the course of legal proceedings. Whether 
information is subject to legal professional privilege is a question of law. 

Where a legal representative is precluded by legal professional privilege from giving a full 
answer to any criticism, a court should not make such criticism unless, proceeding with 
extreme care, it is satisfied that there was nothing that the representative could say, if 
permitted, to answer the criticism and it was in all of the circumstances fair to make such 
criticism (Medcalf v Mardell (2003) 1 AC 120 HL) . The need of a lawyer to be able to ask a 
court to look at privileged material when a lawyer's conduct is in question may not be so 
intractable. Parry-Jones v The Law Society (1969) 1 Ch 1 confirms that the material in 
question may be confidential rather than absolutely privileged.  In such circumstances, as 
can be seen in R v Commissioners of Inland Revenue ex parte Taylor (No.2) 62 TC 578 at 
p.588, it may be possible to restrict the use which can be made of the disclosed material so 
as to reduce or remove the infringement of the client's privilege. If you consider Campbell v 
UK (13590/88) 15 EHRR 137 and Foxley v UK (33274/96) 31 EHRR 25 it may be that, as in the 
context of Articles 6 and 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, the privilege may 
not always be absolute and a balancing exercise may sometimes be necessary. 

4. The administration of oaths 

The right afforded to costs lawyers to administer oaths was defined under the Costs Lawyers 
Statement of Rights, as approved by the Lord Chancellor in July 2007, as being “the right to 
administer oaths and take affidavits under section 113 of the Courts and Legal Services Act 
1990”.  This provision was repealed on 1 January 2010 and is now section 183 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007.  Commissioners for Oaths can provide the following services: 

þ witnessing the signing of documents; 
þ verifying oaths, affidavits and statutory declarations; and 
þ certifying copies of documents. 

4.1 Commissioners for Oaths 
A Commissioner for Oaths is a person who is authorised to verify affidavits, which are 
statements in writing and on oath, and other legal documents. Every costs lawyer holding a 
current practising certificate is entitled to administer oaths and to use the title 
"Commissioner for Oaths". A Commissioner for Oaths may continue to act as a 
Commissioner for Oaths for as long as he/she remains a regulated costs lawyer. 

The essential functions of a Commissioner for Oaths are: 

þ to make sure that the evidence in question is in written form (the draft affidavit);  
þ to establish that the person before him/her has read the draft affidavit and fully 

understands the contents;  
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þ to require the person to swear that the affidavit is true by raising the appropriate 
Testament in the right hand and repeating the words of the oath; 

þ to verify that the affidavit was properly sworn by completing a "jurat" on the 
affidavit;  

þ to charge a fee for his/her services. 

4.1.1 Affidavits 

An affidavit is a written statement of evidence which is sworn before a person authorised to 
administer affidavits, such as a costs lawyer. Affidavits take a similar form to witness 
statements but they include a jurat instead of a statement of truth. Before the introduction 
of the Civil Procedure Rules, affidavits were the principal means by which evidence was 
put before the court in interim applications. However, witness statements have generally 
taken their place now, except in some limited circumstances where affidavits must still be 
used, such as: 

þ In an application for a search order, a freezing order or an order requiring an 
occupier to permit another to enter his land. 

þ If required by the court, the CPR or a practice direction or by legislation (for 
example, section 3(5)(a) of the Protection from Harrassment Act 1997 or in certain 
insolvency proceedings under the Insolvency Rules 1986). 

4.1.2 Statutory Declaration 

A statutory declaration is a formal statement made in a prescribed way affirming that 
something is true to the best knowledge of the Declarant, being the person making the 
declaration. The statutory declaration will need to be signed in the presence of a solicitor, 
commissioner for oaths or notary public. The statutory declaration would effectively satisfy 
some legal requirement, or regulation where perhaps no other such evidence is available. 

4. 2 Oaths and Affirmations 

The oath to be taken by persons before the Commissioner for Oaths is as follows: 

"I swear by Almighty God that this is my name and handwriting, and that the contents of 
this my affidavit are true". 

Depending on the faith of the person making the oath they will be required to swear the 
oath by raising the New Testament or if Jewish they may swear the oath by raising the Old 
Testament. Variations of this wording may be preferred by followers of religions other than 
Christianity or Judaism.  

A person who objects to being sworn on the grounds that taking an oath is against his/her 
religious belief or that he/she has no religious belief is permitted to make a solemn 
affirmation, which is phrased as follows:  

"I, XXXXX, do solemnly and sincerely affirm that this is my name and handwriting, and that 
the contents of this my affidavit are true". 

Any sworn affidavit should begin: 
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“I, [Full names and occupation of deponent]. of [Address] make oath and say as follows:-“ 

A person making a statutory declaration should say:  

“I (name) do solemnly and sincerely declare, that/as follows.. .. .. .. and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of 

the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.” 

By virtue of CPR PD 32, 16 the deponent should commence an affidavit:  

‘I (name) of (address) do solemnly and sincerely affirm ……’, 

4.2.1 Administering an oath/affirmation 

When administering oaths and affirmations or taking declarations, a Commissioner for 
Oaths is under a duty to ascertain:  

 (a)  that the deponent is in the presence of the Commissioner by enquiring whether 
the signature to the document before the Commissioner is the name and in the 
handwriting of the deponent;   

 (b)  that the deponent is apparently competent to depose to the affidavit or 
declaration;   

 (c)  that the deponent knows he or she is about to be sworn or declared by the 
Commissioner to the truth of the statement; and   

 (d)  that the exhibits, if any, are the documents referred to.   

Responsibility for the contents of the affidavit or declaration rests with the deponent and 
the person who prepared it. There is a duty on the Commissioner administering the oath to 
be satisfied that the oath is in a proper form and, upon the face of it, an oath which the 
Commissioner is authorised to administer. If it comes to the Commissioner’s notice that the 
affidavit or declaration is incomplete, for example because it contains blanks, the 
Commissioner must refuse to administer it.  

Although a Commissioner is under no duty to read through the oath or declaration, if a 
Commissioner has good reason to believe that the oath or declaration is false (even if that 
was unknown to the deponent), the Commissioner must refuse to administer it.  

4.2.2 The Jurat of Attestation Clause 

CPR PD 32, 5.1 sets out that a jurat of an affidavit is a statement set out at the end of the 
document which authenticates the affidavit. By virtue of CPR PD 32, 5.2 a jurat must: 

þ be signed by all deponents; 
þ be completed and signed by the person before whom the affidavit was sworn 

whose name and qualification must be printed beneath his signature; 
þ contain the full address of the person before whom the affidavit was sworn; and 
þ follow immediately on from the text and not be put on a separate page. 

The jurat or attestation clause should be completed by the commissioner to show the date 
on which, and place where, the oath or declaration was taken. The commissioner should 
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add his or her signature below the jurat or attestation clause (adding his or her name in 
block capitals if the signature is unclear), and indicate the capacity in which he or she is 
acting, i.e. Commissioner for Oaths. Where a document is being sworn the following jurat 
should be used: 

Sworn at [Address] in the  

County of this [County] 

this [date] day of [Month][Year ]  

By virtue of CPR PD 32, 16 in the jurat the word ‘sworn’ is replaced by the word ‘affirmed’. 

Any amendments in the text of the affidavit or declaration should be initialled in the margin 
by the commissioner, who must also sign the certificates identifying any exhibits.  

The wording of the jurat will need to be varied for special circumstances, for example if the 
deponent is blind, illiterate or does not speak English. Precedents can be found in the usual 
practitioner texts.  

4.2.3 Certificate to be used where a deponent to an affidavit is unable to read or sign it 

The following is the certificate to be used where a deponent to an affidavit is unable to 
read or sign it: 

Sworn at . this . day of . Before me, I having first read over the contents of this affidavit to 
the deponent [if there are exhibits, add ‘and explained the nature and effect of the 
exhibits referred to in it’] who appeared to understand it and approved its content as 

accurate, and made his/her* mark on the affidavit in my presence. Or, (after ‘Before me’) 
the witness to the mark of the deponent having been first sworn that the witness had read 

over etc. (as above) and that the witness saw the deponent make his/her* mark on the 
affidavit. (Witness must sign.) 

4.2.4 Certificate to be used where a deponent to an affirmation is unable to read or sign it 

The following is the certificate to be used where a deponent to an affirmation is unable to 
read or sign it: 

Affirmed at …… this …...day of …... Before me, I having first read over the contents of this 
affirmation to the deponent [if there are exhibits, add ‘and explained the nature and 

effect of the exhibits referred to in it’] who appeared to understand it and approved its 
content as accurate, and made his/her* mark on the affirmation in my presence. Or, (after 

‘Before me’) the witness to the mark of the deponent having been first sworn that the 
witness had read over etc. (as above) and that the witness saw the deponent make 

his/her* mark on the affirmation. (Witness must sign.) 

4.3 Fees 

The following fees are prescribed by the Commissioners for Oaths (Fees) Order 1993/2297.  
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For taking an affidavit, declaration or affirmation, for each 
person making the same 

£5.00* 

And in addition, for each exhibit therein referred to and 
required to be marked or for each schedule required to 
be marked.   

£2.00* 

*The fees are inclusive of value added tax where payable.  

It is improper for a Commissioner to share any part of the fee received for administering the 
oath with any person, since the administration of oaths is a discharge of a public office. 
However, fees received in the course of employment can properly be taken by the 
employer. 

4.4 CLSB Guidance 

Please note that the following is the guidance issued by the CLSB for costs lawyers. 
Commentary has been added by ACLT in red for training and guidance purposes only.  

GUIDANCE NOTES: EXECUTING LEGAL DOCUMENTS &  

RIGHT TO ADMINISTER OATHS 

Regulator: Costs Lawyer Standards Board 

Effective date: 4 July 2012 

These notes have been based on legal advice and seek to offer a greater understanding 
of Costs Lawyers' rights to execute legal documents.  

Where does the right to execute certain legal documents come from? 

Costs Lawyers can carry out certain Reserved Legal Activities (“RLA”) if they are entitled to 
do so under the Legal Services Act 2007 ("the Act") or are exempt. The Costs Lawyer 
Standards Board (the “CLSB”) is an Approved Regulator under delegated authority of the 
Association of Costs Lawyers. Costs Lawyers who hold a current practising certificate issued 
by the CLSB are permitted under Schedule 4 Part 1 of the Act to carry out the following 
RLA’s:  
 

• The exercise of a right of audience 
• The conduct of litigation 
• The administration of oaths 

 
The right afforded Costs Lawyers to administer oaths was further defined under the Costs 
Lawyers Statement of Rights as approved by the Lord Chancellor in July 2007 as being “the 
right to administer oaths and take affidavits under section 113 of the Courts and Legal 
Services Act 1990.  This provision was repealed on 1 January 2010 and is now section 183 of 
the Act.  
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Note: the administration of oaths is one of the reserved legal activities listed in section 12 of the Legal 
Services Act 2007, you must be an authorised person to undertake this activity. Authorised persons 
are defined under section 18 of the Legal Services Act 2007 as:  

a person who is authorised to carry on the relevant activity by a relevant approved regulator in 
relation to the relevant activity or a licensable body which, by virtue of such a licence, is authorised 

to carry on the relevant activity by a licensing authority in relation to the reserved legal activity. 

Do Reserved Legal Activities include the execution of documents? 
Schedule 2 of the Act provides further details about what RLA’s are.  This guidance note 
focuses specifically on the RLA under which Costs Lawyers are most likely to execute legal 
documents – the conduct of litigation and the administration of oaths. 

What documents can a Costs Lawyer execute? 

The conduct of litigation 
Costs Lawyers can execute any legal documents connected with the conduct of costs 
litigation, this includes issuing proceedings and performing ancillary functions relating to 
those costs proceedings.  
 
The administration of oaths 
Costs Lawyers are regarded as 'commissioners of oaths' under section 183 of the Act as 
they are 'relevant authorised persons'.  In practice, Costs Lawyers are also able to take 
affidavits.   

Note: Section 183 of the Legal Services Act 2007 sets out what is meant by a commissioner of oaths. 
A relevant authorised person has the right to use the title “Commissioner for Oaths” (section 183(2) of 
the Legal Services Act 2007). Under this section a relevant authorised person may not carry on the 
administration of oaths in any proceedings in which that person represents any of the parties or is 
interested”(section 183(3) of the Legal Services Act 2007). The Lord Chancellor may by order 
prescribe the fees to be charged by relevant authorised persons in respect of the administration of 
an oath or the taking of an affidavit ” (section 183(6) of the Legal Services Act 2007). 

What are oaths and affidavits? 
The Commissioners for Oaths Act 1889 sets out the following definitions for oaths and 
affidavits: 
 
• "Oath" includes affirmation and declaration. 
• "Affidavit" includes affirmation, statutory or other declaration, acknowledgement, 

examination, and attestation or protestation of honour. 
 
The Commissioners for Oaths Act 1889 (section 1) states that as long as the individual does 
not have a personal interest in the proceedings, commissioners of oaths may "in England or 
elsewhere administer any oath or take any affidavit for the purposes of any court or matter 
in England ..… and take any bail or recognisance in or for the purpose of any civil 
proceeding in the Senior Courts". 

What processes and procedures must I follow in the event I administer an oath as a Costs 
Lawyer? 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  98 

The rules surrounding the correct processes and procedures are set out in section 183 of the 
Act.  You should not administer an oath in any proceedings in which you, your partner, 
fellow director or your employer represent one of the parties or have an interest in.    

You are first required to ascertain: 

• if the person before you wishes to swear on oath or affirm; and  
• explain the affirmation or oath. 

You are under a duty to ascertain that: 

• the person before you is in fact the deponent; and 
• the deponent is competent to depose to the affidavit, affirmation or declaration; 

and  
• the deponent is fully aware that the document they are about to be sworn to or 

declared, is the truth; and 
• the exhibits, if any, are the documents referred to in the deposition.  

The process to follow is that you:  

• must state in the jurat or attestation the place and date on which the oath or 
affidavit is taken or made; and  

Note: Under section 183(4) of the Legal Services Act 2007, a relevant authorised person before 
whom an oath or affidavit is taken or made must state in the jurat or attestation at which place and 
on what date the oath or affidavit is taken or made. 

• must insert your signature below the jurat (if your signature is unclear you should write 
your full name in block capitals); and  

• underneath your name you should record your status as “Commissioner for Oaths.” 

Note: Under section 183 (5) of the Legal Services Act 2007, a document containing such a 
statement and purporting to be sealed or signed by a relevant authorised person must be 
admitted in evidence without proof of the seal or signature, and without proof that that person is 
a relevant authorised person. 

• any amendments to the affidavit must be initialled by you in the margin alongside 
the amendment; and  

• any exhibits to the affidavit must be signed by you.   
 

What documents can I not execute as a Costs Lawyer? 

Costs Lawyers are not automatically authorised to carry out the following RLA’s which may 
involve the execution of documents.  However, there are exceptions in some 
circumstances – if you think these may apply, see section 19 and Schedule 3 of the Act for 
further details. 
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(i)  Reserved instrument activities 
These include:  
Preparing any instrument of transfer or charge for the purposes of the Land Registration Act 
2003, making an application or lodging a document for registration under that Act, or 
preparing any instrument relating to real or personal estate for the purposes of the law of 
England and Wales, or an instrument relating to court proceedings in England and Wales, 
or preparing a contract for the sale or other disposition of land (except a contract to grant 
a short lease). 

 
These do not normally include:  
Preparing an instrument relating to any particular court proceedings (unless a restriction 
has been placed on the individual), a will or other testamentary instrument, an agreement 
not intended to be executed as a deed, a letter or power of attorney, or a transfer of stock 
containing no trust or limitation on the transfer. 

 
Exemptions:  
An individual is exempt if he carries on the reserved instrument activity:  
a) in the course of his duty as a public officer; or 
b) under the supervision of an authorised person, and they are connected through their 

employment; or  
c) if the individual is accredited or authorised, or  
d) if the instrument creates a farm business tenancy or relates to an existing tenancy. 
 
(ii) Probate activities 
These include: 
Preparing any probate papers (including a grant of probate or a grant of letters of 
administration) for the purposes of the law of England or Wales, or in relation to any 
proceedings in England or Wales. 
 
Exemptions: 
An individual is exempt if he carries on the probate activity a)under the supervision of an 
authorised person, and they are connected through their employment, or b) does not 
receive, or expect to receive any fee, gain or reward for doing so. 
 
Can a trainee Costs Lawyer exercise these rights? 

No, only a qualified Costs Lawyer holding a current practising certificate may exercise 
these rights.  

Note: You cannot exercise the rights without a current practising certificate. 

Important note 

Under section 14 of the Act, it is an offence to carry on a RLA unless the person is entitled to 
do so. 

Note: If you do exercise the rights without a current practising certificate you will be liable of an 
offence. 
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3.4 The Potential Liability of a Costs Lawyer 

1. Introduction 

It makes good business sense and it is fundamental in providing a good service that you 
manage client care effectively. This inevitably starts before your first meeting with the client. 
Having proper procedures in place to ensure that all the elements of good client care are 
accommodated for.  

Clients tend to complain because they have received poor service or a firm’s charges 
have exceeded the clients’ expectations. In simple terms, clients will complain if they are 
asked to pay more than originally quoted for the service they have received or if the 
quality of service they receive does not meet their expectations. 

Before you consider the potential liability of a costs lawyer you must consider who the costs 
lawyer’s client is. There are a number of parties that can potentially instruct costs lawyers, 
although some situations have historically been less common: 

þ Litigant in person; 
þ Solicitors on behalf of their clients; 
þ Solicitors; and 
þ Insurers. 

Some consideration should also be given to the position that a costs lawyer holds at his 
place of work e.g. is he an employee or an employer? The following is produced as an 
overview only. 

2. Contract 

As we know, the relationship between a costs lawyer and their client is largely governed by 
contract law. There are no specific rules, to date, that govern the form of contract 
between a costs lawyer and his client but effectively the relationship is a contract for 
service.   

The requirements as to client care with regards a client agreement can be found in the 
Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct 2014 at rule 3.4 which states that costs lawyers must advise 
new clients in writing when instructions are first received of:  

þ an estimate of fees / details of charging structure and where that estimate 
subsequently becomes inaccurate or that charging structure changes provide an 
updated estimate / notice of revised charges; 

þ the right to complain; 
þ how to complain i.e. first-tier complaints handling procedure; 
þ the period within which you will deal with complaints under first-tier complaints 

handling procedure; 
þ the clients right to refer their complaint to the Legal Ombudsman in the event the 

matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the client or the matter has not been 
resolved within 8 weeks of the complaint being made; 

þ applicable time limits for referring the complaint to the Legal Ombudsman; and  
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þ legal Ombudsman contact details.  

There is an implied term in contracts for service by virtue of section 13 of the Supply of 
Goods and Services Act 1982 that a service should be carried out with reasonable care 
and skill. Inadequate service would be a breach of contract and therefore you may be 
liable for any loss suffered as a result. 

The Consumer Contracts (Information, Cancellation and Additional Charges) Regulations 
2013 (the regulations) come into force on 13 June 2014. They regulate most contracts 
made between a "trader" and a "consumer". The regulations are likely to apply to a wide 
range of contracts made between solicitors (as traders) and their clients (as consumers). 
Whether they apply will depend on the nature of the client and the circumstances in which 
the contract was made. If contracts were entered into prior to 13 June 2014 these will be 
covered by the Distance Selling Regulations which cover the period before 13 June 2014.  

3. Negligence 

Negligence can be defined, in this context, as the failure to provide legal services to the 
standard provided by a reasonably competent lawyer. These complaints may have serious 
repercussions if they are not dealt with to the client’s satisfaction. They may result in court 
action and may affect indemnity insurance. 

3.1 Elements of a Claim 

The basis for any claim in the tort of ‘negligence’ is that the tortfeasor owed the ‘victim’ a 
duty of care which was broken resulting in damage. The tort consists of three elements, 
identified in Donoghue v Stevenson [1932] AC 562 (see below): 

þ the existence of a duty of care; 
þ a breach of that duty; and 
þ loss or damage caused by that breach of duty. 

Part of the criteria for the existence of a duty of care depends on the relationship of the 
parties, such as doctor-patient. This can be described as a duty being owed by the nature 
an individual is a ‘members of a class’. in Heaven v Pender (1883) 1 QBD 503 a general 
duty test for a duty of care was mooted which relied on situations where there was a 
contractual relationship, this could cover costs lawyers and their clients. There was no 
generally accepted test for liability in negligence created until the landmark case of 
Donoghue v Stevenson in 1932. Donoghue v Stevenson [1932] AC 562 is now the basis for all 
negligence actions in England & Wales and the neighbourhood test which requires that 
there is a degree of proximity between the parties. 

Following cases such as Blyth v Birmingham Waterworks [1856] 156 ER 1047 it is clear that 
when considering if there has been a breach of duty the questions the court will be 
concerned with are: 

þ that the defendant failed to reach the appropriate legal standard required – so 
what was the extent of the claimant’s duty of care?  

þ as a matter of fact, the defendant’s actions fell below the required standard. 
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As in the case of costs lawyers, where a defendant holds him/herself out as possessing a 
particular skill, s/he will need to reach the standard of care of the reasonable practitioner 
of the skill s/he is claiming to have. For example, in Phillips v Whiteley [1938] KBD D, a 
jeweller pierced the claimant’s ears, which later developed an infection. The court held 
that a jeweller is not a surgeon, and so is not bound to take the same precautions as a 
surgeon. On the facts, the defendant had taken all reasonable precautions that a 
competent jeweller would take and had not breached his duty of care. 

3.2 Responsibility to the Lay Client 

The case of Ahmed v Powell (2003) EWHC 9011 is authority that solicitors are responsible for 
the conduct of the detailed assessment proceedings and cannot avoid that responsibility 
merely by instructing a costs draftsman. Costs draftsmen can appear on behalf of the party 
only as a duly authorised representative of the solicitor who has instructed him to be there. 

It appears that when instructed by a solicitor, the conduct of a costs lawyer is the 
responsibility of the solicitor. The case of Ahmed v Powell (2003) EWHC 9011 is authority that 
solicitors are responsible for the conduct of the detailed assessment proceedings and 
cannot avoid that responsibility merely by instructing a costs draftsman. Costs draftsmen 
can appear on behalf of the party only as a duly authorised representative of the solicitor 
who has instructed him to be there. Which is appropriate given the decision in Crane v 
Canons Leisure Centre (2007) EWCA Civ 1352 means that work undertaken by independent 
costs draftsmen could be treated as part of the instructing solicitor’s profit costs such as to 
attract a success fee. However there is currently no authority on the extent of the costs 
lawyer’s liability if a lay client instructs them. However, the decision in Ahmed v Powell 
(2003) EWHC 9011 predates the enactment of the Legal Services Act 2007.  

3.3 Negligent Advocates 

Following the changes to a costs lawyers practice rights the costs lawyer needs to be alert 
to the position with regards a negligent advocate. Again, much of the authority on 
negligent advocates pre dates the Legal Services Act 2007 and there is no binding 
authority in respect of costs lawyers. The Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct clearly sets out 
the duty owed by a costs lawyer to the court in the administration of justice.  Under 
principle 2 of the CLSB’s Code of Conduct, to comply with their duty to the court in the 
administration of justice a costs lawyer must:  

þ at all times act within the law (principle 2.1); 
þ must not knowingly or recklessly either mislead the court or allow the court to be 

misled (principle 2.2); 
þ must comply with any court order which places an obligation on them and must not 

be in contempt of court (principle 2.3); and 
þ must advise clients to comply with court orders made against them (principle 2.4).  

The starting point when considering negligence claims and advocacy is the decision in 
Rondel v Worsley (1967) 3 WLR 1666 where it was held that a claimant's civil action for 
negligence could not be sustained and a barrister's immunity was justified by public policy. 
In this case, the appellant was tried on a convicted of having caused grievous bodily harm. 
He had been represented by the respondent, a barrister who had appeared on a "dock 
brief." Later the appellant issued a writ and statement of claim against the respondent 
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claiming damages for professional negligence in the respondent's dealing with the 
evidence. The House of Lords held, dismissing the appeal, that a barrister's conduct and 
management of litigation (whether in court or at an earlier stage) could not give rise to a 
claim for professional negligence; this position was a result of public policy in that: 

þ a barrister ought to be able to carry out his duty to the court fearlessly and 
independently;  

þ actions for negligence against barristers would inevitably amount to retrials and thus 
prolong litigation, contrary to the public interest; and  

þ a barrister was obliged to accept any client if a proper fee was paid and could not 
refuse a client on any other ground.  

The later case of Saif Ali v Sydney Mitchell (1978) 3 All ER 1033 held that this immunity 
extended to pre-trial work if only if it is so intimately connected with the conduct of the 
case in court as to amount to a preliminary decision about it.  

However, more recent authority on advocates liability for negligence states clearly that 
you are under a duty to your client. The case Arthur J S Hall  & Co v Simons Lord Hoffman 
(2002) 1 AC 615 overturned the earlier decision and the court held that the public policy 
arguments for immunity established by Rondel v Worsley [1969] 1 A.C. 191 were no longer 
appropriate, particularly as the court had powers under the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 to 
prevent an abuse of process arising from inappropriate litigation. The standard of 
workmanship of an advocate is as described in Arthur J S Hall  & Co v Simons (2002) 1 AC 
615, by Lord Hoffman at page 691:  

“The fact is that the advocate, like other professional men, undertaking a duty to his client 
to conduct his case, subject to the rules and ethics of his profession, with proper skill and 

care.” 

Costs lawyers should remain alert to the fact that the rules on the liability of  advocates are 
still developing as was said in Moy v Pettmann Smith (A Firm) & Anor (2005) 1 WLR 581 by 
Lady Hale, the courts: 

"have not yet developed a clear set of principles governing the terms in which an 
advocate's advice should be given". 

For now, what we do know is that the decision in Buxton v Mills-Owens (2010) 1 WLR 1997 
means that if a point is not properly arguable, it should not be argued. Additionally, 
consideration should be given to Copeland v Smith (2002) 1 WLR 1371 which illustrates the 
advocate is under a duty to draw the judge's attention to authorities that are in point, even 
if they are adverse to that advocate's case. Finally, the case of Waterson Hicks v Eliopoulos 
(1997) Costs L.R. illustrates that as a duly authorised representative of a solicitor, a costs 
draftsman has the same authority as the solicitor would have to consent to orders.  

4. Misconduct 

Professional misconduct is unlike conventional law subjects in that in very few cases do the 
rules contain an absolute prohibition on an action or course of conduct. In most cases the 
rules and principles are drafted with a certain amount of flexibility in their wording, allowing 
discretion in their application. In some ways, flexibility in the law is more difficult to live with 
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than an absolute rule since it becomes a matter of judgment as to whether a particular 
action will or will not amount to misconduct. The issue is even more complex when you 
consider the same action may be taken by a costs lawyer in two similar cases but the 
action may have quite different results for each client. 

Owing to both the grey nature of the conduct rules and to the expectation of high 
standards of behavior, it is perhaps unwise to attempt to define conduct which would 
amount to professional misconduct, unbefitting conduct or a breach of duty. Nevertheless, 
the following broad brush definitions are offered for your consideration: 

Professional 
Misconduct 

This is generally taken to mean breaches of the 
conduct rules and principles committed in the 
course of practicing as a costs lawyer. 

Unbefitting 
Conduct 

This may generally be defined as conduct by a 
lawyer which ought to render him as unfit to 
be an officer of the court (Re Southerton 
(1805) 6 East 126). 

Breach of duty This is something that gives rise to an action in 
law, for example in contract or tort. 

There is an overlap between the above categories. Failure to advise a client on their 
potential costs liabilities is both unbefitting conduct and could give rise to an action in 
negligence.  Whether practicing or not, situations in private life or activities outside of legal 
practice may give rise to disciplinary action, particularly in situations that bring the 
profession into disrepute.  

Costs lawyers should not attempt to act beyond their competence. Where a costs lawyer 
considers it appropriate to do so, advice should be sought from an expert.  This should be 
with the prior approval of the client. In the alternative, a costs lawyer must decline any 
work for which he does not have the skill, knowledge or experience to undertake. A costs 
lawyer should keep the client updated as to the progress of his matter. He should keep 
accurate records of the work undertaken on any file so that clients can make informed 
decisions based on the work being undertaken and the costs of that work. 

Costs lawyers must work in a timely manner with due regard for the level of service 
provided. Although there is currently no particular evidence in respect of excessive delay 
being professional misconduct in light of the changes made in April 2013 with the Jackson 
reforms, and the adherence to stricter deadlines (especially in respect of costs budgets); 
costs lawyers should be aware that although this may (or may not) amount to outright 
misconduct, a failure to observe deadlines is likely to have a significant influence on their 
professional indemnity premiums.  

A breach of the CLSB Code of Conduct or the SRA Codes of Conduct may result in a firm 
being investigated. The SRA Standards and Regulations require that a lawyer should report 
serious misconduct to the SRA. Principle 5 of the CLSB Code of Conduct requires that costs 
lawyers deal with the regulators & Legal Ombudsman in an open and co-operative way. 
Moreover, under Rule 8 of the Costs Lawyers Practising Rules, you would be required to 
disclose the consequence of any investigation upon application for a practising certificate. 
An adverse finding can have a serious impact on your professional standing. 
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5. Criminal liability 

On rare occasions, allegations of unlawful conduct may be made. These may warrant the 
involvement of the police. As you are aware, when entering into contracts since January 
2014, you need to be alert to the Consumer Contracts (Information, Cancellation and 
Additional Charges) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/3134), which replaced the Consumer 
Protection (Distance Selling) Regulations 2000 (SI 2000/2334) (as amended) and the 
Cancellation of Contracts made in a Consumer’s Home or Place of Work etc. 
Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/1816). These regulations open fee earners up to a number of 
potential criminal actions. Regulation 19 makes it an offence to fail to inform consumers of 
their right to cancel off-premises contracts. The offence is punishable on summary 
conviction by a fine. Regulation 20 provides a due diligence defence if it can be shown 
that the offence occurred due to one of the following: 

þ the act or default of another;  or 
þ reliance on information given by another. 

You must also be able to show that you have taken all reasonable precautions and 
exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of the offence. If an officer of a 
corporate body has committed the offence, the officer is also guilty of the offence and 
liable to prosecution and punishment, if one of the following is true: 

þ they consented to or connived in committing the offence; or 
þ the offence is attributable to any neglect on their part. 

Regulation 25 makes it an offence to intentionally obstruct an investigation by authorised 
officers into breaches of the regulations, or to knowingly make a false statement to an 
authorised officer. However, the regulations do not authorise officers to inspect or take 
possession of privileged material. If you are asked to produce any such material by an 
authorised officer, you are not required by the regulations to produce it (Regulation 24). 

Solicitors have strict rules to follow in how they handle money, especially client money. They 
are bound by a set of rules called the Solicitors Accounts Rules which form part of the Code 
of Conduct. The rules govern solicitors’ handling of client money, bills, disbursements, office 
money, wages, and indemnity insurance. The fundamental outcomes that the SRA wish to 
achieve with the Solicitors Accounts Rules are to protect client money and assets, ensure 
solicitors act with integrity, comply with regulations and operate the business in 
accordance with proper governance. Whilst costs lawyers are specifically precluded from 
holding client monies, they should remain alert to their potential liability in relation to the 
same. 

Money laundering is a process by which money gained from illegal means is given the 
appearance of having originated from a legitimate source. It allows criminals to introduce 
their money into the financial system with the appearance that it is from a legitimate 
source. There are three acknowledged phases to money laundering: placement; layering 
and integration. Placement is when money generated from crime is placed into the 
financial system. Solicitors’ firms can be targets for this because they commonly deal with 
client money. Layering is when such money is moved through a number of transactions to 
conceal its origins. Possibly through a property transaction or a trust or a limited company. 
Integration is when this money reappears as a legitimate fund or asset. They will often buy 
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shares, buy property, set up a trust or even settle litigation.   There are criminal sanctions if a 
lawyer fails to report suspected money laundering. 

Under section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, a person will be liable if he conceals, 
disguise, converts, transfers or removes criminal property. Concealing or disguising criminal 
property includes concealing or disguising its nature, source, location, disposition, 
movement or ownership or any rights with respect to it. Section 328 of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002 states that a person commits an offence if he enters into, or becomes 
concerned in, an arrangement which he knows or suspects facilitates the acquisition, 
retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of another person. Finally, 
under section 329 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, if a person acquires, uses or possesses 
property for which he has not given adequate consideration, he may be liable of an 
offence. 

Solicitors and other professionals are going to be further exposed to criminal liability. Clause 
44 of the Serious Crime Bill 2014 introduces the offence of participating in an organised 
crime group into English law. It has the potential to seriously widen the scope of criminal 
liability for lawyers and other professionals working in the non-regulated sector. 

Sections 14-17 of the Legal Services Act 2007 created offences associated with carrying out 
reserved legal activities with no entitlement.  Section 197 of the Legal Services Act 2007 
creates similar offences for entities. Similar provisions existed before the Act.  However, 
these related to the individual branches of the profession and it is hoped that the 
consolidation of these provisions will improve transparency and compliance.  Please note 
the decision in the case of Hudgell, Yeates and Co v Watson (1978) QB 451. In this case, 
one of the partners in a firm of solicitors forgot to renew his certificate, rendering him 
unqualified and meant that it was illegal for him to practise. A partnership between a 
solicitor and an unqualified person at that time was prohibited by statute. It was held that 
the failure to renew his certificate brought the partnership to an end, the partnership 
became illegal and was automatically dissolved but the court held that the remaining 
partners could lawfully carry on the business of the partnership. The outcome of this case 
today would be different due to the Legal Services Act 2007. However, the principle behind 
the decision continues in that it is illegal for persons to conduct work that they are not 
authorised to perform.    

The Legal Services Act 2007 created two new criminal offences that are punishable by up 
to two years in prison under section 44B. These offences are called Information Offences 
and relate to the falsification or destruction of information that forms part of an 
investigation into the conduct of an authorised person. It is also worth noting that under the 
Legal Services Act 2007, preparing a report on a firm’s financial position is now required to 
disclose any suspicions of negligence or fraud on the part of a firm. This does raise the 
questions as to whether or not this duty may extend to costs lawyers in the future; after all, 
you are experts on the financial transactions that take place within proceedings. 

6. Personal liability for costs 

The two main principles when it comes to deciding which party should pay the costs of an 
application or of the whole proceedings are contained in the following authority: 

þ section 51 of the Senior Courts Act 1981 and Civil Procedure Rules (CPR) 44.2; and 
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þ CPR 44.2(2). 

Section 51 of the Senior Courts Act 1981 and CPR 44.2(1) provide that the court has an 
absolute discretion when making an order for costs. CPR 44.2(2)(a) expands that by stating 
that if the court decides to make an order about costs, the general rule is that the 
unsuccessful party will be ordered to pay the costs of the successful party; but CPR 
44.2(2)(b) enables the court to make a different order. By virtue of CPR 44.4 when deciding 
what order the court shall make the factors that shall be considered are: 

þ the conduct of all the parties; 
þ whether a party has succeeded on part of its case, even if that party has not been 

wholly successful; and 
þ any admissible offer to settle made by a party which is drawn to the court’s 

attention, and which is not an offer to which costs consequences under Part 36 
apply. 

Under section 51(6) of the Senior Courts Act 1981 the court may disallow, or order the legal 
or other representative concerned to pay the wasted costs. CPR 46.8 sets out the 
procedure for the court to make an order that a legal representative is personally liable for 
costs, when the court makes a wasted costs order. This may be particularly relevant to 
those instructed by litigants in person or in a solicitor/client dispute where the costs lawyer 
may put himself on court record as acting. Part 42 of the CPR has recently been amended 
to allow any person who is an authorised person in relation to an activity which constitutes 
the conduct of litigation (within the meaning of that Legal Services Act 2007), to be 
entered on the court record. It should be noted that if a costs lawyer is on the court record 
as acting, he may be required to sign a bill of costs and, as previously stated, the mis-
certification of a bill is a serious (disciplinary) offence as per Bailey v IBC Vehicles Ltd (1998) 
3 All ER 570.    

The court must be satisfied that there has been an improper, unreasonable or negligent act 
or omission and that, as a result, costs have been incurred by a party. A mere mistake is not 
sufficient to justify an order, there must be a more serious error as can be seen by 
considering the leading authority Ridehalgh v Horsefield (1994) Ch 205 CA. This case 
established that for such an order to be made there must be Improper, unreasonable or 
negligent conduct. Consideration of Harley v McDonald (2001) 2 AC 678 tells us that 
wasted costs orders are discretionary and should be reserved for those cases where the 
unjustifiable conduct can be demonstrated without recourse to disproportionate 
procedures. Such orders should not be used as a threat to intimidate the lawyers on the 
other side as can be seen from the case Orchard v S E Electricity Board (1987) QB 565. 
Finally, the case Symphony v Hodgson (1994) QB 179 stipulates that an application for a 
wasted costs order should not be motivated simply by resentment at an inability to obtain 
an effective order for costs against an assisted or impecunious litigant.  

For criminal proceedings, see the Practice Direction (Costs in Criminal Proceedings) : Costs 
(2010) 1 WLR 2351.   

6.1 Wasted costs orders and legal aid 

In Ridehalgh v Horsefield (1994) Ch 205 CA Bingham MR goes on knowingly to make two 
potentially contradictory points. One is that in legal aid cases it is unlikely that a costs 
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award will be made against a legally aided party, therefore the risk of litigation to the client 
is lower, and a representative must be careful not to take advantage of that fact. 
However, he also points out that because costs cannot usually be recovered against the 
client, there is more incentive for a victorious opposing party and representative to pursue 
wasted costs against the lawyer rather than normal costs against their client. 

Given that costs will not normally be awarded anyway and legal aid is now so rarely 
available in immigration appeals, these legal aid issues perhaps only touch on a small 
number of cases, if any. However, it might be thought that the same caution should be 
exercised by legal representatives given that it will rarely be possible to enforce costs orders 
against unsuccessful immigration law clients. 

6.2 Wasted costs, privilege and client confidentiality 

Ridehalgh v Horsefield (1994) Ch 205 CA recognises the difficulty which lawyers may face 
caused by the rules of client confidentiality and professional privilege. The privilege is that 
of the client and is not that of the lawyer, so it is not for the lawyer to waive it without 
permission from the client. The client may well refuse permission in this context, because to 
do so might expose the client to a costs order rather than the lawyer. This is something that 
judges contemplating a wasted cost application should very carefully consider: 

Judges who are invited to make or contemplate making a wasted costs order must make 
full allowance for the inability of respondent lawyers to tell the whole story. Where there is 
room for doubt, the respondent lawyers are entitled to the benefit of it. It is again only 
when, with all allowances made, a lawyer’s conduct of proceedings is quite plainly 
unjustifiable that it can be appropriate to make a wasted costs order. 

The issue arose again in the case of Medcalf v Weatherill & Anor [2002] UKHL 27. Counsel for 
a defendant party alleged fraud by the claimant and his solicitors in the conduct of the 
action before the judge. An action for wasted costs for the preparation of a defence to this 
allegation was brought on the grounds that there was no basis for the allegation in 
evidence and it was therefore improperly made according to the Bar’s Code of 
Conduct. Counsel pleaded in their defence that they were precluded from giving a full 
answer to a wasted costs application because of legal professional privilege. 

With Lord Bingham giving the leading judgment, the House of Lords held a wasted costs 
order in these circumstances should be exceptional and went on: 

Where a wasted costs order is sought against a practitioner precluded by legal professional 
privilege from giving his full answer to the application, the court should not make an order 
unless, proceeding with extreme care, it is (a) satisfied that there is nothing the practitioner 
could say, if unconstrained, to resist the order and (b) that it is in all the circumstances fair 
to make the order. 

7. Professional indemnity insurance 

Professional indemnity insurance (PII) is insurance that covers civil liability claims arising from 
your work in private legal practice. These claims most commonly involve professional 
negligence. This type of insurance ensures that clients do not suffer loss, which might 
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otherwise be uncompensated. This is important in maintaining public confidence in the 
integrity of the profession. 

Under rule 1.1(d) of the CLSB Practising Rules 2014, no person shall be entitled to practice as 
a Costs Lawyer unless they have professional indemnity insurance in accordance with Rule 
10. Under rule 10.1 of the CLSB Practising Rules 2014, Costs Lawyers shall ensure that they:  

þ practice with the benefit of professional indemnity insurance of a minimum £100,000 
(any one claim) to include loss of documents; and  

þ on an ongoing basis, assess all financial risk associated with work being undertaken 
by them and ensure that professional indemnity insurance and loss of documents 
insurance is in place in excess of the minimum set at a level commensurate with that 
work.  

The CLSB ensure compliance with the rules of insurance by requiring costs lawyers to 
demonstrate they have complied with rule 1.1(d) of the CLSB Practising Rules when they 
apply for practising certificates. Should the costs lawyer fail to demonstrate they have the 
requisite insurance, and systems to monitor work, in place then the CLSB may refuse to 
grant them their practising certificate. 

Rule 3.8 of the Costs Lawyers Code of Conduct requires all costs lawyers maintain 
professional indemnity insurance which complies with the requirements of the CLSB 
prevailing at the time and promptly provide evidence of that insurance cover if requested 
by a client, CLSB, ACL or Legal Ombudsman.  
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3.5 Costs Lawyers and Complaints 

1. Introduction 

A complaint means an oral or written expression of dissatisfaction which alleges that the 
complainant has suffered (or may suffer) financial loss, distress, inconvenience or other 
detriment. 

Competence is an ethical duty for a lawyer; what lawyers do has value only if they 
practice competently. Not long ago, clients were not able take lawyers to court for 
negligence or incompetence for some activities they undertook (Rondel v Worsley (1969) 1 
AC 191) but an advocate’s immunity has since been abolished (Hall v Simon (2000) 3 ALL 
ER 673). Invariably, as in the delivery or any services, there may be complaints made about 
costs lawyers.  

If a client achieves an unsatisfactory result that may give rise to a valid complaint this may 
be settled by a reduction in fees but the costs lawyer should be alert to the fact the 
dissatisfaction may lead to a conduct complaint or a claim in negligence.  

You should remain alert to the fact that the signature to a bill of costs is that of an officer of 
the court and the mis-certification of a bill is a serious (disciplinary) offence as 
demonstrated in the case Bailey v IBC Vehicles Ltd (1998) 3 All ER 570. Solicitor clients will 
also be asked to sign a statement of truth on a budget, the importance of such can be 
seen in cases such as The Bank of Ireland & Anor v Philip Pank Partnership [2014] EWHC 284 
(TCC) (12 February 2014). Therefore, when you return a file to a solicitor or a litigant in 
person who is on court record you must ensure you set out clearly the parts of any bill or 
budget that may need detailed consideration by the client. You must include details of 
any estimated times and highlight the costs that are at risk or points that may cast doubt on 
the chances of success in recovering those costs.  

Complaints that are made directly to a provider of legal services are often referred to as 
“first-tier complaints”, while complaints that are escalated to the CLSB or Legal 
Ombudsman are known as “second-tier complaints”.  

2. An internal procedure 

Pursuant to Section 112(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 it is a requirement that a Costs 
Lawyer has effective procedures in place for the resolution of complaints. The CLSB’s 
primary requirements in relation to first-tier complaints procedures and complaint handling 
are contained in the Costs Lawyer Code of Conduct under Principle 3 (Costs Lawyers must 
act in the best interests of their client). Pursuant to the Code of Conduct, Costs Lawyers 
must provide for an effective first-tier complaints procedure which is:  

þ simple and transparent;  
þ ensures that a complaint can be made by any reasonable means: and  
þ takes into account the individual needs of clients (in particular the needs of 

vulnerable clients).  
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The CLSB require you to have a complaints procedure in place if you work:  

For a firm of Costs 
Lawyers  

Your employer should have a first-tier complaints procedure 
in place for your use.  

As a sole practitioner You will need to produce your own first-tier complaints 
procedure.  

For a firm of solicitors  

Your firm should have a first-tier complaints procedure in 
place that complies with the requirements of the Solicitors 
Regulation Authority, which the CLSB will accept as being 
adequate so long as it is provided to your clients in all cases. 

In-house  But only insofar as you provide costs law services externally 
to clients other than your employer.  

Since 2012, all Costs Lawyers have been required to file their complaints procedure with 
their annual application for a practising certificate. This allows the CLSB to supervise 
compliance with the obligation to maintain an appropriate complaints procedure.  

2.1 When it should be supplied  

The Competition and Markets Authority, in its 2016 legal services market study, 
recommended that all providers of legal services publish their complaints procedure on 
their website, where they have one.  

Research conducted by YouGov and the Legal Ombudsman suggests that many clients 
do not recall being provided with details of complaints procedures in the relevant client 
care letter. It is therefore important to ensure that a client care letter is easy to understand 
and not overly long, and that the complaints procedure is clearly identifiable. It is also 
important to remind the client of the complaints procedure as their matter progresses.  

In particular, a complaints procedure should be provided to a client on each of the 
following occasions:  

1 When the client first contracts with you. 

2 If an existing client, upon a new instruction at 
the first appropriate opportunity 

3 In the event of a change of contractual terms. 

4 In the event of a change to your complaints 
procedure. 

5 Once a complaint has been made. 
6 At the conclusion of a complaint. 
7 When asked for, at any time.  

2.2 Contents  

A complaints procedure should be in writing and state the date it became effective or was 
last updated. It should be clear and simple with as few steps as possible and identify the 
person to whom the complaint should be made.  

A complaints procedure should be reasonable, fair, proportionate and responsive. It should 
state clearly the timeframe for a complaint to be raised – this should be within one year of 
the complaint arising (i.e. when the issue first occurred or when the complainant should 
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reasonably have become aware of the issue). It should also state clearly the timeframe for 
a complaint to be resolved – this should be within eight weeks of receipt of the complaint.  

It should advise that if the complainant is not satisfied with the outcome of the complaint 
under the complaints procedure, or the complaint has not been resolved within eight 
weeks, then the complainant has the right to refer a service complaint to the Legal 
Ombudsman, or refer a conduct complaint to the CLSB, and provide the timeframes for 
referral. It should also include contact details for the Legal Ombudsman and CLSB.  

Finally, it should advise the complainant of an approved alternative dispute resolution 
(ADR) body and state whether a firm agrees to use that body’s services.  

2.3 Approach 

If a complaint is notified to a costs lawyer he should, in the first instance, comply with his 
own complaints-handling procedure. Where appropriate, the complaint should also be 
reported to his professional indemnity insurer, even if in the end the complaint is not upheld.  

A good technique for dealing with complaints is to be positive and open-minded and be 
friendly, showing the client that their complaint is being taken seriously. Costs lawyers 
should also consider taking advice at an early stage from an impartial observer. Even if the 
complaint is unjustified, consider why the client saw fit to make a complaint and deal with 
those issues.  

It is rarely wise to be defensive, aggressive or to appear to be exasperated; likewise, it 
would almost never be appropriate to reject the complaint out of hand, to give the 
impression of omnipotence or to criticize the client in any way for having made the 
complaint. Above all, never charge a client for dealing with a complaint as this would 
result in serious professional misconduct.  

Research highlights how the type of language used in the complaints process can affect 
clients’ decisions, particularly whether to escalate a complaint. In 2017, the Legal 
Ombudsman suggested the following tips for handling complaints:  

Keep it simple  

Avoid jargon, pretentious language and using legal or technical 
terms. They may seem commonplace to you but they can be 
confusing and intimidating to the client. If you need to use legal or 
technical terms, you need to explain what they are.  

Take it seriously  

Ensure that it is clear that you are taking the complaint seriously. 
Overly informal language or poor grammar / processes can suggest 
that no formal investigation is underway; avoid phrases such as 
“I’ve had a word with (X)”.  

Acknowledge 
stress or 
inconvenience 
caused   

For many, the decision to make a complaint is not taken lightly. 
Complaining is seen as negative activity, the client may lack 
confidence in the process and fear jeopardising their relationship 
with you. It is therefore important to empathise with the situation 
they are in and reassure them that you understand their position.  

Don’t be afraid to 
apologise  

Start with a proper apology and avoid burying it at the end of 
lengthy letters. If you’ve made a mistake say ‘sorry’ without caveats 
and conditions. Justifying what has happened can play to client 
fears that the complaint handling stage will be subject to the same 
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negativity as the original transaction. Avoid subjective sentences 
such as “I’m sorry you feel this way” or “I’m sorry you have felt the 
need to complain”.  

Appreciate 
feedback  

Demonstrate to the client that you appreciate their feedback and 
the opportunity to improve your service. There can be positive 
aspects of complaining, this can also reassure the client that their 
complaint is being taken seriously. For example, “We assure you 
that client satisfaction is a key priority for us and we want the 
service you receive to reflect that principle”.  

Be clear  

When responding, detail the client’s concerns one by one. Use bold 
headings to structure the response around the details of the 
complaint. It is also important to give an explanation of what 
evidence you have looked at and what your conclusions are. 
Ensure that, when you signpost a client to the CLSB (conduct 
complaints) or Legal Ombudsman (service complaints), the 
information is clear and easy to find. This will reassure complainants 
and give them a sense of security that there are other avenues.  

YouGov and Legal Ombudsman research has shown that clients would like someone 
independent to look into their complaint. Where reasonably possible, the complaint 
investigator should be someone not involved in the matter leading to the complaint who 
has the appropriate seniority, training and understanding to provide a good complaint 
handling process. A sole practitioner may have to deal with a complaint themselves.  

The Legal Services Board has issued guidance on section 112 of the Legal Services Act 2007 
stating that complaint resolution should be free of charge. The CLSB would not expect a 
Costs Lawyer to charge for complaint resolution in relation to the Costs Lawyer’s own 
service provision.  

3. Second-tier complaints  

Second tier complaints are those that are escalated to the CLSB or Legal Ombudsman. 

3.1 Service complaints 

Service complaints relate to the quality of the service that has been provided to clients. This 
may include allegations about delay, keeping clients updated on the progress of a case, 
or other costs matters.  

A costs lawyer should make a decision based on the evidence, impartially and without any 
discrimination or prejudice. A complaint must be resolved within 8 weeks of that complaint 
being made to the costs lawyer. In the event a complaint is not resolved in that time period 
or the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant, the complainant 
may refer the matter to the LeO. 

3.2 The Office of Legal Complaints  

Section 114(1) of the Legal Services Act 2007 created The Office of Legal Complaints (the 
OLC) and it is described in Schedule 15. This changed the complaint procedures radically 
but not the disciplinary procedures. Baroness Butler-Sloss in the debate in the House of Lords 
regarding the Legal Services Act 2007 said: 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  114 

“I am very concerned about the hybrid nature of the complaints that will come to the OLC. 
Some will be on discipline; some will be seeking redress. It is extremely difficult to 

differentiate between them. Indeed, I am told that about 70 per cent of the complaints 
have been hybrid. We have the great problem that there will be the same facts, possibly 

two bites at the same cherry with two different organisations—the approved regulator and 
the OLC—dealing with the same case. There is always the possibility of different 

conclusions.” 

Section 4 of Schedule 15 of the Legal Services Act 2007 gave clear instructions to the Board 
that in appointing members of the OLC, they should make sure that they have knowledge 
or experience in:  

þ the handling of complaints;  
þ the provision of legal services;  
þ legal education and legal training;  
þ consumer affairs;  
þ civil or criminal proceedings; and  
þ the working of the courts and so on. 

In other words, people working there should be very professional and able to maintain the 
proper standard of work for legal professionals.  

3.3 The Legal Ombudsman 

The Legal Ombudsman was established by the Office for Legal Complaints (OLC), under 
the Legal Services Act 2007 and began accepting complaints on 6 October 2010. The 
Legal Ombudsman investigates and adjudicates complaints against those providing legal 
services. It is an independent body that deals with all those who provide legal services. Its 
mission is to: 

‘run an independent ombudsman scheme that resolves complaints about lawyers in a fair 
and effective way, where we are shrewd and decisive when tackling complex issues and 
that is open so we can give focused feedback to help drive importance to legal services.’ 

The Legal Ombudsman deals with service complaints about Costs Lawyers in an 
independent and objective way. The Legal Ombudsman can award a variety of remedies, 
including financial compensation. A complainant can accept the Legal Ombudsman’s 
determination, in which case it is binding on the Costs Lawyer. However, the complainant 
does not have to accept the determination and can pursue redress via other means 
(including the courts).  

Before the Legal Ombudsman will consider a service complaint, the Costs Lawyer must first 
have tried to resolve the complaint themselves under their first-tier complaints procedure. 
Should a service complaint be referred to the Legal Ombudsman, they will look not only at 
the substance of the complaint but also the way in which the complaint was initially dealt 
with by the Costs Lawyer.  

The complaint must come from a complaint with whom the Legal Ombudsman is 
authorised to deal, which includes individuals and small businesses, charities, clubs, 
societies, associations, trustees and personal representatives and personal representatives 
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and beneficiaries of an estate. The Legal Ombudsman will not consider complaints that 
were considered by previous complaints handing organisations, such as the Legal 
Complaints Services, unless new evidence has come to light that might affect the 
outcome. 

The Legal Ombudsman has stated that it wishes to resolve complaints at the earliest stage 
possible. The first stage in the process will normally be an attempt to resolve the complaint 
informally. If this is not possible, the Legal Ombudsman will investigate the complaint 
ensuring that both parties have a chance to make representations. The Legal Ombudsman 
will then provide parties with their provisional assessment and both parties will have a 
chance to respond within a fixed deadline. If neither party indicates disagreement with the 
decision then the Legal Ombudsman can treat the complaint as resolved. 

The complainant will be asked to accept the determinations and, if the complainant does 
so, it will become final and binding on all parties. Neither party may then start or continue 
legal proceedings in respect of the complaint. If the complainant rejects the determination 
(or it is treated as such due to non-response) then the legal rights of both parties are 
unaffected. 

An ombudsman has the power to require information from either party that he considers 
necessary to make a determination. The ombudsman can consider a wide range of 
evidence including evidence from approved regulators, third parties and evidence given 
in confidence, where it is reasonable and necessary to do so. The Legal Ombudsman has 
indicated that its investigators will normally consider a solicitor’s file on the complaint, for 
example, the record that has been kept about how the complaint has been handled. It is 
therefore important that solicitors ensure that they keep accurate and thorough files on 
each complaint they receive. 

If a legal services provider does not co-operate with the Legal Ombudsman, then an 
ombudsman may inform the CLSB or other regulator of this. Where either party fails to 
comply with a deadline then the ombudsman may: 

þ proceed with the investigation, consideration or determination; 
þ draw inferences from the failure; 
þ if the failure is on the part of the complainant, dismiss the complaint; or 
þ if the failure is on the part of the authorised person, include compensation for 

any inconvenience caused to the complainant in any award made. 

Where the Legal Ombudsman finds in favour of the complainant, the ombudsman may 
require a lawyer to do any of the following: 

þ apologise; 
þ pay compensation of a specified amount for loss suffered; 
þ pay interest on that compensation from a specified time; 
þ pay compensation of a specified amount for inconvenience/distress caused; 
þ ensure (and pay for) putting right any specified error, omission or other deficiency; 
þ take (any pay for) any specified action in the interests of the complainant; 
þ pay a specified amount for costs the complainant incurred in pursing the complaint; 

and/or 
þ limit fees to a specified amount. 
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There is a limit of £50,000 on the total value that can be awarded in respect of: 

þ compensation; 
þ the cost of putting right any errors; and 
þ the cost of any specified action carried out in the interests of a complainant. 

However, this limit does not apply to awards relating to interest on compensation, costs 
incurred by the complainant in pursuing the complaint, the limitation of fees and the 
interest on fees to be refunded. Thus the cost could be higher than £30,000. However, it 
should be noted that complainants will not normally require assistance to pursue a 
complaint with the Legal Ombudsman and therefore awards of costs are likely to be rare. 

The Legal Ombudsman may also report any suspected misconduct on the part of a costs 
lawyer to the CLSB. 

3.4 Conduct Complaints and the CLSB 

Conduct complaints are those complaints which relate to the conduct of authorised 
persons and may cover concerns over the competence of members and the 
misappropriation of money. Clients, employers, an opposing party, the courts or anyone 
else may make this type of complaint and it should be raised with the regulatory body, in 
this case the Costs Lawyer Standards Board. 

If the conduct of a costs lawyer falls below the required levels and is sufficiently poor, he 
may be guilty of professional misconduct. A few examples of what may be considered 
professional misconduct are listed below, but this is by no means an exhaustive list:  

þ accepting instructions to carry out work (i.e. preparation of the bill) and then failing 
to undertake that work;  

þ failure to attend a hearing when instructed to do so;  
þ deliberately and unjustifiably inflating a claim for costs for the solicitor;  
þ practicing without any or any adequate insurance in place; and 
þ being intoxicated in court. 

Where there has been a breach of the Rules or Codes or where a costs lawyer becomes 
aware that his conduct has not met the required standard, he should advise his clients that 
they are no longer able to act and he must comply with passing over the file of papers to 
another firm. Where a complaint is made, regardless of the costs lawyer’s opinion of the 
veracity of the complaint, the file should be passed on to another firm. Where appropriate, 
both the CLSB and professional indemnity insurer should be informed of the complaint.  

The CLSB publishes Disciplinary Rules which sets out the procedure for complaints referred 
to the CLSB. Once a complaint is made, the CLSB will consider the matter and produce a 
report, which will conclude with one of three outcomes:  

þ no case to answer; 
þ minor disciplinary finding; or 
þ referral to Conduct Committee for consideration. 
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There are a number of issues that will be taken into account when coming to the 
conclusion. In the event that there is no case to answer, no costs order will be made where 
there is a minor disciplinary finding, a fixed costs order of £250 will be made and the costs 
lawyer will be served with a warning letter that requires the cause of the complaint to be 
remedied within a set period of time.  

Should a further complaint be made of a similar nature within two years, the CLSB will 
consider, as evidence, the first complaint when considering the further complaint. 

In the event that the costs lawyer does not agree a minor disciplinary finding or in the event 
that a referral is considered appropriate, the Conduct Committee will be convened to 
consider the complaint. The Committee has three levels (levels one and two are the 
Conduct Committee and level three is the Conduct Appeal Committee). If the finding of 
the Committee is that the complaint is upheld, sanctions and penalties may be imposed. A 
fixed costs order will also be made, depending on the level the case reached (i.e. level 
one, two or three); there will be no costs order if it is the finding of the Committee that there 
is no case to answer. 

The CLSB can publish the findings of the Committee (with certain exceptions) and this will 
be recorded against the costs lawyer’s name on the register. In the case of a warning letter 
or undertaking, it will be recorded against the name until the undertaking or action 
required in the warning letter has been completed; in the case of a sanction, it will remain 
against the costs lawyer’s name for the period of time covered by the sanction.  

4. Data and information about complaints 

Analysis of the number of complaints, the nature of complaints and their outcomes will 
assist costs lawyers in improving the effectiveness of the service they offer to their clients. 
Costs Lawyers should  consider taking further steps to better understand their clients’ 
expectations, such as collecting feedback throughout a matter and at its conclusion.  

The CLSB collates information about the volume and type of complaints dealt with by 
individual Costs Lawyers, along with Costs Lawyers’ complaints procedures, data sourced 
from the Legal Ombudsman and data about complaints to the CLSB. The complaints data 
loop below shows how this information informs the risk assessment process, enabling the 
CLSB to target its regulatory interventions in areas where consumer outcomes can most 
effectively be improved.  
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Chapter 4 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ how to undertake analysis in a business context;  
þ the structure and relevance of accounts in a law firm; 
þ how to improve the efficiency of a law firm; and 
þ explain the functional areas, structure and role of teams of law firms.  
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4.1 Business Analysis  

1. Introduction  

Business analysis is about understanding the context in which the business exists and how it 
impacts upon business management and, specifically, leadership.  

Understanding the external environment is an important factor in setting business design 
and strategy. This handout introduces two tools, common in most business management 
courses. The first looks at the wider environment and the various external factors that 
influence the business and how it is run. The second looks directly at the industry’s 
competitive situation and forces affecting this. 
 
The first tool is the PESTLE analysis which accesses a range of key environmental factors 
which will influence business structure and design and which can also directly shape your 
business planning. This analysis should also be taken into account when assessing business 
plans and performance. The second tool is Porter’s model which looks specifically at the 
competitive environment in which the business needs to perform. Whilst it may be obvious 
that, in business management there is a need to understand and respond to the 
competition, there is also a view that this is a positive force shaping a successful business 
and that, without a competitive market, the business can become weak: 

“In a latest study of seven major US industries, including those of steel, agriculture, hospitals 
and telecommunication, Lawrence and Dyer developed the ‘competitive principle’. This 

maintains that an industry needs to experience an appropriate degree of vigorous 
competition in its environment if it is to be economically strong. Either too little or too much 

competition will lead to inefficient and non-innovative performance.” 
 

(Pugh, et al: loc1134) 

In addition to this, Porter’s model is highly relevant as an industry develops over the years, 
so could be seen as very relevant to the changing legal profession. Porter not only gives a 
way to analyse the current market but also gives you some criteria to monitor its 
development.  

Another type of analysis that should be considered is analysis of the external environment. 
This handout will explore two techniques for this; the first is the SWOT analysis. The other is a 
model developed by Kurt Lewin called a Force Field Analysis which considers the factors 
driving and restraining a change and helps you plan how to make something happen by 
helping you consider actions to strengthen or weaken these.  

Finally, a business may consider cultural analysis. In looking at the external environment 
through the cultural web there is a crossover between business models, external 
environment and internal environment. This model can be used in the context of both. In 
considering the business you are trying to develop, this becomes a way of looking at the 
way the business exists and what it means to people; how things work – its culture. This 
handout will explore Johnson and Scholes Cultural Web, which is a well-known model that 
may be applied to undertake cultural analysis.  
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2. PESTLE Analysis 

This is a wide-ranging analysis tool, considering the macro-environment. This has gone 
through some alterations over the years and may have previously been known as PEST, 
STEP, or STEEPLE analysis. This is often seen as a direct feed into the SWOT analysis, 
specifically the opportunities and threats side. If this is the analysis stage, then the SWOT 
can be seen as the start of the planning stage.  

As with the Porter’s analysis, this tool is useful at start up, when a business is looking to 
change or as an on-going monitoring tool as part of managing and leading your business. 

A PESTLE analysis is a very effective way in looking at your external business environment in 
a detailed and structured way. It enables you to structure your analysis under the following 
areas: 

þ Political  
þ Economic 
þ Social 
þ Technological 
þ Legal 
þ Environmental 

Carrying out a PESTLE analysis is not an exact science, calling for judgements on what is 
relevant and the potential impacts. It is obviously useful and relevant for large and 
complex organisations, but even for very small firms it can still identify a number of critical 
issues which could impact upon business design, future performance and management. 
Potential factors to consider under each area are discussed below. 

2.1 Political 

This is the extent to which governments may influence the wider economy, an industry 
sector or even businesses in a specific town and city. This can become a key factor at such 
times as a change of government, or the Budget. Examples of considerations include: 

þ political stability; 
þ government policies; 
þ legislative and regulatory frameworks;  
þ government term and change; 
þ trading policies; 
þ tax changes; 
þ funding, grants and initiatives; 
þ home market lobbying/pressure groups; 
þ dominant political ideology; 
þ lobbying; and 
þ views on social responsibility. 

2.2 Economic  

This is considering the wider economic performance of the country, but could also be 
looking at the more localised economic performance in a particular town, industry or 
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sector. This can range from the overall country’s economic performance, to the spending 
power of consumers or their perception of it, to the actualities of factors such as inflation, 
interest and foreign exchange rates. These may be different if you are working within a 
large corporation or as a small-business and can also differ if you are trading 
internationally. Examples of considerations include: 

þ home economy situation, growth and trends; 
þ overseas economies and trends; 
þ exchange rates; 
þ general taxation issues; 
þ taxation specific to product/services; 
þ market and trade cycles; 
þ local economic conditions; 
þ specific industry factors; 
þ cost of market routes and distribution trends; 
þ interest rates; 
þ inflation; and 
þ unemployment figures. 

It is important to remember that these factors may also impact you indirectly by having an 
impact on your client base and therefore their spending power. 

2.3 Social  

This area considers the social environment of the market in which you operate, considering 
things such as cultural trends, demographics, buying trends and even the impact of social 
media. Examples of considerations include: 

þ lifestyle trends; 
þ demographics; 
þ education levels;  
þ consumer attitudes and opinions; 
þ media views, advertising and publicity; 
þ brand, company, technology image; 
þ consumer buying patterns; 
þ fashion and role models; 
þ major events and influences; 
þ ethnic/religious factors; 
þ ethical issues; 
þ mobility; 
þ influence of social and other media; and 
þ consumer activism. 

2.4 Technological 

Technology continues to rapidly change. This area includes access to information, methods 
of communication, automation and also the level of technological awareness and 
utilisation of your client base. Examples of considerations include: 

þ competing technology development; 
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þ associated/dependent technologies; 
þ replacement technology/solutions; 
þ maturity of technology; 
þ information and communications; 
þ e-commerce;  
þ consumer preferences; 
þ consumer buying mechanisms/technology; 
þ technology access, licensing, patents; 
þ intellectual property issues; 
þ investment in research and development; and 
þ manufacturing maturity and capacity. 

2.5 Legal 

Whilst this may seem an obvious one to the sector, don’t forget this module is considering 
business management. This means that all the laws and legal requirements of running a 
business should also be considered, for example consumer laws, health and safety, 
employment and data protection. Again, if operating internationally or as part of a wider 
organisation, there may be additional legal factors and considerations. Examples of 
considerations include: 

þ current legislation;  
þ future legislation; 
þ international legislation; 
þ trading standards; 
þ regulatory bodies; 
þ health and safety; 
þ public liability; 
þ consumer protection; 
þ employee legislation; 
þ competition rules; and  
þ EU regulations.  

2.6 Environmental  

These are all factors relating to the surrounding environment. By its nature this area has 
more relevance to specific industries such as tourism or agriculture. However, for 
completeness it is worth considering if there are any ways in which this will affect your 
business. Examples of considerations include: 

þ health and safety; 
þ geographical location; 
þ staff and client attitudes;  
þ recycling; 
þ pollution; 
þ waste disposal; and  
þ seasonality/weather issues. 
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2.7 Example 

The following is a PESTLE analysis undertaken in relation to a proposal to establish a 
partnership owned by a Costs Lawyer and a Solicitor in 2017, the firm is to be located in 
serviced offices in Cardiff.  

Political Environment 
The UK generally has a stable democratic political government, as does Wales via the Welsh 
Government. Both the UK and Welsh Governments may develop policies, laws and regulations.  
Businesses in the UK are also affected by international laws and treaties that the UK is (currently) 
party to. The vote in favour of an exit from the European Union in June, 2016 led to election of 
a new Prime Minister and the announcement of a General election in June 2017 and has 
created uncertainty regarding the future political environment. 
Businesses face direct and indirect taxes including corporation tax, value-added tax, business 
rates, excise duties, and national insurance contributions.  
Brexit may see many foreign companies in the legal sector withdraw from the UK which may 
effectively create opportunities for emerging law firms (The Law Society 2015).  
Economic Environment 
The economy of the UK was greatly affected by the 2007-2008 financial crises and whilst the 
recovery has been slow, it has been faster than that of most of the other G7 economies over 
the same period. Consumer spending has generally remained relatively strong, underpinned 
by the low interest rates that have been in place since the crisis. 
Social-Cultural Environment 
The UK has a population of more than 63,742,980 according to Index Mundi (2015). Of this 
population, those ages 0-14, 15-24,25-54, 55-64 and 65 years and over account for 17.3%, 
12.6%, 41%, 11.5% and 17.5% respectively (Index Mundi 2015). The population growth rate 
stands at close to 0.54%, the population comprising different ethnic groups, majority of which is 
White (87.2%). Close to 80% of the population of the UK lives in urban areas with London hosting 
over nine million residents (Index Mundi 2015). The nation has a literacy level of 99%. The aging 
population in the country is steadily growing which also means that spending on the aging 
population by government and individuals is steadily rising (Kingsfund 2016). 
Cardiff has a population of 341,000 and the wider South Wales area 715,000 by 2010 statistics. 
As a legacy of its past as a major port, the population of the city is mixed and the prominent 
presence of foreigners in the city has seen residents of Cardiff embrace different lifestyles and 
cultures as influenced by visitors. 
Technological 
One of the technologies that affect how business is conducted anywhere in the world is 
Information Communication Technology. Statistics indicate that over 90% of adults in the UK 
use computing devices on a daily basis (Office of National Statistics 2015). Statistics further 
indicate that close to 38 million adults, accounting for 77% of the country’s adult population, 
have access to the Internet on a daily basis (Office of National Statistics 2015). Between 2010 
and 2014, usage of mobile phones to access the Internet grew from 25% to 58% (Office of 
National Statistics 2015). Well over 91% of UK households currently have access to broadband 
Internet. 
Statistics show that over the years, use of ICT to procure or offer services has steadily grown 
among UK nationals (Office of National Statistics 2015). Some of the activities that people 
across the nation perform using the Internet include Internet banking, reading news, finding 
information regarding products, sending and receiving emails, buying or selling products, 
playing games, downloading software and social networking (Office of National Statistics 
2015). The advent of social media has transformed the way businesses market themselves and 
interact with current and potential customers.  
Law firms are fast adopting modern ways of doing business including, for instance, going 
paperless as a way of reducing costs (Law Technology Today 2015). Law firms are also using 
practice management software to schedule their activities and manage their resources for 
greater efficiency. As a way of reducing the risk of losing important information, many 
businesses are opting to store their data on the Cloud (Law Technology Today 2015). By 
backing up data on the Cloud, businesses are assured of having their information back in the 
event that the printed or soft copies they have locally are intentionally or accidentally 
destroyed or lost. 
Legal Environment 
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The United Kingdom has a stable and reliable legal system. The country also has a reliable 
court system. Legislations and policies are instituted by the national and local governments 
through elected leaders.  
Some of the policies and regulations that have been enacted recently that will affect the 
operations of the firm include the Pre-Action Protocol for Personal Injury Claims (2013), the 
Children and Families Act 2014 (CFA 2014), and the Finance Bill 2016 (Ministry of Justice 2013; 
UK Parliament (2016). 
Environment 
Being a major city, Cardiff has a significant population of people. The city has a good transport 
network comprising road, rail and air transport systems. Around 30% of the area in the city is 
made up of parks and open spaces. The city has a reliable supply of clean water and well 
maintained sewer and drainage systems. In general, the city has a good infrastructural network 
that is vital for the success of businesses. 

3. Application of PESTLE Analysis 

This can be a wide-ranging analysis and therefore it is useful to have a structured approach 
towards applying it. Generally, it is worth considering the following steps: 

þ Identify which you think are the most important issues, those that are relevant to 
your sector and the specific business model you are looking to adopt. 

þ Decide how you will collect the information and also who is the best person to do 
it. 

þ Identify the most useful source of information;  
þ Gather the information - it can often be worth just harvesting the information 

initially before sorting. 
þ Analyse your findings - look for trends or sort the information into groups and put 

some formal priority around your findings. 
þ Identify your conclusions. At this stage it can be useful to link this analysis to a 

SWOT analysis as a way of identifying responses to your analysis. 

4. Porter’s Five Forces 

This model is focused specifically on the competitive market and can be effectively 
combined with a PESTLE analysis which looks at and considers the wider environment and 
the impact this has on the organisation and its design and subsequent management. This 
analysis is associated with its principal innovator, Michael E. Porter of Harvard University. 

As you can see in the complete model, only one force refers to existing competitors. The 
other four refer to:  

þ new suppliers coming in;  
þ an alternative product becoming available;  
þ the power of the supplier; and 
þ and the power of the buyer or customer.   

Forces show most significant aspects of the competitive environment and so are a starting 
point for setting strategy or organisational design, or even change. They also give a 
baseline for establishing a SWOT. 
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4.1 The Threat of New Entrants 

New entrants are an obvious threat, especially if they are already offering a service and 
this is an expansion to their product set, when they can leverage their existing capital, 
operation, market and expertise. If the threat is high and barriers low, forces will mean 
existing firms keep down prices or increase investment based entirely on just a threat! 

Barriers to entry are key, Porter highlights 7:  

þ supply-side economies of scale;  
þ demand-side benefits of scale – buy from 

who you know and trust;  
þ customer switching costs;  
þ capital requirements;  
þ incumbency advantages independent of 

size;  
þ unequal access to distribution channels; 

and 
þ restrictive government policy.    

There is also the issue of how hard a fight the new entrant expects to have to face. 

4.2 Bargaining Power of Suppliers 

Suppliers gain more value for themselves through charging higher prices, limiting quality or 
service and/or shifting cost to others. Suppliers are powerful if:  

þ there is a limited number;  
þ is not heavily dependent on the industry;  
þ moving would incur high switching costs;  
þ provide differentiated products;  
þ no substitute for what is provided; and 
þ they can move into your part. 

You may have to think carefully about who exactly are / could be seen as suppliers in your 
sector.  

4.3 Bargaining Power of Buyers 

On the flip side, powerful customers drive down prices, up service and ship around for 
better deals. Generally, buyers have power when:  

þ there are few buyers, or each buys a large volume of the service;  
þ they buy an undifferentiated or standardised service;  
þ there are few switching costs; and/or 
þ they can integrate backwards and produce the service. 

Buyers are price sensitive when:  
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þ the purchase is a significant part of its cost structure or budget;  
þ there is pressure to reduce cost due to, say, low profit margin or poor cash flow;  
þ when their product or service is little affected by the purchase; and/or 
þ the purchase has little effect on other costs.   

You will be dealing with a range of customer types, who may all have different drivers here. 
They may also be seeking a different structure to the price. The question is how much 
power do they hold to demand what they want and how much the price is an issue for 
them. 

4.4 Threat of Substitute Products or Services 

Is there an alternative in the market to the service you offer? Sometimes this can be 
downstream and not direct – mobile phones and camera film for instance; in a world of 
disruptive media and technology this can sometimes be unexpected. The effect is that it 
often places a limit on price. The threat here is high if:  

þ there is a realistic price / performance trade off; and/or 
þ switching costs are low. 

4.5 Rivalry Among Existing Competitors 

High rivalry amongst competitors will drive down profit, though it could also drive innovation 
and service improvement. The degree of driving down profit depends on intensity of rivalry 
and the basis of it. Intensity increases when:  

þ there are numerous competitors or are of similar size and power;  
þ growth is slow;  
þ exit barriers are high; and 
þ rivals are highly committed to the business and aspire to leadership.  

Price competition is the biggest danger and is likely when:  

þ you have similar services;  
þ you have high fixed cost and low marginal costs;  
þ to increase efficiency requires large capacity increases; and 
þ the product is perishable.  

Without service differentiation rivalry becomes a zero-sum game - one wins one loses. It can 
become a positive sum if you differentiate by such action as market segmentation and 
differentiation.  

5. SWOT Analysis 

This tool emerged in the 1960s from research at Stanford Research Institute. It became 
popular during the 1980s and remains so today. It is a diagnostic tool looking at the internal 
strengths and weaknesses and the external opportunities and threats. It can be used by an 
individual but is often used as a group exercise. With group input you can use it to gather a 
wider range of inputs and shared insight.   
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The SWOT model is a tool for the collecting and framing of information in a way that can 
help establish a way forward. It classifies data into the four areas of strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats so it is easier to structure your response to the data.  

The results are normally contained within a matrix as in the simple example below. This 
example is of someone considering setting up a small business (a training company) with 
the objective of the analysis to start to structure up its marketing strategy.  

Strengths: 

þ Expertise of training delivery staff. 
þ Strong network of connections 

with businesses in the area. 
þ Flexibility.  
þ Low start-up costs.  

Weaknesses: 

þ Unknown brand. 
þ Small marketing budget. 
þ A lot of competitors. 
þ Not offering professional 

accreditation. 
þ Cash flow. 

Opportunities: 

þ Economy picking up leading to 
increase in training demand. 

þ Quality of competition variable. 
þ High cost base and fee of major 

providers. 
þ Online delivery capability readily 

available and inexpensive. 

Threats: 

þ Online free training. 
þ Long sales lead time. FE and HE 

providers moving into space. 
þ Expectation of short training sessions. 

The SWOT model is adaptable and can be used to assist all strategic aims of a business. This 
following example is of someone considering setting up a small business (a costs firm) with 
the objective of the analysis to start to structure up its risk management strategy.  

Strengths: 
 
þ The author's experience as a civil 

litigation solicitor and 
management of a law firm. 

þ Adherence to the CLSB code of 
conduct which mandates integrity 
and professionalism.  

þ Continual professional 
development.  

þ Accountable to the CLSB and the 
Legal Services Ombudsman.  

þ Professional indemnity insurance. 

Weaknesses: 
 
þ Unknown brand. 
þ Small marketing budget. 
þ The start-up cost versus cash flow. 
þ The cost of regulatory compliance.  
 

Opportunities: 
 
þ Legal professionals have adapted 

to costs budgeting. 
þ Authority to exercise a right of 

audience, conduct litigation and 
administer oaths. 

þ The upward trend in the business of 
the Companies Court. 

þ Complex and high value costs 
proceedings justify higher charging 

Threats: 
 
þ Extension of fixed costs. 
þ Competition from costs draftsmen, 

other costs lawyers and in-house 
teams.  

þ Amendment of the Legal Services 
Act 2007 to remove barriers to the 
licensing of and regulatory burdens 
on Alternative Business Structures. 

þ Other changes in legislation that may 
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rates.  impact upon the legal services 
market, possibly as a result of Brexit.  

6. Application of SWOT Analysis 

Generally, you are aiming to do the following: 

þ Strengths: build up on these and leverage. 
þ Weaknesses: correct, remove or mitigate these. 
þ Opportunities: act on them and prioritise in some way 
þ Threats: need to be countered, treat them in the same way as a risk. 

According to the Chartered Management Institute, the way to action a SWOT analysis is 
through the following steps: 

þ Establish the objective: Why are you doing this and what do you want to get out of it? Is 
it widely or narrowly focused? Is it an analysis of a current situation or a future scenario? 
Is it for strategy, a new product design or to identify organisational development 
opportunities? 

þ Select appropriate contributors: Do you want experts, a wide representation of the 
organisation, customers, suppliers or ‘ the man in the street’? How many people will 
make it viable? Do you want a mix of staff levels? The choice will often depend upon 
what the outcome is to be used for. 

You may also want to include in this the right sort of contribution in terms of data, facts, 
figures, views, research etc. You can feed your environmental analysis into this. Whatever 
you choose may affect the shape of the outcome.  

þ Allocate research and information gathering tasks: Who are the best people to gather 
the information required and what is the best way to do this? This may already be part 
of someone’s role or you may even choose to buy in the expertise. 

þ Create a workshop environment: this is an effective way to get information shared and 
structured, and bring in a range of ideas and expertise. You may want to split it up in to 
more than one workshop looking at different aspects, or a series of workshops.  

With modern software, you could also do this through virtual synchronous or asynchronous 
workshops, but set a clear close to it.  Even without a workshop it is worth considering 
getting another person’s view when pulling a SWOT together – consider it a micro 
workshop. 

1. List the Strengths: areas may include: What do you do better than others? What 
advantages do you have? What unique resources do you have? What are considered 
your strong points? 

2. List the weaknesses: consider what is hindering progress: What needs improving? What 
complaints do you get? What are the weak links in the chain? 

3. List opportunities of external environment: this could include technological 
developments, new markets, a change of government, interest rate changes,  
demographic trends, competition strengths and weaknesses. 
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4. List threats of external environment: such as: What is the competition doing? What are 
the changes to the market? What are the resource problems? What are the impacts of 
the economy? 

You will have many other factors to consider in all the areas.  

þ Evaluate the ideas against the original objectives of the SWOT: a process which combes 
evaluation, elimination and prioritisation.  

þ Carry your findings forward: you may need to consider some route cause analysis here, 
as much of the information might be in respect of symptoms rather than causes.  

7. Force field Analysis 

Force field analysis looks at balance and stability of day to day situations and what keeps 
that stability. 

Kurt Lewin classified the forces as either: 

þ Driving Forces: those that promote a 
change and are the reason for 
moving on in some way; or  

þ Restraining Forces: those that hinder 
the change and try to hold things as 
they are.   

In Lewis's view the restraining forces act to oppose driving forces rather than being 
independent forces in their own right. As long as the forces basically balance out, then you 
get stability. This can be a dynamic state, fluctuating around a state of equilibrium, with the 
driving and restraining forces being quite turbulent, but returning to a stable state; or it 
could be very relaxed and balanced. This stability becomes the routine and there follows 
an understanding of how things are on a day to day basis in a normal stable environment, 
allowing an organisation or individual to perform effectively; however it is also an 
environment that does not change until the balance is moved.  

This is often represented diagrammatically and, drawing it up this way, is useful when 
analysing a situation. The red line represents the current situation. Driving forces push from 
one side and restraining ones balance them out from the other. 

There can be any number of these forces on both the driving side and the restraining  side. 
These will include those you highlighted in your previous analysis and others that will come 
to mind as you map them on the diagram. 

Not all the forces have equal weight, but in a state of equilibrium they will balance out in 
total. It is the interplay of the forces that therefore produce stability of the situation and 
increases or decreases in their strength that makes change happen. 

This means that if you want to make a change happen – setting up a business, overcoming 
the competition, launching a new product etc, you have to either increase the driving 
forces, introducing new factors or increasing the strength of those already there, or 
alternatively weaken the retraining factors.  Of course, you could work on both at the same 
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time. The model could also be used to analyse a change situation that has happened by 
looking to identify factors that increased or decreased, so causing the movement and 
change, or alternatively be used to identify factors that will strengthen or weaken in the 
future and, so, using the model as a way to predict a change and develop actions to deal 
with it. In each case a change is caused by or an increase in driving forces or a reduction 
of restraining forces.  

8. Application of Force Field Analysis 

Lewin, in his 2007 update Harvard Business Review article, set out some typical steps for 
industry analysis. These can be adapted, as with all models, to the individual  situation.  

þ Define the relevant industry: What products are in it? Which ones are part of another 
distinct industry? What is the geographic scope of competition? 

þ Identify the participants and segment them into groups, if appropriate: The buyers 
and buyer groups? The suppliers and supplier groups? The competitors? The 
substitutes? The potential entrants? 

þ Assess the underlying drivers of each competitive force - determine which forces are 
strong and which are weak and why. 

þ Determine overall industry structure and test the analysis for consistency: Why is the 
level of profitability what it is? Which are the controlling forces for profitability? Is the 
industry analysis consistent with actual long-run profitability? Are more-profitable 
players better positioned in relation to the five forces? 

þ Analyse recent and likely future changes in each force - both positive and negative. 
þ Identify aspects of industry structure that might be influenced by competitors -  by 

new entrants or by your company. 

He also highlighted some common pitfalls in application: 

þ defining the industry too broadly or too narrowly; 
þ making lists instead of engaging in rigorous analysis; 
þ paying equal attention to all the forces rather than digging deeply into the most 

important ones; 
þ confusing effect (price sensitivity) with cause (buyer economics). 
þ using static analysis that ignores industry trends; 
þ confusing cyclical or transient changes with true structural changes; 
þ using the framework to declare an industry attractive or unattractive rather than 

using it to guide strategic choices. 

9. Johnson and Scholes Cultural Web   

Another way you can look at the environment of an organisation is through the Cultural 
Web. This is more commonly applied to the internal environment, but can be a useful tool 
in looking at the external as well, especially if this is taken to include, in this case, the 
profession. This can also be used as a model of the business if you wanted to, so provides a 
link across the course so far. 

This was developed by Gerry Johnson and Kevan Scholes in 1988 and provides an 
approach for looking at and changing an organisation's culture. Using it, you can expose 
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cultural assumptions and practices and start to align organisational elements with one 
another and with your strategy.  

The Cultural Web identifies six interrelated 
elements that help to make up what Johnson and 
Scholes call the "paradigm" – the pattern or model – of the 
work environment. By analysing the factors in each, 
you can begin to see the bigger picture of your culture: 
what is working, what isn't working and what needs to 
be changed.  

The six elements that sit around the values or culture 
are:  

þ stories; 
þ symbols; 
þ power structures; 
þ organisational structure; 
þ control systems; and 
þ rituals and routines. 

9.1 Stories 

These are the past events that people talk about inside and outside the company. What is 
the organisation’s reputation? Who and what the company chooses to immortalise says a 
great deal about what it values and perceptions of great behaviour. What do people tell 
new comers to the business? As a leader you can choose the stories you emphasise and 
how the business is perceived from inside and out.  

9.2 Symbols  

This covers things like logos, how plush the offices are and the formal or informal dress 
codes. Jargon and language used fit in here. What images are associated with the 
business? These all have associated messages that influence the behaviour of others. 

9.3 Power Structures  

These are the pockets of real power in the company and may involve one or two key 
senior executives, a whole group of executives, or even a department. What is the balance 
of formal, resource, expert and personal power? Is there a formal and informal power 
balance, or conflict? Is power used or abused? The key is that these powerful people have 
the greatest amount of influence on decisions, operations, and strategic direction.  

9.4 Organisational Structure  

This includes both the structure defined by the organisation chart, and the unwritten lines of 
power and influence that indicate whose contributions are most valued. What sort of 
hierarchy is there? What are the formal lines of authority? Is it mechanistic or organic? The 
importance here is how well does the structure enable work flow and decision making 
happen; does it make the organisation work better? 
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9.5 Control Systems  

The ways that the organisation is controlled. Again, these include financial systems, quality 
systems and rewards. There is also the need to align to the external regulatory and legal 
controls. The consideration again is how well do these support the running of the business 
and how well so people implement and use them. 

9.6 Rituals and Routines  

The daily behaviour and actions of people. This determines what is expected to happen in 
given situations and what management values. It also gives a message to clients and 
suppliers. Internally it also says a lot to people who work in the business about what it 
expects, encourages and tolerates. What happens when there isn’t a set way to deal with 
a situation? These should be a lubricant in the business, enabling people to get on with the 
job without having to work out what to do each time.  
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4.2 Financial Accounts of a Law Firm  

1. Introduction 

The accounts of law firms need to be considered in order for firms to ascertain their 
performance and understand what needs to be done in order to improve their 
performance. The content of year-end accounts will depend upon: 

þ the legal constitution of the firm; and 
þ the rules that govern the form and content of the accounts. 

All firms need to prepare a set of annual financial statements.  These make up the firm’s 
financial accounts. The six financial statements potentially available are: 

þ profit and loss account; 
þ balance sheet; 
þ cash flow statement; 
þ notes to the accounts; 
þ report to members; and 
þ audit report. 

As well as year-end accounts, firms may also produce monthly or quarterly management 
accounts.  These  should be regularly reviewed.  

2. Form And Content Of Accounts 

The format of the accounts are likely to vary from firm to firm as there may be rules in the 
firm’s legal constitution governing the format. 

2.1 Sole Practitioners 

There are no rules governing the format of the accounts. 

2.2 Partnerships 

For a traditional partnership, the partnership deed may include rules that govern the format 
of the firm’s financial statements. Apart from this, there are no other rules. 

2.3 LLPs/Companies 

There are rules which have to be followed when preparing the accounts if a firm is trading 
as a limited liability partnership (LLP) or a company.  Accountants will ensure that the 
appropriate rules are followed. 

þ Limited Liability Partnerships (LLP): must comply with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice for professional firms; 

þ Companies: must comply with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK 
GAAP).  
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Both LLPs and companies must file their accounts at Companies House.  However, 
traditional partnerships do not need to do so but still need financial statements for the 
partners to submit to HMRC as part of their tax returns. 

This Statement of Recommended Practice for LLPs is issued by Consultative Committee of 
Accountancy Bodies, the members of which are:  

þ the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales;  
þ the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants;  
þ the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy;  
þ the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland; and  
þ the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.  

The Financial Reporting Council has approved the Consultative Committee of 
Accountancy Bodies members for the purpose of issuing a recognised Statement of 
Recommended Practice for LLPs incorporated in Great Britain under the Limited Liability 
Partnerships Act 2000. The detailed accounting requirements relating to LLPs are currently 
set out in the following Statutory Instruments:  

þ the Limited Liability Partnerships, Partnerships and Groups (Accounts and Audit) 
(Application of Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/1911);  

þ the Small Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/1912); 
and  

þ the Large and Medium-sized Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 
2008 (SI 2008/1913).  

The Statement of Recommended Practice for LLPs should be used in conjunction with the 
above Regulations and the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland rather than on a stand-alone basis.  

The Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the UK is the body of accounting 
standards and other guidance published by the UK’s Financial Reporting Council. The 
current financial reporting framework in the UK has been effective since 1 January 2015. 

3. Financial Statements  

Law firms have the same financial reporting requirements as any other public or private 
business. Firms are, for example, required to prepare profit and loss statements regardless of 
the accounting method the firm uses. Financial statements show what has happened for a 
given period in the past and the position at the end of that period. Financial statements 
provide unique information and may take the following forms: 

þ profit and loss accounts; 
þ balance sheets; 
þ cash flow statements; 
þ notes to the accounts; 
þ reports to members; and 
þ audit reports. 
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3.1 Profit and Loss Accounts 

These financial statements show what has happened in the past. They show the sales and 
other income of the firm from which the expenses are deducted. When the income is in 
excess of the expenses the result is called a profit. When the expenses are greater than the 
income the result is called a loss. So, profit and loss accounts are statements which 
summarise any income earned in a defined period, less any expenditure incurred and what 
profit or loss was made. The make-up of the trading and profit and loss account is normally 
as follows:  

 

The trading and profit and loss account is divided into two 
parts. The trading account ends at the gross profit and the 
profit and loss account covers the rest of the statement. 
Sometimes the whole statement, from sales to net profit or 
loss, is simply referred to as the profit and loss account.  

Within the profit and loss accounts, items are usually recognised using the accruals 
accounting method.  This means that items are usually accounted for at the point at which 
they occur.  An example of this is where rent of, say, £75,000 is paid on 31st December 2015 
to cover the calendar year of 2016; none of the expenditure is recognised until 2016.  In 
2016 the rent is spread equally over the 12 months of the year.  In just the same way, 
income is often recognised by a law firm at the time the fee earner records his time on the 
time record and not when the time is billed or money received.  If, however, the fee is 
conditional upon an event, the income should not be recognised until the event has 
actually happened.  

3.2 Balance Sheets 

The balance sheet is used in three ways: 

þ for reporting purposes (limited company's annual accounts);  
þ help interested parties assess the worth of a business at a given moment - such as 

investors, creditors or shareholders; and  
þ helps analyse and improve the management of a business. 

A balance sheet shows the firm’s assets (what it owns) and its liabilities (what it owes) at the 
end of the relevant period.  The statement shows the cost of things rather than the actual 
value.  There may be an adjustment in the cost, for example through the depreciation of a 
fixed asset or the provision made against debtors for bad debts.  

The top half of the balance sheet shows the firm's assets and liabilities.  It ends with the 
firm’s net assets. The bottom half shows who owns these net assets, namely the partners. 

A balance sheet shows: 

 £ 
 

Sales 

 

120,000 
Costs of Sales 90,000 
Gross Profit 30,000 
Expenses 24,640 
Net Profit or Loss 5, 360 
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Fixed assets (long-term): these include 
tangible assets (e.g. buildings, land, 
machinery, computers, fixtures and 
fittings) which should be recorded at their 
resale value and intangible assets (e.g. 
goodwill, intellectual property rights and 
long-term investments). 

Current assets: these are short-term assets 
whose value can fluctuate from day to 
day (e.g. work in progress, money owed 
by customers, cash in hand or at the bank 
and short-term investments). 

Current liabilities: these are what the 
business owes and must repay in the short 
term (e.g. money owed to suppliers, short-
term loans, overdrafts or other finance 
and taxes due within the year). 

Long-term liabilities: these are what the 
business owes and must repay in the long 
term (e.g. creditors due after one year, 
capital and reserves).  

A balance sheet is only a snapshot of a business' financial position on one particular day. 
The individual figures can change dramatically in a short space of time but the total net 
assets would only change dramatically if the business was making large profits or losses.  

3.3 Cash Flow Statements 

Information is taken from elsewhere in the financial statements for the cash flow statement.  
It contains no new information.  It is a reconciliation between the reported profit or loss for 
the last period (this can be found in the profit and loss account) and the movement in cash 
balances over the year (this is found in the balance sheet). 

The cash flow statement may be used to explain why the amount of profit made by a firm 
may not necessarily equate to the amount of additional cash it has at the year-end.  

These are some of the reasons why there may be a difference between these figures (there 
are many other reasons, these are just examples): 

þ accruals accounting (e.g. income is recognised in the profit and loss account 
when time is recorded on the timesheet, but it does not appear in the balance 
sheet as cash until it has been billed and collected); 

þ capital expenditure (e.g. if a firm buys a new computer, the cash goes out of the 
balance sheet immediately, but this is not reflected in the profit and loss account 
until the fixed asset has depreciated over a longer period of time); 

þ  distribution of profits (e.g. when profit is distributed to partners, it reduces the bank 
balance, but it does not affect the profit and loss account as it is not an expense). 
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3.4 Notes To The Accounts 

Notes to the accounts provide a more detailed analysis of some of the figures that appear 
in the profit and loss account, balance sheet and cash flow statement. These should be 
referred to if there is a lack of understanding as to what something represents in any 
financial statement. 

These notes also contain accounting policies that advise: 

þ which rules were followed in the preparation of the accounts; 
þ what the major items in the accounts represent; and 
þ how they have been accounted for. 

3.5 Reports to Members 

A report to members explains how the firm has performed over the period of the financial 
statements. 

3.6 Audit Reports 

An audit will normally only be undertaken if the firm is a company or a LLP and it is large 
enough for an audit to be required.   

For financial years that begin on or after 1 January 2016 a LLP or company may qualify for 
an audit exemption if it has at least 2 of the following: 

þ an annual turnover of no more than £10.2 million; 
þ assets worth no more than £5.1 million; 
þ 50 or fewer employees on average. 

 
This is a change from the exemption for financial years beginning between 1 October 2012 
and 31 December 2015 when there may be qualification for an audit exemption if the LLP 
or company had at least 2 of the following: 
 

þ an annual turnover of no more than £6.5 million; 
þ assets worth no more than £3.26 million; and 
þ 50 or fewer employees on average. 

The auditor’s report will be attached to the financial statements.  The auditor will also 
provide his opinion as to  whether or not the financial statements give a true and fair view. 
If the auditor considers there to be a problem with the accounts, he will qualify his opinion 
by describing and quantifying what he believes to be the issue. 

Auditors are independent of the firm, but may prepare and audit the accounts. 

4. Financial Statement Interpretation 

There are three steps that should be taken to interpret the annual financial statements and 
to give them real meaning: 
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þ Step 1: read and understand the accounts; 
þ Step 2: summarise the accounts by comparing the profit and loss with the balance 

sheet to assess business performance, the aim should be to summarise the 
accounts on one sheet of paper to produce a high-level summary; and  

þ Step 3: calculate the ratios. 

The only two issues of importance for any business, including law firms are: 

þ short-term: having sufficient cash to meet the liabilities of the firm as they fall due 
otherwise the firm may need to cease trading; and 

þ long-term: maximising profits. 

4.1 Comparing The Profit And Loss With The Balance Sheet 

Many of the standard measures used to assess the financial health of a business involve 
comparing figures on the profit and loss with those on the balance sheet. There are some 
simple balance sheet comparisons you can make to assess the strength or performance of 
your business against earlier periods, or against direct competitors. The figures studied will 
vary according to the nature of the business.  

4.1.1 Internal Comparisons 

If WIP levels are rising from one period to the next but sales in the profit and loss are not 
some of the WIP might not be claimable. There may also be a cash flow problem 
developing.  

If the amount of trade debtors that owe the firm is growing faster than sales, it could 
indicate poor internal credit controls. Find out whether any of customers are having 
problems with cash flow which could pose a threat to a firm. 

A positive relationship with trade creditors is essential. Key to this is managing cash flow well 
so that payments can be made on time. For example, trade creditors are more likely to be 
flexible about extending terms of credit if firms have built up a good payment record. 
Making early payments may qualify firms for a discount. However, early payment for the 
sake of it will have a negative impact on cash flow. Good payment controls will help 
prevent imbalances in what is owed to suppliers and in levels of stock and inventory. 

Borrowing as a percentage of overall financing (gearing) is important; the lower the figure, 
the stronger the business is financially. It's common for start-up businesses to have high 
borrowing requirements but if the gearing figure reaches 50 per cent firms may have 
difficulty getting further loans. 

4.1.2 External Comparisons 

Firms can also compare balance sheet figures with those of direct or successful competitors 
to see how they measure up. This exercise will highlight weaknesses in the business 
operation that may need attention. It will also confirm strong business performance. 
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4.2 Ratios 

Ratio analysis is a good way to evaluate the financial results of your business in order to 
gauge its performance. Ratios may be calculated to assess the availability of cash and the 
profitability of the firm. Ratios also allow firms to compare their business against different 
standards using the figures on the balance sheet.It is important to consistently make the 
calculations i.e. each time the figures from the same categories within the profit and loss 
account or balance sheet should be used. 

To assess the availability of cash (i.e. the liquidity) there are four key ratios: 

þ current ratio; 
þ work in progress (WIP) days; 
þ debtor days; and 
þ creditor days. 

To assess the profitability of the firm there are two key ratios: 

þ gross profit percentage; and  
þ net profit percentage. 

4.2.1 Current Ratio 

The current ratio is one of the most fundamental liquidity ratios. It measures the ability of a 
business to repay its current liabilities with its current assets. A firm’s current assets are those 
which are expected to be converted to cash within a normal operating cycle (or one 
year). 

 Examples of current assets include: 

þ cash and cash equivalents; 
þ marketable securities; 
þ short-term investments; 
þ accounts receivable; 
þ short-term portion of notes receivable; 
þ inventories; and  
þ short-term prepayments.  

Current liabilities are obligations that require settlement within a normal operating cycle or 
the next year (12 months).  

Examples of current liabilities include: 

þ accounts payable; 
þ salaries and wages payable; 
þ current tax payable; 
þ sales tax payable; and 
þ accrued expenses. 

The formula for calculating the current ratio is: 
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Current Ratio = Current Assets/Current Liabilities 

A ratio of 2.0 shows the firm have twice as many current assets as current liabilities. If the 
ratio falls below 1.0, the firm has insufficient current assets to pay its current liabilities when 
they fall due. This is, of course, likely to be a problem unless one of three other sources of 
cash can be used: 

þ a bank that is willing to lend on a long-term basis; 
þ partners who are willing to inject fresh capital into the firm; or 
þ a quick sale of fixed assets. 

All of these options could be problematic and it is, therefore, in a firm’s best interests to 
ensure this point is avoided in the first place. If the current ratio is deteriorating and falling 
close to 1.0, the firm should calculate the other ratio in order to appreciate  why the firm is 
running out of money.  The amount of cash a firm has is affected by the firm’s 
management of its work in progress (WIP), debtors and creditors. 

4.2.2 Work in progress (WIP) days 

This ratio is an efficiency ratio and measures the number of days it takes from the recording 
of time to the raising of the bill. It shows how long it takes to invoice. A low ratio may mean 
invoicing processes/policies need tightening up. The formula for calculating the current 
ratio is: 

WIP days = (WIP at end of period/turnover) x 365 

An average for a law firm which undertakes  a range of work is circa 70 days. Of course, 
this figure varies significantly from firm to firm and the type of work undertaken impacts 
upon this ratio. 

4.2.3 Debtor Days 

This ratio is an efficiency ratio and measures the number of days from raising the bill to the 
bill being paid. It shows how long it takes to collect payments. A low ratio may mean 
payment terms need tightening up.The formula for calculating the current ratio is: 

Debtor days = (Debtors at end of period excluding VAT/turnover) x 365 

The average for a law firm is circa 50 days. This ratio is higher in firms that do not have a 
strategy to handle credit control.  

With the typical average for WIP days being around 70 days and the debtor days 
averaging 50 days, it is evident that it can take around 120 days (which is four months) from 
the recording of time to receiving cash from a client.  This goes some way to explaining 
why many firms experience cash flow difficulties.  It also needs to be borne in mind that this 
depends upon the type of work undertaken and it may take even longer in some firms. 
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4.2.4 Creditor Days 

This ratio is an efficiency ratio and measures the number of days from your firm receiving 
goods or services to making payment. In other words, this shows how long a firm takes to 
pay suppliers. Suppliers may withdraw credit if firms regularly pay late. The formula for 
calculating the current ratio is: 

Creditor days = (Trade creditors at end of period excluding VAT/operating expenses) x 365 

Operating expenses are all the expenses of the firm. Trade creditors provide free finance, 
so it is worthwhile for firms to look to take as much credit as possible. Firms do need to be 
satisfied, however, that the creditor will continue to supply what the firm needs in order to 
carry on trading.  Also, it is very important to ensure that the firm can afford to pay them 
back. 

4.2.5 Gross Profit Percentage  

The gross profit percentage is also referred to as the gross profit margin.  This is a measure of 
the trading profitability of the firm. 

Gross profit percentage = ((Gross profit, ie turnover—fee earner salary costs)/turnover)) x 
100 

The gross profit percentage might be around 70% in a successful law firm. If it is lower than 
this percentage it may be difficult to cover the fixed overheads of the firm. The higher the 
figure the easier it becomes to cover overheads and to achieve higher levels of profit for 
the firm’s partners. 

4.2.6 Net Profit Percentage 

The net profit percentage is also referred to as “the bottom line”.  It’s a measure of the 
profitability of the firm after accounting for all costs. It does not include a deduction for the 
drawings of the equity partners as this is a distribution of the profit. 

Net profit percentage = (Net profit available to equity partners/turnover) x 100 

A good net profit percentage is considered to be anything above 33%, while an average 
figure might be in the 20–25% range. 

5. Management Accounts 

The management accounts of a law firm usually provide a more detailed analysis of its 
performance than is provided by the annual financial statements. The management 
accounts often break down the trading results into different work types and locations. 
Management accounts are most commonly produced monthly, but firms may choose to 
produce them quarterly. They may be prepared in whichever way is chosen by the firm’s 
management and they are purely for the benefit of the management team i.e. there is no 
legal requirement for a firm to produce management accounts. 
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6. Measuring A Firm’s Financial Performance 

It is necessary for law firms to consider income and expenditure together with cash flow in 
order to ensure the firm does not run out of money. This financial information must be 
reviewed at least once a month.  Those in charge of budgets should monitor the figures for 
which they are responsible. 

6.1 Fee income 

The level of fee income a firm generates varies.  This, in turn, influences the amount of profit 
earned.  Firms should, therefore, closely scrutinise the fees generated, ideally on a monthly 
basis.  Declining fee income could indicate that the firm could face difficult times in the 
near future, particularly if the expenses remain the same or increase and/or the firm is 
experiencing increased competition in the marketplace. 

6.2 Expenses 

Expenses are also known as overheads.  Law firms have major expenses which are likely to 
continue at a similar rate for long periods of time, irrespective of the amount of work which 
is undertaken and completed.  

Such major expenses include: 

þ salaries; 
þ property costs; 
þ office equipment costs; 
þ IT expenditure; and 
þ Insurances. 

There should be someone within every firm who is responibile for monitoring 
expenses/overheads to ensure they remain within budget.  This may be the practice 
manager, accountant or managing partner. There should be at least a monthly review so 
that any significant over or under-spending is ascertained as soon as possible.  In recent 
challenging economic times, it is even more important to ensure that a firm’s operating 
expenses are closely monitored so costs may be reduced accordingly. 

6.3 Cash Flow 

It is imperative that firm’s understand their cash flow. The cash flow statement is a key 
financial statement for any business as it reports actual flows of all cash in and out of the 
business. A firm may be profitable, but if it does not have enough cash coming in to the 
business to cover the outgoing expenses, it is highly likely to fail.  The practice manager, 
accountant or managing partner are best placed to monitor cash flow. 

7. Performance Benchmarking 

Data in respect of a firm’s financial performance, once collected, should be used to 
improve performance.  Simply reviewing the firm’s current performance against previous 
periods is useful, but limited. It is also necessary to be aware of what the firm’s competitors 
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are doing and those firms performances should be compared to your own firm. This is 
called benchmarking and such an exercise should be undertaken at least once a year.  

7.1 Analysing and Benchmarking Exercises 

Any analysis and benchmarking exercise is usually best done by calculating each expense 
as a percentage of fee income.  For example, if a firm spends £200,000 on office 
equipment and has £2,000,000 of fee income, this is a spend of 10% of fee income on office 
equipment. 

As we have seen earlier in this handout, a firm’s major expenses that probably need to be 
reviewed are: 

þ salaries; 
þ property costs; 
þ office equipment; 
þ IT expenditure; and 
þ Insurances. 

Large firms incur more expenses than smaller firms, which is unsurprising.  However, there is 
usually a corresponding increase in fee income in large firms.  If expenses are calculated as 
a percentage of fee income and compared to equivalent benchmark data, it gives a firm 
an insight as to whether it is over or under spending and in what areas. 

7.2 Analysing and Benchmarking Cash Flow 

A firm’s cash flow should be analysed and benchmarked. This can be done by comparing 
the ratios for work in progress (WIP) days and debtor days for the firm against similar firms. 

The total number of days from recording time to receiving cash is calculated by adding 
WIP days and debtor days; this is often referred to as “lock-up”. These figures will vary 
significantly from one type of work to another.  For example, in residential conveyancing 
work can be turned into cash in just a few weeks. However, in a claimant personal injury 
matter it might take several years to realise the cash. 

7.3 Analysing and benchmarking fee income 

Fee income is best analysed using the following model: 

Fee Income = 
1st Variable – number of fee earners as FTEs 

X 
2nd Variable – average annual recorded chargeable hours per 

fee earner 
X 

3rd Variable – average hourly rate 
X 

4th Variable – average realisation rate 
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7.3.1 Variable 1: number of fee earners as full time equivalent (FTE) 

By increasing the number of fee earners a firm increases its fee-earning capacity.  The 
figure used in the fee-earner calculation is the full time equivalent (FTE) number of fee 
earners. Fee earners who work part-time should be included on a pro rata basis.  For 
example, a part-time fee earner working three days a week would be treated as 0.6 of a 
fee earner. 

If a firm wants to increase its profits per partner, it is necessary to increase the number of fee 
earners without increasing the number of partners. It is therefore useful to express the 
number of fee earners as the number of fee earners per equity partner; this is usually called 
“gearing” or “leverage”. Firms with a lot of partners, but few fee earners are described as 
under-geared. 

7.3.2 Variable 2: average annual recorded chargeable hours per fee earner 

The more hours that are recorded, the more work there is that can potentially be billed to 
clients. It is therefore imperative that fee earners accurately record their time.  If the time 
isn’t recorded, it will not be billed and/or the client will not pay for it. 

7.3.3 Variable 3: average hourly rate 

Most firms have different charging rates with the most senior fee earners charging a higher 
hourly rate than those who are junior. The figure used in this model is the average rate at 
which time is being recorded. When calculating this variable the firm should use the actual 
number of fee earners employed rather than the FTE of fee earners.  For example, if there 
are eight full-time fee earners and three part-time fee earners who work four days a week 
there are eleven actual fee earners. 

This figure may vary from firm to firm for a number of reasons, including , geographic 
location.  However, the most important factor is likely to be the value and complexity of the 
work being done. Complex legal work is likely to attract higher rates from clients while the 
more routine work, which more fee earners are capable of doing, is likely to attract a lower 
hourly rate. 

7.3.4 Variable 4: average realisation rate 

The realisation rate is often referred to as the recovery or utilisation rate.  This is the 
percentage of WIP which is actually billed.  For example, if £2,000 of WIP is incurred, but the 
client has agreed a fee of £1,500 and the firm therefore bills £1,500, the realisation rate is 
75%.  This rate is considered to be an efficiency measure; the higher the rate, the greater 
efficiency with which the work was done. 

7.3.5 Are the four variables linked? 

There is clearly a link between the variables.  For example, if the firm recruits a new fee 
earner, but doesn’t take on any more work, the number of fee earners increases (variable 
1), but there will be a reduction in the hours recorded per fee earner (variable 3).  Any 
adjustment to a variable will have an impact on the firm’s financial performance.  
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Firms should undertake a modelling exercise to understand the impact that any decision 
would have on the variable figures; whether unexpectedly or by choice. 

7.4 Other Measures Of Performance 

Once fee income has been analysed, the four variables can be used to calculate other 
measures of performance. 

7.4.1 Fee-earning capacity 

This calculation measures the total potential fee income if the realisation was 100%. 

Fee-earning Capacity = 
Number of fee earners as FTEs 

X 
Average annual recorded chargeable hours per fee earner 

X 
Average hourly rate 

This calculation is a good indicator of the amount by which profits could be increased with 
improved efficiency. 

7.4.2 Fees per fee earner 

Most fee earners are paid a fixed salary so it is possible (and interesting) to calculate the 
average fees generated per fee earner. This figure will vary significantly from firm to firm. 

Fees per fee earner = 
Average annual recorded chargeable hours per fee earner 

X 
Average hourly rate 

X 
Average realisation rate 

The firm should focus on increasing the fees per fee earner figure. 

It is also helpful to express this figure as a multiple of the salary cost as it is then possible to 
compare two fee earners who are on very different salaries. If a fee earner generates fees 
of £100,000 and is paid a total salary of £50,000, they are earning two times their salary cost. 
A good target is to aim to achieve fees of about three times fee-earner salary costs. It is of 
note that the salary costs figure is the total cost including employers’ National Insurance 
and any pension contributions made. 

7.5 Where to Find Benchmark Information  

þ previous financial performance; and 
þ analysis of financial performance versus peer group firms. 

Previous financial performance is likely to be the best benchmark comparison for a firm.  
Comparing figures against previous years’ figures will provide some immediate feedback 
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on performance and any recent changes. There is a problem with this, however, in that it 
does not take into account competitors so there also needs to be external benchmarking. 

An analysis of the firm’s financial performance as against peer group firms is also very useful 
to gain benchmark information.  Whilst all firms claim to be different to each other, there 
are great similarities between a firm and certain other peer group firms.  One approach is 
for a firm to organise its own benchmarking study and focus on which firms it is believed are 
the main competitors. Given that a large number of firms have turned into companies or 
converted to a limited liability partnership, there is considerable financial information filed 
at Companies House that can be accessed. 

If a firm doesn’t have the time to undertake its own analysis of peer group firms, there are a 
number of other sources of benchmarking data on legal businesses that can be accessed.  
Examples are to be found at the Law Society, some banks, some accountancy firms and 
some formal law firm groups.  Such data may be found and accessed for free, although 
some sources may charge for copies of their benchmarking reports, e.g. the Law Society 
Law Management Section (LMS) benchmarking report has to be purchased. 

7.6 Creating A Plan Of Action From Benchmarking Data 

Most benchmarking data provides performance figures at the lower, median and upper 
quartile levels.  

þ median level: this is the mid-point of all of the data; 
þ mean: this is the average of all of the data; 
þ upper quartile: this is the top 25% of the data; and 
þ lower quartile: this is the bottom 25% of the data. 

Firms are probably best benchmarking their performance against the upper quartile level. If 
the firm is already performing above this level, it might struggle to do even better.  
However, if the firm is performing below this level then there is room for improvement and a 
plan of action can be devised. 

7.7 Benchmarking A Firm’s Cash Flow 

When benchmarking the firm’s cash flow, individual figures for WIP days and debtor days 
are less significant than the total number of days of lock-up. It is not possible to collect a bill 
until it has been issued, so it is normally best to start with the aim to achieve a reduction in 
WIP days.  When WIP days decrease it is usual for debtor days to follow. This is because a 
client is less likely to delay payment for a service that has just been received than he is for a 
service that  can no longer be remembered. 

7.8 Benchmarking Fee Income 

When benchmarking the four variable drivers of income, it is worthwhile planning 
improvements for any variable where performance is below the upper quartile level. 

The following details the normal order for fixing any of these variable drivers: 
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þ Chargeable hours: this is the first variable to look at. Until all fee earners record all of 
their time consistently, the profitability of the work being done is difficult to measure. 
More fee earners/staff should not be recruited until all fee earners are working close 
to capacity. 

þ Charge-out rates: this is the next variable to look at. If the rates are too low, clients 
won’t comment on this.  However, if they are too high clients will tell you what they 
are willing to pay and the firm may need to consider adjusting its rates accordingly. 

þ Realisation rate: after looking at chargeable hours and charge-out rates, the firm 
should consider the realisation rate variable. When all time is recorded at 
challenging rates, it is difficult to bill it all. This highlights a need for further efficiencies. 
It might be difficult to identify areas where efficiencies can be made unless 100% of 
time actually spent is recorded. Many firms fail to record all of the time spent 
because fee earners know that they will not be able to bill for all of their time. As a 
consequence, the firm is not aware of the real cost of doing the work and cannot 
see inefficiencies that need to be addressed. 

þ Number of fee earners: this is the last of the four variables to look at. There is little 
point in recruiting more fee earners while current fee earners are under-recording 
time and working inefficiently. However, once all fee earners are recording all of 
their time and realisation has been improved through greater efficiency, that is the 
right time to look at expanding the team. 

There are a number of other additional measures of performance that a firm can use as 
part of its benchmarking exercise. These include: 

þ fees per equity partner; 
þ fees as percentage of previous year's fees; 
þ interest received as percentage of fees; 
þ profit as percentage of fees; 
þ profit per equity partner; 
þ increase in profit per equity partner (PEP) from previous year; 
þ gearing/leverage; 
þ fee earners as percentage of total head count; 
þ recovered rate per hour; 
þ year end office account balance; 
þ capacity in overdraft as percentage of fees; 
þ partner capital as percentage of fees; 
þ bank borrowings as percentage of real partner capital; and 
þ client bank balance as percentage of fees. 

If a firm does not compare favourably in any of these categories then steps should be 
taken to address any issues that are resulting in the under-performance. 

8. Investment Analysis 

When looking at investments consideration needs to be given as to how the return on them 
may be assessed. If money is being invested into a business then there needs to be an 
understanding as to how profitable that business is. This type of investment may not only be 
true investment in the set-up of a business or a project but also may include part of the cost 
of keeping the business going, part of the running costs. Additionally, you would also need 
to consider the cash flow of the business and the effect the cash flow has on the business. 
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If a firm is going to invest their, or someone else's, money they will want to have some idea 
on what the expected return will be and to closely monitor to establish what the return was.  
In addition to this it is often the case that investors will want to compare a number of 
possible scenarios before deciding on the way to spend their investment funds. Firm’s may 
even have a number of projects or options in which they could invest and want to know 
which are going to give the better financial return if they can’t do them all.  Keep in mind 
that they may be other reasons for investing rather than the financial return, but in most 
cases if the financial side does not add up then the nothing can be done. There are a 
number of investment appraisal techniques, including: 

þ expected value; 
þ payback; 
þ net present value; and 
þ internal rate of return. 

Each of these appraisal techniques is slightly more complex than the previous one, and 
each has their relative strengths and weaknesses. 

8.1 Expected Value 

This is a very simple method of assessing a 
proposal with a number of possible options 
by considering the likelihood of various 
outcomes for each. It produces a 
probability weighted average value of all 
the possible options. Using an expected 
value approach means that for each 
outcome you can factor in the likelihood of 
it happening as a percentage and then 

come up with a single expected value (weighted outcome) figure for each option. This 
means that if firms choose to use this method in a business case they could allocate a 
single figure to each option they have, so providing a direct comparison across all 
investment options. 

This can be used in combination with other estimating techniques, i.e. each outcome 
could use a different estimating tool 
and this could then advise the 
weighting of likelihood.  

 Below is an example looking at two 
imaginary business premises; one in an 
office and the other home based. For 
each there is three expected turn-over 
figures based on the type and volume 
of business that might be generated 
and then there is a % likelihood for 
attaining each. These all total 100% so 
giving a single average for each option or possible investment. This enables you to see a 
direct comparison of the most likely financial return on each option. 

Office Option 
Annual 

Turnover 
(£k) 

% 
likelihood 

Weighted 
Turnover  / 
Outcome 

Lowest 
Estimate 

125 30 £37,500 

Mid range 200 60 £120,00 

Best estimate 320 10 £32,000 

Expected 
value 

 
100 £189,500 

Home Based 
Option 

Annual 
Turnover 

(£k) 

% 
likelihood 

Weighted 
Turnover  / 
Outcome 

Lowest Estimate 30 45 £13,500 

Mid Range 65 35 £22,750 

Best estimate 100 20 £20,000 

Expected Value 
 

100 £56,250 
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The advantages of this approach are: 

þ it’s simple and quick; 
þ it’s easy to understand; and 
þ it spreads risk. 

The disadvantages of this approach are: 

þ it’s too simple; and 
þ it’s Based on turnover not profit. 

8.2 Payback 

This method simply looks at how long before the amount invested is paid back. 

In the first example an investment of £50,000 has been made. This example is based on a 
simple constant benefit, the example uses income, i.e. £10,000 coming back each year on 
an investment of £50,000. By dividing the 50 by 10 you get 5 i.e. after 5 year it is paid back.  

Constant benefits: 

50,000 / 10,000 = 5 years 

Variable benefits: 

The second example is slightly more complicated and works on the basis that each year a 
different benefit is achieved; 20,000 in year 1, 22,000 year 2 etc. On this basis the benefits 
accrue over the years so that by year 5  62,000 has accrued. By year three it has reached 
50,000, so the payback is reached in year three. 

Year Expected 
Benefits (£s) 

Accumulated 
Benefits (£s) 

1 20,000 20,000 

2 22,000 42,000 

3 8,000 50,000 

4 7,000 57,000 

5 5,000 62,000 

By using estimates firms can position them as expected payback and could be used as 
such in a business plan or business case. In running the business, firms would monitor this to 
see when actual payback is reached and the income on the investment is generating a 
profit to the business.  

The advantages of this approach are: 
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þ it’s simple and quick; and 
þ it’s easy to understand. 

The disadvantages of this approach are: 

þ it ignores positive financial benefits after payback point; and 
þ it only looks at cash flow, not profitability or return on investment. 

8.3 Net Present Value 

The Net Value method measures the excess or shortfall of cash flow, after a period of years, 
i.e. benefits – investment.  

The first working example of the net value method takes a similar approach, but actually 
looks across a set number of years. So in this example it can be seen that after 5 years, with 
an expected benefit of 62,000 on the 50,000 benefit, the investment made is now worth 
12,000 more than was invested. 

Year 
Expected 
Benefits 

(£s) 

Investment 
cost (£s) 

Net 
Value 
(£s) 

1 20,000 50,000 
 

2 22,000 
  

3 8,000 
  

4 7,000 
  

5 5,000 
  

Totals  62,000 50,000 12,000 

Net Present Value includes a discount factor to reflect the value of the money at the time. 
This can make the appraisal more accurate and realistic by giving a more accurate value 
to the benefits each year. This is done by ‘discounting’ the value of the benefit by a set 
percentage over the period. This reflects that the actual value of the money decreases in 
real terms each year. 

In the following example the discount rate, the reducing value of the money in real terms, is 
10%. Standard ‘discount tables’ can then be used to calculate what a firm has to multiply 
the benefit by in consecutive years by in order to get a ‘real’ present value for the money, 
i.e. the net present value. Using this more accurate method the investment is worth only 
£246 more after the 5 years. So maybe not such a good investment after all. Of course, this 
has involved even more estimating; not only the benefits but also the discount rate. 

Year 
Expected 
Benefits 

(£s) 

Investment 
cost (£s) 

Discount 
(10%) NPV (£s) 

0 
 

50,000 1.00 (50,000) 

1 20,000 
 

0.909 18180 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  152 

 

 

 

 

 

Again, as with all methods it is not perfect and has its advantages and disadvantages. The 
advantages of this approach are: 

þ it reflects full benefits over period; 
þ it reflects value of money over time; and 
þ it allows different cash flow to be compared like for like. 

The disadvantages of this approach are: 

þ it is difficult to compare proposals of different sizes (e.g. 10,000 usually lower NPV 
than 1,000,000); and 

þ it is more complicated to do and understand than other methods. 

8.4 Internal Rate of Return  

Internal rate of return indicates the rate of return needed in order to achieve the same 
level of return as the proposed project. This is done by calculating the discount rate 
needed to break even over the period. The answer is found by trial and error and it is best 
to use a spread sheet when calculating the internal rate of return. 

The internal rate of return method is used to understand what rate of return the money to 
be invested would need to achieve in a bank or other investment, in order to achieve the 
same return as the proposed investment. So, it appraises what rate of return an investor 
needs to be able to get on the market in order to match the proposed return on the 
venture. It identifies whether an investor is better off handing on to their money, perhaps 
the do-nothing option is the best option. 

This is a more complicated method of decision making. The example below starts with the 
same benefits on the investment as with the previous example. The investment is £50k and 
the benefits are generated over a period of 5 years. These benefits can be discounted 
each year so as to reflect the real value of the money in each year. Obviously, the 
percentage rate applied changes the value of the benefit.  

To find the internal rate of return you must establish what the rate has to be in order that this 
discounted benefit value equals the initial investment, or to put it another way, that break 
even between the investment and the benefit is generated over the period of the 
investment. 

The example shows that with a discount rate of 10.5% the real value of the benefits 
generated after 5 years is just over 50,000. If a firm can get a return of 10.5%  somewhere 

2 22,000 
 

0.826 18172 

3 8,000 
 

0.751 6008 

4 7,000 
 

0.683 4781 

5 5,000 
 

0.621 3105 

Totals  62,000 50,000  246 
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else then that would be an equivalent investment; so anything higher is a better 
investment. 

The advantages of this approach are: 

þ it reflects full benefits over period; 
þ it reflects value of money over time; 

and 
þ it allows different projects to be 

compared like for like basis. 

The disadvantages of this approach are: 

þ it is even more complicated to do 
and understand; and 

þ it does not take into account the 
relative risks of various proposals. 

 

 

  

Year 
Expected 
Benefits 

(£s) 

Investment 
cost (£s) 

Discount 
(10.5%) NPV (£s) 

0 
 

50,000 1.00 (50,000) 

1 20,000 
 

0.907 18140 

2 22,000 
 

0.823 18106 

3 8,000 
 

0.746 5968 

4 7,000 
 

0.677 4739 

5 5,000 
 

0.614 3070 

Totals  62,000 50,000  23 
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4.3 Improving Efficiency 

1. Introduction 

Part of the role of the modern costs lawyer is to help firms improve profitability and 
efficiency. There are a number of reasons for this including the introduction of fixed fees, 
their ability to project likely spend and their ability to compare the work of fee earners 
across practice areas.  

To improve efficiency of a firm there are a number of strategies that may be employed. For 
example, Management Information may be distributed and used to track performance 
against budget. Training can be given to improve time recording and financial awareness 
of fee earners. Finally, the firm’s approach to managing their work load can also be 
streamlined. 

This handout explores how a firm may be advised in relation to its efficiency. 

2. Management Information 

All businesses require Management Information to track performance against budget and 
identify any deviations away from budget as early as possible. Information should not be 
distributed simply because it is interesting to the reader but because it can be used to 
improve performance. The effectiveness of Management Information will depend on how 
it is formatted and distributed but it may be used to achieve: 

þ a change in behaviour of managers; and 
þ improved financial performance 

Before advancements in technology, the vast majority of law firms had very little 
Management Information and the firm’s success often depended on partners to 
maximising their billing each year. Most expenses of a firm were fixed and it was therefore 
not too difficult for a partner to understand the level of fee income required to generate a 
reasonable level of profit. With developments in technology, it has become easier to 
prepare and distribute Management Information.  

2.1 Types of Management Information 

2.1.1 Time Recording Management Information 

The legal business model is not normally complex. In essence, firms buy the time of fee 
earners through the payroll and sell time on to clients at a profit through the services being 
offered. Accurate time recording is important to ensure quality Management Information 
can be produced. Management Information could be, and often is, structured to provide 
feedback on the time recording process, the table below sets out an example of how this 
may be done:  

 Month Year to date 
 Actual Budget Actual Budget 
Recorded Chargeable Hours  85 100 540 600 
Work In Progress (£’000s) 55 45 55 45 
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Fees (£’000s) 10 15 75 90 
Realisation (%) 88 85 81 85 
Debtors (£’000s) 20 30 20 30 
Cash received (£’000s) 82 90 82 90 

The information follows the flow from the initial recording of time through to the billing of 
that time, on to the final collection of the cash. A Manager or Head of Department should 
receive information on the performance of everyone in their team but they do not always 
need to receive information on the performance of other people or other teams as this 
would distract them from their responsibilities. It may however to serve as a benchmark for 
them as to how their department’s performance compares with that of other departments 
which may benefit them at certain points in the year. If firm wide information was provided 
it should be less frequent than their specific team information. 

Fee earners are likely to benefit from receiving the above Management Information on 
their own performance and also their team in total. A fee earner would need just a few 
minutes once a month to review this information to identify where they are ahead and 
behind budget. If they then take the necessary action, in a month's time their performance 
should begin to look better. This information could be beneficial for motivation and feed 
into the firm’s appraisal and professional development programme. 

While this Management Information is useful, it does have some shortcomings, it does not 
reveal the profit being earned by the fee earner or team. 

2.1.2 Profit-based Management Information 

Traditionally firms have measured things such as the number of hours recorded and the 
value of bills raised but these measures focus on income rather than on profit. Some firms 
are now producing tools to help fee earners develop their knowledge about the 
profitability of a matter. This information should distinguish between the profitability of the 
matter when it is planned and then when that matter develops. This requires an analysis of 
the cost of a fee earner's time. Given that firms are ultimately trying to maximise profits 
earned and not fees raised, such an analysis can be very helpful.  

2.2 Accuracy of Management Information 

All Management Information should be as accurate as possible. Accruals accounting 
should be used, i.e. income is recognised when it is earned and expenditure is recognised 
as it is incurred in line with the way in which the annual accounts are prepared. To further 
improve accuracy of the financial data held by a firm, every month fee earners should be 
asked to update the provisions (write-offs) they believe to be necessary against their WIP 
and debtors. This has the following benefits: 

þ Fee earners will have to conduct a regular review of WIP and debtors. This should 
encourage accelerated billing and cash collection which in turn should result in 
matters being dealt with promptly. 

þ Fee earners can be prompted to revise costs estimates/request further payments 
on account. 
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2.3 Distribution of Management Information 

If Management Information is going to change behaviour it needs to be read, understood 
and owned. It should be remembered that: 

þ distributed Management Information is not always read; 
þ if it is read it is often not fully understood; and 
þ if it is read and understood the manager does not always take ownership of the 

information, so there is unlikely to be any action. 

When distributing Management Information, to improve the chances of it being effective, 
consideration should be given to what information goes where. It is always important to 
distinguish between the information which the owner of the firm might wish to see and that 
which a manager or head of department needs. The following table summarises the 
information needed and the frequency that it should be supplied: 

Recipient  Information Frequency  
Owner Firm How the business is performing overall so they can 

determine whether they want to continue to invest. 
A few times a 
year 

Manager of 
Head of 
Department  

Information on the part of the business for which they 
have responsibility. 

More frequent 
information 

Most well-organised law firms will produce monthly accounts for partners. Whether or not 
the partners, as owners, should be looking at them on a monthly basis is debatable as this is 
really the type of information that might be distributed twice a year in advance of full 
partners’ meetings. 

A manager in a business should be receiving Management Information on the things for 
which they are responsible. This could be made available online, which would potentially 
allow real-time information to be available, or it might be distributed through a traditional 
periodic report. It is therefore important to ensure managers are trained to read and 
interpret the information distributed and that they are motivated to take the necessary 
actions to ensure the performance of their part of the business meets or exceeds 
expectations.  

2.4 Encouraging Engagement with Management Information 

Mangers will not always read the Management Information they are given which mean 
they may not engage with and respond to it. To encourage engagement with 
Management Information it may be helpful to arrange periodic management meetings 
where this information is discussed. This may foster a collaborative culture and encourage 
the appropriate actions are drawn and taken. 

To improve fee earner engagement with Management Information is to ensure that the 
information provided relates to them. This will encourage fee earners to take more 
responsibility for their performance. Again, arranging a meeting with them to discuss it may 
also ensure appropriate actions are drawn and taken. If the fee earner is asked to explain 
the information and to articulate any actions that are now required, there is likely to be 
more impact than if they are just left to deal with it on their own. At subsequent meetings 
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the previous reviews can be considered and therefore progress may be monitored by both 
managers and fee earners. 

3. Financial Awareness of Staff 

It is not sustainable to have knowledgeable fee earners who provide an excellent service 
to clients but who make no profit from their efforts. To make a good profit, fee earners will 
need to know the law and be attentive to the needs of every client but these skills alone 
will not guarantee a profit. Lawyers who understand the finances of a law firm can meet 
clients' expectations and at the same time deliver high levels of profit to the firm. This 
means the firm can invest in its fee earners and clients to create even higher levels of profit. 

Fee earners who are commercially minded are also more likely to give good commercial 
advice to their clients rather than just that which is technically correct. Some people try to 
make legal businesses sound more complicated than they really are. Fee earners need to 
understand that: 

þ firms go bust when they run out of money: cash is not generated by simply doing 
work and raising bills; 

þ firms should be trying to maximise profit and not fee income: firms should measure 
what they make on each matter and not simply look at the time taken and the 
fee raised; 

þ time recording is a costing system: it is not a billing system; 
þ there is a range of prices clients are willing to pay for any legal service: there is 

definitely not a single market price for any one legal service; and 
þ spending more time on a file increases the cost to the firm: and does not 

necessarily add any value for the client; it is important that the client is charged 
for the value of the service and not the cost incurred. 

Firms can develop the financial awareness of staff in a variety of ways, including: 

þ training; 
þ coaching; 
þ reading; 
þ project work; and 
þ financial incentives.  

There is no one right way to develop financial awareness and different people like to learn 
in different ways, so a blended approach may well be the most effective. 

3.1 Training 

You should be aware of the training that has already been undertaken by staff members 
because this will enable you to build on (or scaffold) what has already been learnt. The LPC 
requires students to learn about double entry bookkeeping and how to prepare a set of 
law firm accounts. This doesn’t really teach them much about how a law firm makes 
money. Although some firms will encourage trainees to do electives (optional modules) on 
their LPC on time management and time recording, which can foster a greater awareness 
of the law firm as a business and the relationship between what lawyers do day to day and 
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the profits that the firm can generate. Qualified solicitors will have received some finance 
training: 

þ The Professional Skills Course: trainees must complete this course towards the end of 
their training contracts. It incorporates a compulsory finance and business skills 
course, including half a day on reading and interpreting the accounts of a client. By 
learning about the finances of a client, a trainee can begin to understand the 
workings of a law firm.  

þ After qualification: a solicitor must then complete the compulsory management 
course in their first three years in practice; this has a module on law firm profitability 
that can introduce further skills. 

Training is likely to have more impact if it is undertaken little and often. There are various 
theories on how training should best be delivered and the impact of having diverse groups 
with varying education/knowledge backgrounds.   Firms should, however, consider 
providing financial awareness training to diverse groups so all levels can contribute to the 
debate. This would require in some differentiation when delivering the training, i.e making 
sure that the material or content was accessible by all learners, but it is likely to be more 
effective in promoting a cultural change. This type of training can often lead to better and 
more realistic actions being agreed and a greater sense of collective ownership. 

Another effective way of developing financial awareness is to ask a partner to talk to a 
group of fee earners about a recent piece of work that has been done for a client, it may 
be that some of those engaging in the training have been involved in, or aware of, the 
case. Such talks might cover: 

þ the nature of the work; 
þ the legal complexities and how these were dealt with; 
þ the way in which the work was billed; and 
þ what has been done to develop the relationship with the client. 

This approach mixes traditional legal education with some of the more commercial skills 
that need to be considered and developed. Typical areas in which fee earners need to 
develop skills are: 

þ time recording; 
þ billing; 
þ matter planning; 
þ pricing; 
þ fee negotiation; 
þ accelerating cash flow; 
þ using available management information; and 
þ awareness of how clients take business decisions, e.g. business planning, budgeting, 

cash flow forecasting and the taking of investment decisions. 

3.2 Coaching 

Coaching fee earners is another way of developing financial awareness. This can be done 
over a number of months with reference each month to the management information that 
is provided to a fee earner. The process might run as follows: 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  159 

Month 1 The supervisor talks through the monthly management information that is available and finds out 
whether the fee earner has any questions. 

Month 2 
The supervisor asks the fee earner to talk through the management information and asks them to 
say what that information means and what actions they need to undertake to improve their 
personal financial performance. 

Month 3 

The supervisor asks the fee earner how they are performing now and whether the actions that 
have been tried have delivered results. The supervisor can then discuss what else could be tried 
in the following month to further improve performance. This process of monthly coaching and 
development can continue indefinitely. The additional benefit is that it also reminds the 
supervisor about their own performance and what they could do to improve it. 

3.3 Reading 

Some fee earners would rather just sit down and read a little more to develop their 
knowledge and skills. Therefore, firms may consider making relevant literature available to 
their fee earners. 

3.4 Project Work 

Another way of getting fee earners to consider the financial aspects of their job is to set 
them some projects to work on. Projects can be run in a large number of areas but might 
include: 

þ reviewing the existing time recording policy of the firm; 
þ reviewing the standard terms of business to find out if there are ways of ensuring 

ge clients pay earlier; 
þ developing matter planning tools so fee earners can give clearer estimates and 

develop a better understanding of matter profitability 
þ considering existing methods of pricing work and coming up with more 

creative/innovative approaches to it 
þ reviewing existing management information provided to fee earners with a view 

to making recommendations for how it could be improved and used better 

These projects can be worked on individually or in groups and then presentations can be 
made and discussed to consolidate the learning.  

3.5 Financial Incentives  

Bonuses in law firms may be linked to billable hours recorded which is basically a payment 
for working harder. This type of bonus is unlikely to improve motivation and certainly wont 
improve financial awareness.  Trying to get fee earners to become more financially aware 
is something costs lawyers grapple with. One way to approach this could be to offer 
rewards when they have demonstrated this awareness, which should be seen in their 
improved financial results. One possible way of motivating through bonuses would be to 
link them to fee earners working smarter rather than simply harder. The bonuses can be 
linked to any number of measures around increased profitability or an improvement in 
efficiency. 

Behavioural change does not necessarily require financial rewards. Sometimes it needs no 
more than: 

þ education on what is required;  
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þ providing good management information so fee earners can see the financial 
position; 

þ praise for achieving the targets that have been met. 

A bonus for working smarter would encourage uptake and engagement with all of the 
above and therefore may really motivate fee earners whilst achieving the objective of 
ensuring fee earners become more financially aware. 

4. Time Recording 

Firms have not always recorded time. There are still costs lawyers that can remember when 
a matter was concluded and an assessment of a fair fee was made by reviewing the 
weight of the file. Time recording has led to a significant increase in fees billed because it 
has become easier to demonstrate and justify to the client the full extent of the work 
undertaken. 

The purpose of time recording must be understood. The primary reason for recording time is 
to understand the cost of the work being undertaken and it is therefore necessary to record 
everything. Whether this time can be billed is a separate issue and must only be considered 
at the point of billing. 

4.1 Double Discount 

Sometimes the purpose of time recording can be confused, it is often thought that time 
recording takes place in order that work can be billed. As a consequence, many fee 
earners may discount their time twice: 

þ first at the point of recording; and 
þ for a second time when the lawyer comes to bill the client 

This same double discount can be given where law firms describe time as chargeable or 
non-chargeable. This confuses time (the cost of doing the work) with billing (the value of 
the work being done) and therefore may result in time being under-recorded and 
discounts being given prior to the work being billed, meaning the fee earner discounts their 
time twice. It may be more prudent to describe time as matter related or non-matter 
related to create a clearer separation between the time recording and billing processes. 
This would allow firms to the true value of WIP that is truly written off. 

4.2 Fixed Fees 

With increased competition in the legal service market there is pressure on firms to think 
about how they are charging for their products. Some clients are selecting their legal 
service providers based on how they are being charged, they may not want to pay on a 
time basis because they may perceive that this encourages inefficient working and 
uncertainty as to the price they will pay for the service offered.  

More and more work is now being charged on a fixed fee basis which leads fee earners to 
question whether it is still necessary to record their time. This is missing the fundamental 
point about time recording, i.e. to record the cost of what fee earners are doing. Time 
recording is just as important with fixed fees because once the fee is fixed the only variable 
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that can affect the profitability of the work is the cost of that work, which you cannot know 
unless time is properly recorded. 

4.3 Realisation Rates 

The realisation rate is often referred to as the recovery or utilisation rate.  This is the 
percentage of WIP which is actually billed.  For example, if £2,000 of WIP is incurred, but the 
client has agreed a fee of £1,500 and the firm therefore bills £1,500, the realisation rate is 
75%.  This rate is considered to be an efficiency measure; the higher the rate, the greater 
efficiency with which the work was done. 

It may be assumed that if more time is recorded the realisation rate will inevitably fall. This is 
not usually the case, usually the same percentage of this additional time is billed as was 
true for the original time that was recorded, i.e. if time recording improves by 1% so too will 
fee income. When additional time is recorded fee earners are forced to think about what 
needs to be done to maintain their realisation rate which they do by finding ways to 
charge more or doing the work more efficiently. The expense of running the matter will not 
change and therefore the additional time makes a direct contribution to the firm’s profit. 
Consider the following examples: 

 % 
Usual Net Profit 20 
Improvement of time 
recording 1 

Net Profit 21 
Increase in Net Profit 5 

 

4.4 How To Record Time 

Time needs to be recorded in a way that is fair to the firm, fair to the client and meets any 
SRA requirements. Firms should therefore have a time recording policy that clarifies to all 
fee earners exactly how time should be recorded. Any such policy will need to provide 
detailed advice for any common uncertainties in order to ensure all fee earners are 
recording their time in a consistent manner and taking the same approach. If there is 
inconsistency in the way in which time is recorded then there will be difficulties when billing 
clients and firms will not be able to fully understand the profitability of the work being 
undertaken. It will produce confusing and unreliable Management Information.  

A time recording policy should address: 

þ speed; 
þ recording everything; 
þ categories of time; 
þ narrative description; and 
þ billing notes. 

It should be concise so as to ensure it is accessible and remembered. It should be 
communicated to all fee earners and training should be given. It would be good practice 
to supplement a policy by a set of FAQs that cover common queries (for example; quoting, 
research, supervision, travel, file administration and billing). If training is given on the policy 

 % 
Usual Net Profit 20 
Improvement of time 
recording 2 

Net Profit 22 
Increase in Net Profit 10 
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then it may encourage fee earners to feed into the creation of the FAQs and take 
ownership of the policy. 

4.4.1 Speed 

Time should be recorded promptly or it will be forgotten. As a minimum, fee earners should 
be asked to record time on a daily basis although there will be some instances where it is 
not possible to do so until the next working day. 

4.4.2 Record Everything 

All time needs to be recorded, even the smallest amounts of time need to be recorded. 
The time must be recorded in a consistent way so a policy should define what is meant by 
‘everything’.  For example: 

Everything: all time in the office and all time spent working away from the office. 

Any definition may want to take into account what was traditionally classed as chargeable 
or non-chargeable work so as to avoid fee earners confusing time (the cost of doing the 
work) with billing (the value of the work being done). The definition may therefore be 
expanded upon to refer to time as matter related or non-matter related. This should create 
a clearer separation between the time recording and billing processes. 

When rolling out the policy and providing training firm’s should point out that whilst fee 
earners are reasonable at capturing most of their time in the office but tend to fall down 
when they are away from the time recording system. With developments in technology it is 
becoming far easier for fee earners to work productively away from the office.  

4.4.3 Narrative Descriptions 

All time entries require a narrative so the fee earner can remember what they did and why, 
allowing you to justify the time within the bill. Fee earners tend to describe the processes 
they perform (e.g. attending meetings, drafting documents and supervising colleagues). 
While these narratives are honest, if they appear in a bill a client may ask whether they 
should be paying for these processes and an opponent is likely to challenge the 
recoverability of the time on assessment. 

Clients feel inclined to pay for the value that they have received. Additionally, costs 
lawyers need to be able to justify the steps taken to maximise the recoverability of time 
claimed. Therefore, more attention should be paid to writing narratives that clearly 
describe the value provided to the client as opposed to simply stating the process.  For 
example: 

Process Description of Value 
Preparing and sending the quote Planning the work so that the case can be 

performed efficiently and delivery of 
estimate. 

Attendance on client Taking instructions from client in relation to 
the defendant’s defence. 
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Given that clients are now more aware of how to challenge steps taken or a bill, it is vital 
that all narratives are robust if time recorded is to be billed. 

4.4.4 Phases Tasks And Activities 

The recent amendment to CPR PD51L provides a list of phases, tasks and activities in the 
schedule annexed to the practice direction. From April 2018 and the mandatory use of the 
electronic bill of costs will require that all time is recording within a bill using these 
categories. It is therefore imperative that fee earners start to record their time with 
reference to these. 

4.4.5 Billing notes 

Most fee earners worry about over-charging clients so whenever time is recorded they 
need to be able to attach a billing note, ie a note to the person preparing the bill of any 
concerns the fee earner had about how the time should be billed. Such notes can be 
included within the narrative field or in a separate field if the software being used so allows. 
Wherever they are recorded, they should be supplemental to rather than instead of the 
narrative description. 

4.5 Policy Compliance 

Distributing a time recording policy is relatively easy compared to getting all fee earners to 
comply with it. Fee Earners may not always read the policies that they are given which 
means they may not engage with them. Perhaps the most important aspect in 
encouraging engagement is to ensure there is a conversation around the time recording 
policy for several months until the new behaviours have been learned and fee earners 
record their time in line with the policy as a matter of course.  

To encourage engagement with any policy it may be helpful to arrange meetings where it 
is discussed. This may foster a collaborative culture and encourage adherence to it. 
Additionally, training is always a good idea because it enables everyone to consider the 
proposed policy. It can also be used as a forum for developing the policy and for 
identifying the common grey areas that may be included in any supplementary FAQs. The 
following type of training schedule may be appropriate: 

Session 1 
Introduction to the policy.  
Exploring concerns about the policy 
and time recording system. 

Session 2 Writing narratives to ensure real value. 
Session 3 How to improve time capturing. 

As with any training, once the policy has been put into place, feedback should be given. 
This means fee earners should receive feedback on how they are doing with their time 
recording. This can be made available on the system but should be supported by the 
distribution of monthly management information. When providing feedback managers 
need to remain alert to the fact that fee earners may feel sensitive about receiving the 
same and this should be managed accordingly so as not to foster resentment towards the 
policy. Any training, or meeting, needs to stress the importance of full-time capture at the 
start of matters and need to try to avoid getting irritated if budgets are exceeded. 
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Coaching fee earners is another way of developing engagement with the policy and 
consistency with the approach taken. This can be done over a number of months with 
reference each month to the policy and any Management Information that is provided to 
a fee earner. The process might run as follows: 

Month 1 The supervisor talks through the policy and finds out whether the fee earner has any 
questions. 

Month 2 The supervisor asks the fee earner to talk through the policy and asks them if they have any 
problems or concerns with the policy and time recording system. 

Month 3 
The supervisor asks the fee earner to talk through the management information and asks 
them to say what that information means and what actions they need to undertake to 
improve their capturing of time and narratives. 

Month 4 
The supervisor asks the fee earner how they are performing now and whether the actions 
that have been tried have delivered results. The supervisor can then discuss what else 
could be tried in the following month to further improve performance.  

This process of monthly coaching and development can continue indefinitely. The 
additional benefit is that it also reminds the supervisor about their own performance and 
what they could do to improve it. 

Once implemented firms will need to ensure that the policy is being applied consistently. 
One quick and easy way of doing this could be by asking fee earners to complete a 
survey. An example may be: 

How would you record your time in the following situations, assuming that time is recorded in 
minimum units of six minutes? 
You travel from home to a client meeting. The journey takes 55 
minutes being 15 minutes longer than your normal commute. You 
have agreed with the client that you are not charging for travel 
time. 

 

During a matter you supervise the work of your colleague for 40 
minutes. The colleague has made some mistakes and will need to 
redo some of their work. 

 

You spend 30 minutes finalising the bill for the matter, which includes 
10 minutes unjamming the printer. 

 

You are able to recycle some know-how on a matter from work 
done for another client. The result is that it now takes 30 minutes to 
tackle the issue while it took three hours to do the work on the first 
occasion. 

 

You spend two minutes discussing the weather with a colleague 
while working on a client file for 25 minutes. 

 

Using this type of survey would enable further training requirements to be identified and 
help identify any potential inaccuracies in Management Information. 

5. Encouraging Efficiency   

The economy of the UK was greatly affected by the 2007-2008 financial crises and whilst 
the recovery has been slow, it has been faster than that of most of the other G7 economies 
over the same period. Consumer spending has generally remained relatively strong, 
underpinned by the low interest rates that have been in place since the crisis. That being 
said, the timing of the financial crisis couldn’t have been much worse for the legal service 
market because at the same time the Legal Services Act 2007 was enacted which, whilst 
set to increase competition and improve access to justice for the consumer, had a 
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dramatic impact on fee income for traditional firms. It has therefore become increasingly 
important to think about the way in which services are being delivered and look for 
efficiencies to drive lower costs and higher profit margins. If firms attempt to reduce quality 
in an attempt to reduce costs they will not really achieve anything because demand for 
their service is likely to decrease. The challenge for firms is to reduce costs without diluting 
the quality of their service. 

The key to driving efficiency is to ensure that fee earners are forced to reflect on the most 
efficient way of doing a piece of work as soon as the file is opened. A simple checklist 
could be used and it would only take a lawyer a couple of minutes to read through it and 
identify what needs to be done to drive the efficiency of each and every file. 

There are many ways of improving the efficiency with which work is done, including: 

þ internal delegation; 
þ external delegation; 
þ recycling know-how; 
þ managing case duration; and 
þ benchmarking. 

5.1 Internal delegation 

Ultimately clients want their work to be done to a higher standard, more quickly and at a 
lower cost. Arguably one of the fastest, simplest, ways of delivering these outcomes is with 
increased delegation. If one person does the work on their own an error could happen 
which goes unnoticed. However, if the work is done by a junior person and reviewed by a 
senior person then there is less chance of a mistake being made. If the bulk of the work can 
be done by a junior lawyer this is likely to reduce cost, although the cheaper hourly rate will 
need to be balanced by the time taken to supervise and the increased time it will take to 
complete the work. 

Where a firm is considering increasing the amount of internal delegation there are a 
number of considerations, including: 

þ the activity or work being undertaken; 
þ the retainer; and 
þ recoverability of the costs of supervision and inter fee earner attendances. 

5.1.1 Activity Or Work Being Undertaken 

Under the Legal Services Act 2007 there are categories of work, these include:  

þ reserved legal activities;  
þ regulated activities; and  
þ legal activities.  

It is important to consider whether, when delegating work, the person undertaking the 
activity is regulated to do it.  
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5.1.2 The Retainer 

The client should be told in writing the name and status of the people dealing with the case 
and whoever is responsible for the supervision. In the case Pilbrow v Peerless De Rougemont 
and Co. [1999] 3 All ER 355 the Court of Appeal, relying on a similar provision in the older 
1990 code, upheld a client’s refusal to pay his solicitors bill on the grounds that he had 
asked for an appointment with the solicitor but it transpired the person to whom he was 
referred was neither a solicitor or a qualified legal executive. Despite the fact that the work 
had been done to the standard of a competent solicitor fees were not payable by the 
client.  

The Indicative behaviour requires that the name and status of those with conduct is set out 
in writing but not that this is done at the first meeting. The way to ensure compliance with 
this is to make sure that any person who may work on a matter is detailed within the client 
care letter.  

In the case Adrian Alan Ltd v. Fuglers [2003] PNLR 14I a struck off solicitor that remained 
employed by a firm (with the permission of the law society) informed the claimant, who 
was a client, that he could assist in the litigation in which he was engaged. The claimant 
instructed him but he proved to be incompetent and subsequently disappeared. The firm 
were not entitled to any payment for the work done because the terms of the retainer 
required for the work to be done by a solicitor.  

5.1.3 Recoverability Of The Costs  

It is often the case that where work has been delegated to less experienced fee earners 
input from more senior fee earners will be required. Despite reasonably delegating to less 
experienced fee earners often resulting in a saving in costs, inter fee earner discussions are 
often the subject of a general dispute by paying parties and may be disallowed at 
assessment. This must be remembered when delegating work and how that is managed. 
In R v Sandu [1984] Costs LR (Core) 451 it was commented that it is always, or almost 
always, inappropriate for a claim to be made for a letter sent by one fee earner to another 
in the same firm. The view expressed by the court in this case was that the allocation of 
tasks between them is part of the irrecoverable overhead of the firm.  Whilst not binding, 
consideration should also be given to Re Radcliffe [2004] EWHC 90039 (Costs) within which 
Master O’Hare observed that if a senior fee earner needs to be informed of some aspect of 
a matter he should simply read the relevant attendance notes when the file is sent to him 
and should not expect to recover the time for undertaking that activity. The more recent 
appeal decision in TUI UK LTD v Tickell & Others [206] EWHC 2741 (QB) has indicated that it 
may be possible to recover some costs of inter fee earner communications. It must be 
noted that this was a travel litigation matter involving 205 Claimants and this therefore 
illustrates how each case will be dependant on the complexity and nature of the 
delegation. 

5.1.4 External delegation 

A way of removing, as opposed to reducing, the cost is to get someone outside the firm to 
do the work. This might mean getting the client, the other side, other lawyers, an expert, a 
barrister or any other third party to do work that you would otherwise undertake. Clients are 
increasingly unwilling to pay for time spent on basic administration or information gathering 
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and this should be passed back to the client, wherever possible, to keep costs down. If the 
other side can be encouraged to do more of the work, this too can reduce the cost to the 
client. 

5.2 Using Existing Knowledge and Precedents 

It is unusual for a law firm to be asked to undertake a completely new piece of work; some 
or all of the work will have been done before. It is important to ensure all existing 
knowledge is made available for every matter so unnecessary reinvention of the wheel can 
be avoided and costs can be controlled. This can be done with process documents and 
precedents that are easily accessible to all. 

5.3 Managing Case Duration 

When work is performed to a tight deadline there is a limit to the amount of time that can 
be spent on it and therefore the amount of cost that can be incurred. This, of course, may 
be true in the reverse in that deadlines may limit the amount of chargeable work that can 
be undertaken. That being said, the additional chargeable work must amount to 
additional value to the client or equate to recoverable costs for it to be of value. If a 
deadline is not met it is inevitable that costs will increase with additional meetings, drafts of 
documents and new people reading into files. This generally increases the cost of the case 
without increasing the value to the client. Care must always be taken to try to control 
deadlines and ensure all parties are focused on sticking to and meeting them. Deadlines 
should be used to ensure costs are minimised but they should also be reviewed to enable 
an extension where further chargeable work will bring value to the client and ultimately the 
firm. 

5.3.1 Fixed Fees and Costs 

Those involved in work being offered for a fixed fee, or where fixed costs are recoverable, 
need to be alert to the case duration.  

5.3.2 Costs Budgets 

The early introduction of budgets, at retainer stage, strengthens the arguments on the 
amount of costs that may be recovered for preparing the budget and would provide 
deadlines for when the work is expected to be completed. This approach would ensure 
that, from the start of a case, there would be knowledge of the financial position and 
timescales.  

5.3.3 Project Planning or Work Plans 

Using project planning or work plans can help firms calculate fee arrangements that are 
acceptable to the client and identify a way of doing the work efficiently that will result in a 
reasonable level of profit being earned. Such tools can also be used to reflect on matters 
that have already been completed to try to identify more efficient ways of operating in 
future and help the client understand how their goals can be achieved in a way which is 
acceptable to the parties. 
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There is no required format for a project or work plan but it would make sense for this to 
take the form of a process fee earners follow when undertaking a client matter. Therefore, 
consideration should be given to the work break down structure, an example is included of 
a litigation work breakdown structure. 

Litigators will often want the plan to follow a timeline while advisory and transactional 
lawyers often want the plan to reflect the documents that will be prepared.  

It will be difficult to get a plan prepared for each and every file so firms may consider 
investing in the creation of a few plans in each practice area, which will cover the majority 
of files being opened. Firms undertaking both contentious and non-contentious work should 
ensure that the appropriate 
approaches are taken for each 
practice area (timeline or 
document). Standard 
matter plans can then be 
quickly tailored to reflect the 
exact nature of each and every 
matter. In some cases, it is 
difficult to predict what will 
happen with certainty and 
therefore it is good 
practice to allow a 
contingency for extra work so the 
client can be given a budget that is realistic. 

If the plan is devised effectively it will enable you to schedule work and therefore calculate 
case duration and case costs. Some of the tasks may take a fairly standard amount of time 
(for example undertaking conflict checks, drafting client care letters) so default times and 
work allocation (suggestions of delegation) may be included in the pro forma plans. Firms 
can create plans of this nature using a spreadsheet or possibly via their document/case 
management system. 

5.4 Benchmarking 

Another way of improving efficiency is to compare the 
approach of one lawyer to another lawyer who undertakes 
the same type of work, it would allow this type of 
comparison to take place. This would amount to 
Management Information and the way it is distributed would need to be managed 
effectively so as not to foster resentment or de-motivate fee earners. 

 

 

 

  

 Lawyer A Lawyer B 
WIP £2000 £2000 
Bills £2000 £1500 

W/Off - £500 
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4.4 Organisational Structures, Functional Areas and Teams  

1. Introduction 

The organisational structure of an firm sets out its organisational environment. It defines the 
organisational system. An organisational structure sets out how, amongst other things, 
activities, authority, responsibilities and communication are carried out within the 
environment.  It also establishes how an individual fits within that environment.  It does this in 
order that all the resources within the system can be directed efficiently toward achieving 
the organisation’s aims and objectives.  

2. The Effectiveness of the Organisational Structure 

The effectiveness of the organisational structure affects the organisation’s activities in three 
major ways.  

þ Work flow: as it provides the structure on which standard operating procedures and 
routines hang.  

þ Individual decision making ability: by setting the route for decision making and 
involvement in the decision-making process. 

þ The organisation’s flexibility: and responsiveness to change. 

It obviously has a lot more impact than this, but at the organisational level these are three 
of the major impacts the design will have. There is obviously no one ‘correct’ design, or all 
organisations would have adopted it.  

3. Why Have a Structure? 

If you don’t set a structure, a structure will still tend to emerge in some form or another. If 
you get a group of people together and leave them to it this tends to happen. Generally, 
people need to feel that there is some sort of order in their lives and need to understand 
how to operate within their environment; be it a work or a social environment. On top of 
this, businesses do need to organise the work and make it flow. Even in situations where you 
have ‘self organising’ groups in some of the dot com organisations, for instance, there is a 
structure to the work around which the group can work and understand what is 
happening.  Clarity about how all the functions are going to get done and how they are 
going to interact is important. It might be that this is seen as a compromise in some ways 
with not every area getting what it wants, but it all works for the good of the whole. All sorts 
of people will need to navigate through an organisation and a structure helps this happen. 
This is all about understanding who can make things happen and perhaps, more 
importantly, who to go to when the process does not work in a scenario. Also, for the 
individuals in the business, a clear structure helps them understand their role, decision 
making authority and accountability. 

However, there are many ways to do this and many factors which will influence how it is 
done. The aim of this handout is to give you an idea of some of the main types of structure 
you are likely to come across and their relative strengths and weaknesses. The world is a lot 
more fluid in structural designs than it used to be in the past when they were geared 
towards a clear command and control system. In a large part this is being driven by a 
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combination of expectation on the part of the work force and the changes to the way 
people work and interact due to changes in communication technology.   

4. General Approaches to Structure 

Set out below is a diagram to illustrate the potential types of organisational structure.  The 
tendency is to either have a centralised or decentralised structure. 

4.1 Centralised Structure 

This is the most simple structure with a single point of command and control. Structures tend 
to start centralised, but as they grow you will often find they need ways to organise 

activities and decisions and tend to become more 
bureaucratic as there becomes a perceived need 
for levels and separate elements within the 
organisation to carry out specific tasks. These 
structures are very much focused on the individual, 
although a centralised business could be a team at 
the centre. 

It is at this central point that all decisions are made 
and this is generally by those with a broader 
perspective that includes having amassed 
considerable knowledge and information about 
what needs to be done and has a view on how they 
want it done. Although there could be consultation 
and even delegation, more often than not, that 
decision will be made and passed out to the people 
working in the business.  The alternative is a 
decentralised business which tends then to become 
a bureaucracy. Both have their advantages and 
disadvantages and are suited to different situations.   

 

Let’s consider the example of a carpet shop owner.  Central to this 
is the owner, who may need an assistant for general administration 
and support. Then there needs to be someone to sell the carpets 
and someone to do the actual fitting.  So there then needs to be a 
person to go out to the customer’s home, perhaps with a trainee 
going along too. Finally, there may be a part-time book keeper 
employed to manage all the accounts and financial issues.  

The advantages of this type of structure are: 

þ clarity of direction; 
þ simple decision making process; 
þ fast to respond to situations; 
þ whole picture clear to management; 
þ simple communication process; and 

Centralised 
 

Hierarchies 
 

Teams 
 

Networks 
 

Matrix 
 

Hybrid 
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þ consistency. 

The disadvantages of this type of structure are: 

þ narrow base for decision; 
þ high level of demand on a single person; 
þ no contingency; 
þ decision away from front line; 
þ less flexibility; and 
þ poor for motivation. 

4.2 Hierarchical  Structures 

If you have read the work of Max Weber you will know he thinks this is the dominant 
structure for modern society. In its various nuances, it does tend to be the most common. 
Hierarchical or bureaucratic structures have many levels of management. This is because 
of the need, or perceived need, due to factors such as specialisation of market, total size 
or range of products for semi self-contained areas leads to the different divisions or 
departments of this model; this then leads on too many layers within each area. This mean 
that decisions, as opposed to just following process, may have to go through many layers 
to reach a point of authority, going upwards to get the decision and the answer coming 
back down. Similarly, as the control is higher up the structure, then so too are the sources of 
information and, if information is to go across the organisation, it generally has to go up to 
a level where it can go sideways before coming down again. It is because of this that on a 
day to day basis individual areas and people need to be clear on what they can and 
cannot do in their work; this means that there is a need for clear policies and procedures. 
This can make for an efficient organisation and is not necessarily of itself a bad thing. That 
does mean, though, that the opportunity for innovation and changing things is going to be 
limited and can have unforeseen knock on effects; back to thinking of the organisation as 
a system. For the same reason, the more bureaucratic an organisation is the harder it can 
be for it to adapt to change. It doesn’t 
mean it can’t, but it does generally mean it 
is slower and that it has to work harder at 
ways to make change possible whilst 
minimising risk. Ultimately, all this means that 
organisations tend to have a strong 
command and control culture and the 
bigger the structure and the more layers, the 
stronger this culture usually becomes.  

There are a number of ways a bureaucratic or hierarchical company can structure its 
hierarchy. The simple example included here is of a small manufacturing business and it is 
structured along a functional line. Heading this is a CEO, though it could be a 
management or leadership team with a number of directors. Below this is a layer of 
functional areas, departments or divisions, each of which will probably have a head or 
management structure. The areas will have people or teams of people working for them in 
various “sub” functions and this structure can be repeated a number of times down 
through the organisation.  
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This is probably the most common type of organisational design, with variations to suit 
particular needs or nuances of the business scenario.  Generally, the larger an organisation 
becomes the more it trends toward a version of this structure.  

4.2.1 Ways to Structure a Hierarchy 

As you can imagine, in large multi-national organisations, these go across several structures 
and may be split by sectors, division or countries. There are many ways to break this up 
and, dependent upon how the top level is structured, the lower layers will need to support 
them. So if, for example, your top layer is by product, each layer below may need a sales 
and production function. 

Here are some examples of how the levels may be structured. In each case you could 
have the next level down reflecting another version (for example, top level by product, 
next by function or top level by areas, the next by product in each area and so forth):  

þ Area: this could be as small as part of a city or as bid as a continent; 
þ Market: e.g. small business as opposed to personal; 
þ Customer: possibly similar to market, but may have a number of different ways of 

grouping; 
þ Product: as with a number of these the question becomes how you then structure 

below this – do you have separate functions or so you have shared services? 
þ Function: we have seen this previously; 
þ Process: which may combine a number of functions to make a process happen; 
þ Delivery channel: given the may routes to market now this could be a way to group 

expertise and ability. 

Each of these will have their own advantages and disadvantages.  There are some general 
pros and cons of the hierarchical structure and also more specific advantages and 
disadvantages of different ways of establishing the hierarchy.  

The general advantages of this structure include: 

þ authority structure is clear; 
þ areas of responsibility are set out in a structure; 
þ defined route for promotion; 
þ areas of expertise developed; and 
þ loyalty to departments or even to professions within a department. 

The general disadvantages of this structure include: 

þ decisions are made away from front line; 
þ slow to respond; 
þ less flexibility; 
þ can lead to poor communication and rumour; 
þ departments pursue own agenda rather than the organisation’s; and 
þ poor for motivation. 
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4.2.2 Organisation by Area 

Here is an example of an international 
company. At the top of its structure 
there is a global H.O. Interestingly, this  
may have an organisational structure 
of its own. This leads on to the fact that 
whilst you are considering structures, 
you also have to be thinking about 
what is the system to which it is being 
applied. In this case, you are 
considering the overall international 
set-up. Under this Global HO, it has an initial split of world areas and, below this, it again 
breaks into smaller areas. This could go on as it goes down the structure, or the structure 
under each area could then benefit or suit different needs at that more local level. 

The advantages of organising the hierarchy in this way are: 

þ serve local needs better;  
þ positive competition; 
þ more effective communication between the firm and its local customers; 
þ understanding of local working cultures; and 
þ faster response time in the area. 

The disadvantages of organising the hierarchy in this way are: 

þ conflict between local and central management; 
þ duplication of resources and functions; and 
þ growth of local practices. 

4.2.3 Organisation by Product 

In this organisation there is a primary split into what could be almost individual businesses, 
each with a collection of functions to 
allow it to produce different products. 
However, there can often be some 
shared functions where there is a 
specialism which is not product specific 
and used across all areas – such as HR or 
facilities management. Again, the next 

level down may have a different structure in each area.  

The advantages of organising the hierarchy in this way are: 

þ clear focus on product market; 
þ positive competition between divisions; 
þ can add or remove product divisions;  
þ each area can act as a separate profit centre; and 
þ product areas can co-ordinate work between themselves rather than the larger 

organisation.  
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The disadvantages of organising the hierarchy in this way are: 

þ duplication of functions in each area; 
þ shared customers who may have multiple products; 
þ negative effects of interdivisional competition; 
þ can duplicate costs;  
þ emphasis on division rather than organisational goals can create conflict.  

4.2.3 Organisation by Function 

Often this can be a sub structure under a 
product division or a country area.  

The advantages of organising the hierarchy in 
this way are: 

þ specialisation and expertise; 
þ operational efficiencies; 
þ accountability for an area of the operation; 
þ clarity or role; and 
þ clear career and development.  

The disadvantages of organising the hierarchy in this way are: 

þ rigid communication focused on own area; 
þ departments can become resistant to change; 
þ co-ordination maybe slow and inflexible; 
þ too much focus on the area rather than the business; 
þ poor horizontal communication; and 
þ each area looks after its own interests  - territorial. 

4.2.4 Further Considerations for Hierarchies 

Overall, the first thing you should perhaps keep in mind is that heirarchies are often not just 
a single basis.  As you go into the detail of an area or move down through the structure you 
can find a different model. However, there are still some general considerations when 
designing or working in a hierarchical structure. The recent trend has been to “fatten out” 
as far as possible, empowering people and making communication and control faster. 
However, there is some current thinking that suggests that “taller” can be better as it can 
give people a sense of place and clarity about what their area of work and responsibility 
actually is so they can focus on this more. The span of control refers to how many people 
report into one person. This will depend upon the type of work and the level to which it is 
process driven as opposed to needing a lot of supervision and decision making. The longer 
the chain of command, the slower communication and decision making can be. 
Consideration should be given as to where breaks in the chain should be put in order to 
enable faster decision making. Linked with this is the level of delegated authority to give. 
Different structures will allow different levels to work. So, with a functional structure, there 
may be a conflict if, for example, production want to recruit staff themselves – an HR 
function. In a similar way, there is the question of empowering people. Both delegation and 
empowerment, if done correctly, should improve the efficiency of the hierarchical 
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structure.  In some ways, a hierarchy can make these clearer as you are setting out when 
the standard route up and down the chain of command is being changed.  

4.3 Team Structures 

An obvious example of a team structure is when there is a series of projects, each team 
being a project team in its own right. They can become very self-contained and may have 
no interaction with other teams in the organisation, though there is likely to be a need for 
some shared functions such as finance or HR.  In a lot of ways, a partnership could be seen 
as a team structure. 

The example used is the concept of a 
consultancy company - at its centre there is 
an MD, but then around this are sector 
based teams. These are of different sizes 
and their size could ebb and flow 
dependent upon how successful they are in 
generating income. They are not 
dependent upon other teams so changes 
will not necessarily affect others. This also 
means that each team may be managed 
completely independently of any other 
team. That doesn't mean that teams can’t be set up which may be aligned – e.g. shipping 
with financial services in the area of overseas trade. Some teams will have sub teams 
working as part of the larger team and may be connected to more than one other team – 
so facilities management is also linked to education and green energy. Finally, some areas 
may have more than one team, though; again, each could change independently of the 
other. The flexibility this brings can also work well in an organisation dealing with 
development. So, for example, a marketing company might set up a team for a specific 
campaign or client; it could then be disbanded once the campaign was over or if the 
client then went elsewhere. This combination of self-containment and flexibility can make 
the team approach very powerful in a fast-moving world. Team structures will often come 
in at the lower end of a structure, even a hierarchical one.  

The advantages of a team structure are: 

þ highly flexible;  
þ self-contained; 
þ can maximise group working; 
þ minimise management; 
þ problem solving; 
þ less cross- organisation conflict; and 
þ good for moral and belonging. 

The disadvantages of a team structure include:  

þ teams need to know how to work in this way; 
þ need good team leadership; 
þ can be isolated from rest of the business;  
þ instability and change; 
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þ lack of standardisation across organisation; and 
þ can be hard to move between teams. 

4.4 Network Structures 

It could be argued that this isn't a structure as there is no formal command and control. 
However, it is a structure in the sense that it is an operational arrangement. At the large end 
these could be a joint venture, strategic alliance research group etc. 

This example uses the potential example of a training company. 
Whilst the centre of the diagram has an owner, each person in 
the network could see themselves at the centre. There can be a 
variation on this where there may be shared resources at the 
centre of the network which does all the co-ordination and may 
bring people together to tender for business etc. and then take 
some form of commission or maybe membership fee as 
compensation. In this network, some of the others are clearly 
suppliers – so a printer for a training company - others will be co-
workers or associates with whom the owner works on a mutually beneficial basis. These may 
have other links to the same network or may have a wider network of their own. Some links 
may be more important or stronger than others and may lead into another or wider 
network.  

The advantages of a network structure include:  

þ brings advantages of a larger business to a micro one; 
þ eliminates having too many departments; 
þ minimises administration; 
þ allows experts to work together; 
þ flexible; and 
þ inexpensive.  

The disadvantages of a network structure include:  

þ needs excellent communication; 
þ relies a lot on technology;  
þ not clear who is in charge; 
þ self-interest only – conflict; 
þ no real business; 
þ lack of secrecy; 
þ hard to co-ordinate; and 
þ loss of control. 
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4.5 Matrix Structures 

In considering these structures a combination of 
the other structures needs to be considered. 
Rather than having a hierarchical reporting 
structure, there is a grid pattern which allows for 
working across areas linking people together for a 
specific task. This can also bring in the idea of a 
matrix management, where an individual may 
report to different areas for different parts of his 
role.  This can, however, lead to a lot of issues.  This structure can allow an organisation to 
be a lot more pragmatic in the way it is set up, having a mixture of shared functions as well 
as, for example, a product area.  

The advantages of a matrix structure include:  

þ fast response to change;  
þ strong co-ordination;  
þ allows areas to share and work together; 
þ flexible use of resources; and 
þ decentralised decisions. 

The disadvantages of a matrix structure include:  

þ increased complexity; 
þ there can be conflicting loyalties; 
þ confused authority; 
þ high administration; and 
þ group decisions. 

4.6 Hybrid Structures 

This pulls from all the other models. It aims to 
take the ideal structure for the work to be 
done – so there will be project teams, or 
networks of researchers, involved in wider 
networks outside of the organisation. This 
could be a difficult model to manage in 
practice, and an underlying layer of 
management under which variations could 
exist is desirable. 

This is ideal for an organisation which, for example, needs to manufacture and sell in a 
structured way, but also wants to run research and projects in order to develop new 
products and business. This model would start with the MD and some standard business 
areas. These would have their teams working for them, but, for some areas, there would 
also be the need for an organisation design for the type of work being done e.g. research 
as a separate area with the network for this being outside of the organisation and a project 
area which is team-based and whose people may change over time.  These particular 
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projects will close once that work has been completed and then a new project and new 
team will be formed. There may be a matrix between teams.  

4.7 Other Organisational Structures 

Organisations may be the village or a community for people and not just an efficient way 
of production and making money. There will, therefore, be many ways it can end up being 
structured or evolve. Technology and communication is opening up a range of other 
potential set ups. Some examples could include;  

þ Remote: where there are semi independent groups. 
þ No manager: these may be groups with no allotted manager – they self-select the 

work and get on with it – often someone may co-ordinate and monitor, but may 
have no formal control. 

þ Spaghetti: has multiple reporting lines – generally as a consequence rather than a 
design! 

þ Virtual: are fully technology enabled and work similar to teams or network structures 
with high levels of autonomy. 

5. Functional Areas 

Functions are different parts of a business, all of which are required to make the business 
work. It needs to be kept in mind that these may be very small, maybe carried out by one 
person or maybe outsourced – e.g. finance to an accountant – or a shared function across 
a large business. This does not mean that these are specific jobs or people, but the activity 
will be needed to some degree. The reasons a business has functional areas can be 
summarised as follows: 

þ it needs these functions within its system; 
þ enables tasks to be grouped;  
þ distributes workloads; 
þ recognises and builds specialisms and expertise; 
þ enables controls and checks; and 
þ specialist management expertise. 

Functional areas deal with specific groups of tasks within the business; this means it is clear 
who deals with what. This in turn means work can be distributed across the organisation 
and volumes of work and work flow compared and balanced. With the work grouped, the 
necessary expertise can be recruited or developed. This should develop more efficient and 
professional working practices. On the back of all this, controls and checks can be put in 
place.  In a lot of cases these will be set by the actual function as part of the professional 
practice. Finally, it can be ensured that you have management relevant to the area of 
expertise rather than just general management. All this remains true whether the functions 
are carried out by two people, are across a large organisation or group, or outsourced. 

Businesses will vary in the actual functional areas and also in the job roles and structures to 
implement them. Generally, most organisations will have some version of the following 
functions.  Again, this can be thought of as a system, bounded by the organisation and 
what it seeks to achieve. 
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þ Production or manufacturing: to be taken in the widest sense of the product, which 
could be advice. 

þ Sales and Marketing: you always need to be gaining new business. 
þ Administration: most organisations have someone who, at least, looks after the post, 

the running of the office etc. This can be a very complex and expert area in a large 
organisation 

þ HR: not only for day-to-day personnel issues and payroll, but also to ensure legal 
requirements are being met. 

þ Finance: in very small businesses this can often be outsourced to a book keeper or 
accountant. In a large one it could include debt collection and production of 
company and management accounts. 

þ Communications: this often links with marketing , the difference often being 
communications is internally facing.  

þ ICT: most organisations need technology to support modern working. 

These areas could be separate functions or contained in other areas if required. For 
instance, operations may just be a result of HR, Admin and customer service; 
communication could sit in marketing and there may not be a need for distribution as such. 
Going back to the introduction, it can be useful to recognise all these functions as being 
part of the business system.  

5.1 A System 

All functional areas have to work together to a set of 
common goals and objectives and they all impact on each 
other to various degrees. This is still true even when some 
might be outside of the immediate business being a 
centralised service or outsourced.  This is important in both 
designing and running a business. An essential element here 
being effective communication between each component 
part of the system, usually requiring a multiple channel 
approach. It can also mean healthy competition and conflict as each area pursues its own 
performance, but there then needs to be an overall leadership, decision making, to pull it 
all together. 

5.2 Production Planning 

This is about making sure you can meet the work demands that have been generated. It 
should be kept in mind that this will pull on resources from across the business.  

The following areas should be considered (this list is not exhaustive): 

þ deciding what will be made – the products or service; 
þ timescales and volumes; 
þ allocation of who will do what; 
þ management of materials and resources; and 
þ scheduling of resources. 
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5.3 Production Delivery 

This is about producing the service - the research, the drafting of the bill, the budget etc. 
This is also about delivering that service to the client – necessary meetings and discussions 
etc. Understanding this area is perhaps more straightforward in a manufacturing company. 
However, trends are coming from manufacturing into service industries and professional 
organisations such as lean management and processes, “just in time” working and Kanban 
boards. In a number of areas, this part of the production will require close working with 
other functions, such as administration, finance and customer service.  

Here your considerations will include: 

þ monitoring of cost of delivery; 
þ resourcing delivery;  
þ physical production of the service or product;  
þ provision of support and administration;  
þ monitoring service delivery; 
þ delivery to the customer; and  
þ controlling quality. 

5.4 Sales and Marketing 

This will include: 

þ market research; 
þ marketing communications; 
þ managing the customer database; 
þ promotions; 
þ sales activities;  
þ managing enquiries; and 
þ generating leads. 

Even sole traders who may not have a separate sales and marketing function will 
undertake market research, networking, advertising and sales.  In larger organisations, 
there is likely to be a marketing and/or sales department which may also be guardian of 
the company brand, even setting standards for fonts, issuing templates etc. as well as 
providing marketing and finding sales. In larger corporate organisations, this may also 
control product management and will be the driving force of the organisation. Don’t 
forget, this is also about increasing the amount of business from current clients; in fact, this is 
often more profitable. Without sales, there is no business. 

5.5 Administration 

This function is often decentralised in that administrative staff work in all departments, 
cleaning and security may be sub-contracted, maintenance may be in a separate 
‘Estates’ department in large organisations. There is often a perceived crossover with HR – 
for example, in health and safety where legal responsibility lies with the senior managers 
and all employees have a legal responsibility under the Health and Safety at Work Act 
1974. However, administrators may be responsible for routine paperwork such as accident 
reports and risk assessments. This area will often have staff with a great deal of expertise 
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and who will ensure an organisation is following the rules, whether they are its own or 
regulatory.  

This function may include: 

þ clerical work, e.g. post, record keeping; 
þ security; 
þ health and safety; 
þ cleaning and maintenance; 
þ dealing with post, faxes, general emails; 
þ organising meetings, facilities, events, visitors etc;   
þ making travel arrangements; and 
þ managing stationery. 

5.6 Human Resources 

This area may include the following functions: 

þ recruitment, induction, retention and dismissal; 
þ health and safety; 
þ training, development and promotion; 
þ employee organisations and unions; 
þ maintaining staff records; 
þ grievance and disciplinary actions; and 
þ advising on legal rights and responsibilities. 

This handout doesn’t cover the expectations of employees and performance 
management in any detail.  In a large organisation, this would be the first point of contact 
for all job applicants. Working conditions relate to the facilities available, hours of work, pay 
rates etc.. Continual training and development is a key feature of many organisations, but 
is often more structured in larger organisations where there is also more scope for 
promotion. This area has to perform a balanced and even-handed role – often there needs 
to be a balance between protecting the employee, employer and adhering to the law.  

5.7 Finance 

Finance is a critical functional area because, if the company fails to make a profit, it will not 
survive. It is also key to regularly issue invoices and chase up poor payers to make sure that 
the cash flows into the company; it is often seen that poor cash flow is the major financial 
issue to businesses, especially small businesses, and poor cash flow is often the cause for 
business failure.  

The functions of this area may include: 

þ preparing accounts, e.g. management accounts, financial accounts for 
shareholders and Inland Revenue; 

þ paying bills and issuing invoices; 
þ preparing wages and salaries; 
þ managing department budgets; 
þ preparing financial forecasts; and  
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þ obtaining capital, resources and reviews. 

5.8 IT 

IT support for hardware, software, applications, electronic communications and electronic 
transactions may include the following: 

þ electronic transactions (e.g. EFT); 
þ PC systems and office software; 
þ online support for customers (e.g. order tracking); 
þ electronic communications; 
þ security systems (e.g. virus protection); 
þ external communications; and  
þ data sharing (e.g. databases). 

There need to be ICT facilities, although the range may be more limited in some businesses. 
It is now hard to conceive how a business in this modern world would survive without ICT. 
There is a huge range of systems available, from fully bespoke to free open source. As a 
sole trader, it is possible to set up a professional ICT capability at low cost with little 
knowledge.  Even as a small business it could be worth bringing in a consultant to advise 
and help set up your ICT. Always keep in mind the issues of data protection - both from the 
legal angle and also from the perspective of holding client and personal information.   

5.9 Communications 

This is more likely to be a function or area in larger organisations.  However, even in the 
smaller organisations there is a need for this to be managed effectively. Communication is 
key to all business operations. The scope is very wide in this area and will often be 
dependent upon the organisation for style and content. Sometimes internal 
communication will simply provide the media, but, in others, it will shape all 
communications.  

5.10 Functional Variations 

No two businesses are the same and functions will vary because of: 

þ size and scale of business; 
þ activities of business; 
þ type(s) of customers; 
þ needs of customers; and 
þ preferences of owner(s). 

It is important to think of function as both activities and responsibilities to be carried out and 
potentially roles and jobs. The former applies to all organisations and the various functions 
will be needed on some scale or level. The latter is more about structure and the 
organisational design. There is no right or wrong in how the functions are represented in an 
organisation - it comes down to a number of factors and even personal choice of those in 
control. These are some of the possible factors that can help decide on functional areas 
needed or desired. 
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A large business which operates on an international basis may even be structured into 
different divisions, based on geographical location. A business which deals purely with 
industrial customers is likely to be different to one which deals with the public. Above all, 
the owner may wish to structure the company to suit his own preferences. Providing all the 
key activities are undertaken and there is co-operation and interaction between these 
areas, this is not a problem. 

6. Teams 

Some consideration will now be given to teams, their structure and the team roles or 
functions that are needed within them. 

6.1 Team Structure 

Within any structural design there will be teams of some sort, even if not formally set up or 
operating virtually.  Having considered the organisational level structure, the macro level 
structures should be considered – that is, the structure at the level of the team. Most 
organisations would see the units within their organisational areas as being a team – 
whether they are within division, functions or even as a centralised one person owned 
organisation. It is therefore necessary to consider whether you need to establish, work 
within or manage a team – maybe all three.  

Consider: 

þ What does it mean to you? 
þ What is your role as a leader? 

6.2 Definitions 

The following definitions may help with the understanding of what is meant by a ‘team’. 

“In a general sense people talk of teamwork when they want to emphasise the virtues of 
co-operation and the need to make use of the various strengths of employees.” 

Acas – Teamwork: Success through people download 14/1/11 
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=835 

Katzenbach and Smith define a workplace team as: 

‘a team is a small number of people with complimentary skills who are committed to a 
common purpose, common performance goals, and common approach for which they 

hold themselves mutually accountable’ 

The Wisdom of Teams (1994) Harper Business 

6.3 Group or Team 

One way to consider this is to think about the difference between a group of people 
working together and a group working as a team.  
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Work Group: A group that interacts 
primarily to share information and 
to make decisions to help each 
group member perform within his or 
her area. 

Work Team: A group whose 
individual efforts result in a 
performance that is greater than 
the sum of the individual inputs. 

  

 

Robbins, SP (2005:273) Organizational Behaviour (11th ed).  Pearson Prentice Hall :New Jersey. 

6.4 Types of Team 

þ Problem solving teams;  
þ Self-managed teams ; 
þ Cross functional teams; 
þ Virtual teams.  

6.4.1 Problem solving teams  

Groups of 5 to 12 employees from the same department who meet for 
a few hours each week to discuss ways of improving quality, 
efficiency and the work environment. These rarely have the authority 
to unilaterally implement any of their suggestions/actions. In a sense, 
they need a sponsor who can take it forward.  

6.4.2 Self-managed teams  

Groups of 10 to 15 people who take on responsibilities as supervisor or manager within the 
team itself. Typically, this includes: 

þ planning and scheduling of work; 
þ assigning tasks to members;  
þ collective control over the pace of work;  
þ making operating decisions;  
þ taking actions on problems; and  
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þ working with suppliers and customers. 

6.4.3 Cross functional teams  

Employees from about the same hierarchical level, but 
from different work areas, who come together to 
accomplish a task. These can be difficult to manage and it 
takes time to build trust and teamwork. 

6.4.4 Virtual teams  

Teams that use computer technology to tie together physically dispersed 
members in order to achieve a common goal. They allow people to 
collaborate online – using communication links like wide-area networks, 
video conferencing and/or or e-mail – whether they’re only a room 
away or continents apart. 

6.5 Tuckman model of a team lifecycle 

Dr Bruce Tuckman published his Forming Storming Norming Performing model in 1965. He 
added a fifth stage, Adjourning, in the 1970s. The Forming Storming Norming Performing 
theory is an elegant and helpful explanation of team development and behaviour. 

 

Storming 

Norming  

Performing   

 
Adjourning 

Forming  
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6.5.1 Forming 

The team initially comes together. This may be as a group or as a slow build up. They will 
bring all sorts of expectations and requirements with them. They are likely to be polite, 
interested and positive about what is coming. They will want to know what they can 
expect from their leadership and the style the leader is going to adopt. This moves a group 
of individuals into a team. 

6.5.2 Storming 

Confidence has built and now people want to have their say. Team members will have 
different opinions as to how the team should operate. This can be a tough time for teams. 
The impact does vary. It may happen so fast that you hardly notice it in some teams, whilst 
in others it will take much longer before the impact takes effect. In effective teams the 
members will understand the conflict and the fact that is it just part of normal team 
development which needs to be dealt with. They will actively listen to each other and 
navigate an agreed way forwards.  Other teams may disintegrate as they bolster their own 
opinions to weather the storms of the group. Coming out of this phase, a team should be 
stronger, with a better understanding of each other and how they will work together as a 
team. 

6.5.3 Norming 

The team will now start to bed into their roles and work to a shared understanding . With 
guidance from the leader, individuals will find their places and how they will function as 
part of a structured group. A hierarchy and organisational structure will now settle in place. 

6.5.4 Performing 

Now the team really starts to deliver. The team now focuses on delivery, rather than sorting 
themselves out as a group. Team loyalty should be building and they can work on more 
complex tasks and assignments. As delivery progresses, there is nothing to say that a new 
forming stage might emerge as new members join the team or structures change; or even 
a new storming phase if the situation occurs. 

6.5.5 Adjourning 

All teams come to an end, especially in projects. There is a need at this point to move on 
and let go. This can be hard on people if the team has worked well and has been together 
for some time; it can be akin to a mourning phase. It is important that lessons are learnt and 
people move on to their next teams without the feeling that it will never be as good again.  

 

 

 

 



Chapter 5 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ how to draft a business strategy; and 
þ the structure and content of a business plan.  
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5.1 Business Strategy  

1. Introduction 

Before considering the detail of setting up a new business, or transforming an existing one, 
you need to have some idea which direction the business should be heading in. Like any 
journey, the precise detail may differ once it has set off, but, initially, you need to have 
some idea of the general direction and what you are looking to find when it gets there. 
Then you can set objectives to help you identify how you are going to get the business 
there.    

For now, this can be called a strategy, a term defined by Collins as: 

“A particular long-term plan for success, especially in business or politics” 

Collins 1998: 1516 

How long ‘long-term’ is debated in management studies, but, generally, and, for now, you 
can take it as being more than a few years.  

Once the strategy of a business is determined, consideration should be given as to how this 
direction and context can be turned into something a bit more specific and attainable. 
This should be ‘pinned down’ through setting objectives. The Chartered Management 
Insitute defines this as: 

“an end towards which effort is directed and resources are focused. “ 

These objectives may then go into a business plan. 

2. The Market 

In getting some idea of the strategic direction, you will need to undertake an 
environmental analysis. In the “Financial Times Guide to Writing a Business Plan”, it states  

“Part 1 [preparing your plan] concludes by setting out what needs to be done before kick-
off – research in particular, but also organisation. Research may need to be conducted in 
assessing market size and growth trends, what your competitors are up to and what your 

customers expect of your business, both now and in the future.” 

Evan 2011: xv 

Specially, consideration should be given to the PESTLE analysis of the environment, the 
marketplace you are going into and Porter’s Five Forces to analyse the competitor 
situation.  Consideration should also be given to the SWOT analysis, more specially the “OT” 
as a way to pull this analysis together.  

As far as the Financial Times is concerned then: 
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“The analysis of market demand must come right up front in your business plan. It is the crux 
of the plan. If there aren’t enough buyers of the type of products or services you offer, at 

the right price, you won’t meet your plan.” 

Evan 2011: 42 

3. The 7Ps of Marketing 

Another way to consider your strategy, more specifically what it is you are going to be 
offering in terms of product or service, is to use a standard marketing strategic planning 
tool - 7Ps. This is a model that was extended from an original 4 Ps, by Booms and Bitner, to 
cover services as well as products and provides a way of understanding your customer 
proposition. It enables you to consider from a number of angles what exactly it is the 
business is going to be ‘selling’ and the customer experience. This will build on your market 
analysis and, with the internal analysis or design, help you shape the business in your plan. 

The 7Ps that you need to consider are: 

Price The pricing strategy you will adopt – for example cost plus. Loss 
leader, market drive or premium? 

Place Where are you going to be, how will you get your service or 
product to the client? 

Product What is it? How far along the service value chain will you go, what 
is the range of products or services? 

Promotion How is the client going to hear about you and what you can do 
for them? 

People We have covered structures and functions, so what will you need 
to have in place or sourced? 

Process Again, thinking back to structures, how will the work flow through 
the business? 

Physical 
Evidence 

What is the physical environment like? This is especially important 
with a service to make it tangible 

As an alternative to this, consideration may be given to the service and the following 
should be examined as a way to develop the proposition: 

þ who;  
þ what;  
þ where; 
þ when;  
þ how; and, potentially, 
þ why. 

4. Organisational Structure 

Once you have an idea of the market you are aiming at, and the proposition (service and 
product) that you are looking to deliver to this market, you need to consider the 
organisational structure. This includes the functional areas that will be needed to support 
this. This will enable you to think about the people you will need to have in place – who 
may be employed, part of a larger organisation, networked or a supplier to you. 
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5.2 Business Plan Template 

1. Introduction 

There is a template version of this document which you can use as the basis for any 
business plan and the report you may want to produce for the assignment. Feel free to 
alter it in any way you wish as this is only one version of what this document could look like. 
You will find other layouts and contents on the internet, in sets of templates, or perhaps in 
the organisation you work for. 

As you consider the layout you should think back to the elements covered so far in the 
module. Some of the areas still need to be covered in more detail, but it is useful to 
consider, within context, how the information which you have already studied can be 
used. 

2. Table of Contents  

Providing this is set up appropriately, this can be updated automatically within Word. It can 
be a good way to check the logical flow of the document. Remember, within this 
document you are trying to take people along a path to the conclusion you want so it 
needs to flow and build as it goes. 

3. Executive Summary 

Some people may only read this section before arriving at a decision so it needs to give a 
clear message, but don't make it too long. This is like the headline and opening paragraph 
in an article; it needs to capture attention and make the reader want to read more. 

4. Background 

Set out how you came to the conclusions you have. Set a context for the rest of the 
document. Treat this as an introduction. 

5. Business Proposition 

Here, you should remember to use the models and concepts covered on the module. 
These are meant to make things clearer to your audience. Feel free to use others outside of 
the course materials if they work for you. 

6. Market Opportunity 

Here you are setting out the market place you are going into. This may only be part of the 
wider market, may set new boundaries for the market by linking previously unconnected 
client groups together or be a completely new area. You are setting boundaries here for 
your venture. Again, you should refer to appropriate models here. 
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7. Proposition or Product Plan 

Here you should aim to make it clear to people exactly what it is that you are taking to 
market. 

8. Marketing Plan 

So, if the last section made it clear what you are taking to market and the previous one set 
out the boundaries for the market along with an analysis of it, this section says how you will 
bring these two together to sell in that market. This should build on the previous sections. 

9. Operational Plan 

Having said how you will take the venture to market, you are now looking back at the 
organisational structure and model you need to have in place to support doing so. 

10. Financial Plan 

Will it all pay in the end? This is the crux for a lot of your stakeholders. 

11. Assumptions, Risks and Milestones 

This section, as much as anything, should show some of the depth of the strategy and 
proposals. It should also outline the structure of your thinking in the project or venture. 

12. Conclusions and recommendations 

This section should pull it all together and tell people what you need from them, if anything, 
to make it happen. This section sometimes needs to be explicit. 
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Executive Summary 

This section will provide an overview of:  

þ The business proposition. 
þ The opportunity and justification. 
þ The proposition or product.  
þ Unique features of the business, product or service. 
þ Route to market. 
þ Capabilities of management team. 
þ Key financial data. 
þ Key implementation steps and dates. 
þ A conclusion. 
þ A call to action. 

 

Overall, this should follow the order of the main report. By the end of this section the reader 
should have a clear picture of what it is you are aiming to take to market and why they 
should support this. This should also result in their being keen to read the rest of the report. 
This section should be presented in such a way that it can be read in isolation of the main 
report, as it is a summary of it. In practice, it will be the last section written. 

Background 

The background should describe the present position of the business, even if not yet 
existing, including: 

þ Current products and services. 
þ Alternatively, the background / experience of those establishing the business. 
þ Current customer base / network. 
þ Previous and current business performance. 
þ Factors influencing the current business position that have led to the new/revised 

business plan. 
þ Business aims. 
þ Overview business environment. 

 

Business Proposition 

This is a description of the business, product or service that you intend to take to market. 
This may include: 

þ Business mission and values. 
þ Business objectives. 
þ Description of the products or services offered. 
þ Unique characteristics and selling points. 
þ Price points and turnover. 
þ Distribution channel. 
þ Critical Success Factors. 
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How much detail is included at this stage may depend upon the level of detail your 
business design has reached. The aim is to include whatever is required to give people a 
clear picture of what it is you are planning to take to market and to get them engaged 
enough to support you in this. 

You will need to have enough to convince potential stakeholders that you have worked 
the proposition through in enough detail to be certain it is viable.  

Throughout the business plan, you need evidence of analysis and research if you are 
looking to get others to sign up to it. If there is lot of supporting detail put this into the 
appendices, referenced in the main text. 

Market Opportunity  

This area of the report is aimed at convincing the audience that you understand your 
market and that it is viable for the business or product you are proposing.  

It should include elements of the following: 

þ Industry or sector background, e.g: 
o Investors may not be specialists in this area of business. 
o If the business is under an ABS your partners may not be lawyers or law 

experts. 
þ Analysis of the market environment, e.g: 

o Opportunities in the current market. 
o Size of the market, and how it is segmented. 
o Growth trends related to the target market. 
o PESTLE. 

þ Competitive analysis, e.g: 
o Main competitors and propositions. 
o Barrier to entry and potential cost implications.  
o Distribution channels.  
o Porter’s Five Forces. 

þ Business differentiation, e.g: 
o Where your proposed business is unique in the market. 
o Differentiation in target markets. 
o Differences culture or approach. 
o Product mix. 
o Delivery channels. 
 

Proposition or Product Plan 

This area is to set out more detail on the proposition, products and services.  It should define 
the functionality necessary to meet the needs of the market, and how it will stand out from 
the competition.  

This could include: 
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þ Business processes to be covered.  
þ Scope if a proposition. 
þ Product features – e.g. look and feel, scope, portability, customisation, etc. 
þ Release schedule. 
þ Make or buy. 
þ Sourcing strategy. 
þ Control strategy and proposition development. 

 

This section may include detail on production or you may put this into the Operational Plan 
section. 

Marketing Plan 

This is the plan that responds to the market analysis and opportunity. This is how you are 
going to exploit the market and how you are going to sell into the market the proposition 
and related products(s) you have explained.  

The overarching starting point for this plan will be your marketing objectives or set of 
objectives. Remember to keep these SMART (see Academic Handbook) and focused. Your 
objectives could include: 

þ Target market segments.  
þ Volumes. 
þ Market share. 
þ Income. 
þ Leads and related sales volumes. 

 

In setting out the marketing plan, you may want to follow the well-established 7Ps 
marketing mix model. This means you will consider seven areas when considering how to 
reach your market and target audiences: 

þ Products: What will you be selling? 
þ Place: Where will you position it in order to reach your audience? 
þ Price: What is a price that will make it attractive and give you a good return? This 

does not mean the cheapest you can and may not be the same for all segments if 
you target more than one.  

þ Promotion: How will you get the word out and inform people about your business 
and services? 

þ People: Who are your stakeholders? Who are your staff? How do you need to 
interact with and develop them? 

þ Processes: How will the product and service be delivered? 
þ Physical Evidence: What is the environment like and how can your service be 

tangible?  
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Operations Plan  

What is the operational structure and processes that will support delivery of the products 
and services? This section should set this out and include the business structure and high 
level processes.  

This may include the following: 

þ The resource requirements for provision of the service and products as well as 
marketing and sales. 

þ Skill requirements for the required staff resources. 
þ Recruitment and training plan for staff support resources. 
þ Support facilities required such as IT, advertising etc. 
þ Management resources and roles. 

These may be sourced or provided internally. 

As the business plan is aimed at gaining support from stakeholder for the proposed venture, 
then it can be very useful to include a section here on the proposed management 
structure and capability, as this will certainly have an impact on potential investors. 

You may want to include any HR plans or alternatively y there could be a separate HR plan 
dependent upon how many staff are required and how complex this part of the business 
will be. 

Financial Plan 

Any business venture, be it a profit based business or a charity, needs to be concerned with 
the financial side of the venture.  

We have covered various ways in which you can present financial predictions and 
performance. The ones you select to use will be based on a range of criteria going from 
those you like and understand, to those expected by the stakeholder who will read the 
report.  

Generally, this section of the business plan is aimed to give those stakeholders confidence 
that the venture will survive and, at some stage (hopefully in the not too distant future) start 
to produce a return on investment and then on running costs.  

As well as the ratios and measures described in the course or elsewhere, this section could 
also include: 

þ Set up costs of establishing the new venture. 
þ Capital costs.  
þ Costs of running the on-going business. 
þ Cash flow analysis. 
þ Internal or external funding required and the cost of this. 
þ Income or revenue predicted.  
þ Profit forecasts. 
þ Break even points. 
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þ Return on investments.  
þ Financial controls. 

Here, it would be good to have more than one scenario; as a minimum a best, worst and 
most likely case. Modelling the business in a spreadsheet which can carry out ‘what if’ 
analysis can be of value here. Detailed scenarios can be put in the appendices. 

Whilst there is a section on assumptions at the end of the document, you may wish to 
consider putting specific assumptions related to the financial impacts and return in this 
section. 

Implementation Plan and Milestones 

Whether the plan relates to a completely new venture or a product launch, you will need 
to set out plans for making it happen. At this stage, we are not looking for a full set of 
project plans, but an outline of how you will bring the venture to market.  

This should show at least; 

þ Detail all of the milestones (key stages / achievements) associated with 
development of the product/service and launch to the market. 

þ Proposed overall timescales, broken into stages if it makes sense to do so. 
þ Main approval points for progression and who is to approve. 
þ Major dependencies. 

 

Assumptions, Risks and Issues 

In any venture, you should set out the assumptions that underpin your forecasts. As well as 
demonstrating to the reader you have thought these through, it also provides them with a 
chance to validate or question your assumptions and maybe provide others that you 
should take into account.  

Some of the areas you could include are assumptions around: 

þ Costs (though see note above). 
þ Profit margins. 
þ Product availability. 
þ Resource availability.  
þ Future trends.  
þ Market size and changes. 

 

A new venture will have some degree of risk (events that could endanger the success of 
the venture) even if it is just a simple product launch. These need to be identified as far in 
advance as possible and a response(s) put in place. You should look to as wide an 
audience as possible to help you identify risks. There are two elements to consider when 
analysing a risk: its likelihood of occurring and the impact if it does. This will allow you to 
assess how important it is. Fundamentally, there are four responses you can take to a risk: 
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• Avoid it: by changing what you are doing so that it can no longer occur – e.g. 
change scope. 

• Reduce it: take actions to lessen its likelihood or its impact – e.g. contingency plans. 
• Transfer it: move the risk to another area to take responsibility for its occurrence or 

consequences  – e.g. insure against it. 
• Accept it: decide it is worth taking and that there is no action that should / could be 

carried out in advance e.g. just monitor it. 

This section of the report should highlight the large risks and responses, whilst all risks 
identified should be in the appendices, usually in the form of a chart of the likelihood, 
potential impact, response(s) and who is responsible for managing the risk and review 
dates. You may decide to show only the major risks if there is a long list; also, if there is a 
very long list then maybe you need to rethink your venture? 

Conculsions and Recommendations 

You should finish off your report with a set of conclusions and recommendations. You may 
want to replace this with a Way Forward section. This should not bring in new materials, but 
be based on the body of the report. It should include any key messages you want the 
reader to take away from the report. Finally, if looking for formal support, it should set out 
recommendations based on the conclusions of the report. Try to put required actions into 
this area so it is clear what you actually want others to do.  

Appendices 

Any supporting information and evidence should be contained here. The report should 
stand on its own without the appendices, but the appendices should contain any 
evidence others may be looking for to support statements and analysis in the report. 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 6 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ describe management and leadership styles;  
þ explain what is meant by legal project management and explain its 

relevance to the role of a costs lawyer; and 
þ describe the importance of budgets to law firms.  
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6.1 Management and Leadership  

1. Introduction 

To make any sense of the popular models of leadership and management you need to 
think about a core question: 

“What is leadership and management?” 

The definitions of leadership and management vary from author to author and from model 
to model, with some emphasising control of economic factors (cost of labour, finance, 
equipment and raw materials), some focusing on the control of individuals at work and 
others promoting the manager’s role in controlling organisations as machines that perform 
a process. 

What they all have in common, however, is that they use the term leadership and 
management in two different ways: 

þ commonly the term is used to refer to a class of people at the workplace/in the 
organisation (i.e. “the leadership and management”) that has the connotation of 
people in positions of privilege and power over others; and 

þ the term leadership and management is also used to refer to a process that may 
involve the accomplishment of certain organisational goals through the organising 
of people, ideas, systems and information. 

Chambers and Coopey (1990) argue that the idea of leadership and management is not: 

“…solely directed at those who carry the formal title of “manager” but is addressed at all 
who have the responsibility for the process of managing whatever their official title. Broadly 

this includes people with responsibility for others, for committing resources and for linking 
their part of the organisation with the broader context.“ 

A good operational definition of leadership and management is therefore: 

“an outstanding member of a group who has the capability to create conditions within 
which all members feel a strong commitment towards achieving accepted objectives in a 

given environment” 

Betts, P, W. 2000 

Or, alternatively: 

“Leadership is not the property of the leader (as many have argued) – nor (as some have 
suggested) of the followers. It is what happens between people in a particular moment or 

situation. It is a social process.” 

Binney et al 2005 

A process:  
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þ requiring active doing and reflection; 
þ normally characterised by an element of guardianship or custody over the task or 

project or group or resources; 
þ which implies a degree of overall responsibility for outcomes; 
þ concerned with achieving desired outcomes and objectives. 

2. Management or Leadership  

There is always an ongoing debate about what is management and what is leadership. To 
a large part they could be viewed as ends of a scale with a fair amount of overlap in the 
middle. Some would argue, though, that they are very different things.  For example, Kotter 
has argued that some people can be managers, but not leaders and vice versa.  

Some views on the difference include: 

“Whether it ... [is] called ‘management’ or ‘leadership’ was, strictly speaking, an issue of 
semantics and secondary in importance”. 

John Adair 2005:27 

“There is some disagreement about the differences between management and leadership 
.. some experts consider that there is no distinction (e.g. Henry Mintzberg) ..many others 

think the two should be separated..” 

CMI 2011 

Others have differentiated a little more, such as Warren Bennis: 

þ The manager administers; the leader innovates.  
þ The manager is a copy; the leader is an original.  
þ The manager maintains; the leader develops.  
þ The manager focuses on systems and structure; the leader focuses on people.  
þ The manager relies on control; the leader inspires trust.  
þ The manager has a short-range view; the leader has a long-range perspective.  
þ The manager asks how and when; the leader asks what and why.  
þ The manager has his eye always on the bottom line; the leader has his eye on the 

horizon.  
þ The manager imitates; the leader originates.  
þ The manager accepts the status quo; the leader challenges it.  
þ The manager is the classic good soldier; the leader is his own person.  
þ The manager does things right; the leader does the right thing.                                                                                           

Bennis, W.  1998:45 

Over time, theories of management and leadership have changed. This is a reflection of 
the development of management science and capability, but also in some ways, a 
reflection of changes in society and the expectations of its members.  
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Initial consideration in this handout is on three of the most popular and historically important 
theories of leadership and management. Subsequently, consideration will be given to more 
specific models of transaction versus transformational leadership. 

For now, consideration will be given to the following theories: 

þ classical; 
þ human relations; and 
þ systems. 

2.1 The classical management theories 

The classical models of leadership and management emerged during the late nineteenth 
and early twentieth centuries. Around this time, production and work organisation became 
increasingly concentrated in large centres (particularly factories) and problems arose in 
them that had not previously been encountered such as: 

þ organising supervisory structures for relatively large organisations; 
þ recruitment and training of workers; 
þ increased specialisation of labour; 
þ scheduling complex multi person operations; and 
þ dealing with increasing labour dissatisfaction. 

Alongside the increasing use of the scientific approach to everyday life, such an approach 
was adopted by managers and leadership and management theorists who believed that 
all of their problems could be solved by adopting a scientific and rational approach to 
managing that sought to make organisations efficient operating machines. The main 
strands of classical theory were very much associated with leadership and management 
theorists who all argued that their way was the best way to organise work in any 
organisation. The main theorists and approaches are set out below. 

2.1.1 Scientific leadership and management approach - F.W.Taylor (1856-
1915) 

The father of so called “scientific leadership and management”, Taylor argued that, by 
examining and defining the most efficient ways of doing things in terms of movements, co-
ordination, tools and the sequence of tasks performed any undertaking could be made 
more effective.  

His pioneering work at the Bethlehem Steel Works in 1898 led to steel loaders at the plant 
loading 47.5 tons of steel per day rather than the typical 12.5 tons before his study of them. 
Taylor founded what is now referred to as the “time and motion study”. 

Interestingly, it might be argued that some of this has come full circle in respect of some of 
the concepts of lean management. 
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2.1.2 Bureaucratic organisations approach - Max Weber (1864-1920) 

Weber defined what is known as the “bureaucratic organisations” approach. He noted 
that, in the Europe of the early twentieth century, most organisations were run on a family-
like basis with employees having loyalty to individuals rather than the organisation or its 
customers or clients. He noted that, as a consequence of this, many organisations were run 
for the benefit of the employees rather than in order to serve their core function 
(production or service delivery).  

Weber recommended that organisations should be run on an impersonal, rational basis 
through such elements as clearly defined authority structures, structures for responsibility, 
formal record keeping and the separation of ownership and control.  He defined an 
organisation with such a structure as a bureaucracy.  

2.1.3 Administrative principles approach - Henri Fayol (1841-1925) 

Fayol defined what is known as the “Administrative principles” approach. He identified a 
number of principles that he argued could be applied to any organisational setting in order 
to make it more productive. These were: 

þ unity of command: each person should take orders from only one supervisor; 
þ division of work: managerial and technical work should be divided and specialised 

in order to produce more and better work for the same amount of effort; 
þ unity of direction: all similar activities in an organisation should be grouped under 

one manager who would ensure that everyone “pulled in the same direction”; and 
þ scalar chain: the chain of authority in any organisation should extend from the top 

to the bottom of the organisation and should include all employees. 

Fayol also defined the functions of leadership and management as being:  

þ planning; 
þ organisation; 
þ commanding; 
þ co-ordinating; and 
þ controlling. 

2.2 The Human Relations Model 

The human relations model derives from two separate sources and two separate groups of 
theorists. These are: 

2.2.1 Source 1 (The Hawthorne Studies) 

Under Professor Elton Mayo from the University of Harvard, a six year study was made of the 
productivity of groups of workers from the Hawthorne plant of the US Western Electric 
Company. In order to increase productivity, various changes were made to the ways in 
which the workers and the work at the plant were organised. Mayo concluded that two 
factors previously overlooked by Taylor and the scientific leadership and management 
school were influential in raising productivity and job performance. These were, firstly, 
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financial inducements and, secondly, what he termed as “Human Relations Factors” – his 
argument was that employees’ output increased sharply when managers treated them in 
a positive manner. 

A whole group of leadership and management theorists took up this approach and a 
human relations movement became popular. It became a movement in leadership and 
management thinking and practice that emphasised the satisfaction of employees’ basic 
needs (e.g. for self-respect and for financial reward) as the key to increased productivity. 

2.2.2 Source 2 (Human Resources Perspective) 

The human relations movement attracted some criticism as being unscientific and 
espousing the “dairy farm” view of work and working. The criticism was that the approach 
based itself on the view that contented cows give more milk and, therefore, contented 
workers will give more work. 

Gradually, views with a deeper content began to take hold via the Human Resources 
Perspective. In this perspective, theories of motivation (from the human relations 
movement) are twinned with ideas about the design of jobs and tasks. In the Human 
Resources Perspective view, jobs and tasks should be designed so they are not perceived 
as dehumanising or demeaning, but should, instead, allow workers to use their full social 
potential to contribute to the task at hand. The major contributors to this body of theory 
were Abraham Maslow and Douglas McGregor. 

2.3 The Systems Model of Leadership and management 

In systems theory, any organisation is regarded as a system, which is defined as: 

“a set of interrelated parts that function as a whole to achieve a common purpose“ 

In this theory, the system functions by: 

þ acquiring inputs from the external environment (e.g. labour, skills, clients, money); 
þ transforming them in some way (by perhaps providing a client with a service); and 
þ discharging the outputs back in to the environment (e.g. patients transferring from a 

hospital bed to the community). 

It argues that there are 5 components to any organisation/system. These are: 

þ inputs: material, human, financial or information resources used to produce goods or 
services; 

þ the transformation process: leadership and management’s use of production or 
service technology or processes that are used to change inputs into outputs; 

þ outputs: are the organisation’s products and services; 
þ feedback: is the knowledge acquired about the results of the process of production 

or service delivery that influences the next cycle of activity; and 
þ the environment: that influences the organisation through the political, economic 

and cultural context that it operates within. 
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3. Leadership Strategies  

3.1 Transactional leadership 

This view of leadership, the transactional one, is based on the principle that people follow a 
leader because there is something in it for them; that is to say, it is all about there being a 
transaction. It was first described by Max Weber in 1947 and then by Bernard Bass in 1981. It 
is based primarily on the self-interest of the team member and the belief that he will get 
want he wants through the transaction. 

Whilst this was first developed in 1947 as a model, it is still being researched and 
recommended as an approach today. A modern version of this is the idea of 
management by objectives. This view is that being clear in setting objectives for people to 
achieve will motivate them and that they will not want to fail for fear of the consequences 
- the carrot and stick approach. This can be positioned as a “win win” if the balance of the 
transaction is right. In a modern context, this could be seen in the idea of people having a 
portfolio career in which they move from job to job as each gives them what they 
personally want at that stage. 

This view assumes: 

þ motivation by reward/punishment; 
þ the leader is obeyed; and 
þ team members are not self-motivated. 

There are generally four dimension, or stages, to this view as follows: 

þ contingent rewards:  goals, performance, reward; 
þ active exception management: active monitoring and action taken when variation 

from standard; 
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þ passive exception management: only intervene if standards are not met; and 
þ laissez fair: many decisions etc. left to the team member. 

The first stage is that there is will be a reward, based on a person achieving a set of goals, 
through their own performance. This is often seen in things like SMART goals being set. The 
second dimension involves actively monitoring and managing team members looking for 
variations or exceptions from the expected set standards or rules and taking corrective 
action. The third dimension is a less hands on approach, where the standards and goals are 
set such that the leader only intervenes when standards are not met or performance is not 
as expected. Finally, the fourth dimension is where the team works in an environment in 
which there are many opportunities to make decisions and the leader leaves them to it for 
a large part. This can result in a lack of direction.  

3.2 Transformational Leadership 

This second strategic approach comes from a completely different angle. Transactional 
leaders see the relationship with their followers in terms of a trade. If transactional leaders 
see the relationship as a trade-off, transformational leadership is about hearts and minds. 
Transformational leaders see their role as inspiring and motivating others to work at levels 
beyond mere compliance.These leaders work at the level of inspiring people to do well.  
They motivate their teams to succeed. In this scenario, people really are followers. This is 
seen as the model of leadership which can change a culture and take an organisation in a 
new direction.  

As the Chartered Management Institute put it, they:  

“appeal to followers’ higher value and morals, and activate their higher order needs”. 

Again, this can be seen as working in four ways: 

þ individualised consideration: considering their followers’ needs and motivations; 
þ intellectual stimulation: challenges assumptions, fosters creativity and takes risks; 
þ inspirational motivation: conveying vision and inspiring achievement; and 
þ idealised Influence: a role model for high ethical behaviour, gains respect and trust.  

Firstly, this leader deals with people as individuals and will seek to look at their needs and 
motivations. It is not a trade-off. Secondly, the leader will seek to engage with the 
individuals, seeking to give them stimulation in their work; it is about more than simply 
achieving targets. Thirdly they inspire. They set out a view of the way ahead, a vision 
people can aspire to achieve rather than goals to meet. Possibly a sense of purpose here. 
Finally, the leader will, by the way he interacts and works with others, gain their respect and 
trust, truly gaining followers and becoming a role model.  

It is sometimes easy to see this as portrayed as the ideal, inspiring type of leadership. 
However, it does have its downsides; a key problem with this style can be that it often 
becomes about the individual leader and not the organisation - this can be an issue in 
terms of how the organisation survives in the longer term and its succession plans. It can 
also lead to an organisational and even individual dependency on the leader and an 
inability to work without his sign-off or direction on everything. 
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Ultimately, people often just want to be clear on what they need to do. They may not be in 
the same personal space to be transformed, may not have the same commitment or sense 
of importance or excitement about their work. They want to do a great job, but they want 
to get on with it and not have it constantly being transformed. That's not to say that good 
leaders shouldn't aspire to do this, but, as always the ‘real world’ of other people needs to 
be considered. 

“We found that leaders could not transform their business environment, organisational 
culture and people and group dynamics in the way they hoped….The results they 

achieved were more down to earth than the original expectations’’ 

Binney et al 2005:7 

Finally, a comment form the Chartered Management Institute, which comes back again to 
the point that charisma will inspire and get people on board, but it is a very high 
maintenance approach to leadership and only a part of successful, long term leadership 
and organisational success. Once the charismatic leader is not there, his charisma and 
energy has gone with him. 

“Charisma used to be seen as the key to a leaders success, but its existence is not taken 
very seriously by most experts today.” 

CMI 2011 

3.3 Transactional Leadership v Transformational Leadership 

Below is an interesting comparison of the basis on which these two, on the face of it, 
opposing leadership strategies are based. This is just a model. In practice, leaders will show 
an element of both of these and you could look at it as a scale from one side to the other 
rather than a divide. 

Categories Transactional Transformational 

Leader’s source of  power Rank, position, formal 
authority 

Character, competence, 
personal authority 

Follower reaction Compliance Commitment 

Time frame Short term Long term 

Rewards Pay, promotion, etc. Pride, self-esteem, etc. 

Supervision Important Less important 

Coaching focus Evaluation, performance Development, achievement 

Where change occurs Follower behaviour Follower attitude, values 

Where ‘leadership’ found Leader’s behaviour Follower’s heart 
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3.4 Situational leadership 

Leadership style is a pattern of behaviours leaders use, over time, as perceived by others. 
This model works on the basis that a leader’s behaviour will move over time and situation 
and is based on a number of factors which make up the situation. This is known as 
situational leadership or the Hersey Blanchard model. Here, a leader is regarded as having 
two basic styles of behaviour – either directing people or supporting people. In this model, 
there are two basic leadership style behaviours:  

þ  directive behaviour: telling and showing; and 
þ  supportive behaviour: listening, facilitating. 

These translate into four leadership styles consisting of four different combinations of 
Directive and Supportive Behaviours: 

þ directing people in what they need to do; 
þ coaching them so they understand and work out what is required; 
þ supporting them in what they know they need to do; or 
þ delegating the work to them and letting them get on with it. 

adapted from KenBlanchard Companies. 2000: 5 

These are all a combination of task oriented behaviour and relationship oriented 
behaviour. So, in this case, there is no one way that is best; the styles of leadership are 
related to the task and the maturity of the individual or group. In applying or developing 
this style of leadership there are therefore two elements that are core to leading in this way, 
namely: 

þ leadership style of leader; and 
þ maturity level of team. 

The model proposed that it is the combination of these that lead you to types of 
behaviours and actions you need to apply.  
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3.4.1 Looking at the model 

 

When considering the model above, start with the maturity of the group or individual. M4 is 
the most mature and M1 the least. It should be noted that M1 and M2 are highly leader 
directed, whilst M3 and M4 become more follower directed. Then consideration should be 
given to whether the behaviour and involvement of the leader is high or low in terms of 
dealing with the task and in terms of dealing with the relationship. This gives the basic 
framework of the model and orientation or thinking for the leader. 

It is then important to consider styles.  

Style 1 (S1): If the leader is dealing with a low maturity group or individual, i.e. not very 
competent and not very committed (often seen as unable and unwilling or insecure), then 
he is likely to be focusing highly on the task behaviour and relatively low in terms of 
relationship; a telling style.  

Style 2 (S2): As the maturity increases and the individual becomes more committed, though 
maybe still not very able (seen as unable but willing or motivated), then the focus on the 
relationship side of the leadership style increases and the leader moves more into selling 
the work to the individual rather than just telling him what to do which may now lead to 
demotivation and some resentment and will not motivate him to become more able.  

Style 3 (S3): In this stage, with increased maturity, you may find that individuals are now 
able to do the work, but are not as wiling as they had been (able but unwilling or insecure). 
The style to be adopted here is more highly in the area of relationship and focus on 
motivating the individual and getting him on board. So here there is a move into a 
participating style of leadership. 

Style 4 (S4): Finally, once the individual can do the job and is also committed (able and 
willing or motivated) then there should be little for the leader to do, so focus is low in terms 
of both the relationship and the task behaviours of the leader. The style at this stage moves 
into one of delegating to the person or team. 
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Finally, the line in the model shows how the leader’s balance of task and relationship 
behaviours move as the maturity of the team or individual moves from right to left. 

3.5 Tannenbaum & Schmidt Leadership Continuum 

This is a similar, but perhaps simpler, approach to the Situational Leadership strategy; 
considering maturity and manager behaviours. Whilst being simpler, it is, in a lot of ways, 
more useful. 

In this model, as the style moves 
from left to right, the maturity 
increases and the management 
control decreases. So, a leader 
therefore adapts his style – or may 
just choose one. Here again, it is 
important to realise that there is a 
range of styles to be used and a 
good leader will use a range. See 
which you can spot when 

watching leaders in action. 

Tell: The leader decides and informs. 

The leader reviews all information, decides on decisions and actions and informs the team 
of the decision. There should be consideration of team re-actions, but they are not 
involved. The team may consider this as showing no interest in them. 

Sell: The leader decides and 'sells' the decision to the team.  

The leader reviews all information, makes decisions and sets actions, then sells it to the 
team by providing further information, especially about the benefits. Whilst the team are still 
not involved in the decision, it may consider the leader to have taken more account of the 
members of that team. By selling it, the leader demonstrates that he thinks the team is 
important and shows some concern for the members. 

Consult : The leader presents ideas or a decision and invites discussion about it.  

The discussion is on the basis that the leader will listen to the team before making the final 
decision. The team gets some solid influence over the final decision, as well as respect.  

Allocate:  The leader explains the situation, defines the parameters and asks the team to 
decide.  

The leader effectively passes responsibility for the decision, within stated limits, to the team. 
The leader may be part of the team. Control, and the outcome to an extent, is managed 
though the limits set. Team involvement is now high, and may not even involve the leader, 
though the leader still maintains ultimate control. This requires a mature and “performing” 
team. 
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Delegate:  The leader lets the team do it all. 

The team is given responsibility for identifying and analysing the situation or problem, the 
process for resolving it, developing and assessing options, evaluating implicationsand then 
deciding on and implementing a course of action. The leader gives full support in 
advance. The team is now effectively doing what the manager did in “tell”. 

3.6 The principled leader 

At the end of it all, the leader is an individual, a person - a human - with all the failings of 
one. So, finally, here is a view from Stephen Covey. It’s a wide ranging description of what 
he calls a principled leader:  

“The personal power that comes from principle-centred living is the power of a self-aware, 
knowledgeable, proactive individual, unrestricted by the attitudes, behaviours, and actions 

of others or by many of the circumstances and environmental influences that limit other 
people.” 

Covey 1989: 123 

4. Leadership Authority 

Leadership can be about knowledge leadership or even sector leadership.  However, 
generally, when leadership is considered, it is  about the leadership of people. This means 
that leaders need followers for them to lead. 

An interesting differentiation comes out here between leadership and management, in 
that managers generally have a team of people which they are required to manage in 
performing their roles or jobs, whilst a leader Is someone who inspires others to carry out 
tasks through who they are and how they act. 

So, how do leaders get people to follow them? There are any number of reasons why 
people follow leaders. Here are some words that might suggest reasons following someone, 
though this is by no means a definitive list: 

þ control; 
þ mandate; 
þ permission; 
þ agreement; 
þ power; 
þ expertise; 
þ authority; 
þ right; 
þ clout; 
þ consent; 
þ track record; and 
þ influence. 

Perhaps the most important in managerial literature are the aspects relating to the sense of 
authority and power or the power base from which people lead. Authority can be defined 
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as the power or right to control, judge or prohibit the actions of others. This definition 
suggests having the right to do something, a formal position or the power. Power can be 
defined as having the ability or capacity to do something.  Where does power come from? 
One way to look at this is from the work of French and Raven, they worked in the late 1950s 
and identified five distinct sources of power in the work place: 

þ legitimate – a positional power - I am in charge and you should do as I request; 
þ reward – this means you will gain a tangible benefit for doing as I ask – just deserts for 

doing the job, or a bribe for doing as I want; or not if you don’t! 
þ expert – knowledge skills or talents. This again could be positive or negative; 
þ referent – this is all about the groups to be aligned to and the people who are 

followed. This is sometimes related to charisma, charm etc; and  
þ coercive – this is leading through threats and forcing compliance. At its extreme this 

can be seen as bullying.  

In 1965 Raven added a sixth differentiating information from experts: 

þ informational – access to and the use of information giving you influence and the 
ability to use this to your advantage in leading others.  
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6.2 Legal Project Management  

1. Introduction 

Legal project management is the application of the concepts of project management to 
the control and management of legal cases or matters. To date, practitioners of legal 
project management apply it to the mechanics and business of providing legal services 
rather than to the substantive legal work itself. Legal project management is becoming 
increasingly common, especially in law firms working under alternative fee 
arrangements such as fixed or flat fees, cost limits and success bonuses. There are, 
however, clear costs advantages to implementing legal project management concepts in 
case management and the control of costs in legal matters.  

2. What is a Project?  

The Association for Project Management defines a project as:  

“a unique, transient endeavour, undertaken to achieve planned objectives, which could 
be defined in terms of outputs, outcomes or benefits.” 

 (APM 2012:12) 

The approach of the Association for Project Management to managing projects is based 
on having a body of knowledge rather than using a specific methodology. It states that the 
management of projects is: 

“the application of processes, methods, knowledge, skills and experience to achieve the 
project objectives.” 

(APM 2012:12) 

It is useful to highlight a couple of points. Firstly, a project is a unique and transient 
endeavour, which means that it has a beginning and end. It delivers specific outcomes, 
therefore if thinking about legal project management this could be applied to the idea of 
managing a specific client transaction or case.  

3. The Project Management Process 

The process of managing a project can be regarded in a lot of ways as a process of 
change management. It takes inputs and does something with these to produce outputs 
(similar to Lewin’s unfreeze-change-refreeze change model). In managing this process, the 
project manager uses a series of tools and techniques, whilst dealing with a number of 
constraints on his ability to deliver the project.  

This can be seen diagrammatically below: 
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In terms of business planning, the Input and Output are those set out initially in a business 
plan or proposal. Constraints are dealt with initially through the analysis of internal and 
external environments, carried into the planning and scoping of the project and are then 
captured in the project plan and schedule. Constraints continue to arise and are picked 
up often through risks and issues during project and through change requests. 
 
Generally, in managing projects, there are seen to be four constraints.  The first is that set by 
the customer (or client) requirements 
and what is to be delivered; this 
includes any quality measures put 
around them. The next three are all 
interrelated and become the three 
core variables that can be managed 
through the project from initial 
inception to final delivery:  

þ cost; 
þ time; and  
þ quality. 

 

4. Why Project Management Will Benefit a Law Firm 

It can be argued that having a legal project management system in place will improve a 
client’s experience of a firm. When a client contacts a firm he may have queries he wishes 
to have answered.   Often those queries won’t be dealt with immediately – the client will 
leave messages for the fee earner and the fee earner will then work out how to respond - 
what the answers to the client queries are. A project management system, implemented 
properly, would enable those calls to be dealt with upon receipt removing the necessity of 
a message and a return call. This would greatly improve relationships with clients. If an 
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answer can be provided to the client, clearly and precisely, in just a few minutes, the firm’s 
efficiency and reputation will improve. This would not only improve information 
dissemination but reduce costs, it is a win-win scenario.  

4.1 Relationship Marketing and Risk Management 

Tradition function/risk theory suggests that consumers are risk averse and tend to make 
purchasing decisions with a mind-set to eliminate or reduce risk. Prior to purchasing 
products or services, customers instinctively assess either the consequences or assurance 
that a purchase or service will or will not meet or exceed their expectations. Clients of law 
firms are consumers and therefore no different. 

In many markets, one way to differentiate a business is to improve the customer’s 
experience of the service, to operate an effective relationship marketing strategy. Legal 
project management is fundamentally the understanding of a clients’ needs and priorities 
and being able to provide clarity on options and directions. It is about identifying risks to 
clients, providing clear costs benefit analysis and enabling a client to determine the most 
preferred option for himself. For this there must be transparency on progress.  

The outcome of the matter is important to a client, but the experience clients have, under 
a lawyer’s guidance, is of equal importance to a firm. It plays a role in whether clients refer 
more work and a firm’s reputation. One way to improve the service provided is to improve 
information on options, risks and costs benefit analysis. One way of achieving this would be 
to provide periodic reports (perhaps a bi-monthly update, if a client does not prefer 
anything more frequent). Those reports could include:  

þ status of the matter;  
þ legal spend;  
þ remaining budget; and  
þ any open questions that they need to assist you with.  

These types of report would eliminate unseen risks and, if best practice project 
management was implemented, clients would never wonder if there were any hidden risks. 
They would feel content with the advice and service they had been provided with.  

Case management and costs management now go hand in hand. The Rubicon was 
crossed on 26th April 1999 when the court assumed, under the CPR, wide powers and 
responsibilities for case management. One other concept that may be considered in the 
modern age of litigation is the forward-facing budget - a budget that is thought about at 
day one of a client entering the door of a firm, that is openly discussed and forms part of 
the ongoing relationship – from the formation of the retainer to the determination of the 
matter. In Jackson’s Harbour Lecture in 2015 it was stated that:  

“….precedent H could be used to create the estimate of costs which was sent to the client 
with the original letter of engagement.” 

In accordance with CPR 3.12 the purpose of costs management is that the court should 
manage both the steps to be taken and the costs to be incurred by the parties to any 
proceedings. In effect, the court is a project manager and costs management may 
therefore be a key determinant in how the case is to be conducted and managed by the 
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courts.  The court, of course, relies on the fee earner with conduct of cases, who is on the 
court record, to manage the opposing sides of the project. It is that fee earners who must 
navigate his individual client’s objectives with his regulatory and professional obligations to 
ensure that the business continues to operate efficiently. 

The early introduction of budgets, at retainer stage, supports the position in relation to the 
amount of costs that may be recovered for preparing the budget. At the Precedent H’s 
conception it was envisaged that much of the preparation of the Precedent H would have 
taken place before the retainer was entered into. If implementing this approach, it needs 
to be well managed, the exercise of producing a costs budget and of dealing with and 
approving costs budgets must be kept under control. There are limits on the costs which 
can be recovered for preparing a costs budget, in carrying out the budgeting and costs 
management process and where a costs management order is made.  

What this approach would ensure is that, from the start of a case, there would be 
knowledge of the financial position and associated risks. Both sides in a case would know 
where they stand financially and would have clarity as to:  

þ what they will recover if they win (difference between own actual and recoverable 
costs); and 

þ what they will pay if they lose (own actual costs plus the other party’s recoverable 
costs).  

In many cases the litigation costs form a substantial part of what the parties are arguing 
about so this approach would only enhance the relationship between the client and the 
firm.  

4.2 Competitive Advantage 

Becoming pre-occupied by competitors is not healthy for any business, but it is important 
that a firm understands the competitive landscape within which it operates. Business 
analysis tools should be used to determine not only which other law firms do what the firm 
does, but also the alternatives that can satisfy the needs of its clients.  

Historically, the legal industry was oblivious to alternative service providers save for a 
handful of notable exceptions. No firms were really concerned by the competitive threat of 
non-law-firm players in the legal service market. In 2013 Eric Chin, strategist to professional 
services firms at Beaton Capital, coined “NewLaw” which is a new term that differentiates 
those novel legal service providers that use a much different business model than 
traditional firms.  

The Altman Weil 2016 report “Law Firms in Transition” authored by Eric Seeger and Thomas 
Clay reveals that, in 2016, the competitive landscape is very different. When preparing their 
report, the authors surveyed managing partners and leaders of over 800 law firms with over 
50 members of staff. The results of part of this survey, from page 5 of the report, are 
produced below.  

Eric Chin, in his recent 2016 article “The NewLaw Tipping Point”, has summarised that these 
new business models are now viable competitors to the traditional establishment and he 
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goes on to confirm his earlier predictions that, by 2018, these NewLaw firms would be a 
permanent fixture of the legal industry. 

 

The geographical development of these alternative business models makes these NewLaw 
firms a real consideration in England and Wales as can be seen in the analysis summarised 
in Eric Chin’s 2016 article. 

 

The Altman Weil 2016 report, “Law Firms in Transition”, confirms that there are very real 
threats to the traditional legal service provider with the introduction of technology and the 
change in business model. The American Bar Association’s Futures Commission produced a 
report published in 2016 that also identified this evolving landscape of legal services.  With 
the introduction of alternative business structures (ABS) and entity regulation, under the 
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Legal Services Act 2007, there are increased threats prevalent in the UK market with large 
accounting firms pushing hard to enter that market.  

From a business perspective, these NewLaw firms are efficient because they are 
standardising processes and implementing systems. Whilst legal work is complex, lawyers 
can be employed in alternative models to deliver the advice and service consumers need. 
It needs to be remembered that the business model and service that law firms deliver is 
very straightforward compared to some other businesses; law firms simply buy the time of 
fee earners and sell that time on to clients with a view to making a profit. To compete, 
traditional law firms need to have a competitive advantage and build these systems and 
processes themselves. Whilst lawyers are not scarce, what is scarce are efficient systems for 
delivering legal services and it is a systematic approach that may give the traditional law 
firm a competitive advantage. 

4.3 Increased Uptake of Retainers for Service 

Clients are becoming more demanding about the service they are receiving. With 
alternative fee structures in place they are also more aware of value for money. When 
instructing firms, clients will usually already have done some research on the service levels 
and fees of legal service providers. Informed clients will seek for providers to prove they 
know how to manage their matter before they even decide to engage them and enter a 
contract for service. Legal project management skills will demonstrate that a firm possesses 
the skills to manage the case from inception to conclusion. 

5. Project People 

Those involved in a project may be termed the project team - this is anyone who has a role 
to play in delivering the project. This can include the team which is delivering the outcomes 
or services, but also the roles from the wider business or supplier areas. Within the wider 
team this will include individuals setting requirements, changes and agreeing and signing 
off completed work. These are likely to be the people the project manager reports to, 
traditionally a partner of a firm or a supervisor. There will also be people who are carrying 
out the work to deliver the project outcomes, for example a lower grade fee earner acting 
under supervision. These would report to the project manager. Some may be outsourced 
suppliers; consider for example the instruction of counsel or an agent. 

All of these people will need to be clear on their roles and responsibilities. If using a 
standard methodology to manage the project, such as Prince2, then these will be clearly 
set out. If not, then consideration needs to be given as to the roles needed, how those roles 
will be defined and then who is best to take on the roles.  There are some standard roles 
that should be considered: 

þ Project Manager: runs the project on a day to day basis. For example, the fee earner 
with conduct of the case.  

þ Project sponsor (executive): person for whom then project is run. For example, the 
lay or professional client.  

þ User(s) (senior user): represents those who will use to the project outputs. For 
example, the court. 

þ Project Team Members: those allocated to work on the project. 
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þ Project Steering group (project board): represents senior management of 
organisation investing in the project. 

5. Responsibilities of Project Management or Managers 

In thinking about project management, consideration should be given to all the other 
aspects of managing, for instance analysis of the environment of the project, structuring 
teams and how a project team fits within the wider firm or organisation. Firms will also need 
to bring in areas such as leadership and performance management. As with all aspects of 
management and leadership, project management/leadership is as much about the 
individual and his ability, style and experience, as it is about his knowledge and skills. 
However, it is possible to identify a core set of responsibilities of the project management 
roll. These are the ones defined by the Association for Project Management (APM): 

þ defining the reason why a project is necessary; 
þ capturing project requirements, specifying quality of the deliverables, estimating 

resources and timescales; 
þ preparing a business case to justify the investment; 
þ securing corporate agreement and funding;  
þ developing and implementing a management plan for the project; 
þ leading and motivating the project delivery team; 
þ managing the risks, issues and changes in the project; 
þ monitoring progress against plan; 
þ managing the project budget; 
þ maintaining communications with stakeholders and the project organisation; 
þ provide management; and 
þ closing the project in a controlled fashion when appropriate. 

(APM 2012:12) 

Whilst these would apply to a standard change project, some of them would apply less to 
a project managing a client relationship; for example, preparing a business case or 
securing corporate agreement and funding. However, as part of your professional 
development it is useful to understand this wider project management context. 

5. The Project Life Cycle 

A project has been defined as a unique and transient event. It must therefore have a 
beginning and end, which allows for a life cycle. The concept of the project life cycle is 
useful in managing the project from end to end, ensuring everybody knows what stage the 
project is at, which can help understand what should be happening and the tasks required 
to be completed. It also helps in making sure the project is moving forward. When looking 
at a project life cycle there are a number of methods and processes that can be 
considered, for example: 

þ Waterfall;  
þ Agile;  
þ Scrum; and 
þ Kanban. 
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5.1 The Waterfall Approach 

The waterfall development model originates in 
the manufacturing and construction industries. The waterfall model is a sequential process, 
in which progress in its original form flows steadily downwards (like a waterfall) through the 
phases of conception, initiation, analysis, design, construction, testing, 
production/implementation and maintenance.  Using this approach, the life cycle has 
clear stages and, at the end of a stage, there are formal agreements, sign off of the work 
completed and sign up to the work to be carried out during the next stage.  

Below is a diagram depicting a project life cycle. In this case, the life cycle extends beyond 
delivery of the project outputs and on to the business benefits and final termination of the 
products delivered by the project. These final stages are not usually seen as project 
management phases, but, from a business perspective, they relate to the completion of 
the aims of the project and benefit realisation, so are often seen as the final result of it. By 
this stage the project team will, in all probability, have moved on.  

 

Gate reviews refer to the formal review and sign off stages. At this point, in theory, the 
project has stopped and is awaiting the outcome of the review; in practice, it usually 
presumes it will keep moving forward on to the next stage. You can see that the project, as 
such closes at handover and closeout, though a warrantee period may continue and the 
business sponsor or subsequent business owner will continue to manage the outcomes, 
benefit realisation and final termination. These stages could be managed from a costs 
perspective as being the stages within which interim bills are submitted to clients. 
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5.2 Agile  

Fifteen years ago, in Utah, a group of ‘organisational IT anarchists’, who were experienced 
and knowledgeable in project management methodologies, created a new method for 
developing software. It was named the Agile Manifesto. They outlined 12 fundamental 
principles of Agile Software Development and defined the agile approach as being about 
delivering good products to customers.  

Today, Agile is applied not only to software development. A study, undertaken by Nitish 
Tiwari in 2015 (entitled Agile as a Management Tool for non-IT Industry An Insight Study by 
Software Advice) found that 48% of project managers use Agile solutions for projects that 
aren’t IT-related.  Agile refers to 
project management that 
encourages continuous 
improvement, collaboration, 
adaptation, team efforts and rapid 
delivery of valuable services. It will 
involve: 

þ continual collaboration with 
clients;   

þ commitment to flexibility and 
rapidity;   

þ direct communication rather 
than complex 
documentation;   

þ continual focus on client goals;   
þ realistically weighing risk; and   
þ a strong bias toward simplicity.   

The 12 Agile Principles are a set of guiding concepts that support project teams in 
implementing agile projects.  



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  224 

These are: 

þ Our highest priority is to satisfy the customer through early and continuous delivery of 
valuable software. 

þ Welcome changing requirements, even late in development. Agile processes 
harness change for the customer’s competitive advantage. 

þ Deliver working software frequently, from a couple of weeks to a couple of months, 
with a preference to the shorter timescale. 

þ Business people and developers must work together daily throughout the project. 
þ Build projects around motivated individuals. Give them the environment and support 

they need, and trust them to get the job done. 
þ The most efficient and effective method of conveying information to and within a 

development team is face-to-face conversation. 
þ Working software is the primary measure of progress. 
þ Agile processes promote sustainable development. The sponsors, developers, and 

users should be able to maintain a constant pace indefinitely. 
þ Continuous attention to technical excellence and good design enhances agility. 
þ Simplicity — the art of maximising the amount of work not done — is essential. 
þ The best architectures, requirements, and designs emerge from self-organising 

teams. 
þ At regular intervals, the team reflects on how to become more effective, then tunes 

and adjusts its behaviour accordingly. 

Agile project management is said to work well for dynamic and uncertain project 
environments and, therefore, this may be a preferred method of managing a piece of 
litigation.  The important thing to consider when choosing which method to adopt is the 
recognition that there are different types of projects, namely projects which are linear, 
iterative, incremental and adaptive. A non-contentious matter may largely be described 
as linear if, for example, a conveyancing transaction or the drafting and execution of wills is 
considered. Litigation may, however, be described as incremental and adaptive. Agile 
focuses on consistent and constant team collaboration, routine and rapid feedback and 
continuous adaptation as events unfold rather than attempting to plan every step of the 
process from the beginning which is nearly impossible in complex litigation. 

5.3 Scrum  

Scrum is a subset of Agile. It is a lightweight process framework for Agile development and 
the most widely-used one. Scrum originated as an iterative and incremental Agile software 
development method for managing product development. It is now being implemented in 
the legal sector. The approach requires the legal team to work as a unit instead of the 
traditional approach where many fee earners have worked autonomously. The team are 
aiming to reach a common goal. This approach requires close collaboration of team 
members, as well as daily face-to-face communication.  

By way of example, consider a firm taking instructions from a new client with a complex 
multi-track case. The firm will receive instructions and the desired outcomes from the client. 
In Scrum, client goals are written from the perspective of the client and not the firm. For 
example, as a personal injury claimant a client will want to receive compensation for the 
injury suffered so that his life can return to normal. It is because of this that the individual 
client’s goals make up the scope of the service that will be provided. These goals are 
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known as “client stories.” The collection of these client stories, because clients will have 
more than one objective, are known as the “client backlog.” Another way to think of the 
client backlog is to think of it as a wish list of all the things that would give the client 
everything he desires. 

To plan the legal project, the team would start with the client backlog and identify the 
client stories that need to be worked on at the inception of the matter. The story, or part of 
the backlog, can then be released to fee earners or the team to work on. In other words, 
specific tasks can be assigned to members of the team. During the planning stage the 
team would prioritise the client stories and estimate the amount of time involved in each 
task (or for each release). Times can be broken down into days or hours, but after the 
estimates are made, the collection of estimates provides a rough idea of the total amount 
of time involved to complete that entire client release. 

It should be noted that, when estimating times, it may serve well to standardise timing 
across the firm. So, for example, tasks could be timed at one hour, two hours, half a day or 
a full day. This would standardise the way tasks are done and enable the firm to implement 
a process for these estimates. If every task falls under one of the categorised time estimates 
and all tasks fell within one of the categories it will enable the firm to come up with more 
accurate estimates for legal fees and make it less likely that there will be an underestimate 
with the loss of opportunity of recovering costs following. 

Larger tasks may be estimated as 2 days, 3 days, 5 days or 10 days. Extremely large tasks 
may be estimated in months, but generally these large tasks still need to be broken down 
into smaller tasks to obtain an accurate estimate. Of course, whilst firm-wide time estimates 
may be ideal because there would be standardisation firm-wide, it may be more 
appropriate to consider whether there should be different time estimates for different 
departments because of the variation of the work the departments may be required to 
undertake. 

Once the client stories have been prioritised and the work ahead has been estimated, 
sprints may be planned. Sprints are short duration milestones that allow legal teams to 
tackle a manageable part of the matter. Sprints generally range from a couple of days to 
as many as 30 days. A late finish of a sprint is a good indicator that the case is not on 
schedule and something needs to be done to correct that.  

To monitor the progress of each sprint you may choose to use what is known as a burn 
down chart. The burn down chart is an important reason for Scrum’s popularity and one of 
the best visual tools to make sure your project (or the case) is going smoothly. A burn down 
chart provides a day-by-day measure of the amount of work required in a given sprint. It is 
a graphical representation of work left to do versus time. The outstanding work (or backlog) 
is often on the vertical axis, with time along the horizontal. On the chart, the amount of 
work might bounce up and down from day to day but should generally be trending 
towards zero. 
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Because historical information is provided in the burn down chart, it is easy to see if the 
team is on the right track. Using the burn down chart, the team can quickly track the slope 
of the graph or burn down velocity. This is the average rate of productivity for each day. 
For example, on a typical day, the collective team’s total productivity might consist of 30 
hours of legal work. If this information is to hand, it is possible to estimate a completion date 
for the sprint or even for the entire release depending upon the amount of work remaining. 

The Daily Scrum is the tool to having communication flow freely between team members. 
Agile methodology also uses “team scrums” in which team members collaborate with their 
colleagues on a daily basis. They quickly run through a meeting regarding what has been 
accomplished the day before and what the aim is for the day (if anything). It enables 
teams to discuss what may be preventing the team from accomplishing a particular task.  

In some firms, these can be “stand-up” meetings with one of the team standing in front of a 
white board to update case statuses for that day. The meetings should be short in duration, 
say 15 minutes. Daily Scrum meetings discourage procrastination because they make each 
member of the legal team accountable for what they’ve accomplished the day before. If 
a team member has not accomplished a task, he must reflect on why it was not finished 
and why it is on the list to do that day. These meetings encourage collaboration and 
reduce the likelihood that small issues will become big problems. They ensure that the team 
is always in sync and any issues are dealt with as soon as they are known. 

These meetings are organised by a Scrum Master (Project Manager). The Scrum master 
facilitates the scrum process and resolves impediments. The Scrum master is not the leader 
of the team (the team leads itself), but acts as a buffer between the team and outside 
interference. He has no formal authority. Instead, he is responsible for making sure that the 
Scrum process is adhered to. He helps with planning and tries to keep the team energised. 
The Scrum master serves more as a coach than a manager. 

The work in progress limit is an important element of the Agile project management cycle. 
The term Work in Progress (WIP) relates to the number of tasks being worked on by a team. 
Basically, it shows the maximum amount of work (tasks) that the legal team should execute, 
to keep work smooth and efficient. The idea behind WIP limits is to help your team focus on 
a specific number of tasks and avoid multitasking and distractions. A WIP limit will help firms 
identify and highlight bottlenecks and deliver legal services to clients faster.  
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There is no prescribed formula for determining WIP limits, but there are a number of factors 
that should be considered before they are determined and some empirical best-practices. 

The goals of WIP limits are generally to: 

þ improve throughput; 
þ reduce cycle times; 
þ optimize team capacity; 
þ limit the efficiency drag from multi-tasking; and 
þ increase slack to make a process more adaptable.  

Finally, at the close of the legal project, it is important to have a retrospective meeting 
where the team can reflect on what went right and what needs improvement. After all, 
Scrum is a flexible Agile method which needs constant improving and tweaking for every 
team. 

5.4 Kanban 

Kanban is a project management method, in use since 
the 1940’s across various industries. The origin of this 
exotic-sounding term is Japanese. ‘Kanban’ means 
a visible record (such as a billboard, card, label or sign). 
As a concept, the Kanban system helps teams visualise 
their work, identify bottlenecks and continuously 
improve their service. For managers, Kanban 
helps prioritise tasks and focus on working on what 
matters most, right now. Kanban recognises that work 
flows naturally from one stage to another and runs in 
cycles. 

Kanban is similar to Scrum although may be seen to have advantages because it 
recognises that things change and allows for the change to be responded to. Scrum 
doesn’t support this type of flexibility. Hence, Kanban seems to be more suitable for those 
teams that can expect changes and/or additional requests from their clients during the 
project lifecycle. Since this is usual for legal projects, it is considered that legal teams will be 
better off using 
Kanban. A 
Kanban board 
may be used as 
a tool - it consists 
of columns that 
represent stages 
of the workflow.  
A Kanban board 
can be 
dedicated to a 
legal matter. 
Columns are 
broken into cards 
that describe 
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every single task. When using Kanban, it’s important that focus remains on one task at a 
time.  

6. Scoping 

Scoping is what most people regard as project planning - What will you do and not do?  - 
and breaking it down into clear chunks of work. This is also a way to break up client work 
into understandable chunks which will or will not be charged for. Keep in mind that, 
although when scoping you may approach it in a linier way, there can be alterations as 
you plan and refine what needs to be delivered.  Or, if using Agile processes, you will plan 
earlier deliverables in more detail.  

Scope management is the process whereby outputs, outcomes and benefits are identified, 
defined and controlled. The scope of a project will typically include outputs, but may be 
extended to cover benefits. The scope of the work can be illustrated using a product 
breakdown structure (PBS) and a work breakdown structure (WBS).  

The following definitions will assist your understanding: 

þ Product Breakdown Structure (PBS): defines products or services (deliverables). 
þ Work Breakdown Structure (WBS): defines work required to produce products or 

deliver services.  
þ Organisation Breakdown Structure (OBS): the hierarchical management structure, 

communications routes and reporting links for project management and handover. 
þ Responsibility Assignment Matrix (RAM): assigns work packages (WBS)  to people 

(OBS) who go on to accomplish them. 
þ Cost Breakdown Structure (CBS): applies costs to work packages (WBS) or functional 

areas/third parties (OBS). 

Using a product breakdown structure and a work breakdown structure is the core of 
project planning. It can also be a way of looking at managing workloads more generally. 
This method starts with what is to be delivered, the products or services. Then it goes on to 
look at the actual work required to deliver them. Having defined the products and tasks, 
consideration can then be given to how you will organise the project to deliver it and then 
assign responsibilities to individuals in the structure. Finally, with a breakdown at task level 
you can consider what is required to deliver the task and estimate the cost of doing so.  

7. Stakeholders 

Excluding the client and project team, there may still be others who need to be managed. 
These are known as stakeholders in the project. They can be defined as: 

“… individuals or groups with an interest in the project, programme or portfolio because 
they are involved in the work or affected by the outcomes.” 

APM 2012 

This definition would also include the team, although, in respect of managing these people, 
it is often better to separate them out in your thinking as the ‘team’ will have clear roles set 
out in the project, responsibilities and work based on the project plan. The others will all 
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have to be considered in their own 
right and actions to engage with and 
manage each decided accordingly. 
In this context, the management of 
the stakeholders can be regarded as 

“the systematic identification, 
analysis, and implementation of  

actions designed to engage with 
stakeholders” 

APM 2012 

So who are these people? They could 
be anyone dependent upon the 
project. For instance, in a building project they could be local residents affected by it; if a 
project has a large environmental impact they could be an environmental protest group; 
in a new business it could be any business to business provider you may want to work with; if 
you see the business success about being part of the local community it could be a local 
head of the Chamber of Trade. In a legal matter it could include the courts and the other 
side. As the definition says, you need to systematically identify them so you can engage 
with them.  

Once you have identified as many people as you can through your own analysis you then 
need to make some decisions as to the level of engagement you need to have with each. 
There are two useful considerations when doing this. 

The first is to decide if they are for or against the project. Then, for each category, decide 
whether their interest in the project is high or low and whether their power to affect the 
project is high or low.  The first split will let you know whether you have to manage them, if 
against, or if you can use them as advocates if in favour. Both will still need to be engaged. 
The second set of criteria will help you decide the amount of time and resources you need 
to devote to them. This information can 
then be plotted on a grid. 

In the case of  a litigated matter, you 
can put your witnesses and experts on 
the ‘for’ side and the opposing party’s 
witnesses and experts on the ‘against’ 
side, for example. 

Once you have an idea of where they 
stand, you can start to look at the 
types of actions you want to take.  A useful way to do this is to think about the level of 
commitment you need from the stakeholder. Then you can plot, or at least think about, 
each stakeholders position and plot this on a graph.  

Each of your stakeholders will have a starting position on the curve. You may decide that 
some with low interest and power can stay at the contact level, but over time you are likely 
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to want increasing amounts of commitment to the project from some those with the most 
interest and power. 

 

 

Definition of each point: 

þ Contact: You have made contact, but at this stage you do not know if they have 
paid any attention to it. 

þ Awareness: The stakeholder now has a basic awareness of the scope and what you 
are delivering. 

þ Understanding: They now understand what is being delivered, the implications, the 
benefits and why you are doing this. 

þ Support: They are now willing to give their support to the project taking place and 
work with you. 

þ Participation: The stakeholders are actively participating in the project in whatever 
way they can to support its delivery. 

þ Advocacy: They not only make sure their own activities support delivery of the 
project, they are working independently to get others on board.  

Now you have an idea of where each stakeholder is and where you want to get each one 
to, you can put in place a Stakeholder Plan to set out how you will make it happen. 

5.2 Stakeholders in contentious and non-contentious matters 

When considering the stakeholders in a case or legal matter there will obviously be a vast 
difference between those involved in a contentious matter to those involved in a non-
contentious matter.  

The following list is not exhaustive, but may assist when thinking about the stakeholders: 

þ funders; 
þ experts; 
þ other side/parties; 
þ courts; 
þ witnesses; 
þ the regulator 
þ counsel; and 
þ agents. 

5.3 Stakeholder Plan 

The Stakeholder Plan will capture all the analysis you have carried out in one place and 
then set out activities to manage the stakeholders. It will include all the key stakeholders 
you have identified and may also have activities for the low interest, low power 
stakeholders as a more generic set of group actions. 
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The plan should look something like this: 

 

Project management is highly active management.  By its nature, project management is 
dealing with new things and, as such, the project manager (as well as everyone else in the 
team) needs to be on the look-out for changes and unexpected events, as well as 
monitoring his plans and adjusting plans and activities accordingly. The stakeholder plan 
and on-going engagement with stakeholders is no exception to this. Stakeholders can be 
key to whether a project succeeds or not, just look at the impact protest groups can have, 
especially in the age of social media.  

So, once the plan is set, you need to make sure you continue to work your stakeholders 
and change your approach to them as and when you need to. 

5.3 Using a Precedent H as a Stakeholder Plan 

The generic format of the business stakeholder plan would operate well enough in lower 
value or non-contentious matters, but it will do little to assist higher value litigation where a 
slightly more tailored stakeholder plan would better suit. The Precedent H may be viewed 
as such a plan. However, this should be considered the final presentation of the plan, albeit 
a final plan that may be amended within the life of the litigation. This is because the 
Precedent H does not always fully allow you to chronologically project the time and costs 
of a case because it works in phases rather than chronological stages.  

With that in mind, whilst the Precedent H should be utilised to present the final project plan, 
it may suit firms to employ a slightly modified version of the above stakeholder plan. 

Event Stakeholder Date Phase For / 
Against 
F/A 

Power 
H/L 

Interest 
H/L 

Commitment 
(time and 
fee earner)  

Engagement 
& Actions 
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The above plan can be driven by key dates and events, such as the first meeting, pre-
action conduct steps and any directions once proceedings have been issued. In practice, 
it may suit firms to have pro formas set up with many of the key events already entered; the 
fee earner or project manager would then simply insert dates, actions and the 
commitment required. 

It may also be worth a firm considering the introduction of a budget questionnaire - this 
may draw the project manager’s attention to a number of factors that should not be 
overlooked at the planning stage, such as: 

þ Witness evidence: number of witnesses, length of statements and issues that they 
may address (CPR 32.2(3)). 

þ Expert evidence: identity and number of experts, fields, single or joint, updated 
reports, oral evidence, whether concurrent, recoverable fees (CPR 35.4). 

þ Disclosure: the disclosure menu at CPR 31.5(7), scope of search, staged disclosure, 
format of disclosure. 

þ Litigation team: level of fee earners to be deployed, counsel team. 
þ ADR: court encouragement versus the risk of providing an opponent with a reason 

not to participate. 

8. Scheduling 

Resource scheduling is a collection of techniques used to calculate the resources required 
to deliver the work and when they will be required. Having achieved a breakdown of the 
tasks you should go on to consider the order the tasks need to be done in and the 
resources required, including time.  This is known as scheduling the work. Scheduling ensures 
that: 

þ resources are used well; 
þ stakeholders including the project personnel know it can be achieved; and 
þ there is identification of where there are potential issues to be resolved in getting the 

work completed.  

In doing so it leads to the production of a plan to carry out the work and deliver the 
project. It is worth at this stage considering the standard terms you may come across in 
relation to scheduling delivery: 

þ Milestone: a point in the schedule where all can see a clear achievement. These 
should be celebrated, especially in long projects. 

þ A phase or a stage: a period in the project delivery encompassing chunks of work 
þ Activities: are the actions to do, or tasks to complete. You can take these to 

whatever level of detail that you think is relevant to the project 
þ Critical path: the tasks or activities with dates that cannot change without effecting 

the final outcome date. These are critical if the project is to deliver on time. We will 
see how these are recognised shortly. 

þ Total float: the amount of available time that a task or activity can move by without 
effecting the final end date or the next related task or activity. 
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In putting together the 
schedule, you will start with 
the product breakdown 
structure which will be 
delivered through the work 
breakdown structure. From 
this, the work or tasks can be 
put in order becoming a 
network diagram. The 
network diagram can then 
have time estimates 
attributed to them, including 
the day’s tasks needed to 
start and finish in order to 
identify the critical path. 
Obviously in terms of a case being litigated, any directions will drive these. By adding 
actual dates you can produce a schedule of some sort to deliver your project and to this 
you can add milestone points and you can allocate resources. Finally, when this is your 
working schedule, you can baseline it putting it under control through configuration 
management. Now everybody is working to the same delivery schedule. 

 

Taking the above work breakdown, you can then put the tasks in order to produce a 
network diagram, the start of which can be seen below. 
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In the network diagram, all the tasks are set out so that the completion of one leads to the 
start of another – these are known as dependencies. It can be at this stage that you 
identify additional tasks that did not appear at the work breakdown, or you decide you 
need additional tasks or activities because, whilst the breakdown was fine at the previous 
level, you now need more detail of actual tasks or activities in order to build a network or 
sequence of what needs to be done.   

This example only focuses on a small area of the network diagram to keep it simple. In 
practice, you will carry out the next steps on the full network of tasks and activities once 
you are happy they are all there. 

The first stage is to identify 
the duration for each 
task, the length of time it 
will take for the task to be 
completed. In the case of 
the first two tasks it is one 
day, the conflict check 
and diarising an 
appointment with a fee 
earner. Given this is a task 
at the start of the project 
the earliest it can start is 
on day one, this means it 
will also finish on day one, 
with work taking place on 
only one day. 

The next task has a 
duration of 1 day and the 
earliest it could start is 
day two.  The task would be completed on day 2.  

The rest of the network diagram continues in this way.  All represent the earliest dates tasks 
can be done on the project (or case) with the retainer being agreed by day 12. The 
network diagram would then give you the earliest possible finish time of the case. When 
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calculating this, you would, of course, need to rely on knowledge of how long matters are 
likely to take for the court to deal with, the starting point would be standard directions, but 
there may be some delay in the case and you would need to remain mindful of this. 

It is now possible to work out, in the same way, the latest date 
on which any task can finish, without affecting the final date, 
and by applying the duration to work out the latest date any 
task can start without affecting the final date. This will show 
that there is a difference in the task between the earliest date 
it can be started and the latest day it can be started, or 
alternatively the latest date it can be finished and the 
earliest date, if the final end date is to remain 
unaffected.  The difference between these days is known as the float and represents the 
number of extra potential work days within the period that the task has to be completed. 
So, if the final day is 30 weeks after the initial instruction, all tasks leading to this have to 
finish by the end of the 30 week. It is therefore important to work backwards when 
undertaking this part of the planning. 

Having completed this for the project, it is possible to identify those tasks which cannot be 
moved in terms of the start dates. These being the ones with a zero float.  

Once you have planned out the project or case, indicating the amount of days required to 
complete a task and also project dates during which task should be completed. Each of 
these boxes could also have added to them the names of individuals to work on tasks, 
physical or technical resources, all associated monetary resources etc. 

One of the most common ways of viewing this information is in the form of a Gantt chart.  

 

This is a form of a bar chart calendar, and can be easily derived from this network diagram. 
To do this, first move the dates up to a single line across the top of the page.  Down the 
side of the page place the list of the tasks and usually the duration is put next to these. The 
blocks representing the tasks should be widened to represent the duration. This is easily 
done in some sort of table like Excel in which each cell represents one day. 
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9. Implementing Kanban 

To implement Kanban you will need a Kanban board; it could be an office wall or an 
electronic board in a web application. There is a free web app that provides this facility 
called Trello. 

Every Kanban board should contain several columns that represent the work stages, the 
most simple being:  

þ to do: stands for all the items that you plan to execute, but did not start.; 
þ doing: contains all items that your team is working on at that moment; and 
þ done: this column is for all the completed items. 

You may decide to introduce a few more stages, like “Backlog” and “Acceptance”. The 
acceptance column is where you move your “Done” items, especially those items that you 
need to check 
before 
communicating 
with clients. The 
backlog column 
would be those 
things you need 
to do in the 
future but are not 
to be done yet. 
This could make 
it very clear 
about the tasks 
that need doing 
within a specified 
time frame. 

Cards represent 
the tasks that every member needs to complete. When you take on a new matter you 
should scope the work, including undertaking stakeholder mapping, and determine the 
steps you need to take. In some cases, some of these steps will be generic. When looking at 
the project cycle in multi-track litigation, for example, it is difficult to determine whether the 
steps should be considered chronologically or within the phases of the Precedent H, but 
the example board shown here for a general litigation matter uses chronological stages.  

Once you’ve identified the steps they will be placed on cards; in its simplest form this could 
involve writing all the steps on post it notes. 
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All the initial steps 
should be 
placed in the ‘To 
Do’ column and 
when a member 
of the team starts 
to work on a step 
it should be 
moved to the 
‘Doing’ column. 
Once a step is  
finished it should 
then be moved 
to the ‘Done’ 
column. 

In the example shown here you will see that the initial appointment with the client has 
taken place and that work is currently being undertaken on the retainer.  

It should be remembered that some of the steps may have more detail.  If the tasks are 
broken down sufficiently, a little consideration should be given to how this is managed. It is 
very much up to you how these should be managed - there could be multiple boards 
within a project or a coding system implemented so that it is clear which sub tasks relate to 
the overall element of the project. 
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The important thing to remember when using the system is that when a task doesn’t get 
completed the card can be moved back and put on the to do list.  This means all of the 
outstanding work can be visualised by all of the team and nothing will get missed. It can 
also help identify when a project is falling behind schedule. 

The 

example provided above shows one case.  Of course, a team is likely to have a number of 
cases so, to organise these individual projects, a team may consider having a Kanban 
board for cases to determine which case they will be working on at any one stage.  These 
can then be supplemented by a sub set of boards set out as above. 

Kanban is a pull-queue system.  Each column is essentially a separate queue into which 
work is pulled from the previous column when the WIP limit allows. Each board and each 
column may therefore be given a WIP limit. 

10. Risk/Change 

Once you have scoped out, planned and scheduled a project, you will need to consider 
the risk and likelihood of change, which is very likely in litigation where the courts and 
directions will determine how the matter proceeds. However, right from the start, especially 
as projects/cases deal with change, there will always be things that potentially could 
prevent you from delivering the service. So, a key part of project management is the 
management of risk and, in the context of projects and risks, can be described as: 

“an uncertain event or set of circumstances that, should it occur, will have an effect on 
achievement of one or more project objectives.” 

APM Body of Knowledge 6th Edition: 178 
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 Whilst there is a risk that things could go wrong in a project, there is also the consideration 
that things will almost inevitably change as the project progresses. In fact, in Agile projects 
this is regarded as a core principle of the way projects are managed. This being the case, it 
is important that you have a way to identify, capture, assess and decide on actions when 
someone wants a change or circumstances require a change in the project. This is known 
as Change Control or Change Management. Change Control is the process through which 
all requests to change the baseline scope of a project programme or portfolio are 
captured, evaluated 
and then approved, 
rejected or  deferred. 

This, like risk 
management, takes a 
structured approach 
to identifying and 
analysing and 
reacting to changes. 
This process starts with 
a change request, so 
you will need a route 
for people to put 
these in; for example 
forms, email address, 
known owners for the 
process etc. Once the 
request is received it will be subject to an initial evaluation to decide whether it should be 
moved forward or rejected early on. This could be carried out by a nominated person or 
taken to a change review board. If it does go forward then a more detailed evaluation will 
need to be conducted in order to understand the range and size of impact and what 
actions would need to be taken in order to accept the change, or alternatively valid 
reasons to reject it. Once this has been conducted, a recommendation can be made. The 
ultimate decision usually rests with the project sponsor unless the change can be 
accomplished within the existing scope of the project with no impact. The project manager 
has agree to deliver the project to the original scope set by the sponsor so a change to this 
needs to be agreed by the sponsor. The decision will be to reject, or accept the change or 
it might be to defer it to later, maybe a later phase or after certain other events before a 
decision can be made. Whatever the decision, it will need to be communicated and, if 
required, the plan can then be amended.  
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6.3 Firms and Budgets 

1. Introduction 

A budget is a financial plan for the future concerning the revenues and costs of a business. 
However, a budget is about much more than just financial numbers. Budgetary control is 
the process by which financial control is exercised within an organisation. Budgets for 
income/revenue and expenditure are prepared in advance and then compared with 
actual performance to establish any variances. Like any other business, a law firm needs 
some budgets each year so: 

þ it can properly control its income and expenditure;  
and, as a result 

þ reduce the risk of the final profit not being in line with expectations. 

Law firms are very straightforward compared to some other businesses - they are simply 
buying the time of fee earners and selling that time on to clients with a view to making a 
profit. The cost of the fee earners are the firm’s cost of sales; a law firm will, however, incur 
overheads in addition to the cost of the fee earners. This is necessary to: 

þ enable the fee earners to work efficiently and effectively; 
þ ensure the services that are delivered to clients meet their expectations. 

2. The Budget of a Traditional Firm 

One of the most important objectives of a business is to make a profit. The profit and loss 
account shows the extent to which it has been successful in achieving this objective. When 
budgeting, firms will want to consider their costs of sales; or, in other words, the 
direct costs attributable to the production of the service provided by the company. Firms 
will also want to consider their overheads, i.e. all its ongoing business expenses not 
including or related to direct labour, direct materials or third-party expenses that are billed 
directly to customers. A simple traditional law firm budget might look something like the 
one below, with the fee income being around three times the cost of the fee earner 
salaries: 

Fee Income £300 
Less Costs of Sales: Fee Earner Salaries £100 
Gross Profit £200 
Less Overheads £68 
Equity Partner Profit £132 

Using this example, it can be seen that the firm would then have the need to formulate: 

þ a fee income budget; 
þ a costs expense budget for costs of sales (fee earner salaries); and 
þ a costs expense budget for overheads. 

Firms may find it particularly difficult to predict fee income and so some devote the 
majority of their resources to predicting the expenses budgets because this is more easily 
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done. The result is that, while costs are accurately predicted, the same cannot be said for 
fees. It is clear from the above example that the fee projections are the largest component 
of the above calculation so even a small deviation from this can have a significant impact 
on final profit. Firms should therefore spend more resource on considering their fee income 
than anything else. 

3. Fee Income  

A variety of methods can be used to try to project fee income, these include: 

þ gut feel; 
þ trends; 
þ capacity; 
þ work in progress (WIP) levels; and a 
þ bottom-up calculation. 

3.1 Gut Feel 

A firm's managers always have a feel for what is a reasonable fee budget for the 
forthcoming year. While this is not the most scientific approach, it is certainly one way of 
budgeting and it is often the way in which it is done. 

3.2 Trends 

Consideration of the accounts for the past three to five years provides an indication of 
what might happen in the next year. It is logical that fee income is most likely to move in 
line with the underlying trend. If a firm decided to do this type of analysis, consideration 
should be given as to whether there is merit in splitting income into various sources, for 
example departments, so that trends in each separate source can be identified. Once the 
trend figure has been identified, it might be appropriate to increase or decrease the 
budget in line with external influences, for example: 

þ known changes in the economy; and  
þ anticipated changes to the scale of business development activity. 

3.3 Capacity 

This is arguably the simplest and most mechanical way of producing a fee income budget. 
The calculation is as follows: 

Fee 
income 

capacity = 

number of 
fee earners x 

expected 
chargeable hours 

per fee earner 
x average 

recorded rate 

This equation assumes all of the time recorded can be billed and, more importantly, 
recovered. If history shows that, in your firm, on average 80% of recorded time is billed, and 
60% of recorded time is recovered this must be taken this into account. It is worth noting 
that the billed time and recoverable time may vary from department to department so it 
may well be worth a firm undertaking these forecasts per department. 
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3.4 WIP levels 

If the level of work in progress (WIP) at year-end is the same as it was a year ago, it suggests 
next year's fees are likely to be the same as this year. If WIP levels are higher, it might 
suggest income levels will rise by the same amount. Another way of looking at this is to 
compare the number of open files now compared with the number of open files a year 
ago. 

3.5 Bottom-up Calculation 

Rather than management attempting to predict the fees for the next year, it might be 
better done by individual fee earners. To do this, each fee earner should be asked to 
provide their best estimate of fees for the following year with the total becoming the 
budgeted income for that year. This is an interesting approach; most fee earners tend to 
be cautious and they are worried about overstating their likely income. This is especially 
true where fee earners believe these fees will be used to set and drive targets and bonuses. 
Once this calculation has been done comparisons can be made to the trend budget or 
gut-feel budget. The bigger the gap between the figures the greater the risk that the 
trend/gut-feel budget may not be achieved unless resource is directed into business 
development. If the total achieved on this basis is close to the trend or gut-feel budget, 
there can be confidence that the target can be hit. 

4. Responsibility for Delivery of Budgeted Fees 

It is important that ownership is taken by all fee earners for budgeted fees. This may be 
achieved by breaking the fees budget down for each fee earner and generating separate 
targets for: 

þ hours; and 
þ recovered rate per hour. 

The budgeting process for fee income is only complete when each and every fee earner 
understands and accepts the fee income target that they have been given. 

5. Budgeting Expenses 

Budgeting expenses will determine whether firms are spending too much or too little. As has 
been considered already, there are two expenses budgets that need to be set: 

þ cost of sales (cost of fee earners); and 
þ overheads. 

5.1 Costs of Sales (Cost of Fee Earners) 

This budget simply summarises the anticipated payroll costs of fee earners for the period, 
i.e. gross salary plus: 

þ employers’ National Insurance contributions; 
þ any employer’s pension; and 
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þ any other benefits payments. 

Based on the standard model, it should be about one-third of the anticipated fee income. 
If the budget is more than this, either the fee income budget should be higher or there are 
too many fee earners. Pay reviews will obviously impact on this calculation. If salaries are 
adjusted at the start of the financial year, this budget is easier to prepare with certainty. If 
pay reviews are undertaken during the year, it might be difficult to predict these expenses 
with the same degree of certainty. 

5.2 Overheads 

The major overheads in law firms are usually as follows, although there will potentially be 
many other smaller overheads: 

þ support staff salaries; 
þ accommodation costs; 
þ IT; and 
þ professional indemnity insurance. 

A firm should only budget for overheads if they are necessary to provide services to clients 
or achieve longer-term objectives that are within the business plan. If the business plan is 
not considered when budgets are prepared, necessary expenditure may be overlooked 
and, as a result, objectives not met. 

There are associated difficulties determining with certainty whether too much or too little is 
being spent on individual overheads. Firms may wish to start by calculating each overhead 
as a percentage of fees. This is a logical approach given that most overheads increase in 
line with an increase in fee income; e.g. if fee income is doubled then expenditure on 
stationery and postage is also likely to double. However, the firm should be clear to 
differentiate between those costs that are fixed and those that are variable. Those costs 
that fluctuate with the level of output, or in other words fee income, are known as variable 
costs. Those that are constant whatever the amount of service delivered, i.e. whatever the 
fee income, are known as fixed costs. If a firm calculates its expenses as a percentage of 
fees over several years it is possible to see which overheads are increasing and which are 
decreasing. This analysis might help a firm understand if it is over or under-spending.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 7 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ describe the requirements of a business under GDPR;  
þ explain the considerations of a firm that wishes to employee individuals; 
þ explain the risks associated with implementing a performance 

management strategy; and 
þ describe how firms should approach disciplinary action.  
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7.1 General Data Protection Regulation  

1. Introduction 

The General Data Protection Regulation was approved by the EU Parliament on 14 April 
2016. The date of enforcement is the 25 May 2018. It is an EU regulation that replaces 
the Data Protection Directive 95/46/EC (i.e. including the Data Protection Act 1998) without 
the need for further national legislation. The Data Protection Act 1998 was introduced 20 
years ago to make sure organisations looked after the personal data they might store on 
computers, or in organised paper filing systems. Much has changed in relation to data over 
the past 20 years and so the General Data Protection Regulation was designed to:  

þ harmonise data protection laws across Europe;  
þ to protect and empower all EU citizens data privacy; and 
þ to reshape the way organisations across the EU approach data privacy.  

So, the regulation simply brings the laws around personal data up to date. It also makes 
sure that people have more say on how their personal information is used by organisations, 
giving them more rights than before.  

This handout explores the key articles of the General Data Protection Regulation and its 
business impact. All Articles of the General Data Protection Regulation are linked by 
recitals.  

2. The Data Protection Act 1998 and the General Data Protection Regulation 

The General Data Protection Regulation builds on the current legislative framework 
contained within the Data Protection Act 1998. There are some significant enhancements 
to reflect the increasingly networked world, the table below provides an overview of those 
changes. 

Data Protection Act 1998 General Data Protection Regulation 
Can charge £10 for Subject Access 
Requests and have 40 days to 
respond.  

Subject Access Requests will be free and 
they will need to be responded to within 30 
days.  

Non-compliance can result in fines 
of up to £500,000 or 1% of annual 
turnover.  

The potential penalties for non-compliance 
are much more severe, with fines of up to 20 
million euros, or 4% of annual turnover.  

Organisations are under no 
obligation to report data breaches, 
although they are encouraged to 
do so.  

Any data breach must be reported to the 
Supervisory Authority within 72 hours of the 
incident. Also affected individuals must be 
notified if it is likely to result in a high risk to 
their rights and freedoms.  

Data collection doesn't necessarily 
require an opt-in under the current 
legislation.  

The need for consent underpins the General 
Data Protection Regulation. Individuals must 
opt-in whenever data is collected and 
there must be clear privacy notices. Those 
notices must be concise and transparent, 
and consent must be able to be withdrawn 
at any time.  
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Under the current legislation there 
is no need for any business to have 
a dedicated Data Protection 
Officer.  

A Data Protection Officer is mandatory for 
any business or organisation with more than 
250 employees.  

Only applies in the UK.  Applies to the whole of the EU and to any 
company that holds data on EU citizens.  

Enforced by the Information 
Commissioner's Office.  

 

Compliance will be monitored by a 
Supervisory Authority in the UK, with each 
European country having its own 
Supervisory Authority. In the UK, the 
Information Commissioner's Office will take 
the role of Supervisory Authority. 

Privacy Impact Assessments aren't 
a legal requirement under the 
Data Protection Act 1998 but have 
always been championed by 
Information Commissioner's Office.  

Privacy Impact Assessments will be 
mandatory and must be carried out when 
there is a high risk to the freedoms of the 
individual. A Privacy Impact Assessments 
helps an organisation to ensure they meet 
an individual's expectation of privacy.  

Only the controller (i.e. the 
company) is currently held liable 
for data protection compliance 
and not any other organisations 
processing data on their behalf.  

The General Data Protection Regulation 
places direct statutory obligations on data 
processors, meaning that data processors 
may be subject to direct enforcement by 
supervisory authorities, serious fines for non-
compliance, and compensation claims by 
data subjects for any damage caused by 
breaching the General Data Protection 
Regulation.  

2.1 The Principles 

Chapter 2 of the General Data Protection Regulation contains the principles of the 
regulation (Articles 5-11 of the General Data Protection Regulation). These include 
principles relating to processing of personal data, the lawfulness of processing data, the 
conditions for consent, the conditions applicable to a child's consent in relation to 
information society services, processing of special categories of personal data, processing 
of personal data relating to criminal convictions and offences and processing which does 
not require identification. 

3. Scope and Applicability 

3.1 Material Scope 

Article 2, para 1 stipulates that the General Data Protection Regulation applies to:  

þ the processing of personal data wholly or partly by automated means; and  
þ to the processing other than by automated means of personal data which form part 

of a filing system or are intended to form part of a filing system. 

Article 4(1) of the General Data Protection Regulation defines personal data as:  

“any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person (‘data subject’); an 
identifiable natural person is one who can be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular 
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by reference to an identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an 
online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, 

mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person” 

The General Data Protection Regulation applies to ‘personal data’ meaning any 
information relating to an identifiable person who can be directly or indirectly identified in 
particular by reference to an identifier. So, personal data can be any information that 
relates to an individual which includes all individuals such as volunteers, staff, contractors, 
clients, etc. It can be held online (eg. on computer systems, email, website etc), or offline 
(e.g. notes you write down on paper, in files, on noticeboards etc). This includes:  

þ names;  
þ addresses;  
þ online identificator; 
þ dates of birth;  
þ email details;  
þ bank details;  
þ payment card details;  
þ photographs;  
þ images; and  
þ membership/client numbers.  

It also includes anything kept as a record of conversations relating to someone, or decisions 
made about someone, such as a discussion about a client, colleague or member.  

The General Data Protection Regulation refers to sensitive personal data as special 
categories of personal data (article 9 of the General Data Protection Regulation). The 
special categories specifically include genetic data, and biometric data where processed 
to uniquely identify an individual. Personal data relating to criminal convictions and 
offences are not included, but similar extra safeguards apply to its processing (article 10 of 
the General Data Protection Regulation). 

Article 2, para 2 provides that the regulation does not apply to the processing of personal 
data: 

þ in respect of activities which fall outside the scope of EU law (e.g. activities 
concerning national security);  

þ in relation to the EU’s common foreign and security policy;  
þ by competent authorities for the purpose of the prevention, investigation, detection 

or prosecution of criminal ofences and associated matters (i.e. where the Law 
Enforcement Agencies Directive applies);  

þ by EU institutions; and  
þ by a natural person as part of a purely personal or household activity. This covers 

correspondence and the holding of address books but it also now covers social 
networking and online activities undertaken for social and domestic purposes.  

3.2 The E-commerce Directive 

The General Data Protection Regulation is stated to be without prejudice to the rules in the 
E-commerce Directive (2000/31/EC ), in particular to those concerning the liability of 
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intermediary service providers (and which purport to limit their exposure to pecuniary and 
criminal liability where they merely host, cache or act as a mere conduit). The relationship 
with the E-commerce Directive is not straightforward because that Directive states that 
issues relating to the processing of personal data are excluded from its scope and solely 
governed by relevant data protection legislation. The two can be read consistently if one 
assumes that the liability of intermediary service providers for the actions of users will be 
determined by the E-commerce Directive but that other matters (such as obligations to 
erase or rectify data, or obligations on an intermediary service provider concerning its own 
uses of personal data) will be governed by the General Data Protection Regulation. 
However, the point is not clear.  

3.3 Increased Territorial Scope (Extra-territorial Applicability) 

Arguably the biggest change to the regulatory landscape of data protection comes with 
the extended jurisdiction of the General Data Protection Regulation which applies to all 
companies processing the personal data of data subjects residing in the Union regardless 
of the company’s location. Previously, territorial applicability of the directive was 
ambiguous and referred to data process in context of an establishment. The General Data 
Protection Regulation makes its applicability very clear; it will apply to the processing of 
personal data by controllers and processors in the EU regardless of whether the processing 
takes place in the EU or not.  

The General Data Protection Regulation will also apply to the processing of personal data 
of data subjects in the EU by a controller or processor not established in the EU, where the 
activities relate to:  

þ offering goods or services to EU citizens (irrespective of whether payment is 
required); and  

þ the monitoring of behaviour that takes place within the EU.  

Non-EU organisations processing the data of EU citizens will also have to appoint a 
representative in the EU.  

3.4 Direct Effect and National Law 

The General Data Protection Regulation is a directive and is therefore directly effective in 
Member States without the need for implementing legislation. However, on numerous 
occasions, the General Data Protection Regulation does allow Member States to legislate 
on data protection matters. This includes:  

þ occasions where the processing of personal data is required to comply with a legal 
obligation; and 

þ relates to a public interest task or is carried out by a body with official authority.  

Numerous articles also state that their provisions may be further specified or restricted by 
Member State law.  

Processing of employee data is another significant area where Member States may take 
divergent approaches. Organisations working in sectors where special rules often apply 
(e.g. health and financial services) should:  
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þ consider if they would benefit from such “special rules” which would particularise or 
liberalise the General Data Protection Regulation; and  

þ advocate these accordingly.  

They should also watch for Member States seeking to introduce “special rules” which may 
prove restrictive or inconsistent across Member States.  

3.5 Brexit 

Brexit also gives rise to some uncertainty. If you process data about individuals in the 
context of selling goods or services to citizens in other EU countries then you will need to 
comply with the General Data Protection Regulation, irrespective as to whether or not you 
the UK retains the General Data Protection Regulation post-Brexit. If your activities are 
limited to the UK, then the position (after the initial exit period) is much less clear. The UK 
Government has indicated it will implement an equivalent or alternative legal mechanisms. 
Our expectation is that any such legislation will largely follow the General Data Protection 
Regulation, given the support previously provided to the General Data Protection 
Regulation by the Information Commissioners Office and UK Government as an effective 
privacy standard, together with the fact that the General Data Protection Regulation 
provides a clear baseline against which UK business can seek continued access to the EU 
digital market.  

4. Data  

4.1 Data Subjects 

A data subject is an identified or identifiable natural person and an identifiable natural 
person is one who can be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an 
identifier such as:  

þ a name; 
þ an identification number; 
þ location data; 
þ an online identifier; or  
þ to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, mental, 

economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person. 

The rights of the data subject are found in Chapter 3 of the regulation (articles 12-23). 
Chapter 3 is split into five sections, namely: 

þ transparency and modalities; 
þ information and access to personal data; 
þ rectification and erasure; 
þ right to object and automated individual decision-making; and 
þ restrictions. 

4.2 Lawfully Processing Data 

Processing data is defined widely to cover any operation or set of operations which is 
performed on personal data or sets of personal data, whether or not by automated means. 
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Examples of processing include the collection, recording, organisation, storage, use and 
destruction of personal data.  

Organisations need to establish a lawful basis for processing personal data and let data 
subjects know what that basis is. The lawful grounds for processing personal data are set 
out in article 6 of the General Data Protection Regulation, article 6(1) of the General Data 
Protection Regulation states that processing shall be lawful only if, and to the extent, that at 
least one of the following applies: 

þ the data subject has given consent to the processing of his or her personal data for 
one or more specific purposes; 

þ processing is necessary for the performance of a contract to which the data subject 
is party or in order to take steps at the request of the data subject prior to entering 
into a contract; 

þ processing is necessary for compliance with a legal obligation to which the 
controller is subject; 

þ processing is necessary in order to protect the vital interests of the data subject or of 
another natural person; 

þ processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public 
interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller; or 

þ processing is necessary for the purposes of the legitimate interests pursued by the 
controller or by a third party, except where such interests are overridden by the 
interests or fundamental rights and freedoms of the data subject which require 
protection of personal data, in particular where the data subject is a child. 

Organisations must distinguish between personal data and special categories of personal 
data. Processing of the latter is prohibited under article 9 of the General Data Protection 
Regulation unless one of the exceptions apply, which include where the data subject has 
consented to the processing. The special categories of personal data are: 

þ racial or ethnic origin; 
þ political opinions; 
þ religious or philosophical beliefs; 
þ trade union membership; 
þ genetic data; 
þ biometric data for the purpose of uniquely identifying a natural person; 
þ data concerning health; and 
þ data concerning a natural person’s sex life or sexual orientation. 

Knowing what information the organisation holds, where it came from and who it is shared 
with is essential in order to be able to demonstrate compliance with the General Data 
Protection Regulation. All organisations should undertake a data mapping exercise and, if 
necessary, a full information audit. This includes, but is not limited to, personal data on 
clients, employees and third parties they interact with in the course of their business. These 
may establish that they are processing some special categories of data in relation to both 
clients and staff. It is also necessary in order for organisations to maintain appropriate 
records of processing activities. 

If organisations rely on consent then they should become familiar with the concept and 
specifically should consider how they ask for consent, the details as to what consent is 
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being asked for and how the giving of consent is recorded for compliance purposes. The 
following template may assist when undertaking the data mapping exercise, although it is 
likely to need adapting depending on the orgnaisation and the data being processed: 

Data Internal 
Identifier Location Category of 

Date 
Legal 
Basis 

Date Of 
consent/contract 

How 
data 

obtained 

Who 
processes 

data 
       
       
       

4.3 Consent 

Article 4(11) of the General Data Protection Regulation defines the consent of the data 
subject as:  

“any freely given, specific, informed and unambiguous indication of the data subject’s 
wishes by which he or she by statement or by a clear affirmative action, signifies 

agreement to the processing of personal data relating to him or her.” 

Article 7 of the General Data Protection Regulation deals with conditions for consent which 
are said to have been strengthened, with organisations no longer being able to use long 
illegible terms and conditions full of legalese. Consent must be clear and distinguishable 
from other matters and provided in an intelligible and easily accessible form, using clear 
and plain language. It must be as easy to withdraw consent as it is to give it. 

The requirement that consent be unambiguous does not represent a change for practical 
purposes; article 7(a) of the Data Protection Directive stipulated that where consent is 
relied on for making data processing legitimate it must be given unambiguously. Recital 32 
of the General Data Protection Regulation suggests that this may be signified by:  

“ticking a box when visiting a... website, choosing technical settings... or by any other 
statement or conduct which clearly indicates... the data subject’s acceptance of the 

proposed processing of their personal data. Silence, pre-ticked boxes or inactivity should 
therefore not constitute consent.” 

Explicit consent is still required to justify the processing of sensitive personal data (unless 
other grounds apply). In addition, explicit consent, in the absence of adequacy or other 
conditions, can be relied on under the General Data Protection Regulation for the transfer 
of personal data outside of the EU and as one of the legal bases for the making of 
automated decisions relating to an individual.  

Article 7(1) of the General Data Protection Regulation requires that where consent is relied 
on as a ground for lawful processing, controllers should be able to demonstrate that 
consent was given by the data subject to the processing.   

The rest of article 7 of the regulation is dedicated to setting out the conditions for  valid 
consent, these include: 
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þ consent contained in a written declaration to be distinguishable from other matters 
in that declaration, intelligible, easily accessible and be in clear and plain language 
(article 7(2) of the General Data Protection Regulation); 

þ that data subjects must have the right to revoke their consent at any time (article 
7(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation); and 

þ performance of service contracts conditional on consent (article 7(4) of the General 
Data Protection Regulation). 

4.3.1 Article 7(2) of the General Data Protection Regulation 

By virtue of article 7(2) of the General Data Protection Regulation, consent to processing 
contained in a written declaration must be distinguishable from other matters in that 
declaration, intelligible, easily accessible and be in clear and plain language. Recital 42 of 
the General Data Protection Regulation cites the Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts 
Directive as the inspiration for these obligations. In practice, this will require consent to 
processing to be clearly distinguishable within broader contracts or agreements. 
Additionally, it should be noted that Recital 42 of the General Data Protection Regulation 
also provides that consent will be informed only where the data subject is aware of (at 
least) of the identity of the controller and the intended purposes of the processing of that 
data. 

4.3.2 Article 7(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation 

Article 7(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation requires that data subjects must 
have the right to revoke their consent at any time, and it must be as easy to withdraw 
consent as it is to give it. In practice, as a minimum this is likely to require organisations to 
allow consent to be withdrawn through the same media (e.g. website, email, text) as it was 
obtained. The General Data Protection Regulation acknowledges that the withdrawal of 
consent does not retrospectively render processing unlawful but requires the controller to 
inform data subjects of this before consent is given. 

4.3.1 Article 7(4) of the General Data Protection Regulation 

Article 7(4) of the General Data Protection Regulation provides that where the 
performance of a contract, including the provision of a service, is made conditional on 
consent to the processing of data that is not necessary for the performance of that 
contract, this is likely to call into question the extent to which consent can be considered to 
be freely given.  

Recital 43 of the General Data Protection Regulation indicates that consent will be 
presumed not to be freely given if: 

þ despite it being appropriate in the circumstances, there is no provision for separate 
consent to be given to different processing operations; or  

þ the performance of a contract, including the provision of a service, is dependent on 
the consent, despite such consent not being necessary for such performance. 

As a result, the provision of a service should not be made contingent on the data subject’s 
consent to the processing of his/her data for purposes that are unnecessary for the 
provision of the service.  
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4.4 Archiving Data 

Data archiving is the process of moving data that is no longer actively used to a separate 
storage device for long-term retention. It is likely to be used on data that needs to be kept 
for long term retention or for industry or company regulations. Long term retention may be 
needed for: 

þ legislation (legal documents may have to be retained for seven years); 
þ company policy; and 
þ sensitive types of information. 

It is important to undertake an analysis of how the data is held and if it is accessed or used. 
If the data is not being processed it is still important to remember that the data subject will 
now have the right to obtain from the controller the erasure of personal data concerning 
him or her without undue delay and the controller shall have the obligation to erase 
personal data without undue delay. 

5. Who is responsible? 

As well as ensuring that everyone in an organisation has an understanding of the relevant 
parts of the General Data Protection Regulation, organisations should also ensure that 
those organisations with whom they share personal data, or who process personal data on 
their behalf, are aware of their obligations. Organisations will be responsible for the actions 
of their employees and data they share with other parties. Ensuring compliance will be the 
responsibility of everyone in the firm. 

5.1 Controllers and Processors 

The General Data Protection Regulation applies to controllers and processors. A controller 
determines the purposes and means of processing personal data. A processor is 
responsible for processing the data on behalf of a controller. The regulations places 
specific legal obligations on processors; for example, they are required to maintain records 
of personal data and processing activities. They will have legal liability if they are 
responsible for a breach. However, controllers, are not relieved of their obligations where a 
processor is involved. The General Data Protection Regulation places further obligations on 
them to ensure their contracts with processors comply with the General Data Protection 
Regulation. 

5.2 Data Protection Officers 

The Law Society recommends that law firms appoint someone with appropriate expertise 
and resources to lead on General Data Protection Regulation compliance. It would be 
good practice for all companies to consider whether or not they need to appoint a Data 
Protection Officer and they should document their analysis. Importantly, where a Data 
Protection Officer is appointed they:  

þ must be appointed on the basis of professional qualities and, in particular, expert 
knowledge on data protection law and practices; 

þ may be a staff member or an external service provider; 
þ contact details must be provided to the relevant Data Protection Authority; 
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þ must be provided with appropriate resources to carry out their tasks and maintain 
their expert knowledge; 

þ must report directly to the highest level of management; and 
þ must not carry out any other tasks that could results in a conflict of interest. 

The criteria that needs to be followed in deciding whether or not an organisation must 
appoint a Data Protection Officer are set out in article 37(1) of the General Data Protection 
Regulation.  Designation of a Data Protection Officer is mandatory:  

þ where processing is carried out by a public authority or body, except for courts 
acting in their judicial capacity;  

þ where the core activities of the controller or the processor consist of processing 
operations which, by virtue of their nature, their scope and/or their purposes, require 
regular and systematic monitoring of data subjects on a large scale; or  

þ where the core activities of the controller or the processor consist of processing on a 
large scale of special categories of data or personal data relating to criminal 
convictions and offences.  

To work out if the appointment of a Data Protection Officer is mandatory organisations will 
need to interpret the key terms, including: ‘core activities’, ‘regular and systematic’ and 
‘large scale’ in order to decide whether mandatory designation of a DPO is required. 
Organisations will also need to identify, whether or not they are processing special 
categories of data and whether in certain circumstances they can be regarded as “public 
authority or body”.  

Key Term Potential Interpretation 

Public authority or 
body 

Should be determined under national law and suggests that the 
concept is not limited to national, regional and local authorities, 
but under the applicable national laws, typically also includes a 
range of other bodies governed by public law. 

Core activities 

Recital 97 of the General Data Protection Regulation specifies that 
the core activities of a controller relate to primary activities and do 
not relate to the processing of personal data as ancillary activities. 
Core activities may be interpreted as the key operations necessary 
to achieve the controller’s or processor’s goals, but should not be 
interpreted as excluding activities where the processing of data 
forms an inextricable part of such key operations of the controller or 
processor (e.g. in providing services to its clients).  

Regular and 
systematic 
monitoring 

Regular may describe:  

þ ongoing or occurring at particular intervals for a particular 
period; 

þ recurring or repeated at fixed times; or  
þ constantly or periodically taking place.  

Systematic may describe: 

þ occurring according to a system;  
þ pre - arranged, organised or methodical;   
þ taking place as part of a general plan for data collection; 

or carried out as part of a strategy.  
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Examples of activities that may constitute regular and systematic 
monitoring include email retargeting, data driven marketing, 
profiling and scoring for the purposes of risk assessment for the 
detection of money - laundering. 

Large scale 

The General Data Protection Regulation does not define what 
constitutes “large scale” processing. Recital 91 to the General Data 
Protection Regulation does however explain that large-scale 
processing operations which aim to process a considerable 
amount of personal data at regional, national or supranational 
level and which could affect a large number of data subjects and 
which are likely to result in a high risk would be included in the 
definition. This could be, for example, a Hospital. However, in 
contrast Recital 91 to the General Data Protection Regulation goes 
on to state that the processing of personal data should not be 
considered to be on a large scale if the processing concerns 
personal data from patients or clients by an individual physician, 
other health care professional or lawyer. This means that there is 
guidance on the two extremes but there is uncertainty to the 
organisations that fall within those extremes. Factors that should be 
considered are: 

þ the number of data subjects concerned (either as a 
specific number or as a proportion of the relevant 
population);  

þ the volume of data and / or range of data processing 
activity;  

þ the duration, or permanence, of data processing activity; 
and  

þ the geographical extent of the processing activity. 

Special categories 
of data 

The special categories of data are set out in article 9 of the 
General Data Protection Regulation. They consist of personal data 
revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or 
philosophical beliefs or trade union membership, and the 
processing of genetic data, biometric data for the purpose of 
uniquely identifying a natural person, data concerning health or 
data concerning a natural person’s sex life or sexual orientation.  

6. Rights Under The General Data Protection Regulation 

The rights of data subjects under the General Data Protection Regulation build on the 
current legislative framework under the Data Protection Act 1998. There are some 
significant enhancements to reflect the increasingly networked world. Perhaps one of the 
most important rights is the right for an individual (the data subject) to access any personal 
data held on them. They also have a right to additional information including: 

þ to know what you use their data for (purpose of processing);  
þ to whom their data has been or will be disclosed; and  
þ the period for which it will be stored (where possible).  

The General Data Protection Regulation introduces two significant changes in the data 
subject access regime which organisations should be aware of. A fee cannot be charged 
(article 15(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation). However, a reasonable 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  256 

administrative-cost fee may be charged if further copies are requested. If the request is 
made in electronic form then the information should be provided in a commonly used 
electronic form, this is unless the data subject requests otherwise. Recital 63 of the General 
Data Protection Regulation also suggests that, where possible, the controller may provide a 
secure system which would grant the data subject direct access to his/her data. This seems 
to be encouraged rather than required.   

By virtue of article 12(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation, as with all data subject 
rights, the controller must comply without undue delay and at the latest within one month. 
It should be noted that the period may be extended by a further two months where 
necessary, taking into account the complexity and number of the requests. The controller 
shall inform the data subject of any such extension within one month of receipt of the 
request, together with the reasons for the delay.  

The General Data Protection Regulation provides the following rights for individuals: 

þ the right to be informed; 
þ the right of access; 
þ the right to rectification; 
þ the right to erasure; 
þ the right to restrict processing; 
þ the right to data portability; 
þ the right to object; and 
þ rights in relation to automated decision making and profiling. 

6.1 The Right To Be Informed and The Right of Access 

Part of the expanded rights of data subjects outlined by the General Data Protection 
Regulation is the right for data subjects to obtain from the data controller confirmation as 
to whether or not personal data concerning them is being processed, where and for what 
purpose. The regulation sets out the information that should be supplied and when 
individuals should be informed. The information to be supplied is determined by whether or 
not that personal data has been obtained directly from individuals or not.  

As we have seen, the information to be supplied about the processing of personal data 
must be:  

þ concise, transparent, intelligible and easily accessible (article 12(1) of the General 
Data Protection Regulation); 

þ written in clear and plain language, particularly if addressed to a child (article 12(1) 
of the General Data Protection Regulation); and 

þ free of charge (article 15(3) of the General Data Protection Regulation). 

The table below summarises the information organisations should supply to individuals. 
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The controller must also use reasonable means to verify the identity of the person making 
the request but should not keep or collect data just so as to be able to meet subject 
access requests. If the request is made electronically, organisations should provide the 
information in a commonly used electronic format. The General Data Protection Regulation 
includes a best practice recommendation that, where possible, organisations should be 
able to provide remote access to a secure self-service system which would provide the 
individual with direct access to his or her information (Recital 63 of the General Data 
Protection Regulation). This will not be appropriate for all organisations, but there are some 
sectors where this may work well. The right to obtain a copy of information or to access 

What information must be supplied? Da
ta

 o
bt

ai
ne

d 
di

re
ct

ly
 

fro
m

 d
at

a 
su

bj
ec

t 

Da
ta

 n
ot

 o
bt

ai
ne

d 
di

re
ct

ly
 

fro
m

 d
at

a 
su

bj
ec

t 

Identity and contact details of the controller (and where applicable, the controller’s 
representative) and the data protection officer. ✓ ✓ 

Purpose of the processing and the lawful basis for the processing. ✓ ✓ 

The legitimate interests of the controller or third party, where applicable. ✓ ✓ 

Categories of personal data.  ✓ 

Any recipient or categories of recipients of the personal data. ✓ ✓ 

Details of transfers to third country and safeguards. ✓ ✓ 

Retention period or criteria used to determine the retention period. ✓ ✓ 

The existence of each of data subject’s rights. ✓ ✓ 

The right to withdraw consent at any time, where relevant. ✓ ✓ 

The right to lodge a complaint with a supervisory authority. ✓ ✓ 

The source the personal data originates from and whether it came from publicly accessible 
sources. 

 ✓ 

Whether the provision of personal data is part of a statutory or contractual requirement or 
obligation and possible consequences of failing to provide the personal data. ✓  

The existence of automated decision making, including profiling and information about how 
decisions are made, the significance and the consequences. ✓ ✓ 
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personal data through a remotely accessed secure system should not adversely affect the 
rights and freedoms of others. 

Where requests are manifestly unfounded or excessive, in particular because they are 
repetitive, you can: 

þ charge a reasonable fee taking into account the administrative costs of providing 
the information; or 

þ refuse to respond. 

Where an organisation refuses to respond to a request, they must explain why to the 
individual, informing them of their right to complain to the supervisory authority and to a 
judicial remedy without undue delay and at the latest within one month.  

Where an organisation processes a large quantity of information about an individual, the 
General Data Protection Regulation permits them to ask the individual to specify the 
information the request relates to (recital 63 of the General Data Protection Regulation). 
The General Data Protection Regulation does not include an exemption for requests that 
relate to large amounts of data, but organisations may be able to consider whether the 
request is manifestly unfounded or excessive. 

The General Data Protection Regulation does recognise that subject access may adversely 
affect others and, under article 15(4) of the General Data Protection Regulation, the 
General Data Protection Regulation provides that the right to receive a copy of the data 
shall not adversely affect the rights and freedoms of others. Recital 63 of the General Data 
Protection Regulation notes that this could extend to protection of intellectual property 
rights and trade secrets (for example, if release of the logic of automated decision taking 
would involve release of such information). However, the recital also notes that a controller 
cannot refuse to provide all information, on the basis that access may infringe others’ rights.  

6.2 The Right to Rectification and Erasure 

By virtue of article 16 of the GDPR, individuals can require a controller to rectify 
inaccuracies in personal data held about them without undue delay. In some 
circumstances taking into account the purposes of the processing, if personal data is 
incomplete an individual can require the controller to complete the data, or to record a 
supplementary statement.  

As a consequence of article 17 of the GDPR, individuals have the right to data erasure, also 
known as the right to be forgotten. This entitles the data subject to:  

þ have the data controller erase his/her personal data; 
þ cease further dissemination of the data; and  
þ potentially have third parties halt processing of the data.  

The conditions for erasure include:  

þ the data no longer being relevant to original purposes for processing (article 17(1)(a) 
of the General Data Protection Regulation); or  
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þ a data subjects withdrawing consent (article 17(1)(b) of the General Data 
Protection Regulation).  

Recital 66 states that, to strengthen the right to be forgotten in the online environment, the 
right to erasure should also be extended in such a way that a controller who has made the 
personal data public should be obliged to inform the controllers which are processing such 
personal data to erase any links to, or copies or replications of those personal data. In 
doing so, that controller should take reasonable steps, taking into account available 
technology and the means available to the controller, including technical measures, to 
inform the controllers which are processing the personal data of the data subject’s request. 

It should however be noted that, under article 17(3) of the General Data Protection 
Regulation, this right requires controllers to compare the subjects' rights to "the public 
interest in the availability of the data" when considering such requests. Organisations can 
therefore refuse to comply with a request for erasure where the personal data is processed 
for the following reasons: 

þ to exercise the right of freedom of expression and information; 
þ to comply with a legal obligation for the performance of a public interest task or 

exercise of official authority; 
þ for public health purposes in the public interest; 
þ archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific research historical research or 

statistical purposes; or 
þ the exercise or defence of legal claims. 

6.3 The Right to Restrict Processing 

Data subjects have a right to ‘block’ or suppress the processing of their personal data. 
When processing is restricted, organisations are permitted to store the personal data but 
not further process it. Organisations can retain just enough information about the individual 
to ensure that the restriction is respected in future.  

By virtue of article 18 (1) of the General Data Protection Regulation, organisations will be 
required to restrict the processing of personal data in the following circumstances: 

þ where an individual contests the accuracy of the personal data, organisations 
should restrict the processing until they have verified the accuracy of the 
personal data; 

þ where an individual has objected to the processing (where it was necessary for 
the performance of a public interest task or purpose of legitimate interests), and 
organisations are considering whether their legitimate grounds override those of 
the individual; 

þ when processing is unlawful and the individual opposes erasure and requests 
restriction instead; and 

þ if organisations no longer need the personal data but the individual requires the 
data to establish, exercise or defend a legal claim. 

Organisations may need to review procedures to ensure they are able to determine where 
they may be required to restrict the processing of personal data. If organisations have 
disclosed the personal data in question to others, they must contact each recipient and 
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inform them of the restriction on the processing of the personal data. This is unless this 
proves impossible or involves disproportionate effort. If asked to, organisations must also 
inform the individuals about these recipients. 

By virtue of article 18 (3) of the General Data Protection Regulation, organisations must 
inform individuals when they decide to lift a restriction on processing. 

6.5 Data Portability 

The right to data portability, found in article 20 of the General Data Protection Regulation, 
allows individuals to obtain and reuse their personal data for their own purposes across 
different services. It allows them to move, copy or transfer personal data easily from one IT 
environment to another in a safe and secure way, without hindrance to usability. This right 
enables consumers to take advantage of applications and services which can use this 
data to find them a better deal, or help them understand their spending habits. 

Pursuant to article 20(1)(a) and (b) of the General Data Protection Regulation, the right to 
data portability only applies: 

þ to personal data an individual has provided to a controller; 
þ where the processing is based on the individual’s consent or for the performance 

of a contract; and 
þ when processing is carried out by automated means. 

Organisations must provide the personal data in a structured, commonly used and 
machine-readable form. Open formats include CSV files. Machine readable means that 
the information is structured so that software can extract specific elements of the data. This 
enables other organisations to use the data.  

Article 20(2) of the General Data Protection Regulation means if the individual requests it, 
organisations may be required to transmit the data directly to another organisation if this is 
technically feasible. However, they are not required to adopt or maintain processing 
systems that are technically compatible with other organisations. 

If the personal data concerns more than one individual, organisations must consider 
whether providing the information would prejudice the rights of any other individual. 

6.6 Right to Object and Automated Individual Decision-making 

The rights to object are given by article 21 of the General Data Protection Regulation. All 
relate to processing carried out for specific purposes, or which is justified on a particular 
basis. There is no right for an individual to object to processing in general.  

The rights are to object to:  

þ processing which is for direct marketing purposes (article 21(2)-(3) and Recital 70 of 
the General Data Protection Regulation);  

þ processing for scientific/historical research/statistical purposes (article 21(6) of the 
General Data Protection Regulation); and  
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þ processing based on two specific purposes (i.e legitimate interest grounds (article 
6(1)(f) of the General Data Protection Regulation) and because it is necessary for a 
public interest task/official authority (article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection 
Regulation). 

The right to object to processing which is for direct marketing purposes is an absolute right; 
once the individual objects, the data must not be processed for direct marketing any 
further. The right to object to processing for scientific/historical research/statistical purposes 
is not as strong as the right to object to direct marketing. Here, there must be grounds to 
object relating to the data subject’s particular situation. There is an exception where the 
processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out for reasons of public 
interest. There is no equivalent to this provision in the Data Protection Directive.  

Objections based on legitimate interest grounds (i.e. under article 6(1)(f) of the General 
Data Protection Regulation) or because it is necessary for a public interest task/official 
authority (i.e. article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation) must relate to a 
data subject’s particular situation. In such cases, the controller must then cease processing 
of the personal data unless:   

þ it can demonstrate compelling legitimate grounds which override the interests of the 
data subject; or   

þ the processing is for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.   

So, once an individual objects, based on his or her specific situation, the burden falls to the 
controller to establish why it should, nonetheless, be able to process personal data on this 
basis. This is a tightening of the rules from the Data Protection Directive. In the equivalent 
provision, it is the data subject who has to demonstrate ‘compelling legitimate grounds’ of 
objection and the processing only has to cease if the objection is justified.  

In the case of processing for direct marketing and processing based on tasks in the public 
interest/legitimate interests, the individual’s right to object must be explicitly brought to his 
or her attention; at the latest at the time of first communication with the individual. This must 
be presented clearly and separately from other information. This need to inform the 
individual does not apply to statistical/ research based processing. In the case of online 
services, the individual must be able to exercise his or her right by automated means.  

6.7 Restrictions on Rights 

Restrictions may be imposed, by virtue of article 23 of the of the General Data Protection 
Regulation, on the rights of a data subject by a Union or Member State law concerning: 

þ specific principles and the rights of information; 
þ access to and rectification or erasure of personal data; 
þ the right to data portability; 
þ the right to object; 
þ decisions based on profiling; 
þ the communication of a personal data breach to a data subject; and  
þ certain related obligations of the controllers  
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However, these restrictions may only be imposed as far as necessary and proportionate in 
a democratic society to safeguard public security, which includes:  

þ the protection of human life especially in response to natural or manmade disasters;  
þ the prevention, investigation and prosecution of criminal offences or the execution 

of criminal penalties (including the safeguarding against and the prevention of 
threats to public security or of breaches of ethics for regulated professions, other 
important objectives of general public interest of the Union or of a Member State, in 
particular an important economic or financial interest of the Union or of a Member 
State); 

þ the keeping of public registers kept for reasons of general public interest,  
þ further processing of archived personal data to provide specific information related 

to the political behaviour under former totalitarian state regimes or the protection of 
the data subject or the rights and freedoms of others (including social protection, 
public health and humanitarian purposes).  

Those restrictions should be in accordance with the requirements set out in the Charter and 
in the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental 
Freedoms. 

7. Cybersecurity 

The General Data Protection Regulation requires organisations to take appropriate 
technical and organisational measures to ensure a level of security that reflects their risks in 
processing personal data. This is similar to organisations’ obligations under the Data 
Protection Act 1998, but there are some differences. As with overall General Data 
Protection Regulation compliance, organisations should consider appointing someone with 
sufficient seniority and expertise to lead work on cybersecurity. They should also consider 
drawing up an information security policy that addresses their firm’s overall information 
security needs. This will clearly encompass processing of personal data under the General 
Data Protection Regulation, but should also cover information assets that comprise non-
personal data. Additionally, organisations may also wish to ensure that your policy covers 
physical and personnel security procedures. 

The General Data Protection Regulation explicitly refers to pseudonymisation and 
encryption of data as potentially appropriate mechanisms for ensuring the security of 
personal data. Amongst other measures it mentions are: 

þ ensuring the ongoing confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of 
processing systems and services; 

þ having the ability to restore the availability and access to personal data in a timely 
manner in the event of a physical or technical incident; and 

þ having a process for regularly testing, assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of 
an organisation’s technical and organisational measures for ensuring the security of 
your processing. 

8. Supervisory Authorities  

National data protection authorities (supervisory authorities) are provided for by article 51 
of the General Data Protection Regulation and they are responsible for monitoring the 
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application of the General Data Protection Regulation to protect fundamental rights in 
relation to processing and to facilitate the free flow of personal data within the EU.  

By virtue of article 51(2) of the General Data Protection Regulation, supervisory authorities 
have to co-operate with each other and the European Commission in order to contribute 
to the consistent application of the General Data Protection Regulation. The Commission 
must be notified of national laws on the setting up and appointment of supervisory 
authorities (article 51(4) of the General Data Protection Regulation).  

Article 52(1) of the General Data Protection Regulation requires that supervisory authorities 
are to act with complete independence (but subject to financial auditing and judicial 
supervision). Members of supervisory authorities are to stay free from external influence and 
neither seek nor take instructions from anyone (article 52(2) of the General Data Protection 
Regulation). They must not act incompatibly with their duties nor, whilst in office, engage in 
an incompatible occupation, whether or not gainful (article 52(3) of the General Data 
Protection Regulation).  

Article 52(4) of the General Data Protection Regulation requires that Member States must 
provide their supervisory authorities with the human, technical, financial and other 
resources necessary to carry out all their tasks and exercise their powers effectively. Each 
supervisory authority is to choose its own staff and have sole direction of them. A 
supervisory authority’s budget is to be public and separately identified, even if part of the 
national budget (article 52(5) of the General Data Protection Regulation). 

8.1 Tasks  

There is a very comprehensive list of tasks given to the supervisory authorities by Article 57 of 
the General Data Protection Regulation. There is no need to list them all, supervisory 
authorities must do anything that might reasonably be said to be about the protection of 
personal data. The tasks do however include: 

þ monitoring and enforcing the application of the GDPR and to promote; awareness 
amongst the public, controllers and processors; 

þ advising their governments and parliaments on proposed new laws; 
þ helping data subjects; 
þ dealing with and investigating complaints lodged by individuals or representative 

bodies; 
þ conducting investigations; and  
þ co-operating with other supervisory authorities.  

Supervisory authorities cannot charge data subjects or Data Protection Officers for their 
services; the GDPR is however silent on whether controllers and processors could be 
charged fees in respect of services they receive from supervisory authorities.  

8.2 Powers  

Article 58 of the General Data Protection Regulation lists the powers of the supervisory 
authorities to which Member States can add if they wish. Many of the powers correspond 
to the specific tasks listed in article 57 of the General Data Protection Regulation. 
Supervisory authorities can (this list is not exhaustive): 
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þ order a controller or processor to provide information;  
þ conduct investigatory audits;  
þ obtain access to premises and data;  
þ issue warnings and reprimands and impose fines;  
þ order controllers and processors to comply with the General Data Protection 

Regulation and data subjects’ rights; 
þ ban processing and trans-border data flows outside the EU;  
þ approve standard contractual clauses and binding corporate rules.  

The exercise of powers by a supervisory authority must be subject to safeguards and open 
to judicial challenge. Member States must give supervisory authorities the right to bring 
matters to judicial notice and where appropriate, to commence or engage otherwise in 
legal proceedings, in order to enforce the provisions of this Regulation. Presumably the 
existing variation in powers will continue in accordance with national law and procedure. 

Finally, supervisory authorities must produce annual reports.  

9. Remedies and Fines 

9.1 Complaints to Supervisory Authorities  

Article 77 of the General Data Protection Regulation provides the right to lodge a 
complaint with a supervisory authority. Data subjects whose personal data are processed in 
a way that does not comply with the General Data Protection Regulation have a specific 
right to lodge a complaint with supervisory authorities and supervisory authorities must 
inform data subjects of the progress and outcome of the complaints.  

9.2 Judicial Remedies Against Decisions of Supervisory Authorities  

Article 78 of the General Data Protection Regulation provides the right to an effective 
judicial remedy against a supervisory authority. Both data subjects and other affected 
parties have rights to an effective judicial remedy in relation to certain acts and decisions 
of supervisory authorities. By virtue of article 78(2) of the General Data Protection 
Regulation, data subjects have the right to an effective judicial remedy where a 
supervisory authority fails to deal with a complaint or fails to inform the data subject within 3 
months of the progress or outcome of his or her complaint. Recital 143 of the General Data 
Protection Regulation explains that decisions and actions that may be challenged in the 
courts include the exercise of investigative, corrective, and authorisation powers by the 
supervisory authority or the dismissal or rejection of complaints. The right does not 
encompass other measures by supervisory authorities which are not legally binding, such as 
opinions issued or advice provided by supervisory authorities. 

9.3 Judicial Remedies Against Data Controllers & Data Processors  

Data subjects whose rights have been infringed have the right to an effective judicial 
remedy against the data controller or processor responsible for the alleged breach (article 
79 of the General Data Protection Regulation provides). This extends beyond the 
equivalent provision in the Data Protection Directive, which provides a judicial remedy only 
against data controllers but not against data processors.  
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9.4 Liability for Compensation  

By virtue of article 82 of the General Data Protection Regulation provides, any 
person who has suffered damage as a result of infringement has the right to receive 
compensation from the controller or the processor. Under the Data Protection 
Directive, liability for compensation is limited to controllers only. The following 
provision is made for the allocation of liability for compensation between controllers 
and processors:  

þ controllers are liable for damage caused by processing which is not in 
compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation;  

þ processors are liable only for damage caused by any processing in breach of 
obligations specifically imposed on processors by the General Data 
Protection Regulation, or caused by processing that is outside, or contrary to 
lawful instructions of the controller; and  

þ in order to ensure effective compensation for data subjects, controllers and 
processors that are involved in the same processing and are responsible for 
any damage caused, each shall be held liable for the entire damage. 
However, a processor or controller that is held liable to pay compensation on 
this basis is entitled to recover from other relevant parties, that part of the 
compensation corresponding to their part of the responsibility for the 
damage.  

9.5 Administrative Fines 

Administrative fines, provided for by article 83 of the General Data Protection Regulation, 
are not applicable automatically and are to be imposed on a case by case basis. Recital 
148 of the General Data Protection Regulation clarifies that in the case of a minor 
infringement, or where a fine would impose a disproportionate burden on a natural person, 
a reprimand may be issued instead of a fine. Each Member States may however lay down 
rules on whether and to what extent administrative fines may be imposed on public 
authorities and bodies established in that Member State.  

Under article 83 of the General Data Protection Regulation organisations in breach of the 
of the General Data Protection Regulation can be fined up to 4% of annual global 
turnover or €20 Million (whichever is greater). This is the maximum fine that can be imposed 
for the most serious infringements e.g. not having sufficient customer consent to process 
data or violating the core of Privacy by Design concepts. There is a tiered approach to 
fines e.g. a company can be fined 2% for not having their records in order (article 28 of the 
of the General Data Protection Regulation), not notifying the supervising authority and 
data subject about a breach or not conducting impact assessment.  

9.6 Penalties 

Under article 84 of the General Data Protection Regulation Member States shall lay down 
the rules on other penalties applicable to infringements of this Regulation in particular for 
infringements which are not subject to administrative fines.  
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10. Considerations for Compliance 

Article 25 of General Data Protection Regulation specifies that companies are expected to 
demonstrate that they have addressed Data Protection by Design and Default. At its core, 
this calls for the inclusion of data protection from the onset of the designing of systems 
rather than an addition to the systems in place. This means that organisations will need to 
invest in technology, processes and training to secure and manage personal data. This also 
requires that organisations undergo regular third-party audits to ensure that controls are 
enforced. Organisations should be able to submit this evidence to the regulator upon 
request.  

Article 23 of General Data Protection Regulation calls for controllers to hold and process 
only the data absolutely necessary for the completion of its duties (data minimisation) as 
well as limiting the access to personal data to those needing to act out the processing.  

In order to ensure compliance, the following should be considered by organisations: 

þ data audits; 
þ registration requirements; 
þ design and storage of consent; 
þ privacy notices; 
þ processes and procedures for administrating requests from data subjects to enforce 

their rights; 
þ their data protection policy; 
þ training; 
þ data processor contracts; 
þ data protection impact assessments;  
þ their information security policy; and 
þ their breach notification procedure. 

10.1 Audit 

Organisations should organise an information audit across the business or within particular 
business areas. One person with in-depth knowledge of working practices may be able to 
do this. This will identify the data that the organisation processes and how it flows into, 
through and out of the business. An information flow can include a transfer of information 
from one location to another. For example, the information may stay within a business yet a 
transfer takes place because departments or another office located elsewhere (off site). 
Having undertaken the audit organisations should then be able to identify any risks. 

Organisations need to identify lawful bases for processing data before they can process 
personal data and special categories of data. The lawful bases for processing have an 
effect on individual’s rights. For example, if an organisation relies on someone’s consent to 
process their data, they will have a stronger right to have their data deleted. It is important 
that organisations let individuals know how they intend to process their personal data and 
what the lawful bases are for doing so, for example in their privacy notice(s). 
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10.2 Registration 

Until May 2018, organisations are still required to register with the Information Commissioners 
Office (unless an exemption applies). After May 2018 organisations need to pay the 
Information Commissioners Office a data protection fee. 

10.3 Design and Storage of Consent 

The General Data Protection Regulation sets a high standard for consent but organisations 
should remember they don’t always need consent. They should also assess whether 
another lawful basis is more appropriate. As we have seen, consent means offering people 
genuine choice and control over how an organisation can use the data subjects’ data. 
The General Data Protection Regulation builds on the  standard of consent contained in 
the Data Protection Act 1998 in several ways, when considering consent organisations 
should remember: 

þ keep consent requests separate from other terms and conditions; 
þ consent requires a positive opt-in (use unticked opt-in boxes or similar active opt-in 

methods); 
þ avoid making consent a precondition of service; 
þ be specific and granular (allow individuals to consent separately to different types of 

processing wherever appropriate); 
þ name any business and specific third-party organisations who will rely on this 

consent; 
þ keep records of what an individual has consented to, including what the 

organisation told them, and when and how they consented; and 
þ tell individuals they can withdraw consent at any time and how to do this. 

Obligations don’t end when organisations first get consent, they should continue to review 
consent as part of their ongoing relationship with individuals, not a one-off compliance box 
to tick and file away. Organisations should therefore have a system or process to capture 
these reviews and record any changes. 

10.4 Privacy Notice 

Individuals need to know that their data is collected, why it is processed and who it is 
shared with. Organisations should publish this information in their privacy notice on their 
website and within any forms or letters sent to individuals. The information must be:  

þ concise, transparent, intelligible and easily accessible;  
þ written in clear and plain language, particularly if addressed to a child; and  
þ free of charge. 

The information supplied is determined by whether or not the personal data is obtained 
directly from the individual or from a third party.  
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10.5 Processes and Procedures: Data Subjects Rights 

10.5.1 Process to Respond to Requests 

Organisations must have a process to recognise and respond to individuals' requests to 
access their personal data. As we know, individuals have the right to obtain: 

þ confirmation that their data is being processed; 
þ access to their personal data; and 
þ other supplementary information (this largely corresponds to the information that 

should be provided in a privacy notice). 

So a process for each of these should be designed. The process will need to reflect that the 
information should be free of charge to a data subject. However, it should provide that 
they may charge a ‘reasonable fee’, based on the administrative cost of providing the 
information. Information must be provided without delay and at least within one calendar 
month of receipt. This can be extended by a further two months for complex or numerous 
requests (in which case the individual must be informed and given an explanation). A 
calendar month ends on the corresponding date of the next month (eg 2 January to 2 
February), unless that date does not exist in which case it is the last day of the next month 
(eg 31 January to 28 February). This means that the legal deadline will vary from 28 days to 
31 days depending on the month. For practical purposes if a consistent number of days is 
required (eg for a computer system), it may be helpful to adopt a 28-day period to ensure 
compliance is always within a calendar month. 

Upon receipt of a request organisations must verify the identity of the person making the 
request, using “reasonable means”. If the request is made electronically, organisations 
should provide the information in a commonly used electronic format. A process should 
therefore be drafted to identify the person making any request. 

10.5.2 Process for Rectification 

Organisations must have a process to recognise and respond to individuals' requests to 
have personal data rectified where that information is inaccurate or incomplete. 
Organisations should respond to a request without delay and at least within one month of 
receipt. The process should allow for organisations to regularly review the information 
processed or stored to identify when you need to do things like correct inaccurate records. 
Records management policies, with rules for creating and keeping records (including 
emails) can help. Conducting regular data quality reviews of systems and manual records 
held will help to ensure the information continues to be adequate for the purposes of 
processing (for which it was collected). Organisations should also ensure that there are 
regular data quality checks completed to provide assurances on the accuracy of the data 
being inputted by staff. 

10.5.3 Retention Policy or Schedule 

Organisations must have a process to securely dispose of personal data that is no longer 
required or where an individual has asked you to erase it. Organisations should consider 
implementing a written retention policy or schedule to remind them when to dispose of 
various categories of data, and help plan for its secure disposal. A retention schedule 
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should be regularly reviewed to make sure it continues to meet business and statutory 
requirements and any amendments should be agreed with managers and incorporated 
into the new schedule. Organisations should also designate responsibility for retention and 
disposal to an appropriate person. 

10.5.4 Restriction Procedure 

Organisations must have procedures to respond to an individual’s request to restrict the 
processing of their personal data. Individuals have a right to block or restrict the processing 
of personal data. When processing is restricted, organisations are permitted to store the 
personal data, but not further process it. Organisations can retain just enough information 
about the individual to ensure that the restriction is respected in the future. 

If the personal data in question has been disclosed to third parties, organisations must 
inform them about the restriction on the processing of the personal data, unless it is 
impossible or involves disproportionate effort to do so. Organisations must inform individuals 
when you decide to lift a restriction on processing. 

10.5.5 Portability Process 

Organisations must have processes to allow individuals to move, copy or transfer their 
personal data from one IT environment to another in a safe and secure way, without 
hindrance to usability. 

10.5.6 Objection Procedure 

Organisations must have procedures to handle an individual’s objection to the processing 
of their personal data. 

10.6 Data Protection Policy 

Organisations should have an appropriate data protection policy. This can be a 
standalone policy statement or part of a general staff policy. The General Data Protection 
Regulation requires organisations to show how they comply with the principles. A policy will 
help organisations address data protection in a consistent manner and demonstrate 
accountability under the General Data Protection Regulation. The policy should clearly set 
out your approach to data protection together with responsibilities for implementing the 
policy and monitoring compliance. The policy should be approved by management, 
published and communicated to all staff. It should be reviewed and updated at planned 
intervals or when required to ensure it remains relevant. 

Responsibility for monitoring compliance with the policy should be independent of the 
persons implementing the policy, to allow the monitoring to be unbiased. Results of 
compliance testing should then be reported on a regular basis to senior management. 

10.7 Staff Training 

Organisations should make sure that decision makers and key people in your business are 
aware of the requirements under the General Data Protection Regulation. Decision makers 
and key people should lead by example, demonstrating accountability for compliance 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  270 

with the General Data Protection Regulation and promoting a positive culture, within your 
business, for data protection. 

All staff handling personal data should be trained on their data protection responsibilities. It 
is good practice to provide awareness training on or shortly after appointment with 
updates at regular intervals or when required. 

10.8 Data Processor Contracts 

Whenever a business uses a processor they need to have a written contract in place. The 
contract is important so that both parties understand their responsibilities and liabilities. The 
General Data Protection Regulation sets out what needs to be included in the contract. 
Organisations are liable for their processor’s compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulation and must only appoint processors who can provide ‘sufficient guarantees’ that 
the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation will be met and the rights of 
data subjects protected. Processors must only act on documented instructions. They will 
however have some direct responsibilities under the General Data Protection Regulation 
and may be subject to sanctions if they don’t comply. 

10.9 Data Protection Impact Assessments 

Organisations need to understand when they must conduct a Data Protection Impact 
Assessments and have processes in place to action this. Data Protection Impact 
Assessments help to identify the most effective way to comply with data protection 
obligations and meet individuals’ expectations of privacy. An effective Data Protection 
Impact Assessments will allow organisations to identify and fix problems at an early stage, 
reducing the associated costs and damage to reputation which might otherwise occur. 
Organisations must carry out a Data Protection Impact Assessments when: 

þ using new technologies; and 
þ when the processing is likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of 

individuals. 

10.10 Information Security Policy 

Organisations should have an appropriate information security policy supported by 
appropriate security measures. Before devising a policy there should be an assessment of 
the risks to the personal data held and this should help identify security measures that are 
appropriate to the business’s needs. If processing personal data within IT system(s) there is a 
need to recognise the risks involved and take appropriate technical measures to secure 
the data. 

10.11 Breach Notification Process 

Organisations should have appropriate processes to identify, report, manage and resolve 
any personal data breaches. The General Data Protection Regulation introduces a duty on 
all organisations to report certain types of personal data breaches to the Information 
Commissioners Office and, in some cases, to the individuals affected. Under article 33 of 
the General Data Protection Regulation, breach notification will become mandatory in all 
member states where a data breach is likely to result in a risk for the rights and freedoms of 
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individuals. Organisations only have to notify the Information Commissioners Office of a 
breach where it is likely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of individuals.  

A personal data breach means a breach of security leading to the destruction, loss, 
alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, personal data. In all cases you must 
maintain records of personal data breaches, whether or not they were notifiable to the 
ICO. A notifiable breach has to be reported to the ICO within 72 hours of the business 
becoming aware of it. The General Data Protection Regulation recognises that it will often 
be impossible to investigate a breach fully within that time-period and allows you to 
provide additional information in phases. Organisations should make sure that their staff 
understand what constitutes a personal data breach, and that this is more than a loss of 
personal data. Organisations should ensure that you have an internal breach reporting 
procedure in place. This will facilitate decision-making about whether you need to notify 
the relevant supervisory authority or the public. 

In light of the tight timescales for reporting a breach - it is important to have robust breach 
detection, investigation and internal reporting procedures in place. 
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7.2 Employment 

1. Introduction 

The contract of employment is a document which sets out the rights and obligations of 
both parties. As a result, the contents and the construction of the contract are of primary 
importance in determining the extent of the obligations and in deciding when one party is 
acting outside the scope of the employment contract and is, therefore, in breach. This 
handout will explore contract formation, including some key terms and considerations. The 
handout will also go on to explore the ways in which a contract of employment may come 
to an end including:  

þ dismissal;  
þ resignation; and  
þ frustration.  

2. Status  

When an employer recruits someone, it is important for it to be determined at an early 
stage what status the employer considers that person should have, whether it is as an 
employee, an employee shareholder, a worker, an agency worker, an intern, a volunteer 
or as a genuinely self-employed person. The question of status is important because the 
rights attached to each status are different and tax treatment will be different. 

3. The Contract 

All employees have a statutory right to be given a written statement containing the key 
details of their employment terms and conditions. These are normally included in a 
contract of employment. Contracts of employment set out the relationship between an 
employer and employee.  

When considering a contract, or negotiating terms, it is very important that you are able to 
differentiate between representations and misrepresentations. Statements of fact made by 
one party which the other party relies on in deciding whether or not to enter into the 
contract are called representations. Where they turn out to be untrue, the party relying on 
the representation has different remedies depending upon whether the statement was 
made deliberately, negligently or innocently. It is also important that you have some 
understanding of the duties that apply to all contracts of employment, whether or not the 
employer and employee want them, such as: 

þ the duty of trust and confidence; and 
þ the duty of fidelity. 

Every contract of employment is treated as containing an imposed term of trust and 
confidence. This requires employers and employees not to conduct themselves, without 
reasonable and proper cause, in a manner calculated or likely to destroy or seriously 
damage the relationship of confidence and trust between the employer and 
employee. Additionally, all employees are under a duty of fidelity to their employer. The 
duty of fidelity is also known as the duty of good faith or of loyalty. Fidelity is a broad 
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concept containing a number of more specific duties, some of which overlap both with 
each other and with the duty of trust and confidence: 

þ to behave honestly—the duty of fidelity requires that an employee is honest in his 
dealings with his employer; 

þ not to work in competition—employees may not work for a competitor organisation 
(including one they have set up) during their employment; and 

þ not to make a secret profit—employees must not make secret profit and must give 
to their employer any money that they do make. 

Contracts are made up of various different types of terms which may include (this is by no 
means an all-encompassing list): 

þ hours of work and working time; 
þ pay; 
þ intellectual property in employment; 
þ confidential information; and 
þ restrictions and other express terms during employment. 

3.1 Hours of work and working time 

Workers and employers are free to agree any hours of work they choose subject to the 
limitations set out in the Working Time Regulations 1998 (SI 1998/1833). The areas of the 
Working Time Regulations 1998 which impact on working hours are: 

þ the 48-hour maximum working week (including the ability to opt-out of that 
restriction); 

þ daily rest periods; 
þ weekly rest periods; 
þ rest breaks; and 
þ special case exemptions and working through breaks. 

There are particular provisions in respect of 'on-call' time, night work and young workers. 

3.2 Pay 

The essence of the employment transaction is the exchange of wages in return for work. 
This generally gives rise to a duty to pay wages whenever an employee is ready and willing 
to work. It follows that, where an employee is unwilling to perform his contractual duties, the 
employer is not obliged to pay him. Where an employer fails to pay wages that are due, a 
worker may claim breach of contract or that there has been an unlawful deduction from 
wages. When an employer pays wages, the employee has the right to an itemised pay 
statement. 

3.3 Intellectual property in employment 

Intellectual property (IP) is a broad term which covers a wide variety of inventions, designs, 
creations and discoveries. It can include anything from a piece of software to the design of 
a product to a logo. Where employees create intellectual property in the course of their 
employment, the normal rule is that it will belong to the employer unless there has been an 
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agreement to the contrary. In some areas, IP rights can be very valuable and it is therefore 
important for both employer and employee to decide from the start of their employment 
who will own anything created by the employee. 

3.4 Confidential information 

The duty of fidelity implied into every contract of employment will generally prevent an 
employee from disclosing to third parties confidential information which comes to his 
knowledge during the course of his employment. In addition to this, trade secrets will be 
protected by the equitable duty of confidence. These two duties have combined 
historically to determine the implied duty on an employee in relation to confidential 
information. Confidential information may be divided into the following broad categories: 

þ information that is largely incidental to the employer's business interests and/or is 
readily available from public sources (category one); 

þ information that amounts to general knowledge and skill acquired by the employee 
during or prior to his employment (category two); 

þ confidential information (category three); and 
þ information that is so confidential that it amounts to a trade secret (category four). 

4. Contract Termination 

If an employer wishes to dismiss an employee lawfully, the dismissal must not be unfair nor 
breach the employee's contract of employment. Having taken the decision to dismiss, 
there are further decisions for the employer, e.g. whether or not to: 

þ give notice; 
þ pay the employee in lieu of notice; and/or 
þ put the employee on garden leave. 

Not all terminations amount to a dismissal. Termination can also occur: 

þ by resignation (although sometimes resignations will occur in such circumstances 
that there is a constructive dismissal); 

þ by mutual consent; or 
þ by operation of law. 

Tribunals are reluctant to find that there has been termination by mutual consent. 
Termination by operation of law is rare; its most common form is frustration of the contract. 
The expiry of a fixed-term contract without it being renewed is not a dismissal at common 
law, but is deemed a dismissal for statutory purposes. 

4.1 Written statement of reasons for dismissal 

An employee is entitled to request a written statement of reasons for dismissal, subject to 
certain conditions and exceptions, once he has been continuously employed for two years 
or more. Dismissal can be on notice or summarily, but there is no right to written reasons in 
the case of a constructive dismissal. Where a request has been made, the employer has 14 
days to respond with the reasons for the dismissal. The employer may choose to refer the 
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employee to another document, but this should be included with the response. The 
statement may be referred to in a claim for unfair dismissal. 

Employees who are dismissed while pregnant, or absent from work for one of a number of 
family-related reasons, are entitled to a written statement without having to ask for it and 
regardless of their length of service. A claim may be brought if: 

þ the employer did not comply with the request for written reasons; or 
þ it did purportedly comply, but the particulars given were inadequate or untrue. 

If the employee is successful, the employment tribunal may make a declaration as to the 
reasons for the dismissal and must award two weeks' pay, which sum is not limited by the 
statutory cap. 

4.2 Notice period 

The Employment Rights Act 1996 provides that employers and employees are entitled to 
receive a statutory minimum period of notice. If this differs from the contractual notice, the 
employer or employee is entitled to whichever is the greater. A breach of the right to 
statutory minimum notice may also amount to a breach of contract, thereby giving rise to 
a claim for wrongful dismissal. 

Most contracts of employment stipulate a specific period of notice for the employer or 
employee to terminate. Where the contract is silent on this point, notice must be 
reasonable. A failure to give proper notice may result in a claim for wrongful dismissal. 
Whether or not an employer can dismiss an employee whilst he is on long-term sick leave 
may be complicated if the contract of employment entitles the employee to permanent 
health insurance. In these circumstances, there may be an implied term not to dismiss if 
that would cause the employee to cease receiving that benefit. In the event of 
repudiatory action: 

þ by the employee, the employer is entitled to dismiss without notice; and 
þ by the employer, the employee is entitled to resign without notice and claim 

constructive dismissal. 

Repudiatory action by an employee usually amounts to gross misconduct. Repudiatory 
action by the employer is an act or omission, or series of acts or omissions, which amounts 
to a serious breach of contract. Both parties can also agree to a shorter notice period. 
However notice, once given, cannot be unilaterally withdrawn. 

4.3 Constructive dismissal 

Constructive dismissal occurs when an employee resigns in response to a repudiatory 
breach of the employment contract by the employer. As with gross misconduct, the act or 
omission by the employer must be sufficiently serious to justify the resignation. It can also be 
a series of acts or omissions, which together amount to a repudiatory breach, with the last 
act or omission by the employer triggering the resignation ('the last straw'). A constructive 
dismissal amounts to a dismissal under unfair dismissal legislation, so an employee (with 
requisite service) may bring a claim for constructive unfair dismissal despite having 
resigned. The employee may also have a claim for wrongful dismissal. 
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An employee does not necessarily have to resign immediately following the breach by the 
employer and can resign on notice. An employee may also continue to work until a new 
job is found, provided he has made it clear that the breach is not accepted. If an 
employee delays too long, however, he risks being found to have waived the breach. 

4.4 Gross misconduct 

Gross misconduct is behaviour by an employee which is so bad that the employer cannot 
be expected to employ him any longer, which amounts to a fundamental breach of 
contract. The misconduct must be gross, culpable and incompatible with the employee's 
duties of fidelity, trust and confidence. An employer may dismiss an employee summarily 
(i.e. without notice) for gross misconduct without being liable for wrongful dismissal. 
Whether this will amount to unfair dismissal depends on all the surrounding circumstances. 
Often employers will have an explicit list of types of misconduct which will be considered to 
be gross misconduct. 
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7.3 Employee Performance Management  

1. Introduction 

Like any other area of performance, this is an on-going and holistic process. It is therefore 
important that, when considering employee performance, all potential interactions are 
considered, from a chat at the coffee machine to the full annual review process. All these 
conversations are part of performance management. This handout will therefore highlight 
some of the key areas of performance management before considering the more formal 
review or appraisal process.  

2. What Is Performance Management? 

The Chartered Management Institute (CMI) regards performance management as:  

“an integrated approach to helping an organisation to achieve its aims and objectives by 
monitoring and improving the performance of individuals, departments and the 

organisation as a whole.” 

CMI 2015 

In its checklist on performance management it goes on to say that: 

“Armstrong and Baron define performance management as "a process which contributes 
to the effective management of individuals and teams in order to achieve high levels of 

organisational performance. As such, it establishes shared understanding about what is to 
be achieved and an approach to leading and developing people which will ensure that it 

is achieved". They stress that it is "a strategy which relates to every activity of the 
organisation set in the context of its human resource policies, culture, style and 

communications systems".” 

CMI 2015 

In managing employee performance, managers should be developing a management 
approach through which individuals: 

þ know and understand what is expected of them; 
þ understand how they are currently performing; 
þ develop the skills and ability to deliver; 
þ are supported in this development and are given regular feedback on 

performance; 
þ can discuss and contribute to individual and team aims and objectives and 

expected standards; and 
þ are given recognition and reward for achieving or exceeding the expected 

standards. 
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This should not just happen at a formal review meeting and then be forgotten, but it should 
take place in an effective performance management culture and be an ongoing process 
carried out in numerous ways – holistically and in the daily running of the organisation.  

Performance management is strategic as well as operational. Its aim is to ensure that 
employees contribute positively to business objectives. It is a process for establishing a 
shared workforce understanding about what is to be achieved at an organisation level. It is 
about aligning the organisational objectives with the employees' agreed measures, skills, 
competency requirements, development plans and the delivery of results. 

3. How Does Performance Management Work? 

As suggested, this should take place as part of the daily management process. Two 
general approaches can, however, be considered: 

þ on-going performance monitoring, feedback and development; and  
þ formal review cycles. 

A number of approaches set out as ongoing can also be employed in the formal process.  

4. Tools of Performance Management 

4.1 Setting objectives and performance standards 

Objectives (some organisations prefer to use 'goals') describe something to be 
accomplished by individuals, departments and organisations over a period of time. They 
can be expressed as targets to be met (such as sales) and tasks to be completed by 
specified dates. They can be work-related, referring to the results to be attained, or 
personal, taking the form of developmental objectives for individuals. Objectives need to 
be defined and agreed. 

Alongside objectives are performance standards. These at a high level are usually set as 
part of the formal review process. However, these should be set for all work carried out. The 
professional standards and competencies frameworks can help with this, but expectations 
should not only be set, but clarified, checked and agreed continuously at the start of a task 
and as it is reviewed. 

With standard tasks and processes, the expectations of performance levels become 
standard as well. However, it is imperative that all personnel are clear on these and that if 
expectations change this is also communicated.   

4.2 Measurement 

To improve performance, you would need to know what the current performance levels 
are. Measurement provides the basis for providing and generating feedback and 
subsequent changes if required. For measuring performance, the achievement of 
objectives, professional standards, levels of competency, standards of performance and 
work outputs could all be used.  
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These should be geared to the individual and communicated clearly. It is impossible to 
measure everything, so focus should be on those things that give the best indicator of 
overall performance or relate to the key performances that need to be attained. 

For what is measured, it is good practice generally to ensure these are relevant and SMART. 

4.3 Feedback  

This should be both quantitative and qualitative. In any form of performance that is 
demonstrated, feedback is required in order that adjustments can be made. This could be 
strengthening and continuing actions as well as changing them. Employee performance 
feedback can range from a simple passing comment through to a formal sit-down meeting 
with detailed examples. Feedback should provide a BOOST by being: 

þ Balanced with both good and bad points; 
þ Observed in that it is based on what happened; 
þ Objective, so using facts and not personal prejudices; 
þ Specific in that it contains details of events, observed behaviours, impact – real 

examples; 
þ Timely in that it is both as soon as possible after the event, but also at the right time 

and place for it to be received effectively. 

Providing effective feedback should be core to any management or leadership style. It is 
both a skill and a behaviour so can be learnt and developed. 

4.4 Recognition 

This is very important to all of us, especially when related to our performance. This is why it is 
highlighted in addition to feedback generally. There is a concept in management theory of 
“catching someone doing something right”. All too often, recognition is given to things that 
go wrong, maybe understandably as they usually have an impact that has to be resolved, 
but it should be a habit to recognise when things go right as well.   

This does not have to be a big recognition; a simple “well done, that went extremely well” 
can be very effective. However, like feedback generally, make sure it is genuine.  Again, 
the BOOST model can be particularly helpful here. 

4.5 Coaching 

Coaching is an effective method of working on a one-to-one basis with someone to help 
the employee improve his skills. Its effectiveness comes from the fact it is tailored to the 
needs of the individual and can be used to address performance issues. Coaching is an 
effective way of managing a lot of situations and can become a management style in its 
own right. It should be a core component of any performance management approach.  

4.6 Learning and development 

Performance cannot be truly measured without including learning and development 
approaches. Without development in some form then it is unlikely performance with 
change. This is a logical end point for the performance process and it will then link back to 
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the start - setting criteria. Coaching is a very powerful way of doing this, but there are other 
ways.  For example: 

General Development Activities Peer Development Techniques 
Formal development events 
Work experience 
On the job training 
External qualifications 
Personal development 
Out of work activities 

An individual running a ‘training event’ for a 
group 
Buddy system – providing peer coaching 
and mentoring 
A group working to solve a business issue 
e.g developing a high impact, influencing 
presentation style which reflects the 
organisations value and beliefs. 
Creating in house ‘experts’ whose role is to 
develop others  
Work experience/on the job training 
Running a forum across the business, finding 
answers to questions, providing information 
and provoking discussion 
Asking someone for help  

Self Development Techniques  
Finding and studying from a book 
Conducting research 
Modelling a new approach 
Using specifically designed study 
packs 
Business problem solving 
Out of work activities 

As can be seen, this does not have to be formal or course based.  

5. Performance Problem Solving 

Performance management should be a positive process, which creates a culture in which 
success is applauded. However, poor performance may happen for a variety of reasons. 
With a good culture of performance management, remedies can be put in place. This 
would involve, for instance, continuing feedback and joint discussion between individuals 
and their managers, involving analysing and identifying the problem, establishing the 
reasons for the shortfall and deciding and agreeing the action to be taken.  

If this fails, despite the process undertaken, disciplinary action may need to be taken. In this 
case, there should be discussions with the Human Resources (HR) department or advice 
should be taken on the procedures to follow in that case. Doing this correctly is still part of 
effective performance management.  

5.1 Performance and development reviews 

Many organisations, even without performance management systems, operate 'appraisals' 
in which a manager regularly, usually annually, records performance, potential and 
development needs in a top-down process. This is then discussed with the individual 
concerned.  

However, it is all too frequent that, what should be a positive and useful part of overall 
performance management, becomes a form filling exercise and the real value of the 
process is lost. This should be about providing people with the opportunity to reflect on past 
performance, discuss any specifics and focus on themselves for a time - as a basis for them 
making development and improvement plans. The meeting should be constructive, open, 
free-flowing and honest, with the reviewee doing most of the talking. 
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5.2 Performance review: the purpose 

This is usually the main, formal side of the performance management process.  It is a 
meeting that is meant to look two ways - backwards at past performance and forward to 
explore the future.  

The purpose of the review can be summarised as follows: 

þ To review and assess performance; 
þ To explore future opportunities: 

o Identifying future targets/objectives 
o Discussing and identifying potential for development. 

The process should be of benefit to the appraisee – the person being appraised - the 
reviewer carrying out the appraisal and the organisation. General benefits to the apraisee 
are that he has the opportunity to: 

þ discuss the relevant issues on performance; 
þ receive input on development opportunities, to improve existing performance; 
þ advise managers about what is needed from them; 
þ assess aspirations and any training needs; and 
þ understand the organisation's aims and targets, and relevance to the department. 

For the reviewer, it is a chance for a focused conversation with a member of staff and 
specifically an opportunity to: 

þ clarify the scope and purpose of the job; 
þ understand that member of staff and develop a mutual understanding of each 

other's views; 
þ agree formally how better support can be provided to enable the member of staff 

to achieve the objectives set; 
þ review career direction within the company; and 
þ receive feedback on the reviewer’s own management style. 

Performance of individuals is critical to the performance of overall organisations. It is 
directly cascading aims and objectives into individual performance targets. Finally, it can 
help achieve wider business drivers for example: 

þ commitment to an individuals' development; 
þ the need to continue to achieve a high level of motivation; 
þ the need to continue to achieve a high level of productivity; 
þ ensuring that training resources are well directed; and 
þ management of its people in a professional way.  
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5.3 The Review Cycle 

The first stage of the cycle is to set up the 
meeting for the future.  At this stage you will 
need to make sure all understand:  

þ why the meeting is taking place, including 
the benefits to all;  
þ who is going to be conducting it and 
gaining agreement to gather feedback from 
other people if required; 
þ set out the areas to be discussed, ensuring 
targets and measures are clear; 

þ where it will happen: think about an effective environment – for example  having the 
meeting off site can often be good for open discussion, whilst if it is likely to raise 
issues of performance a more formal environment might help; 

þ date, time and duration; and 
þ what will be covered, flow and likely timings.  

On the last point, if it does run over, you are best of wrapping up what you have covered 
to that point and then re-scheduling another meeting to finish off.  

The next stage is to give those involved time to prepare. This could be up to a couple of 
months before the meeting with a write-up happening very soon afterwards. Both the 
appraisee and the reviewer should be preparing for this meeting. 

The meeting would generally start with some open discussion and clarification that both 
parties are clear on the purpose and flow of the meeting. There will generally then be some 
core areas that will need to be covered as follows: 

þ are you both looking at the same expected areas and levels of performance; 
þ can you agree on what you think the level of performance was;  
þ a more general discussion trying to identify support needed and starting to move 

the discussion into a forward-facing mode; 
þ now setting the expectations for the coming year; 
þ considering any development required to achieve them; and 
þ finally putting in place an action plan to make it happen and which can be 

reviewed over the coming period.  

There is likely to be a specific form used which will record all the outcomes of the meeting 
and, at the same time, will provide a framework for it. This should then be signed off and 
may be commented upon. The forward plans should then be put in place and monitored 
regularly through, generally, quarterly reviews and feedback sessions. There should also be 
less formally planned feedback and this formal and less formal feedback carries on 
through the year until the next cycle is started. 
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5.4 Chartered Management Institute (CMI) organisational checklist 

It is worth looking at the CMI checklist for performance management. CMI states that the 
following stages should be included in a performance management process at the 
organisational level: 

þ align objectives with organisational strategy; 
þ set standards, criteria, indicators; 
þ choose evaluation methods; 
þ assess the suitability of quality/customer care programmes; 
þ build performance appraisals into the business planning cycle; 
þ ensure clear communication; and  
þ monitor and review. 

Individually, CMI thinks you should: 

þ identify where you are; 
þ identify where you want/need to be; 
þ agree objectives and indicators; 
þ make use of relevant tools and techniques; 
þ test and trial; 
þ evaluate performance; and 
þ carry out performance appraisals. 

5.5 The Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development’s (CIPD) viewpoint 

In summary, the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) says the 
following: 

Performance management is difficult to implement. It is about ownership by everyone in 
the organisation, and especially line managers - it is emphatically not about guardianship 
by personnel departments. Surveys suggest that individuals and managers in organisations 
with performance management systems quite like it, and especially its emphasis on 
personal development, although performance-rating (often linked to PRP) often provokes 
hostility. Schemes can be over-detailed and require too much form-filling, and there can 
be a lack of definition in terms of what is meant by performance and how to achieve it. 
Schemes can be less successful than they might be because of lack of training, especially 
at the beginning. 

The keys to the successful introduction and application of performance management are: 

þ being clear about what is meant by performance; 
þ understanding what the organisation is and needs to be in its performance culture;  
þ being very focused on how individual employees will benefit and play their part in 

the process; 
þ understanding that it is a tool for line managers and its success will depend on their 

ability to use it effectively. 

CIPD:2004  
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6. Working With Underperformers 

Whilst it is advisable to consult with the Human Resources (HR) department (at least on an 
informal basis) from the start, there are a number of informal steps you can take before 
involving HR on a formal basis. 

6.1 Why people underperform 

For managers who are highly motivated, it can be an enigma as to why some people 
underperform. However, it is unlikely that most people set out to do so. There is no one 
simple factor which leads to underperformance - there are a number of contributing 
factors which need to be explored with the individual, usually through a performance 
management meeting. Below is a summary of possible causes for poor performance: 

þ they do not know what is expected of them; 
þ they do not have the necessary skills to do the job; 
þ they do not realise they are underperforming; 
þ good performance is seemingly punished; 
þ poor performance is seemingly rewarded; 
þ there are no negative consequences for underperforming; and 
þ there are no positive consequences for performing. 

Managers should consider the position from the perspective of the underperformer.  

6.2 A manager’s responsibility 

It is important to remain aware of your responsibilities as a manager.  It is not uncommon for 
managers to try and do too much to fix the underperformer. If a member of a manager’s 
team is underperforming, the manager has 51% of the responsibility for fixing the issue with 
the remaining 49% lying with the individual. The manager’s responsibilities are: 

þ to ensure the individual knows what is expected of him; 
þ to give appropriate feedback, identifying where performance falls short; and 
þ to ensure there is access to appropriate training and support. 

Then it is up to the individual to take responsibility to improve his performance, or else face 
the prospect of formal measures. 

6.3 Motivating staff 

Before matters proceed down the formal disciplinary route it is important that managers 
consider if there is more that could be done to motivate individuals within their team to 
perform. The work by Frederick Herzberg is perhaps the best known piece of work on 
workplace motivation. Herzberg described two types of factors which affect motivation: 

þ hygiene factors: those things which have more power to demotivate than to 
motivate e.g. salary, status, company policy, working conditions and job security; 
and 



© Association of Costs Lawyers Training 2020  285 

þ motivating factors: those things which have been found by Herzberg (and others 
since, e.g. Gallup) to have the biggest impact on an individual’s motivation e.g. 
responsibility, advancement, growth, recognition and achievement. 

As a manager, this is good news because most of the things that directly motivate an 
individual are within the control of the manager; so, when looking at how to motivate 
people within a team, the manager should consider: 

þ delegating tasks appropriately; 
þ meeting with the team regularly to review members’ progress; 
þ recognising good performance (never underestimate the power of a thank you); 
þ ensuring team members have the equipment they need to perform their job; 
þ allowing them access to training, coaching and other development; and 
þ supporting them, as they seek to climb the career ladder. 

Everyone is different when it comes to what motivates them the most. Managers may 
consider using the following questions to determine what motivates someone: 

þ What do you enjoy most about your work? 
þ What do you want to achieve in the future? 
þ Where do you think you need to improve? 
þ What piece of work are you most proud of and why? 

By listening to the answers, a picture can be built as to what motivates an individual and, 
so far as is possible, tailor their working relationship accordingly. 

6. Risks Associated with Performance Management 

The performance management process does improve the work with the human capital, 
increases the satisfaction of employees and has an impact on the development of 
employees. However, the performance management process has many risks which HR 
should always be alert to. The potential risks are having claims against them brought under 
the following causes of action: 

þ unfair dismissal;  
þ discrimination; and  
þ breach of contract (including wrongful dismissal and constructive dismissal). 

6.1 Unfair dismissal claims  

These are the most common potential claims. Under section 108 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996, an individual must have been in employment for one year’s continuous service 
before bringing a claim unless he was employed after 6 April 2012 when a two-year 
requirement applies. A claim may be made by an employee who is dismissed on the 
grounds of incapability. 

Poor performance falls into one of the potentially 'fair' categories for dismissing an 
employee under section 98 of the Employment Rights Act 1996. To avoid a claim of unfair 
dismissal, an employer would need to demonstrate an honest and reasonable belief in an 
employee's incapability to do the job to the level required and demonstrate that the 
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performance management and dismissal process has been carried on in a fair and 
reasonable way. 

When assessing whether there is an honest and reasonable belief in an employee's 
incapability to do the job to the level required and the way performance management 
process carried out, the Employment Tribunal will in part have regard to whether the 
employer has complied with the ACAS Code of Practice on Disciplinary and Grievance 
matters (ACAS Code). Not only will a failure to follow the ACAS Code be taken into 
account in determining if the dismissal is fair, it can also result in an increase in any unfair 
dismissal compensation by up to 25%. 

6.2 Discrimination claims 

An employee may contend that the only reason he was subjected to a performance 
management process was because of a protected characteristic. The Equality Act 2010 
makes it law that every private, public and voluntary organisation must not discriminate 
against employees and people that uses its services because of particular characteristics.  

Section 4 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the protected characteristics (age, disability, 
gender Reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, pregnancy or maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation (gay, lesbian or bisexual)). The normal time limit for 
making a discrimination claim in the employment tribunal is 3 months less one day from the 
date when the discrimination happened (section 123(1) of the Equality Act 2010). Under 
section 124(2) of the Equality Act 2010, a tribunal may make a declaration as to the rights 
of the complainant and the respondent in relation to the matters to which the proceedings 
relate, order the respondent to pay compensation to the complainant or make an 
appropriate recommendation. 

The Employment Rights Act 1996 provides basic protection to employees, although the 
concepts of “bullying” and “harassment” are not defined within it. The Protection from 
Harassment Act 1997, originally designed to deal with stalkers, has been used by both 
employees and employers. Whistleblowers who have been bullied or harassed may rely on 
the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1988. 

6.3 A Breach of Contract Claim 

A breach of contract claim can be a claim in relation to any failure by the employer to 
comply with its contractual obligations, including any contractual capability or disciplinary 
procedure. 

Wrongful dismissal claims are normally made where there is been a breach of 
contract. There is no qualifying period for a wrongful dismissal claim.  Such a breach may 
be due to taking unfair disciplinary action, failure to provide a safe working environment or 
failure to investigate harassment and victimisation complaints.   Claims of wrongful dismissal 
can be made to a tribunal within three months of the dismissal or a case can be taken at 
county or High Court up to six years after the dismissal.  Claims brought to a tribunal are 
capped at £25,000 and legal costs can be recovered if the claim is taken to the county or 
High Court.   Whilst damages are based on salary and benefits for the notice period, there 
is no cap on the amount that can be awarded. 
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Constructive dismissal occurs where an employee feels that he has been given no option 
but to resign from his job.  It is for the employee to prove that his employer committed a 
breach of contract so serious that he was unable to remain in his role. Constructive 
dismissal claims are hard to prove so many employees will make a claim for wrongful or 
unfair dismissal instead. 

If an employee makes a breach of contract claim to an employment tribunal, the 
employer can make a counterclaim. Both claims have to be heard and it is possible for an 
employee to lose his or her claim and for the employer to win.  In the case of Patel v RCMS 
Ltd (1999 IRLR 161; EAT), Ms Patel brought a breach of contract claim and RCMS lodged a 
counterclaim for damages for Ms Patel’s breach of contract in failing to return computer 
equipment. Ms Patel had failed to make her claim in time and was barred, but the tribunal 
allowed RCMS’s counterclaim. The EAT found that there was nothing in law to say that if the 
employee’s claim failed, the employer’s claim was automatically lost and ruled that it 
should be heard. 
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7.4 Disciplinary Action  

1. Introduction 

Where disciplinary action is being considered there should be a disciplinary investigation, 
that is, an investigation to establish all the circumstances and facts surrounding an 
allegation of misconduct or gross misconduct against an employee. The primary purpose 
of such an investigation is to gather evidence and documentation that may be relevant to 
the allegation. Following the collation of information, a recommendation will then be 
made about whether the matter should be referred to a disciplinary meeting. The Advisory, 
Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) statutory Code of Practice on Discipline and 
Grievance advises that any necessary investigations should be undertaken, to establish the 
facts of the case. Failure to follow the code, which was issued under the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992, does not automatically make an employer 
liable to proceedings, but an Employment Tribunal will take the Code into account when 
deciding whether an employer has behaved fairly and has the power to adjust any awards 
by up to 25% where it believes an employer has failed to follow the code. 

In this handout the process of the disciplinary action will be considered.  This includes 
interviews, witnesses, documentary evidence, record-keeping requirements and the right 
of the employee to be accompanied.  Here consideration will be given as to the 
requirements to be a companion and the rights of the companion.  Consideration will be 
given to the ACAS Code of Practice on Time Off for Trade Union Duties and Activities in this 
regard. 

2. Disciplinary Investigations 

Investigations of potential disciplinary matters should be carried out to establish the facts of 
the case without unreasonable delay. In accordance with section 5 of the ACAS Code of 
Practice on Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures, a disciplinary investigation should: 

þ always take place before any disciplinary meeting is conducted; and  
þ commence as soon as there is knowledge of an allegation of misconduct or gross 

misconduct on the part of an employee. 

Anyone can be instructed to conduct a disciplinary investigation subject to them being: 

þ properly trained, both in conducting investigations and a firm’s disciplinary 
procedures, so that they possess a good understanding of how the investigation 
fits into the whole process; 

þ objective and impartial to the extent that it is operationally possible; and  
þ sufficiently senior to the employee whose conduct is under investigation. 

Where there are very limited resources, it may not be operationally viable to have a 
different person conducting the investigation and disciplinary meeting. If this is the case, all 
steps should be taken to ensure that the investigation is as objective and impartial as 
possible. Consideration may be given as to whether to instruct an independent consultant 
to conduct the investigation. 
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The disciplinary investigation process involves the following steps: 

þ taking witness statements; 
þ conducting investigative interviews; 
þ gathering and reviewing documentary evidence; and 
þ making recommendations. 

2.1 Taking witness statements 

If there are witnesses to an incident of misconduct, their account of what occurred should 
be recorded as soon as possible in a witness statement. All relevant witnesses should 
provide statements in an investigation, not just those that support the allegations against 
the employee. The statement should focus on facts and not opinion. Such statements 
should contain: 

þ the witness’s name; 
þ his role in the firm; 
þ the date and time of the incident; 
þ what occurred and what the witness actually saw and/or heard (in his own 

words);  
þ the witness’s signature; and  
þ the date the witness statement was provided. 

Witnesses should be warned that any deliberate attempt to provide misleading or 
inaccurate information in a witness statement may be a disciplinary matter. If there are 
confidentiality clauses in employment contracts, then it would be considered sensible and 
good practice to remind witnesses of their duty to maintain confidentiality about 
statements they may provide. 

Witnesses may be reluctant to provide a witness statement - often due to fear of reprisals. 
No employee should be compelled to provide a statement. Witnesses may also be 
concerned about confidentiality. Witness statements may be presented as evidence 
relating to the matter under investigation and, as such, may be seen by the employee 
under investigation. They may also be seen by any other people involved in any potential 
disciplinary proceedings. 

All witness statements should be reviewed carefully as part of the investigation to check for 
inconsistencies, inaccuracies or signs of collusion. Two statements that correlate too closely 
might indicate collusion. 

2.2 Conducting investigative interviews 

It may be necessary to conduct an interview with the employee against whom the 
allegations of misconduct or gross misconduct have been made. It may also be necessary 
to take statements from witnesses to the incident: 

þ to establish the facts where this is not clear from the witness statement; 
þ if a witness is not confident to write his own witness statement; and 
þ if there are indications of collusion between witnesses. 
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It may not always be necessary to hold an investigative interview with the employee under 
investigation because, during any subsequent disciplinary meeting, he will be given the 
right to state his case. However, in some circumstances such interviews can be useful, 
particularly where there may be doubt about the employee’s honesty or integrity. 
Statements provided in an early investigative interview may be a useful benchmark against 
explanations offered once the investigation is complete and the evidence disclosed. 

When interviewing an employee or a witness the interviewer should: 

þ interview him in a private office that is free of interruptions; 
þ explain that you need to conduct an investigative interview; 
þ outline the date and time of the incident; 
þ ask open questions about the incident that occurred, what he saw and heard; 
þ establish who else was present and might be witness to the incident; 
þ summarise to check understanding and confirm key points; 
þ explain that what has been discussed in the interview is confidential; 
þ take detailed minutes; and 
þ ask the employee or witness to sign and date the minutes. 

There is no statutory entitlement for an employee to be accompanied to an investigative 
interview, but consideration should be given about allowing an employee to be 
accompanied by a work colleague or trade union representative where this might be an 
appropriate reasonable adjustment for an employee with a disability; for example where 
an individual has a learning impairment. 

2.3 Gathering documentary evidence 

During investigations, relevant documentary evidence should be gathered.  This might 
include: 

þ a copy of the employee’s contract; 
þ the staff handbook; 
þ a copy of the firm’s disciplinary procedure; 
þ any other policies and procedures that outline the rules or standard of conduct 

expected by the firm and allegedly breached by the employee; 
þ where appropriate, any other relevant statutory or regulatory rules or codes of 

practice that have been allegedly breached by the employee ; 
þ relevant employee training records, qualifications or certificates; and 
þ any other relevant documentary evidence, e.g. emails or accounts records. 

All relevant documentation, including witness statements and records of investigative 
interviews, should be collated into one file, in a logical and (where appropriate) 
chronological order to form a bundle of evidence. 

The bundle of evidence gathered should then be reviewed by the investigator to check: 

þ the investigation is thorough and complete; 
þ there are no omissions or errors in the investigation; 
þ all documents are relevant to the matter under investigation; 
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þ if the firm’s rules, policies, procedures and standards in respect of the allegation 
under investigation are documented and clear; 

þ there is no evidence of bias or unfairness in the way the investigation has been 
conducted. 

2.4 Making recommendations 

Any investigator should recommend that a disciplinary meeting be arranged if the 
evidence sufficiently substantiates that the firm does have a clear defined rule, policy, 
procedure or standard; and the allegation that the rule, policy, procedure or standard 
may have been breached. 

If the evidence does not sufficiently substantiate the above, the investigator should 
consider whether further investigations should be conducted or if no further action is 
recommended. 

If the matter subsequently appeared before an Employment Tribunal then any evidence 
that the disciplinary meeting had been pre-judged might result in a finding of unfair 
dismissal against the employer. Therefore, it is important to remember that the role of the 
investigator does not include the making of any recommendations about the level of 
disciplinary action that might be appropriate. Any indication of this type may indicate that 
the outcome of the disciplinary meeting was pre-judged.  

2.5 Record-keeping requirements 

All documentation and witness statements gathered during the investigation should be 
retained securely and confidentially, but not for longer than absolutely necessary in 
accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998 and any firm-specific data 
protection policies and procedures. 

3. Disciplinary or Grievance Hearing and the Right to Be Accompanied 

Under section 10 of the Employment Relations Act 1999, a worker invited or required to 
attend a disciplinary or grievance hearing has the right to be accompanied. Anyone 
falling into the special broad definition of 'worker' has this right, irrespective of length of 
service.  This definition includes: 

þ employees; 
þ those under contracts personally to undertake work for someone who is not a 

client/customer; 
þ agency workers; 
þ home workers; and 
þ most persons in Crown employment. 

This right applies to all disciplinary hearings which could result in the worker receiving a 
formal warning or the employer taking ‘some other action’ regarding the worker. This right 
also applies to disciplinary appeal hearings and to all grievance hearings which concern 
the performance of a duty by an employer in relation to a worker.  
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The ACAS Code of Practice on Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures also requires 
employers to allow employees to be accompanied at disciplinary and/or grievance 
meetings. This right broadly mirrors the statutory right, but the definition of 'grievance' in the 
Code of Practice is wider than the statutory definition. The Code of Practice defines 
grievances as 'concerns, problems or complaints that employees raise with their 
employers'. 

Workers may choose the person they would like to accompany them to a grievance or 
disciplinary hearing, as long as they fall within the defined category of 'companion' under 
section 10 of the Employment Relations Act 1999, e.g: 

þ a fellow worker; 
þ a trade union representative; or 
þ an official employed by a trade union. 

Throughout any hearing, the companion is entitled to advance the employee’s case, 
respond to expressed views on the worker's behalf and confer with the worker, but 
companions have no right to answer questions on behalf of the worker. The companion 
also has no right to address the hearing without the worker's consent or prevent the 
employer or anyone else from properly participating in the hearing. 

The employer is obliged to permit chosen companions (over whose working hours they 
have control) to take time off during working hours to accompany workers to hearings. The 
ACAS Code of Practice on Time Off for Trade Union Duties and Activities applies and 
companions are entitled to be paid for time off. If an employer fails to permit a chosen 
companion to take time off or to pay the companion properly for that time, the 
companion may bring a claim. 

In order to make a claim for failure to allow time off, there is a three-month time limit. 
Where such a claim is successful, the tribunal makes a declaration and may award such 
compensation as it considers just and equitable. For failures to pay for time off, the remedy 
is recovery of whatever amount ought to have been paid. 

Workers may bring a claim where the employer fails (or threatens to fail) to: 

þ permit the worker to be accompanied by an appropriate companion; 
þ allow a companion to exercise his rights at a hearing; or 
þ agree to a proper postponement request. 

Again, there is a three-month time limit and successful claims will result in an award of up to 
two weeks' pay, capped by statute at £475 per week. 

Where there is a failure to allow an employee to be accompanied, it may also amount to a 
breach of the ACAS Code of Practice where the Code of Practice is relevant to the 
proceedings before the tribunal. Breach of the Code of Practice does not, of itself, give rise 
to liability, but it may affect the level of compensation awarded to a successful claimant. 
Employers are prohibited from subjecting a worker to any detriment on the ground that: 

þ the worker exercised (or sought to exercise) the right to be accompanied; 
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þ a companion of that worker exercised (or sought to exercise) a companion's 
legitimate rights at a hearing; 

þ the worker made (or sought to make) a proper request to postpone a hearing; 
and 

þ the worker, while acting as a companion, exercised (or sought to exercise) a 
companion's legitimate rights at a hearing. 

There is a three-month time limit from the act (or deliberate failure to act) that has been 
the cause of complaint. This may be extended in the case of continuing acts, series of 
acts/omissions or where it was not reasonably practicable for the claim to be presented in 
time. Where a case succeeds, the tribunal must make a declaration and may award such 
compensation as it considers just and equitable. This may include sums for injury to feelings, 
aggravated and/or exemplary damages, expenses and benefits. The duty to mitigate 
applies. There may be reductions for contributory fault. 

4. Requests to postpone hearings 

An employer is under an obligation to agree to the request for a postponement of the 
hearing to accommodate a chosen companion. This is providing the request is reasonable 
and any alternative time/date proposed doesn’t delay the hearing by any more than five 
working days. 

 

 



Chapter 8 
Learning outcomes  
After studying this chapter you should understand the following main points:  
 

þ describe how firms should approach the variation of contracts.   
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8.1 Contract Variation 

1. Introduction 

It is a commercial reality that parties doing business together do not simply enter into self-
contained discrete contracts with each other but engage in a business relationship that 
evolves and can change over time. This means there often arises a need to make changes 
to contracts already in place, to vary agreements. There is nothing to prevent parties 
providing in the terms of agreements for the possibility of later changes. However, if parties 
wish to make a change to the agreement that is not provided for in the original agreement 
they will need to reach agreement on variation. 

2. Methods of Variation 

The starting point here is that when an agreement is varied with a second agreement the 
law treats the modified agreement as a new contract. There are a number of ways 
agreements, or contracts, can be varied: 

þ in writing; 
þ orally; 
þ by conduct; 
þ unilaterally (if permitted under the contract); 
þ waiver; or 
þ sustained minor breach. 

2.1 Written variation 

Written contracts, as a matter of common practice, may include a term stating that any 
amendment or variation of an agreement is to be made in writing and signed by all parties 
or their authorised representatives. An example of such a clause would be: 

“No variation of this agreement shall be valid or effective unless it is in writing, refers to this 
agreement and is duly signed or executed (as the case may be) by, or on behalf of, each 

party.” 

The purpose of a requirement for all variations to be in writing is to prevent an accidental 
variation and exclude the possibility of an informal variation. However, it must be noted 
that there is now very clear authority that contracts may be varied orally even where the 
contract contains a clause prohibiting oral variation (Globe Motors, Inc and others v TRW 
Lucas Varity Electric Steering Ltd and another [2016] EWCA Civ 396). 

Regardless of the effectiveness of any prohibition, an existing contract may be varied 
provided the usual rules for the creation of a binding agreement are followed, i.e. that 
there is an offer, acceptance, clear intention and consideration. 

2.2 Oral variation 

Historically, there was significant uncertainty on the position with oral variations of contracts 
where the original agreement included an express term prohibiting such changes. In the 
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case of I-Way Ltd and another v World Online Telecom Ltd [2004] All ER (D) 283 (Feb) I-Way 
agreed to supply a hardware platform to World Online. World Online wanted to use the 
platform to enable its customers to gain access to the internet. The parties agreed a 
payment formula which was based on a percentage of a rebate received from BT as a 
result of the use of fixed lines for the service. Although there was good take-up of the 
product by consumers, the payment arrangements proved uneconomic for I-Way. The 
parties had various discussions about this and I-Way subsequently claimed that these 
discussions had resulted in a binding agreement that I-Way's share of the rebate would be 
increased from 20% to 30%. World Online disputed this. Proceedings ensued and an 
application was made for summary judgment by World Online. The following clause was 
relied upon in support of that application: 

"… no addition, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is 
in writing and signed by and on behalf of both parties." 

This was an express clause that was attempting to prohibit an oral variation. The court 
found that there was no binding authority on the point of oral variations where they were 
expressly prohibited by an express clause. The court dismissed the application for summary 
judgment because there was no authority that there was no real prospect of success and 
the matter needed to proceed to trial. 

In a later case, the Court of Appeal confirmed that it is possible to enter a legally binding 
oral variation of a contract despite the existence of a clause prohibiting variations other 
than in writing. This was the decision reached in Globe Motors, Inc and others v TRW Lucas 
Varity Electric Steering Ltd and another [2016] EWCA Civ 396 and whilst the decision was 
unanimous the statement was made obiter. Following this decision, the approach has been 
endorsed in the case of MWB Business Exchange Centres Ltd v Rock Advertising Ltd [2016] 
EWCA Civ 553.  

2.3 Variation by conduct 

Contracts can be varied by an act or omission.  This often occurs with construction 
contracts or contracts where the supplier or contractor is obliged to complete 
performance by a certain date. Such a variation will normally be to the time required for 
performance. In cases where an act or omission of the customer (or client) prevents the 
supplier or contractor from performing on time, the time required to complete 
performance will normally be varied by the 'prevention principle'.  

The prevention principle is a long-established English common law doctrine. In practical 
terms, the principle dictates that a party to a contract may not enforce a contractual 
obligation against the other party where it has prevented that party from performing that 
obligation. This ensures that a party is not entitled to take advantage of its own default. 

The case of Multiplex Constructions (UK) v Honeywell Control Systems [2007] EWHC 447 
(TCC) illustrates the effect of the prevention principle where delay has been caused in 
performance by the customer. From this case it is clear that the customer or client will put 
time 'at large' and replace the time period stipulated in the contract with a reasonable 
time in which to complete performance unless there was an extension of time clause in 
relation to the relevant acts.  
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An act of prevention will not result in a term being implied if there is clear and 
unambiguous provision for completion of performance by certain dates; for example 
where the parties insert long stop dates for completion of each phase of a project and an 
act of prevention delays completion of a phase, but has no effect on the completion of a 
later phase. In such circumstances a court will refuse to imply a term extending time on the 
basis that the parties' intentions were clear at the outset.  The case of T Trollope & Colls v 
NW Metropolitan Hospital Board [1973] 2 All ER 260 demonstrates that any ambiguity 
relating to time and its extension will be decided in favour of the performing party. 

Ideally, a contract would contain a coherent regime to deal with variations. This means 
that, when arriving at terms, parties should consider what may constitute an act of 
prevention and ensure that they are covered in any extension of time clause. Where there 
is no provision in an agreement for extending time, and an act of prevention occurs, it 
would be prudent to make a formal request to extend time regardless of which party 
caused the delay. 

2.4 Unilateral variation 

A unilateral variation is where one party is able to vary the terms of the contract without the 
consent of the other. The general rule is that a contract cannot be unilaterally varied by a 
party (Morris v C H Bailey Ltd [1969] 2 Lloyd's Rep 215).  However, where a contract allows a 
party to unilaterally vary a contract then: 

þ no further formality is required; and 
þ there is no need for the change to be supported by consideration unless the 

contract specifically requires this. 

A power to vary a contract unilaterally is limited where one of the contracting parties is a 
consumer because the power to vary may amount to an unfair term and any change is 
subject to the provisions of the Consumer Credit Act 1974 if a regulated agreement. The 
power of the commercial party to make minor changes to the provisions of an agreement 
unilaterally may not be unfair where a party is a consumer. 

2.5 Waiver 

Waiver may be best thought of as a species of estoppel which allows for there to be a 
variation of agreement in equity where there is no apparent consideration. A party who 
waives his rights under a contract for a period of time may be stopped from going back on 
that intention and seeking performance of the original contractual terms. This may be 
demonstrated by considering the case of Central London Property Trust v High Trees House 
[1956] 1 All ER 256. In this case, in 1937, High Trees House Ltd leased a block of flats 
in Clapham, London, for a rate £2500/year from Central London Property Trust Ltd. Around 
the beginning of World War II occupancy rates were drastically lower than normal and in 
January 1940, the parties agreed, in writing, to reduce the rent by half. Neither of the 
parties stipulated the period for which this reduced rental was to apply. Over the next five 
years, High Trees paid the reduced rate while the flats began to fill, and, by 1945, the flats 
were back at full occupancy. Central London sued for payment of the full rental costs from 
June 1945 onwards but were estopped from going back on that intention and seeking 
performance of the original contractual terms. 
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2.6 Sustained minor breach 

Equity may also play a part in situations where there is no apparent written or verbal 
variation of a contract. This is very closely linked to waiver and variation by conduct, a 
party that persistently accepts minor breaches to the original agreement by the other party 
may be prevented from claiming that there has been no variation.  

The courts do not treat such events as a genuine breach, but they will not allow the history 
of the parties' actions or inactivity to pass unnoticed as demonstrated in the case of Hazel v 
Hassan Akhtar [2001] EWCA Civ 1883. The Court of Appeal held in this case that the judge 
in the county court had been wrong when he refused to grant a new tenancy (or 
agreement)on the basis that the tenant had persistently delayed in paying rent and the 
landlords had accepted the late payments or, in other words, the tenant's conduct. The 
defendants were therefore estopped from insisting that the tenant should revert to strict 
compliance with the lease unless they gave reasonable notice to him to that effect, which 
they had not. 

3. Effecting a variation in writing 

3.1 Variation or novation 

Parties whose rights under a contract may be lost if a variation is validated have sought to 
argue that the purported variation constituted a discharge of the original contract and the 
creation of a new contract with different parties equivalent to a novation. This was the 
case in Langston Group Corpn v Cardiff City Football Club [2008] EWHC 535 (Ch) where the 
claimant company contended that the variation of a contract necessarily terminated the 
original contract and alleged that defendant club had failed to satisfy conditions agreed 
in the loan instrument. To date, this argument has not been successful, but it highlights the 
uncertainty with regard to variation and drafters should objectively appraise their efforts to 
ensure rights and obligations under the contract are not inadvertently varied or 
discharged. 

3.2 Consideration 

Consideration is a key ingredient for the variation of contracts by mutual agreement. The 
landmark decision in Williams v Roffey Bros & Nicholls (Contractors) [1990] 1 All ER 512 is 
clear authority that a variation which confers a practical benefit coincident with the 
performance of existing, as opposed to new or varied, contractual obligations may provide 
good consideration. However, this principle and decision has more recently been criticised 
in the case of Adam Opel GmbH and another v Mitras Automotive UK Ltd  [2007] All ER (D) 
272 (Dec) within which the court noted that Williams v Roffey would seem to permit any 
variation of a contract, even if the benefits and burdens of the variation move solely in one 
direction. It went on to say that the law of consideration should no longer to be used to 
protect a participant in such a variation and that the protective nature of that role has 
passed to the law of economic duress, which provides a more refined control mechanism, 
and renders the contract voidable rather than void. 

A variation agreement that is not supported by consideration will not make any 
amendments effective. Consideration can usually be found in the mutual grant, 
assumption and/or release of obligations, rights and liabilities. Where the amendments 
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favour one party only, it may be more difficult to establish an effective binding contract. If 
there is any doubt, wording such as the following could be inserted: 

“'In consideration of the parties mutually agreeing to waive the enforcement of any 
outstanding rights existing at the date hereof, the parties agree to [vary the agreement, 
with effect from [insert date] as follows:] [terminate the agreement with effect from the 

date of [insert date]].” 

Alternatively, the variation agreement could be executed as a deed. 

It should be noted that past consideration is not good consideration, but there are 
exceptions and consideration may not always be present to have an effective variation.  

3.3 Deeds 

Consideration is not required for execution of agreements as deeds and this can be a 
useful tool to satisfy all the criteria for an effective agreement if there is ever any doubt 
over the parties' intentions. A number of contractual scenarios in English law are required 
by statute to be effected in writing and it is by far the safer way to conduct transactions. 
Deeds do not have to be varied by way of a further deed, but variation of a deed should 
at least be in writing and consideration supplied. The alternative to execution by deed is to 
include a term of stated consideration as set out above. The added advantage of 
execution as a deed is that it will extend the limitation period to 12 years. 

3.4 Third party rights 

Where a third party is recognised as having a legally enforceable benefit, consider whether 
the third party's consent is needed to effect the variation. Decide at what point the legal 
right is created as this will impact on the contracting parties' rights to vary the contract. 
Parties to a contract may not vary or rescind a contract so as to vary or extinguish a third 
party's rights if that right has already crystallised. This may arise in three ways: 

þ where the third party has acknowledged the right by word or conduct directly to 
the promisor; 

þ where the third party has relied on the right and the promisor is aware of the 
reliance; or 

þ where the third party has relied on the right and the promisor could be reasonably 
expected to be aware of the reliance. 

If any of the above have occurred, the third party right will have crystallised and cannot be 
varied or withdrawn without the consent of the third party. However, by including in written 
contracts a term removing the need for third party consent to a variation or stipulating 
prescribed procedures for variation, the requirement for third party consent can be 
avoided.  

4. Practical consequences  

A short variation agreement or letter is useful when a limited number of changes are being 
made to an existing contract. If the changes to the underlying agreement are substantial, 
practitioners may wish to produce an amended and restated or conformed copy for ease 
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of reference. Alternatively, minor changes may be required on more than one occasion, 
for example increases in price. Where a contract is intended to run for several years and 
where the persons originally involved may no longer be available, the following may be 
helpful in terms of documenting changes from time to time: 

þ provide each variation agreement/letter with a distinguishing title so it is easily 
identified (e.g. variation agreement no. 1 relating to [insert details of contract] 
etc); 

þ provide a narrative in each form of variation as to what has occurred and how 
each document relates to the others; and 

þ keep the original agreement and all variations together. 
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